
           

YOLO LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION

Regular Meeting
AGENDA

January 24, 2019 - 9:00 a.m. 
 

BOARD OF SUPERVISORS CHAMBERS 
625 COURT STREET, ROOM 206
WOODLAND, CALIFORNIA 95695

COMMISSIONERS 
OLIN WOODS, CHAIR (PUBLIC MEMBER)

DON SAYLOR, VICE CHAIR (COUNTY MEMBER)
WILL ARNOLD (CITY MEMBER)

GARY SANDY (COUNTY MEMBER)
TOM STALLARD (CITY MEMBER)

ALTERNATE COMMISSIONERS
JIM PROVENZA (COUNTY MEMBER)

RICHARD DELIBERTY (PUBLIC MEMBER)
BABS SANDEEN (CITY MEMBER)

 
CHRISTINE CRAWFORD
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

ERIC MAY
COMMISSION COUNSEL

This agenda has been posted at least five (5) calendar days prior to the meeting in a location
freely accessible to members of the public, in accordance with the Brown Act and the Cortese
Knox Hertzberg Act. The public may subscribe to receive emailed agendas, notices and other
updates at  www.yololafco.org/lafco-meetings.

All persons are invited to testify and submit written comments to the Commission.  If you
challenge a LAFCo action in court, you may be limited to issues raised at the public hearing or
submitted as written comments prior to the close of the public hearing.  All written materials
received by staff 72 hours before the hearing will be distributed to the Commission.  If you wish
to submit written material at the hearing, please supply 10 copies.

All participants on a matter to be heard by the Commission that have made campaign
contributions totaling $250 or more to any Commissioner in the past 12 months must disclose
this fact, either orally or in writing, for the official record as required by Government Code Section
84308.

Any person, or combination of persons, who make expenditures for political purposes of $1,000
or more in support of, or in opposition to, a matter heard by the Commission must disclose this
fact in accordance with the Political Reform Act.

http://www.yololafco.org/lafco-meetings


             

OATH OF OFFICE
 

1. Gary Sandy  
 

CALL TO ORDER
 

2. Pledge of Allegiance  
 

3. Roll Call  
 

4. Public Comment: Opportunity for members of the public to address the Yolo County
Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) on subjects not otherwise on the
agenda relating to LAFCo business. The Commission reserves the right to impose a
reasonable limit on time afforded to any topic or to any individual speaker.

 

 

CONSENT AGENDA
 

5.   Approve the LAFCo Meeting Minutes of December 6, 2018
 

6.   Ratify Resolution 2018-10 adopting findings as a Responsible Agency under CEQA
and Resolution 2018-11 adopting the MSR/SOI Update for the City of Woodland to
reflect the December 6, 2018 LAFCo action

 

7.   Review and file Fiscal Year 2018/19 Second Quarter Financial Update
 

8.   Correspondence
 

PUBLIC HEARINGS
 

9.   Public Hearing to consider and adopt Resolution 2019-01 approving the Esparto
Community Services District (CSD) Annexation of APN 049-130-042 for Randall
Jacobs Jr. (LAFCo No. 927), finding the proposal exempt from environmental review
and waiving the protest proceedings, subject to findings and conditions contained in
the staff report

 

REGULAR AGENDA
 

10.   Receive and file the 2018 Website Transparency Scorecard and direct staff to make
any adjustments to the scorecard, if necessary



 

EXECUTIVE OFFICER'S REPORT
 

11.   A report by the Executive Officer on recent events relevant to the Commission and
an update of Yolo LAFCo staff activity for the month. The Commission or any
individual Commissioner may request that action be taken on any item listed. 

Cancellation of the February 27, 2019, meeting
EO Activity Report - December 2, 2018 through January 18, 2019

 

COMMISSIONER REPORTS
 

12. Action items and reports from members of the Commission, including
announcements, questions to be referred to staff, future agenda items, and reports
on meetings and information which would be of interest to the Commission or the
public.
 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT
 

13. Adjourn to the next Regular LAFCo Meeting on March 28, 2019  
 

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing agenda was posted by 5:00 p.m.
on January 18, 2019, at the following places: 

On the bulletin board at the east entrance of the Erwin W. Meier Administration Building,
625 Court Street, Woodland, California; and
On the bulletin board outside the Board of Supervisors Chambers, Room 206 in the Erwin
W. Meier Administration Building, 625 Court Street, Woodland, California.
On the LAFCo website at: www.yololafco.org.

 

ATTEST:
Terri Tuck, Clerk

Yolo County LAFCo
 

http://www.yololafco.org


             

NOTICE
If requested, this agenda can be made available in appropriate alternative formats to
persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of
1990 and the Federal Rules and Regulations adopted in implementation thereof. Persons
seeking an alternative format should contact the Commission Clerk for further information. In
addition, a person with a disability who requires a modification or accommodation, including
auxiliary aids or services, in order to participate in a public meeting should telephone or
otherwise contact the Commission Clerk as soon as possible and at least 24 hours prior to
the meeting. The Commission Clerk may be reached at (530) 666-8048 or at the following
address:

Yolo County LAFCo
625 Court Street, Room 107

Woodland, CA 95695
 

 



   
    Consent      5.             

LAFCO
Meeting Date: 01/24/2019  

Information
SUBJECT
Approve the LAFCo Meeting Minutes of December 6, 2018

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Approve the LAFCo Meeting Minutes of December 6, 2018.

Attachments
LAFCo Draft Minutes 12/06/18

Form Review
Form Started By: Terri Tuck Started On: 01/15/2019 09:55 AM
Final Approval Date: 01/15/2019 



DRAFT 
 
 

  

YOLO LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
December 6, 2018 

The Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission met on the 6th day of December 2018, at 9:00 
a.m. in the Yolo County Board of Supervisors Chambers, 625 Court Street, Room 206, Woodland 
CA. Voting members present were acting Chair and County Member Matt Rexroad, Alternate 
Public Member Richard DeLiberty, and City Members Will Arnold and Tom Stallard. Voting 
Members absent were Chair and Public Member Olin Woods, and Vice Chair and County Member 
Don Saylor. Others present were Executive Officer Christine Crawford, Clerk Terri Tuck, Analyst 
Mark Krummenacker and Counsel Eric May. 
 
CALL TO ORDER 

Acting Chair Rexroad called the Meeting to order at 9:02 a.m. 

Item № 1 Pledge 

Tom Stallard led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Item № 2 Roll Call 

PRESENT: Arnold, DeLiberty, Rexroad, Stallard 

ABSENT: Saylor, Woods 

Item № 3 Public Comments 

None 

CONSENT 

Item № 4 Approve the LAFCo Meeting Minutes of October 25, 2018 

Item № 5 Correspondence 

Minute Order 2019-01: All recommended actions on Consent were approved. 

Approved by the following vote: 

MOTION: Stallard SECOND: DeLiberty 
AYES: Arnold, DeLiberty, Rexroad, Stallard 
NOES: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Saylor 

 

 

Item 5 



Yolo LAFCo Meeting Minutes  December 6, 2018 
 

 

 2 

PUBLIC HEARING 

Item № 6 Consider adopting the Municipal Service Review (MSR) and approving a 
Sphere of Influence (SOI) Update for the City of Woodland (LAFCo No. S-049), 
and adopt a Statement of Overriding Considerations for significant 
environmental effects associated with the SOI Update pursuant to CEQA (CA 
Environmental Quality Act) Guidelines Section 15096 

After an overview report by staff, the Chair opened the Public Hearing. Comments were 
made by Ken Hiatt, Assistant City Manager, from the City of Woodland. The Public Hearing 
was closed.  

Minute Order 2019-02: The recommended action was approved. Staff was directed to 
modify the MSR, resolution(s), and maps, to reflect adding in the City’s Urban Limit Line 
(ULL) to the final map so that the ULL is coterminous with the SOI, then present the 
modified materials for ratification at the next regular meeting. 

Approved by the following vote: 

MOTION: Stallard SECOND: Arnold 
AYES: Arnold, DeLiberty, Rexroad, Stallard 
NOES: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Saylor 

REGULAR 

Item № 7 Consider approval of the audit prepared by Harshwal & Company of the Yolo 
Local Agency Formation Commission’s Financial Statements for Fiscal Years 
Ending 2016, 2017 and 2018 

Minute Order 2019-03: The recommended action was approved. 

Approved by the following vote: 

MOTION: Stallard SECOND: Arnold 
AYES: Arnold, DeLiberty, Rexroad, Stallard 
NOES: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Saylor 

Item № 8 Provide direction to staff on whether LAFCo should convene a Shared 
Services Workshop in February 2019 with the elected officials and executive 
staff from the four cities and Yolo County  

Minute Order 2019-04: No action was taken. Staff was directed to meet with the executive 
staff from the four cities and Yolo County, then agendize at a future LAFCo meeting any 
discussion or feedback from the executive staff. 

 



Yolo LAFCo Meeting Minutes  December 6, 2018 
 

 

 3 

Item № 9 Consider approval of remote work arrangement and extra time off for the 
LAFCO Executive Offer during the fall of 2019 

Minute Order 2019-05: The recommended action was approved, accepting the remote 
work arrangement and extra time off for the Executive Officer. The Commission directed 
Chair Woods and the Executive Officer, in coordination with Mindi Nunes, acting Director 
of Human Resources, to develop an extra time off (XTO) agreement and a remote work 
agreement, subject to final approval by the Commission. 

Approved by the following vote: 

MOTION: Arnold SECOND: DeLiberty 
AYES: Arnold, DeLiberty, Rexroad, Stallard 
NOES: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Saylor 

Item № 10 Consider and adopt the Yolo LAFCo 2019 Meeting Calendar 

Minute Order 2019-06: The recommended action was approved. 

Approved by the following vote: 

MOTION: Rexroad SECOND: Stallard 
AYES: Arnold, DeLiberty, Rexroad, Stallard 
NOES: None 
ABSTAIN: None 
ABSENT: Saylor 

Item № 11 Executive Officer’s Report 

The Commission was given written reports of the Executive Officer’s activities for the 
period of October 22 through November 30, 2018, and was verbally updated on recent 
events relevant to the Commission. 

The Executive Officer introduced and welcomed Mark Krummenacker, LAFCo’s part-time 
financial analyst. Staff stated that Mr. Krummenacker is a retired Yolo County employee 
from the Department of Financial Services, hired to help staff with the financial portion of 
municipal service reviews. 

Staff has been meeting with the City of Davis planning staff regarding two upcoming 
annexations. The City also approved a tax-sharing agreement this week and will be on the 
Board of Supervisors agenda for approval next week. 

Staff commented that the two reclamation district reorganization proposals will be moving 
forward after the 70-day waiting period deadline for any alternative proposals, which is 
next week. Staff is expecting two alternative proposals to come in at that time. 

Lastly, staff will be attending a CALAFCO Board Meeting tomorrow in Sacramento. 

 

 



Yolo LAFCo Meeting Minutes  December 6, 2018 
 

 

 4 

Item № 12 Commissioner Reports 

Commissioner Stallard thanked the Commission for its support on approving the SOI for 
the City of Woodland. Stallard also thanked the staff for their hard work in putting the report 
together. 

Commissioner Arnold reported that the tax sharing agreement was approved by the City 
of Davis on Tuesday and going to the Board of Supervisors next week for approval.  

Commissioner Arnold took the opportunity to thank Commissioner Rexroad for his service 
to LAFCo and to say he enjoyed working with Mr. Rexroad and appreciated his style in 
conducting meetings. 

Closed Session 

Item № 13 

Public Employee Performance Evaluation  
(Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957) 

Position Title: LAFCo Executive Officer 

There was nothing to report out of Closed Session. 

Item № 13 

Conference with Labor Negotiator(s)  
(Pursuant to Government Code Section 54957.6) 

Agency designated representative(s): Mindi Nunes, Acting Director of Human Resources 
Unrepresented employee: LAFCo Executive Officer 

There was nothing to report out of Closed Session. 

Item № 15 Adjournment 

 Minute Order 2019-07: By order of the acting Chair, the meeting was adjourned at 
9:47a.m. to the next Regular LAFCo Meeting on January 24, 2019. 

 
 
 
____________________________ 
Olin Woods, Chair 
Local Agency Formation Commission  

       County of Yolo, State of California 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________ 
Terri Tuck 
Clerk to the Commission 



   
    Consent      6.             

LAFCO
Meeting Date: 01/24/2019  

Information
SUBJECT
Ratify Resolution 2018-10 adopting findings as a Responsible Agency under
CEQA and Resolution 2018-11 adopting the MSR/SOI Update for the City of
Woodland to reflect the December 6, 2018 LAFCo action

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Ratify Resolution 2018-10 adopting findings as a Responsible Agency under
CEQA and Resolution 2018-11 adopting the MSR/SOI Update for the City of
Woodland to reflect the December 6, 2018 LAFCo action.

FISCAL IMPACT
None.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTION
At the December 6, 2018 LAFCo meeting, the Commission adopted the CEQA
Findings as a Responsible Agency and MSR/SOI on a 4-0 vote, and directed staff
to add the Flood Study Area to the City of Woodland’s Sphere of Influence as
identified on its 2035 General Plan Land Use Map, and return at the January 24,
2019, meeting and present a resolution and supporting materials consistent with
its decision for approval by the Commission.

Attachments
ATT A-CEQA City of Woodland SOI Reso2018-10
ATT B-City of Woodland MSR-SOI Reso2018-11
ATT C-Updated SOI Pages from Final - City of Woodland MSR December 6, 2018

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
Christine Crawford (Originator) Christine Crawford 01/15/2019 10:51 AM
Christine Crawford (Originator) Christine Crawford 01/16/2019 02:33 PM



Form Started By: Christine Crawford Started On: 01/15/2019 09:47 AM
Final Approval Date: 01/16/2019 



YOLO LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

Resolution № 2018-10 

Adopting Findings as a Responsible Agency for the Final Environmental Impact Report 
for the City of Woodland 2035 General Plan (SCH# 2013032015)  

WHEREAS, the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000, set forth 
in Government Code Sections 56000 et seq., governs the organization and reorganization of cities 
and special districts by local agency formation commissions established in each county, as 
defined and specified in Government Code Sections 56000 et seq. (unless otherwise indicated 
all statutory references are to the Government Code); and, 

WHEREAS, Section 56425 et seq. provides that the local agency formation commission (LAFCo) 
in each county shall develop and determine the sphere of influence (SOI) of each local 
governmental agency within the county, and enact policies designed to promote the logical and 
orderly development of areas within the spheres of influence; and, 

WHEREAS, Section 56430 requires that LAFCos conduct a municipal service review (MSR) prior 
to, or in conjunction with, consideration of actions to establish or update an SOI in accordance 
with Sections 56076 and 56425; and, 

WHEREAS, in 2018, the Yolo LAFCo conducted an MSR and SOI of the City of Woodland (City) 
and based on the results of the MSR determined that the SOI for the City of Woodland should be 
updated; and, 

WHEREAS, LAFCo staff has reviewed the SOI Update pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA) and determined that a SOI Update is a “project” per CEQA Guidelines Section 
21065 because it is an activity which may cause a direct or indirect physical change to the 
environment; and 

WHEREAS, the environmental effects of the SOI Update are included and considered in the City 
of Woodland 2035 General Plan Final Environmental Impact Report certified by the City of 
Woodland as the Lead Agency; and 

WHEREAS, on May 16, 2017, the Woodland City Council adopted Resolution 6835, a copy of 
which is attached hereto, certifying the Final Environmental Impact Report (FEIR), which included 
the draft EIR and responses to comments, and adopting CEQA Findings of Fact, a Mitigation 
Monitoring and Reporting Program, and a Statement of Overriding Considerations; and 

WHEREAS, Yolo LAFCo had limited approval and implementing authority over the 2035 General 
Plan and thus served as a responsible agency for the project pursuant to the requirements of 
CEQA, and 

WHEREAS, Yolo LAFCo complied with CEQA as a Responsible Agency by responding to the 
Notice of Preparation from the Lead Agency and reviewed the Draft Environmental Impact Report 
for the City of Woodland 2035 General Plan and 2035 Climate Action Plan, regarding issues 
germane to LAFCo’s statutory responsibilities; and  

Item 6-ATT A



 

  

 2 Resolution 2018-10 

  Adopted January 24, 2019 

 

WHEREAS, CEQA requires a Responsible Agency to accept an EIR as prepared by the Lead 
Agency and to treat the document as being legally adequate absent specified circumstances not 
present herein. 

WHEREAS, the Commission adopted the CEQA Findings as a Responsible Agency and 
MSR/SOI on a 4-0 vote, including direction to staff to add the Flood Study Area to the City of 
Woodland’s Sphere of Influence as identified on its 2035 General Plan Land Use Map, and 
directed staff to return at the January 24, 2019, meeting and present a resolution and supporting 
materials consistent with its decision for approval by the Commission. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, DETERMINED, AND ORDERED that the Yolo Local 
Agency Formation Commission hereby adopts Resolution 2018-10 as consistent with the 
December 6, 2018 decision as follows: 

1. Yolo LAFCo adopts and incorporates herein as true and accurate all of the statements 
and recitals set forth in the preceding portions of this resolution and the entirety of the 
Findings of Fact and Statement of Overriding Considerations attached hereto as Exhibit 
A. 

2. Yolo LAFCo makes the following additional findings, conclusions, and determinations: 

a. CEQA Findings--Responsible Agency. Yolo LAFCo is considered a 
Responsible Agency under CEQA for this FEIR.  Yolo LAFCo’s CEQA review as a 
Responsible Agency is more limited than a Lead Agency and Yolo LAFCo has 
responsibility for mitigating or avoiding only the direct or indirect environmental 
effects of those parts of the project which it carries out, finances, or approves.  Yolo 
LAFCo’s use of the FEIR is limited to its recommendation to update the SOI of the 
City. Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15096, Yolo LAFCo has considered 
the FEIR prepared by the City and has determined that it is acceptable and legally 
adequate for use by Yolo LAFCo. 

b. Findings for Less Than Significant Environmental Impacts. Various significant 
and potentially significant environmental impacts have been mitigated to less than 
significant levels, as set forth in the FEIR’s Findings of Fact and Statement of 
Overriding Considerations. With respect to those significant impacts identified in 
the FEIR that require mitigation to be reduced to a less than significant level, 
LAFCo hereby finds that the measures at issue are within the responsibility and 
jurisdiction of another public agency and not LAFCo. Such changes either have 
been adopted by the City or can and should be adopted by other agencies.  (Pub. 
Resources Code, § 21081, subd. (a)(2).) 

c. Findings for Significant and Unavoidable Impacts. Certain significant and 
potentially significant environmental impacts are unavoidable as set forth in the 
FEIR’s Findings of Fact and Statement of Overriding Considerations.  The impacts 
discussed were determined to be significant and unavoidable by the City. Upon 
review of the impacts identified by the City as being significant and unavoidable, 
Yolo LAFCo has determined these impacts will remain significant and unavoidable 
after approval of the SOI amendment and that there are no additional feasible 
mitigation measures that can be legally imposed by Yolo LAFCo. Yolo LAFCo 
specifically acknowledges these impacts and Yolo LAFCo adopts, to the extent 



 

  

 3 Resolution 2018-10 

  Adopted January 24, 2019 

 

applicable, the discussion of the significant and unavoidable impacts as set forth 
in the FEIR’s Findings of Fact and Statement of Overriding Considerations 
attached hereto as Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference.  With respect 
to those significant impacts that were subject to mitigation but could still not be 
reduced to less than significant levels, Yolo LAFCo hereby finds that the measures 
at issue are within the responsibility and jurisdiction of another public agency and 
not LAFCo. Such changes either have been adopted by the City or can and should 
be adopted by other agencies.  (Pub. Resources Code, § 21081, subd. (a)(2).) 

d. Findings for Project Alternatives. Project alternatives are discussed at length 
within the FEIR.  The alternatives set forth in the FEIR were directed at the City, in 
that the different options presented different permutations of a General Plan.  Since 
the Woodland City Council has already rejected these alternatives as infeasible in 
detailed findings, Yolo LAFCo, given its lack of direct authority over land use under 
Cortese-Knox, is not in a position to impose a different version of the General Plan 
on the City.  LAFCO’s role is to update the City’s SOI in compliance with LAFCo’s 
policies and the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 
2000 (Gov. Code, § 56000 et seq.). Although LAFCo has reviewed the City findings 
for the project alternatives, LAFCo declines to make separate findings regarding 
alternatives rejected by the City or to otherwise entertain alternatives over which it 
has no jurisdiction. For reasons set forth in the CEQA Findings of Fact and 
Statement of Overriding Considerations, the City Council rejected the alternatives 
set forth in the FEIR as being infeasible or unacceptable for various reasons. The 
Commission finds these reasons acceptable, and adopts them as its own to the 
extent that its statutory authority allows it to consider concerns such as those 
weighed by the City Council in approving the Project and rejecting alternatives.  
With respect to the alternatives rejected as infeasible by the City, LAFCo hereby 
finds that specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations 
make infeasible the alternatives identified in the Final EIR.  (Pub. Resources Code, 
§ 21081, subd. (a)(3).) 

e. Statement of Overriding Considerations. As set forth in the preceding sections, 
Yolo LAFCo’s approval of the SOI update will result in impacts that remain 
significant and unavoidable. The City balanced the benefits of the SOI Update 
against its significant and unavoidable environmental impacts and determined that 
the benefits of the Project outweigh its unavoidable adverse environmental 
impacts.  Similarly, Yolo LAFCo also approves the SOI update because the 
substantial economic, social, legal, technological, and other benefits that the 
Project will produce render the significant effects acceptable.  This determination 
is based on the FEIR and other information in the record. In light of the foregoing 
economic, social, recreational and planning benefits provided by the Project, 
pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15093, the Commission finds and 
determines that these considerable benefits of the Project outweigh the 
unavoidable adverse effects and the adverse environmental effects that cannot be 
mitigated to a level of environmental insignificance, are deemed acceptable.   

f. Mitigation Monitoring Plan.  Yolo LAFCo is aware of the Mitigation Monitoring 
Plan adopted by the City to ensure implementation of the above-mentioned 
mitigation measures, as well as all others within the City’s control. The Mitigation 
Monitoring Plan is incorporated by reference herein. Since the FEIR did not 



 

  

 4 Resolution 2018-10 

  Adopted January 24, 2019 

 

recommend or identify any mitigation measures that should be implemented by 
Yolo LAFCo, the Commission has no need to formally adopt any of its own 
mitigation measures or any separate mitigation monitoring plan or program.  

3. The Executive Officer is directed to file a Notice of Determination with the County Clerk 
for Yolo County within five (5) days of the adoption of this resolution. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission, State of California, 
this 24thth day of January 2019, by the following vote: 

Ayes:  
Noes:  
Abstentions:  
Absent:  
 
 
 

_____________________________________ 
Olin Woods, Chair 
Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission 

 

 
Attest: 

 

 
__________________________________ 
Christine Crawford, Executive Officer 
Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 

 

______________________________ 
Eric May, Commission Counsel 
 



1 

EXHIBIT B 

TO RESOLUTION CERTIFYING THE FINAL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT 

REPORT, ADOPTING ENVIRONMENTAL FINDINGS, STATEMENT OF 

OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS, AND ERRATA FOR THE CITY OF 

WOODLAND 2035 GENERAL PLAN AND 2035 CLIMATE ACTION PLAN 

CEQA FINDINGS OF FACT AND STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS FOR 

THE CITY OF WOODLAND FINAL 2035 GENERAL PLAN  

AND 2035 CLIMATE ACTION PLAN 

I. INTRODUCTION

The California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) (Public Resources Code §§ 21000 et seq.) requires 

the City of Woodland, as the lead agency, to make certain written findings and to identify overriding 

considerations for significant and unavoidable impacts identified in the Environmental Impact Report 

(“EIR”) for the City of Woodland 2035 General Plan and the 2035 Climate Action Plan (“CAP”), together 

referred to as the “Proposed Project.” CEQA Guidelines (Title 14 of the California Code of Regulations) 

sections 15091, 15092, and 15093 set forth the specific requirements for these findings.  

CEQA requires an EIR to be prepared when the lead agency has determined that a project may or will 

have significant impacts on the environment. Prior to project approval, the EIR must be certified pursuant 

to Section 15090 of the CEQA Guidelines. When an EIR has been certified that identifies one or more 

significant environmental impacts, the approving agency must make one or more of the following 

findings, accompanied by a brief explanation of the rationale, pursuant to Section 15091 of the CEQA 

Guidelines, for each identified significant impact: 

a) Changes or alterations have been required in, or incorporated into, such project which avoid or

substantially lessen the significant environmental effect as identified in the final environmental

impact report.

b) Such changes or alterations are within the responsibility and jurisdiction of another public

agency and not the agency making the finding. Such changes have been adopted by such other

agency, or can and should be adopted by such other agency.

c) Specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations, including provision of

employment opportunities for highly trained workers, make infeasible the mitigation measures or

project alternatives identified in the environmental impact report.

CEQA Guidelines Section 15092 states that after consideration of an EIR, and in conjunction with making 

the Section 15091 findings identified above, the lead agency may decide whether or how to approve or 

carry out the project. A project that would result in a significant environmental impact cannot be approved 

if feasible mitigation measures or feasible alternatives can avoid or substantially lessen the impact.  

However, in the absence of feasible mitigation, an agency may approve a project with significant and 

unavoidable impacts if there are specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations 

that outweigh the unavoidable adverse environmental effects. Section 15093 requires the lead agency to 

Exhibit A



2 

document and substantiate any such determination in “statements of overriding considerations” as a part 

of the record.  

 

The requirements of Guidelines Sections 15091, 15092, and 15093 as summarized above are all addressed 

herein. This document is intended to serve as the findings of fact and statement of overriding 

considerations authorized by those provisions of the CEQA Guidelines. The findings provide the written 

analysis and conclusions of the City Council regarding the Proposed Project’s environmental impacts, 

mitigation measures, alternatives to the Proposed Project, and the overriding considerations that justify 

approval of the Proposed Project despite its environmental effects.  

 

II. GENERAL FINDINGS AND OVERVIEW: PROJECT DESCRIPTION 

 

A. Proposed Project  

 

The Proposed Project is adoption of the Final 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP. The 2035 General Plan 

and 2035 CAP apply to all land within the City’s Planning Area, which consists of all territory within the 

City limits, as well as land outside the City’s boundaries that, in the City’s judgment, bears relation to its 

planning. The City’s Planning Area is defined by the Urban Limit Line (“ULL”). The Planning Area 

encompasses 12,781 acres, or approximately 20 square miles. It is bounded roughly by Churchill Downs 

Avenue to the north, County Road 98 to the west, and County Road 25A to the south. The Planning Area 

includes 9,619 acres within existing City limits and 3,162 acres in unincorporated Yolo County. 

 

1. 2035 General Plan Summary 

The 2035 General Plan is the City’s “constitution” for the future physical development of the City. It sets 

forth the City’s long-range objectives for physical development and conservation. The General Plan is a 

20-year planning document with a planning horizon of 2035. The 2035 General Plan plans for the addition 

of up to 19,300 new residents, 18,200 to 19,300 new jobs, 16.7 million to 17.4 million square feet of new 

non-residential land uses, and 7,000 new homes in Woodland by 2035.  

 

The 2035 General Plan is required to address seven mandatory elements: land use, circulation (including 

public utilities and facilities), housing, conservation, open space, noise, and safety. The 2035 General Plan 

addresses these seven elements as well as includes healthy community and economic development 

elements. The 2035 General Plan is organized into nine chapters as follows: Introduction and 

Administration; Land Use, Community Design, and Historic Preservation Element; Transportation and 

Circulation Element, Public Facilities and Services Element; Healthy Lifestyles Element; Sustainability, 

Conservation, and Open Space Element; Safety Element; Economic Development Element; and Housing 

Element. Within each chapter the following information is generally provided: introduction and purpose, 

background information, and goals and policies. 

 

2. 2035 CAP Summary 

The 2035 CAP identifies measures that implement the 2035 General Plan, while also contributing on a 

fair-share basis to the State’s climate protection efforts. The 2035 CAP comprehensively describes the 

strategy to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions. It identifies specific reduction strategies the City will 

undertake and quantifies their benefits, in order to be consistent with State directives for reducing GHGs, 

including CEQA Guidelines Section 15183.5. The strategies are aimed at reducing community-wide GHG 

emissions to a level 15 percent below Woodland’s 2005 GHG levels by 2020 and a maximum of 2.25 

metric tons of equivalent carbon dioxide per service population per year by 2035. These targets were 



3 

selected to establish local emissions reductions on a long-term trajectory consistent with the State’s GHG 

emissions reduction goal for 2050 (80 percent below 1990 levels).  

 

In addition, the 2035 CAP measures increase community resilience and efficiency of human/economic 

activities that consume resources which, in turn, lead to GHG emissions (e.g., increasing local energy 

independence, reducing transportation-related emissions, improving building energy and water efficiency, 

and extending the life of area landfills). 

 

The 2035 CAP is organized into six chapters, as follows:  

 

1. Executive Summary  

2. Introduction and Overview 

3. Emissions Inventories and Targets 

4. Greenhouse Gas Reduction Strategies  

5. Implementation and Monitoring 

6. Acknowledgements. 

 

B. Consideration of the EIR 

In adopting these Findings, the City Council finds that the Final EIR was presented to the City Council, 

the lead agency’s decision-making body, and that the City Council reviewed and considered the 

information in the Final EIR prior to approving the Proposed Project. The City Council finds that the Final 

EIR reflects the independent judgment and analysis of the City.  

 

The three discretionary actions to be taken by the City Council are: (1) certification of the Final EIR for 

the 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP; (2) adoption of the 2035 General Plan; and (3) adoption of the 2035 

CAP. 

 

C. Proposed Project Objectives 

This section sets forth the Proposed Project’s objectives. The City Council determines that the Final 2035 

General Plan and 2035 CAP best meet these objectives, as discussed further in Section VIII below. 

 

1. 2035 General Plan Objectives 

Pursuant to State law, the overarching objective of a general plan is to guide a jurisdiction’s growth over 

a long-term planning horizon, in a manner consistent with the community’s vision of its long-term physical 

form and development. The General Plan’s Guiding Principles were developed to set a framework for the 

2035 General Plan and highlight the most critical shared values that were used in developing the 2035 

General Plan and 2035 CAP. Together with the 2035 General Plan Vision Statement, the Guiding 

Principles also serve as the Project Objectives for the EIR for the Proposed Project. They include the 

following: 

 

2035 General Plan Vision Statement: 

 

In 2035, Woodland is a highly desirable community to live, learn, work and recreate. It has 

maintained a small-town feel while maturing into an attractive, vibrant, and sustainable 

city that celebrates its architectural heritage and cultural diversity. Woodland is a healthy 

community with livable neighborhoods, a thriving downtown, well maintained 



4 

infrastructure, excellent schools and recreational amenities connected by a seamless 

network of trails and paths.  

 

The city is the region’s center of agricultural technology and food production and is 

recognized globally as a leader in sustainable agriculture. The community is prosperous 

and fiscally sound, offering abundant employment opportunities to its diverse and creative 

workforce.  

 

Woodland has become a destination for visitors seeking to experience its unique 

agricultural, historical, recreational, cultural and entertainment amenities.  

 

2035 General Plan Guiding Principles:  

 

► Quality and Character: Retain and enhance Woodland’s quality of life, its distinctive identity and 

small-town characteristics. 

► Orderly Development: Promote new growth while achieving an orderly pattern of community 

development, consistent with economic, social, fiscal and environmental needs. 

► Historic Downtown: Strengthen the historic downtown district as the City’s center of shopping, 

dining, entertainment and employment. 

► Economic Development: Foster economic growth and diversification with a range of employment 

opportunities for all residents. 

► Mobility Options: Coordinate land use and transportation planning to provide a range of attractive 

and viable transportation options, such as bicycle, pedestrian, and transit. 

► Housing Choice: Provide a variety of housing types to meet the needs for all generations and income 

levels. 

► Agricultural Heritage: Preserve and protect prime agricultural lands and their uses within and 

surrounding the community. 

► Safety: Ensure that Woodland remains a safe place to live, protected from natural and manmade 

hazards. 

► Environmental Stewardship: Foster a sustainable community for the next generation and protect and 

improve the quality of the natural environment. 

► Public Services: Provide realistic, supportable and appropriate levels of public service that are 

sustainable and fiscally sound. 

► Health and Recreation: Provide all residents with opportunities to live an active, healthy, and green 

lifestyle. 

► Quality Education: Foster quality educational and enrichment opportunities.  
 

2. 2035 CAP Objectives 

The 2035 CAP is organized into six focus area, each of which includes overarching strategies to achieve 

each objective and implementation actions for each strategy. The 2035 CAP objectives are as follows: 

 

► Energy: 

• Reduce Building Energy Use  

• Increase Renewable Energy Generation 

► Transportation and Land Use: 

• Implement Land Use Policies to Support Reduced Motor Vehicle Use 

• Reduce Vehicle Trip Mileage and Equipment Idling Emissions  

• Replace Gas and Diesel Vehicles with Alternative-Fuel Vehicles 



5 

► Urban Forest and Open Space: 

• Increase Community Tree Canopy  

• Maintain and Enhance Open Space Environmental Values 

► Water and Solid Waste: 

• Reduce Per Capita Water Demand 

• Achieve 75 percent Landfill Waste Diversion 

• Achieve 90 percent Landfill Methane Capture 

► Public Involvement: 

• Build Community Engagement in CAP Implementation 

• Measure CAP Implementation Progress and Adjust Actions as Needed 

► Municipal Operations: 

• Incorporate Sustainable Practices into All City Operations 

• Reduce Emissions from Municipal Electricity Use by 80 percent or More  

• Reduce Vehicle Fleet and Employee Commute Emissions   

 

III. GENERAL FINDINGS: GENERAL CEQA CONSIDERATIONS 
 

A. CEQA Process 
 

The City released the Draft EIR on July 8, 2016 for a 45-day public review period that extended through 

September 13, 2016. Hearings on the Draft EIR were held before the Planning Commission and City 

Council on August 24, 2016; before the Planning Commission on September 1, 2016; and before the City 

Council on September 13, 2016 and September 20, 2016. 

 

The Planning Commission held a duly noticed public hearing on March 16, 2017, and recommended by 

adoption of Resolution No. PC17-01 that the City Council certify the EIR. The City Council held duly 

noticed public hearings on April 4, April 18, and May 16, 2017 on the EIR and Proposed Project.  
 

B. Intent to Rely on this EIR for Streamlining Purposes 

The EIR describes the environmental consequences of implementation of the goals and policies of the 

2035 General Plan, land use changes consistent with that planned under the 2035 General Plan, and 

implementation of the 2035 CAP. The EIR is designed to inform City of Woodland decision-makers, other 

responsible and trustee agencies, and the general public of the potential environmental consequences of 

approval and implementation of the Proposed Project. The EIR identifies goals, policies, and 

implementation programs that are integrated into the Proposed Project that would reduce or avoid 

potentially significant impacts.  

 

The 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP EIR is a program EIR, as described under CEQA and the CEQA 

Guidelines, specifically Guidelines Section 15168. A program EIR is one that may be prepared on a series 

of actions that can be characterized as one large project, and that are related: (1) geographically; (2) as 

logical parts in the chain of contemplated actions; (3) in connection with the issuance of rules, regulations, 

plans, or other general criteria to govern the conduct of a continuing program; or (4) as individual activities 

carried out under the same authorizing statutory or regulatory authority and having generally similar 

effects that can be mitigated in similar ways.  

 

The EIR satisfies the criteria set forth above. The Proposed Project governs land use, development, and 

conservation within the entire Woodland Planning Area, thus resulting in a geographic relationship. It 

includes maps, goals, policies, and implementation programs that are logical parts of a chain of 



6 

contemplated actions governing future land use and allowed development. The policies and programs 

either directly establish, or will govern future plans that will establish, rules, regulations, plans, or other 

general criteria governing implementation of the Proposed Project. The Proposed Project will be carried 

out under the authority and approval of the City of Woodland, although responsible and trustee agencies 

will be involved in certain aspects of permitting. Many of the specific projects and actions carried out 

pursuant to the Proposed Project would have similar environmental impacts, which could be mitigated in 

similar ways. 

 

The City intends to use the EIR to streamline future environmental review and approval of private and 

public projects, as well as implementation actions, such as updates to zoning that are consistent with the 

2035 General Plan. The City will use existing streamlining provided by CEQA, and emerging streamlining 

techniques, as appropriate, in the implementation of the Proposed Project. 

 

The EIR uses detailed, parcel-level land use programming for the basis of analysis, with a focus on vacant 

and underutilized properties that would be appropriate for development between the present and 2035. 

The EIR includes a comprehensive analysis of land use changes anticipated under the 2035 General Plan. 

The EIR includes quantified estimates in certain impact areas, such as transportation, air quality, GHG 

emissions, noise, and other topics, based on assumptions as to the amount, type, and character of land use 

changes under the 2035 General Plan. The policy development process was used to vet potential mitigation 

strategies, which are fully integrated into the Proposed Project. The 2035 General Plan Update process 

was used to investigate policies and programs that will serve as uniformly applied standards and limit the 

scope of analysis for projects consistent with the Proposed Project. 

  

The City intends to streamline environmental review of future projects as much as possible under CEQA. 

CEQA Guidelines Section 15183 provides that additional environmental review is not required for 

projects that are consistent with the development density established by existing general plan policies for 

which an EIR has been certified except if necessary to study any significant environmental effects that are 

particular to the project or site. For this reason, the EIR includes references to 2035 General Plan and 2035 

CAP policies, implementation programs, and reduction strategies, where appropriate, to address 

environmental impacts. Future CEQA documents will reference the policies, programs, and reduction 

strategies to demonstrate less-than-significant impacts and substantiate that later project-level issues are 

not “peculiar to the parcel” if they have been “substantially mitigated” by policies, programs, and 

reduction strategies (uniformly applied development policies) adopted as a part of the Final 2035 General 

Plan and 2035 CAP. 
 

IV. GENERAL FINDINGS: GENERAL PROJECT BENEFITS 

 

The City Council finds that the Proposed Project will result in the following general benefits (in no relative 

order – numbered for convenience only): 

 

A. General Benefits 

 
1. Satisfies the requirements of State law, has been reviewed and is responsive to the requirements of State 

agencies with legal authority, and has been comprehensively analyzed under CEQA and modified to include all 
identified mitigation measures. 

2. Advocates responsible growth while seeking to conserve energy, water, and other resources; reduce 

greenhouse gas emissions; promote infill, compact, and net-zero energy development; and build community 

resiliency to the effects of climate change. 



7 

3. Provides for strategic growth and change that preserves and enhances existing neighborhoods; prioritizes 

new growth in infill areas through the revitalization of Downtown, key corridors, and employment centers; provides 
for orderly expansion to new growth areas; and maintains Woodland’s unique agricultural and historical heritage.  

4. Focuses on enhancing the quality of life for Woodland residents, workers, and visitors through improved 

connectivity, increased access to amenities, and greater housing and employment choices. 

5. Maintains the voter-approved Urban Limit Line within which urban development will be contained. 
6. Provides for urban development and expansion of associated services to accommodate projected 

population and employment growth.  

7. Manages growth to ensure adequate infrastructure, public services, and amenities that the City can provide 
and maintain and that new growth will not detract from existing neighborhoods and commercial centers.  

8. Promotes infill and adaptive reuse of underutilized and vacant buildings.   

 

B. Quality of Life Benefits 

1. The 2035 General Plan preserves Woodland’s unique small town charm and quality of life by maintaining 
the city’s distinct urban edge and surrounding agricultural open space, promoting the Downtown and historic 

resources, and developing a variety of recreational, community, and cultural facilities. 

2. The General Plan recognizes Woodland’s surrounding agriculture is an important part of the community’s 

heritage, plays a major role in the city’s economy, and endows Woodland with a unique sense of place. 
3. Allows development that strengthens the physical form of the City, enhances livability, incorporates 

sustainable design practices, and continues to enhance Woodland’s unique sense of place.  

4. Promotes Downtown as the civic, cultural, and entertainment center of Woodland by promoting a broad 
mix of uses, including increased dining, retail, and entertainment destinations with an array of urban housing and 

professional office/technology companies. 

5. Preserves, maintains, and celebrates sites and structures that serve as significant, visible reminders of the 
city’s social, architectural and agricultural history through adherence to federal, State, and local programs and 

requirements. 

6. Protects and maintains waterways, wildlife habitats, and other open space. 

 

C. Land Use, Community Design, and Historic Preservation Benefits 

1. The Land Use, Community Design, and Historic Preservation Element directs the location and form of 
future development, shaping where people will live, work, play, and shop in Woodland. 

2. This Element presents the desirable pattern for the ultimate development of the city for the General Plan 

horizon (year 2035) and seeks to ensure that land use planning reflects the community’s evolution and changing 
demographics, while promoting sustainability. 

3. Promotes the development of complete neighborhoods with a physical layout and land use mix that: puts 

residents in close proximity to services and amenities; promotes walking, biking, and transit use; fosters community 

pride; enhances neighborhood identity; ensures public safety; and meets the needs of all ages and abilities (Policy 
2.A.5 of the Land Use, Community Design, and Historic Preservation Element). 

4. Encourages infill development, adaptive reuse, and the restoration of historic buildings in existing 

urbanized areas to enhance community character, promote pedestrian- and bicycle-friendly neighborhoods, increase 
housing diversity, ensure integrity of historic districts, optimize City investment in infrastructure, support increased 

transit use, and enhance economic vitality (Policy 2.A.6 of the Land Use, Community Design, and Historic 

Preservation Element). 
5. Promotes compact development patterns and mixing of land uses to conserve land resources, reduce 

vehicle trips, improve air quality, and facilitate walking, bicycling, and transit use (Policy 2.C.1 of the Land Use, 

Community Design, and Historic Preservation Element). 

6. Encourages and incentivizes buildings to be constructed so that they consume less energy, water, and other 
resources; allow natural ventilation; use daylight effectively; reduce stormwater runoff; and facilitate the use of 

clean energy, whenever possible (Policy 2.C.4 of the Land Use, Community Design, and Historic Preservation 

Element). 



8 

7. Promotes the design of transition areas between different land uses in order to ensure compatibility, and 

encourage a gradual and compatible shift in scale between different densities and intensities of various uses (Policy 
2.E.3 of the Land Use, Community Design, and Historic Preservation Element). 

8. Recognizes, maintains, and celebrates the unique qualities of Woodland’s traditional residential 

neighborhoods. 

9. Within mixed-use corridors, encourages replacement of older, low-scale, auto-oriented development with 
well-designed, higher-density, new projects that offer pedestrian orientation, more efficient use of land, and 

continued, productive economic value (Policy 2.I.2 of the Land Use, Community Design, and Historic Preservation 

Element). 
10. Encourages renovation, infill, and reuse of existing commercial centers (Policy 2.J.1 of the Land Use, 

Community Design, and Historic Preservation Element). 

11. Provides office, industrial, medical, and public employment centers that encourage a range of diverse 
business and employment opportunities and feature multi-modal commute access. 

12. Promotes the development of compact, complete neighborhoods in Specific Plan Areas that locate services 

and amenities within walking and biking distance of neighborhood residents, reducing the need to travel by car 

(Policy 2.M.1 of the Land Use, Community Design, and Historic Preservation Element). 
13. Requires Specific Plan Areas to incorporate a mix of residential and non-residential development that 

addresses the basic daily needs of residents and employees and a mix of housing types at a range of densities and 

affordability levels that accommodate residents at all stages of life (Policies 2.M.2 and 2.M.3 of the Land Use, 
Community Design, and Historic Preservation Element). 

 

D. Circulation and Mobility Benefits 

1. The Transportation and Circulation Element emphasizes the development of new and modified 

infrastructure that promotes increased transportation choices to serve existing and new development. 
2. This Element promotes an integrated, multi-modal transportation system to reduce air pollution and 

greenhouse gas emissions, reduce the need for costly roadway improvements, and allow residents and business the 

opportunity to operate, recreate, and move through the city efficiently without an automobile, whenever possible. 

3. Promotes “complete streets” that safely and effectively serve the needs of all modes of travel. 
4. Requires new development to demonstrate reductions in per-capita vehicle miles traveled (VMT) and 

peak-period VMT reduction, in particular, to reduce congestion and pollutant emissions (Policy 3.A.4 of the 

Transportation and Circulation Element). 
5. Requires all new development to provide convenient bicycle and pedestrian environments and access 

through building orientation, site layout, traffic management, and connections to transit service and local 

commercial and community facilities (Police 3.A.11 of the Transportation and Circulation Element). 

6. Promotes walking by providing appropriate facilities, programs, and information (Policy 3.E.1 of the 
Transportation and Circulation Element). 

7. Promotes the development of a comprehensive system of recreational and commuter bicycle routes that 

provide safe and convenient connections between the city’s major employment and housing areas; existing and 
planned bikeways; and schools, parks, retail shopping, and residential neighborhoods (Policy 3.F.2 of the 

Transportation and Circulation Element). 

8.  Promotes a transit system that serves as a viable alternative to the automobile for those without access to 
a vehicle and those that choose to live and work in areas where land use density and intensity are supportive of 

transit. 

 

E. Economic Benefits 

1. The Economic Development Element promotes a diversified economic base and seeks to capitalize on 

Woodland’s location and assets—access to Interstate 5 (I-5), Sacramento International Airport, rail service, prime 
farmland, and U.C. Davis—by supporting and assisting business development and mitigating constraints to 

economic investment. 

2. This Element provides sites in a variety of infill and new growth locations to attract hotel, office, industrial, 
and research and development uses, which in turn will provide jobs and help the City achieve fiscal sustainability.  



9 

3. Seeks partnerships in higher education, seed research, agricultural technology, food production, and other 

locally appropriate sectors.  
4. Supports linkages with Woodland’s strong historical and cultural resources and promotes tourism. 

 

F. Public Facilities and Services Benefits 

1. The Public Facilities and Services Element ensures that police and fire services; parks and recreational 

facilities and programs; schools; water, recycled water, wastewater, drainage/stormwater, solid waste systems; and 

other public facilities meet the needs of the community as the city grows.  
2. Balances the fiscal realities of providing sustainable public services with community desires for high-

quality amenities and facilities to ensure that meeting today’s needs does not compromise the community’s fiscal 

future.  
3. Requires new development to pay for itself, including new facilities and on-going operations.  

4. Provides a comprehensive program of law enforcement services to deter crime, ensure public safety, and 

meet the growing demand for police services associated with increasing population and non-residential 
development. 

5. Provides a comprehensive program of fire protection services to protect residents of and visitors to 

Woodland from injury and loss of life and to protect property from fires. 

6. Establishes and maintains a complete system of public parks and community and recreational facilities 
that provides opportunities for both passive and active recreation and is well suited to the needs of Woodland 

residents, employees, and visitors. 

7. Promotes creation of a recreational greenbelt and expansion of walking and biking paths to enable residents 
to use active transportation options to connect to work, schools, grocery stores, and variety of open spaces.  

8. Underscores the importance of high-quality educational opportunities—including K–12 education, higher 

education, and workforce training.  
9. Supports continued partnership with the Woodland Joint Unified School District, the County Office of 

Education, and Woodland Community College in planning, facility sharing, extracurricular activities and recreation, 

and promoting academic achievement, as well as linkages between Woodland’s growing cluster of agricultural 

technology and research establishments and higher education. 
10. Ensures that potable water capacity (including surface water treatment capacity and aquifer storage and 

recovery well capacity) is available to serve planned urban development within the Planning Area, consistent with 

the General Plan.  
11. Ensures that adequate wastewater collection, treatment, recycling, and disposal facilities are provided in a 

timely fashion to serve existing and future needs. 

12. Maintains the City’s storm drainage system and promotes best management practices to protect from 

flooding, enhance water quality, prevent infrastructure deterioration, and comply with State and federal laws.  
13. Collaborates with affected stakeholders and partners to identify and support programs and new techniques 

of solid waste disposal, such as recycling, composting, waste-to-energy technology, and waste separation, to reduce 

the volume and toxicity of solid wastes that must be sent to landfill facilities (Policy 5.J.3 of the Public Facilities 
and Services Element). 

14. Promotes energy-saving practices and encourage energy efficiency through good urban design and site-

planning practices, as well as through building design, maintenance, and retrofit (Policy 5.K.6 of the Public 
Facilities and Services Element). 

15. Facilitates the upgrading of utility services and support development of the infrastructure necessary for all 

residents to use and benefit from improved and emerging technologies in Woodland, including communication 

technologies (Policy 5.K.7 of the Public Facilities and Services Element). 

 

G. Healthy Community Benefits 

1. The Healthy Community Element promotes health equity in Woodland, including the promotion of equal 

access to health facilities, goods, services, and economic and educational opportunities; helping to ensure overall 

well-being for residents of all ages, abilities, and incomes; and fairly treating all members of the public in the 
process of creating a healthy Woodland. 



10 

2. This Element supports healthy and active lifestyles for all members of the community by integrating 

opportunities for active transportation and physical activity into daily life in Woodland. 
3. Creates a healthy, balanced, functional, and equitable food system for the entire Woodland community 

by reducing barriers and increasing access to locally-grown fruits and vegetables, and increasing community-wide 

knowledge of healthy food choices and behaviors. 

4. Supports a wide variety of community facilities and programs to serve and meet the needs of the diverse 
Woodland community. 

5. Supports public art as an important amenity to creating a beautiful and vibrant city. 

6. Ensures equal treatment of all community members and equal share in both the benefits and burdens 
associated with the city’s amenities, services, facilities, and land use decisions.  

 

H. Sustainability, Conservation, and Open Space Benefits 

1. The Sustainability, Conservation, and Open Space Element focuses on balanced management of the city’s 

multiple natural (water resources, natural habitats, wildlife, vegetation, agricultural soils, minerals, and air quality) 
and cultural resources. 

2. This Element promotes thoughtful planning and resource management that can help inform community 

discussion about weighing environmental conservation. 

3. Seeks to balance planned growth with conservation and enhancement of the area’s natural resources. 
4. Protects and enhances the natural quantity and qualities of surface water and groundwater resources in the 

Woodland area by supporting local efforts to establish a Groundwater Sustainability Agency and adopt a 

Groundwater Management Plan and by supporting local and regional efforts to protect the Sacramento River, Cache 
Creek, Putah Creek, and Willow Slough watersheds (Policies 7.A.2 and 7.A.3 of the Sustainability, Conservation, 

and Open Space Element).  

5. Requires the use of feasible and practical best management practices and promotes Low Impact 
Development to protect receiving waters from the adverse effects of construction activities and urban and 

agricultural runoff (Policy 7.A.4 of the Sustainability, Conservation, and Open Space Element). 

6. Supports continued participation in the planning process for the countywide Habitat Conservation 

Plan/Natural Community Conservation Plan and implementation the adopted Plan to mitigate the impacts of growth 
projected under the General Plan on plant and wildlife habitats in the Woodland area (Policy 7.B.1 of the 

Sustainability, Conservation, and Open Space Element).  

7. Supports the conservation and preservation of sensitive habitat types (i.e., alkali sink, freshwater wetlands, 
freshwater marsh, riparian forest, drainages, riverine habitat, and lakes) and habitats of Federally- or State-listed 

rare, threatened, endangered, and/or other special status species. 

8. Permanently protects as open space areas of natural resource value, including wetlands preserves, riparian 

corridors, woodlands, and floodplains. Supports the maintenance of open space and natural areas that are 
interconnected and of sufficient size to protect biodiversity, accommodate wildlife movement, and sustain 

ecosystems (Policy 7.B.5 of the Sustainability, Conservation, and Open Space Element). 

9. Supports existing agricultural uses within the ULL until urban development occurs on these properties 
(Policy 7.C.2 of the Sustainability, Conservation, and Open Space Element). 

10. Ensures that urban development within the ULL does not affect the economic viability of adjacent 

agricultural practices located outside the ULL (Policy 7.C.4 of the Sustainability, Conservation, and Open Space 
Element). 

11. Preserves and protects areas and sites of prehistoric, cultural, and archaeological significance. 

12. Requires projects to implement Best Management Practices for reducing air pollutant emissions associated 

with the construction and operation of development projects (Policy 7.F.2 of the Sustainability, Conservation, and 
Open Space Element). 

13. Maintains inventories of community-wide greenhouse gas emissions and greenhouse gas emissions from 

City operations and tracks related solid waste, energy, economic, and environmental data and updates the 
inventories periodically as additional data and methodologies become available (Policy 7.F.7 of the Sustainability, 

Conservation, and Open Space Element). 

 



11 

I. Safety Benefits 

1. The Safety Element ensures that appropriate consideration of both natural and human-made hazards and 

risks are factored into land use decision-making (including geologic and seismic hazards, flood hazards, wildland 

fires, hazardous materials, and airport operations). 

2. This Element requires the City to continue to implement floodplain zoning and undertake other actions 
appropriate and/or required to comply with State flood risk management requirements, and to maintain the City’s 

eligibility under the Federal Flood Insurance Program (Policy 8.B.1 of the Safety Element). 

3. Requires evaluation of potential flood hazards prior to approval of development projects (Policy 8.B.2 of 
the Safety Element). 

4. Requires the City make explicit findings that either existing flood management facilities provide an 

adequate level of protection from flooding, the City has conditioned the project to provide an adequate level of 

protection, or the local flood management agency has made adequate progress on the construction of a flood 
protection system that will provide adequate protection before approval of subdivisions, development agreements, 

or permits (Policy 8.B.3 of the Safety Element).  

5. Establishes noise compatibility guidelines but acknowledges that planned development in growth areas 
will be noisy and may exceed those thresholds (Tables 8-5 and 8-6, Policies 8.G.1 and 8.G.2). 

 

J. Housing Benefits 

1. The Housing Element demonstrates the City’s continued success in providing housing affordable to all 

economic segments. 

2. This Element validates the importance of the City’s inclusionary housing requirements. 
3. Encourages the preservation, maintenance and improvement of existing housing and the replacement of 

unsafe or dilapidated housing. 

4. Encourages infill development Downtown and along mixed-use corridors. 
5. The goals, policies, and programs of this element emphasize a mix of diverse housing opportunities (i.e., 

larger lot to small-lot single-family homes, townhomes, apartment buildings and lofts) in a variety of locations to 

meet the needs of all City residents, including those with special housing needs. 

6. Demonstrates that planned land uses will satisfy the County’s regional housing needs allocation in every 
category (Table 1-1 of the Housing Element). 

7. Has been determined by the California Department of Housing and Community Development to be 

compliant with state law. 

 

K. 2035 Climate Action Plan Benefits 

1. Implements the General Plan guiding principles, goals, and policies, as they relate to GHG emissions 

reduction.  

2. Articulates objectives for the City related to local GHG reductions to support the development of strategies 

and actions.  
3. Provides GHG reduction targets for 2020 and 2035 that allow the City to demonstrate consistency with 

the State’s own long-term GHG reduction targets articulated in Assembly Bill (AB) 32 and Senate Bill (SB) 32 

(California Global Warming Solutions Act). 
4. Outlines GHG reduction strategies and actions that are appropriate for Woodland’s specific context, and 

that are consistent with the City’s other environmental, social, and economic objectives.  

5. Establishes a process whereby future plans and projects may evaluate their consistency with the 2035 CAP 
as an alternative to project-specific GHG emissions analysis under CEQA.  

6. Indicates how the City will implement CAP strategies and related actions, track the performance of each 

measure, and evaluate, update, and amend the CAP over time, so the plan remains effective and current.  

7. Ensures compliance with CEQA Guidelines Section 15183.5, Tiering and Streamlining the Analysis of 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions 

 



12 

V. GENERAL FINDINGS: RECORD OF PROCEEDINGS 

A. Final EIR 

The Final EIR for the Proposed Project includes the following items: 

 

1. The Draft EIR (State Clearinghouse #2013032015) dated September 15, 2016; 

2. Response to Comments on the Draft EIR dated January 23, 2017;  

3. Revisions to the Draft EIR dated January 23, 2017; and 

4. Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program dated January 23, 2017, and subsequently 

amended May 16, 2017. 

5. Errata to the EIR, dated May 16, 2017.  

 

B. The Administrative Record 

Public Resources Code section 21167.6(e) sets forth the contents of the administrative record for CEQA 

purposes and these findings. Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(e), the location and custodian 

of the documents and other materials which constitute the record of proceedings upon which these 

decisions are based is as follows: 

 

 Woodland Community Development Department 

 300 First Street 

 Woodland, CA 95695 

 (530) 661-5820 

 www.cityofwoodland.org  

 

VI. FINDINGS REQUIRED UNDER CEQA 

Public Resources Code Section 21002 provides that “public agencies should not approve projects as 

proposed if there are feasible alternatives or feasible mitigation measures available which would 

substantially lessen the significant environmental effects of such projects[.]” It also states that the 

procedures required by CEQA “are intended to assist public agencies in systematically identifying both 

the significant effects of proposed projects and the feasible alternatives or feasible mitigation measures 

which will avoid or substantially lessen such significant effects.” And it states that “in the event specific 

economic, social, or other conditions make infeasible such project alternatives or such mitigation 

measures, individual projects may be approved in spite of one or more significant effects thereof.” 

 

The mandate and principles of Section 21002 are implemented, in part, through the requirement that 

agencies must adopt findings before approving projects for which EIRs are required. For each significant 

environmental effect identified in an EIR for a proposed project, the approving agency must issue a written 

finding reaching one or more of three permissible conclusions. The first such finding is that changes or 

alterations have been required or incorporated into the project to avoid or substantially lessen the 

significant environmental effect. Inclusion of mitigating General Plan policies and implementation 

programs are among the “changes or alterations” referenced in this finding. Other “changes and 

alterations” are discussed herein. For purposes of these findings, the term “avoid” refers to the 

effectiveness of one or more mitigation measures to reduce an otherwise significant effect to a less than 

significant level. In contrast, the term “substantially lessen” refers to the effectiveness of such measure or 

measures to substantially reduce the severity of a significant effect, but not to reduce that effect to a less-

than-significant level. 



13 

 

The second permissible finding is that such changes or alterations are within the responsibility and 

jurisdiction of another public agency and not the agency making the finding, and that such changes have 

been adopted by such other agency or can and should be adopted by such other agency.  

 

The third potential finding is that specific economic, legal, social, technological, or other considerations 

make infeasible the mitigation measures or project alternatives identified in the Final EIR (CEQA 

Guidelines Section 15091). “Feasible” means capable of being accomplished in a successful manner 

within a reasonable period of time, taking into account economic, environmental, social, legal, and 

technological factors. The concept of “feasibility” also encompasses the question of whether a particular 

alternative or mitigation measure promotes the underlying goals and objectives of a project. Moreover, 

“feasibility” under CEQA encompasses “desirability” to the extent that desirability is based on a 

reasonable balancing of the relevant economic, environmental, social, legal, and technological factors.  

 

In the process of adopting mitigation, the City Council has made a determination regarding whether the 

mitigation proposed in the EIR is “feasible.” In some cases, modifications may have been made to the 

mitigating policies and implementation programs to update, clarify, streamline, correct, or make other 

revisions. These are discussed herein. 

 

With respect to a project for which significant impacts are not avoided or substantially lessened, a public 

agency, after adopting proper findings, may nevertheless approve the project if the agency first adopts a 

statement of overriding considerations setting forth the specific reasons in support of the finding that the 

project benefits outweigh its unavoidable adverse environmental effects. In the process of considering the 

EIR for certification, the City Council has recognized that impact avoidance is not possible in all instances. 

To the extent that significant adverse environmental impacts will not be reduced to a less-than-significant 

level with mitigating policies and implementation programs, the City Council has found that specific 

economic, social, and other considerations support approval of the Proposed Project. Those findings are 

reflected herein in Section VI.C (Significant Effects and Mitigation Measures) below and in Section VIII 

(Statement of Overriding Considerations). 

 

A. Findings Regarding EIR Errata and EIR Recirculation 

 1. Standard for Recirculation Under CEQA  

 

CEQA Guidelines Section 15088.5 requires a lead agency to recirculate an EIR when “significant new 

information” is added to the EIR after the lead agency gives public notice of the availability of the Draft 

EIR but before certification. “Information” may include project changes, changes to the environmental 

setting, or additional data or other information. The Guidelines do not consider new information to be 

significant unless the lead agency changes the EIR in a way that deprives the public of a meaningful 

opportunity to comment on a substantial adverse environmental effect or a feasible way to mitigate the 

impact that the agency or project proponent has declined to implement.  

 

Section 15088.5 states “significant new information” requiring recirculation may include:  

 

(1) A new significant environmental impact that had not previously been disclosed in the Draft 

EIR would result from the project or from a new mitigation measure;  

 



14 

(2) A substantial increase in the severity of an environmental impact that had already been 

identified unless mitigation measures would be adopted to reduce the impact to a level of 

insignificance;  

 

(3) A feasible project alternative or mitigation measure would considerably lessen the significant 

environmental impacts of the project, but the proponents will not adopt it; or  

 

(4) The Draft EIR was so inadequate and conclusory that meaningful public review and comment 

were precluded.  

 

Recirculation is not required if new information added to the EIR just clarifies or makes minor 

modifications to an otherwise adequate EIR.  

 

2. Changes to the Proposed Project 

 

Since the City released the Draft EIR, and as a result of public input and meetings, the City made various 

policy and program changes to both the Draft General Plan and Draft Climate Action Plan, including 

policy and implementation program changes. These various changes are shown in Attachment B to the 

respective City Council resolutions approving the 2035 General Plan and 2035 Climate Action Plan. The 

City made numerous non-substantive text changes to the Proposed Project to clarify terms, correct 

grammatical errors, correct figures, and place headers and other identifying information in the correct 

places. These changes did not substantively change the text of either the General Plan or Climate Action 

Plan. Rather, the changes corrected errors and provided additional clarity.  

 

The purpose of most of the substantive changes was to clarify policies and programs, many of which are 

enhancements to existing policies, and to ensure additional environmental protection. For example, the 

City modified Policy 8.F.2 to require the City to participate in the next update of the Yolo County 

Operational Area Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan in an effort to address topics related to 

climate change vulnerability, as required by SB 379. As another example, the City modified Policy 6.B.9 

to require an evaluation and enhancement of street lighting along bicycle and pedestrian routes to 

encourage walking and biking as needed. The City also amended the Proposed Project to add new, or 

amend existing, policies as directed by the EIR mitigation measures. Changes that incorporate mitigation 

measures from the EIR do not constitute new information as the changes ensured conformity with the 

EIR. Additionally, the new or amended policies support goals already in the 2035 General Plan and/or 

2035 CAP. 
 

The City Council also made an important decision regarding its growth strategy. The Draft 2035 General 

Plan and the EIR for the Proposed Project both examined two “equal weight” alternatives, the South 

Alternative and the East Alternative. While each alternative contemplated the same amount of overall 

growth city-wide, each alternative contemplated much of the growth in a particular part of the city (either 

primarily, but not exclusively, to the south or primarily, but not exclusively, to the east). Rather than select 

either alternative, the City chose to, instead, adopt an alternative growth strategy that is now the 2035 

General Plan. That growth strategy recognizes that the General Plan goals and policies prioritize future 

residential growth through infill along key corridors and downtown as well as prioritizes Spring Lake 

buildout. Instead of selecting a particular part of the City in which to focus growth, potentially to the 

exclusion of another area(s), the City Council chooses instead to have inherent physical, financial, and 

market constraints direct and meter growth in these areas. The maximum number of new housing units 

(maximum of 7,000 dwelling units), population, and square footage of non-residential space (maximum 

of 17,386,000 square feet) has not changed. Various growth phasing considerations have been imbedded 



15 

as policy considerations. Thus, the Proposed Project provides the City with greater flexibility to consider 

development opportunities that will provide the most benefit to the community. All decisions regarding 

future development in new growth areas will rely on a thorough assessment of the specific project proposal 

and its consistency with the 2035 General Plan goals and policies as well as the 2035 Climate Action Plan 

and EIR for the Proposed Project.  

 

Due to the City Council’s decision to not select either the South or the East Alternative, and to instead 

have a modified growth strategy, the City modified the 2035 General Plan text and a few of the 2035 

General Plan policies. The 2035 General Plan does not have any references to the two alternatives as the 

public review draft previously did. Instead, the Specific Plan Areas are described as specific areas and not 

within the context of being permitted to develop pursuant to one of the two alternatives. For example, 

page LU 2-61 removed all references to the different alternatives and instead describes the three different 

Specific Plan Areas. These changes are text changes only and do not create an environmental impact or 

worsen a previously identified environmental effect.  

 

The City substantively modified certain policies to be consistent with its modified growth strategy. The 

City modified Policy 2.B.1 to provide protections for completion of infrastructure and amenities in 

existing specific plan areas while they are developing. This modified policy ensures that the appropriate 

infrastructure analysis is conducted as a specific plan is developing and strengthens the policy to ensure 

overall environmental protection rather than creating a new, or exacerbating an existing, environmental 

effect. Additionally, the City modified Policy 2.B.2 to prohibit the processing of any specific plan until 

the designs for projects to provide necessary 200-year flood protection have been approved and the 

funding for construction secured. The City Council also modified the policy to require that the City 

Council approve any sale of the City-owned 900 acres that is a part of SP-2 by a four-fifths vote. This 

amended policy is to ensure adequate flood protection is consistent with state law related to flood 

protection. The City made similar changes to Policy 2.L.5 concerning Specific Plan-2 while also 

encouraging sustainable development with the goal of achieving zero net energy at the building and 

neighborhood level within SP-2. The City also modified Policy 2.L.1 to clarify that plans to develop new 

specific plan areas will be independently analyzed for consistency with the 2035 General Plan and to 

consider site-specific constraints.  

 

The City Council also changed 2035 General Plan Policy 2.A.3 related to agricultural mitigation. The 

policy now provides that in addition to requiring one acre of agricultural land to be permanently conserved 

for every acre converted to urban use, the farmland being conserved must be of the same Farmland 

Mapping and Monitoring Program type as the farmland that is being converted, or of a type of higher 

quality, and the conserved farmland should be located outside of, but as close to the Woodland Urban 

Limit Line as possible. It also provides that for projects proposing to convert agricultural land to an urban 

use, a soils analysis will be required to determine the farmland classification for purposes of determining 

the appropriate mitigation as a part of the environmental review conducted for the project. This change 

ensures that agricultural land will be conserved on a like for like basis and that the soil quality will be 

analyzed at the time a project is proposed for development to ensure that the most accurate analysis is 

being conducted for the project. This change strengthens the policy and ensures additional environmental 

protection rather than creating a new, or exacerbating an existing, environmental effect. 

 

During the May 16, 2017 City Council meeting, the City Council approved of three additional clarifying 

changes to the 2035 General Plan. The first change clarifies that the Neighborhood Commercial (NC) 

residential requirement is unlimited above the ground floor rather than stating that a revised density for 

this area is not applicable. This change permits residential uses above commercial development, which is 

consistent with the City’s current practice and does not exacerbate any existing, or create any new, 



16 

environmental impacts. The second change clarifies that the Commercial Mixed Use District described on 

page LU 2-45 of the General Plan is “commercial service” rather than “commercial.” This is a minor text 

change that does not substantively change the text of the General Plan and does not exacerbate an existing 

or create a new environmental impact. The third change clarifies that the development standard for 

Neighborhood Commercial (NC) is consistent with changes made on page LU 2-58, Policy 2.J.4 that the 

maximum square foot floorplate for any single user is 60,000 square feet rather than 25,000 square feet. 

This change is clerical in nature and does not create a new, or exacerbate an existing, environmental 

impact. 

 

Given the clarifications to the Proposed Project and the lack of significant changes to the Proposed Project, 

the environmental impacts from the Proposed Project did not change. While the City now has a modified 

growth strategy rather than a preferred location to concentrate its growth, the maximum allowable General 

Plan buildout did not change. Thus, the analysis of significant environmental effects remained the same, 

and no changes to the EIR were warranted as a result of changes to the Proposed Project. The City Council 

has as Attachment B to its Resolution Adopting the 2035 General Plan and Attachment B to its Resolution 

Adopting the 2035 Climate Action Plan all of the changes made to the respective documents. Rather than 

setting out each of the numerous changes made to the 2035 General Plan and 2035 Climate Action Plan, 

the City Council hereby incorporates by reference Attachment B to the City Council’s Resolution 

Adopting the 2035 General Plan and Attachment B to the City Council’s Resolution Adopting the 2035 

Climate Action Plan. The City Council is anticipated to adopt the documents, as amended, subsequent to 

certifying the EIR.  

 

Finding: None of the changes to the Proposed Project necessitated a change to the EIR. The changes did 

not create a new significant effect or worsen a previously identified one. The changes do not propose 

additional new residential units, square footage, or population to be permitted over what the EIR 

previously analyzed and disclosed. Neither do the changes propose or contemplate growth in a location 

that the EIR did not analyze. The public has not been deprived of a meaningful opportunity to comment 

on any new or different environmental impacts and had multiple opportunities to provide input. The 

numerous changes to the Proposed Project do not require any changes to the EIR; thus, recirculation is 

not necessary as the changes do not constitute significant new information under CEQA. 

 

3. Changes to the EIR and Errata to FEIR  

 

The City also made numerous changes to the Draft EIR since its release, which are described in Chapter 

3, “Revisions to the Draft EIR,” of the Final EIR, dated January 23, 2017. Most of the changes to the 

DEIR clarified text and did not substantively change the EIR. Since the City released the Final EIR, the 

City made four minor changes to mitigation measures and also amended the Mitigation Monitoring and 

Reporting Program to take into account these four changes as well as to include Table 2-1 of the Final 

EIR in it. That errata is included as Attachment A to the City Council’s Resolution Certifying the EIR 

for the Proposed Project. The amendments to the four mitigation measures are set forth as follows (new 

text shown in italics, deleted text shown in strikethrough): 

 

 Mitigation Measure 4.2-1 – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the 

following modified policy:  
Policy 2.A.3 Agricultural Mitigation. For impacts to agriculture within the ULL, require one 

acre to be permanently conserved for every acre converted to urban development (1:1 ratio). The 

farmland being conserved must be of the same Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program type 

(Prime Farmland, Farmland of Statewide Importance, Unique Farmland, Farmland of Local 

Importance) as the farmland that is being converted, or of a type of higher quality, and the 



17 

conserved farmland should be located as close to the Woodland Urban Limit Line as possible. For 

projects proposing to convert agricultural land to urban use, require soils analysis to determine 

farmland classification for purposes of determining appropriate mitigation as part of 

environmental review conducted for the project. 

 

Finding: The City Council finds that this modified Mitigation Measure ensures that farmland being 

conserved will be of the same quality as the farmland proposed for conversion, and ensures that 

lesser quality farmland will not be conserved when higher quality farmland will be converted. The 

revised Mitigation Measure also requires projects that propose to convert agricultural land to have 

a specific soils analysis prepared to determine the farmland classification, which will ensure that 

the most accurate analysis is used in determining the environmental impact of the proposed project. 

This modified Mitigation Measure will not create a new, or worsen an existing, environmental 

impact.  

  

 Mitigation Measure 4.2-3 – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the 

following new policy:  

Policy 7.C.5 Agricultural Buffer. Require new development that occurs at the edge of the ULL 

to be set back a minimum of 300 150 feet from adjacent agricultural land where possible. 

Equivalent means of providing agricultural buffers may be considered by the Planning 

Commission on a case by case basis for parcels where development potential would be precluded 

or severely limited as a result of the required buffer size. The buffer shall be landscaped/vegetated 

and may include public right of way.  

  

Finding: This modified Mitigation Measure ensures that a buffer will be in place between new 

development at the edge of the Urban Limit Line but also continues to provide the City and 

landowner with flexibility of having an alternative to a buffer if development potential would be 

precluded or severely limited as a result of the required buffer size. The City Council changed this 

Mitigation Measure in part to be consistent with neighboring jurisdictions’ policies and in part 

because it recognizes the need for flexibility in addressing required buffers on private property. 

This modified Mitigation Measure will not create a new, or worsen an existing, environmental 

impact.  

 

 Mitigation Measure 4.13-1a – The Draft General Plan should be amended to include the 

following modification of the Circulation Diagram in the East Alternative.  
East Alternative Circulation Diagram: Include E. Gum Avenue from Bourn Drive to Pioneer 

Avenue as a 2-lane minor arterial. 

 

Finding: The modified Mitigation Measure removes the reference to the East Alternative as the 

City Council chose to pursue a modified growth strategy and is not selecting one direction to grow 

in over another. This change would not create a new, or exacerbate an existing, environmental 

impact.  

 

 Mitigation Measure 4.13-3b – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the 

following modification of the circulation diagram.   

East Alternative Circulation Diagram: Include County Road 102 from E. Gibson Road to 

Farmers Central Road as a 4-lane principal arterial.  

 

Finding: Similar to modified Mitigation Measure 4.13-1a, the modified Mitigation Measure 

removes the reference to the East Alternative as the City Council chose to pursue a modified 



18 

growth strategy and is not selecting one direction to grow in over another. This change would not 

create a new, or exacerbate an existing, environmental impact.  

 

Due to the City’s decision to have a revised growth strategy, the City made a minor change to Impact 

4.13-1 to remove the comparative reference to the East Alternative and South Alternative. Similar to the 

discussion above, this change comports with the City Council’s decision to pursue a modified growth 

strategy rather than growing primarily to the south or to the east and removes the reference to the two 

alternatives. The change reads as follows:  

 

IMPACT 4.13-1  Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance or Policy Establishing 

Measures of Effectiveness for the Performance of the Circulation System by Resulting in 

Unacceptable Levels of Service on City of Woodland Roadways. Implementation of the Proposed 

Project could cause unacceptable LOS conditions on some roadway segments. The impact is 

considered significant for the East Alternative and less than significant for the South Alternative. 

 

Finding: Similar to modified Mitigation Measure 4.13-1a and 4.13-3b, this impact had a finding 

regarding both the East Alternative and the South Alternative. The removal of the language 

recognizes the City Council’s preferred modified growth strategy but does not add a new impact 

that had not previously been analyzed or worsen an existing impact. This language change does 

not constitute significant new information.  

 

Finding: The Woodland City Council finds that the changes identified in the proposed revisions to both 

the Proposed Project and the EIR do not identify any new impacts or identify any substantial increase in 

the severity of an environmental impact that would not be reduced to a less than significant level through 

mitigation; nor would the revised mitigation measures result in new significant environmental impacts. 

Rather, Mitigation Measure 4.2-1 provides more specificity concerning the process to use when 

agricultural land is being converted to urban development. It would result in an additional environmental 

impact or change in severity an existing impact. Mitigation Measure 4.2-3 changes the agricultural buffer 

from 300 feet to 150 feet and continues to provide an alternative if the buffer is impractical or otherwise 

not possible. The amended mitigation measure would not cause a new significant environmental impact 

to result from the amended measure and would cause an increase in the severity of an environmental 

impact. Amended Mitigation Measures 4.13-1a and 4.13-3b both referred to the East Alternative 

Circulation Diagram. Given the City Council’s growth strategy direction and its decision to not choose 

between the East Alternative and the South Alternative, these two Mitigation Measures have been 

amended to refer to the Circulation Diagram for the 2035 General Plan, rather than the East Alternative. 

Impact 4.13-1 referred to both the East and South Alternatives, distinctions that are no longer applicable 

in the 2035 General Plan. These changes conform to the City Council’s chosen growth strategy and would 

not result in a significant impact on the environment or increase in intensity any environmental effects. 

All of the mitigation measures that have been amended since release of the FEIR help clarify and 

strengthen the effectiveness of the mitigation measures to help further reduce or avoid an impact.  

 

Because no new unmitigated environmental effects have been identified or created by the revised 

mitigation, and because no new significant information has been added to either the Proposed Project or 

the EIR, the EIR has not been changed in a way that deprives the public of a meaningful opportunity to 

comment upon a substantial adverse environmental impact of the Proposed Project. The revisions to the 

EIR are improvements to the environmental analysis. No impacts identified in the EIR would be 

substantially increased as a result of changes to the Proposed Project or the EIR. There are no new feasible 

alternatives or mitigation measures that are considerably different from those considered in the EIR that 



19 

the City Council has declined to adopt. Therefore, recirculation of the EIR pursuant to CEQA Guidelines 

Section 15088.5 is not required.  

 

B. Findings Regarding Specific Environmental Impacts 

The Draft EIR identified a number of less than significant impacts associated with the Proposed Project 

that do not require mitigation. The Draft EIR also identified a number of significant and potentially 

significant environmental effects (or impacts) that may be caused in whole or in part by the Proposed 

Project. Some of these significant effects can be fully avoided or substantially lessened through the 

adoption of feasible mitigation measures. Other effects cannot be, and thus may be significant and 

unavoidable. For reasons set forth in Section VIII (Statement of Overriding Considerations), however, the 

City Council has determined that overriding economic, social, and other considerations outweigh the 

significant, unavoidable effects of the Proposed Project.  

 

The City Council’s findings with respect to the Proposed Project’s significant effects and mitigation 

measures are set forth in the Final EIR and these Findings of Fact. The Summary of Findings does not 

attempt to describe the full analysis of each environmental impact contained in the Final EIR. Please refer 

to the Draft EIR, the Final EIR, the Final 2035 General Plan, and the Final 2035 CAP for more detail. 

Each of these documents is incorporated into these findings in their entirety. Without limitation, this 

incorporation is intended to elaborate on the scope and nature of mitigating policies and implementation 

programs, the basis for determining the significance of impacts, the comparative analysis of alternatives, 

and the reasons for approving the 2035 General Plan in spite of the potential for associated significant and 

unavoidable adverse impacts. 

 

The Summary of Findings provides a summary description of each potentially significant and significant 

impact, describes the applicable mitigation measures identified in the Final EIR and adopted by the City 

Council, and states the findings of the City Council regarding the significance of each impact after 

imposition of the adopted mitigation measures. A full explanation of these environmental findings and 

conclusions can be found in the Final EIR and associated record (described herein), both of which are 

incorporated by reference. The City Council hereby ratifies, adopts, and incorporates the analysis and 

explanation in the record into these findings, and ratifies, adopts, and incorporates in these findings the 

determinations and conclusions of the Final EIR relating to environmental impacts and mitigation 

measures, except to the extent any such determinations and conclusions are specifically and expressly 

modified by these findings. 

 

The following general findings are made by the City Council: 

 

► For all impacts identified as less-than-significant in the EIR, the less-than-significant impact 

determination is hereby confirmed by the City Council based on the evidence and analysis provided 

in the record. 

 

► For all adopted mitigation measures, the City Council hereby directs that the stated mitigation measure 

(or its equivalent) shall be incorporated into the 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP. The City Council 

finds that each such measure is appropriate and feasible and will lessen the impact to some degree.  

 

Some of the measures identified in these Findings may also be within the jurisdiction and control of other 

agencies. To the extent any of the mitigation measures are within the jurisdiction of other agencies, the 

City Council finds those agencies can and should implement those measures within their jurisdiction and 

control (CEQA Guidelines Section 15091[a][2]). 



20 

 

1. Findings Regarding Less than Significant Impacts (No Mitigation Required) 

CEQA Guidelines Section 15091 does not require specific findings to address environmental effects that 

an EIR identifies as “no impact” or a “less than significant” impact. Nevertheless, the City Council hereby 

finds that the Proposed Project would have either no impact or a less than significant impact with respect 

to a number of environmental topics, as summarized below. Please refer to the Draft EIR, the Final EIR, 

the Final 2035 General Plan, and the Final 2035 CAP for more detail. 

 

Aesthetics and Visual Resources 

 

Impact 4.1-1: Substantial Adverse Effect on a Scenic Vista.  

 

Finding: The impact is considered less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.1-22).  

 

Explanation: Policies in the Proposed Project ensure that impacts on scenic views are minimized. Goal 

7.C establishes that the City is responsible for promoting the preservation of agricultural land surrounding 

the ULL. Policies 2.A.1, 7.B.6, and 7.C.3 reinforce the Urban Limit Line and require the City to work 

with Yolo County and the City of Davis on an open space buffer and protection of agricultural land around 

Woodland. Policy 3.A.7 requires the City to promote the use of grid and modified grid street patterns in 

new neighborhoods, which helps protect views of surrounding agricultural and open space land along 

transportation corridors. 2035 CAP actions protect open spaces, which provide scenic views, by focusing 

installation of renewable energy systems on developed land and structures. Implementation of the 

Proposed Project would change views of farmland from individual parcels, but it would not have a 

substantial adverse effect on a scenic vista (FEIR, p. 4.1-22). 

 

Impact 4.1-2: Substantially Damage Scenic Resources, Including, but not Limited to, Trees, Rock 

Outcroppings, and Historic Buildings within a State Scenic Highway.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.1-24). 

 

Explanation: There is no state scenic highway within or in close proximity to the Planning Area. In 

addition, policies and implementation programs in the Proposed Project require that the City’s tree canopy 

is managed and improved and that historic buildings are preserved. There are no rock outcroppings in the 

Planning Area (FEIR, p. 4.1-24). 

 

Agriculture and Forestry Resources 

 

Impact 4.2-2: Conflict with Existing Zoning for Agricultural Use, or a Williamson Act Contract.  

 

Finding: The impact is considered less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.2-37). 

 

Explanation: There are parcels currently zoned for agricultural use in the Planning Area; however, the 

2002 General Plan specifies that the City may allow development on land zoned Agriculture when it is 

needed for urban development. There are properties adjacent to new growth areas under Williamson Act 

contracts, but policies in the 2035 General Plan reduce potential impacts on these properties (FEIR, p. 4.2-

37). 

 



21 

Air Quality 
 

Impact 4.3-4: Objectionable Odors Affecting a Substantial Number of People.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.3-48). 

 

Explanation: The WPCF headwork facility and pond system are also both odor sources within the City. 

The headworks area includes an influent pump station, screens, and grit removal, all of which are open to 

atmosphere and not equipped with any odor controls and odor scrubbers for the headwork area. Although 

there have been odor abatement options identified in odor studies for the WPCF, the WPCF would incur 

substantial construction and operations and maintenance costs, and/or diminished operational flexibility 

in order to avoid future odor impacts. With implementation of proposed policies, the Proposed Project 

would not result in substantial odor exposure. Policy 7.F.6 requires odors associated with the wastewater 

treatment plant to be mitigated to acceptable levels in conjunction with planning and development for any 

land within an odor buffer. The odor buffer zone was developed through an evaluation of odor emissions 

associated with the WPCF and consideration of wind speeds and wind direction in the area surrounding 

this facility. Through this study of odor emissions, a buffer was developed, outside of which there would 

not be substantial odor emissions. The Proposed Project includes policies that would avoid exposure of a 

substantial number of people to objectionable odors (FEIR, p. 4.3-48). 

 

Biological Resources 

 

Impact 4.4-5: Interference with Wildlife Movement Corridors and Nursery Sites.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.4-51). 

 

Explanation: The Proposed Project plans for development within the Pacific flyway, a major bird 

migration route. However, buildout of the Proposed Project would not create a barrier to movement of 

migratory species or alter the character of existing habitat available to migrating birds such that it would 

no longer function as a migratory corridor (FEIR, p. 4.4-51). 

 

Impact 4.4-6: Conflict with Local Ordinances Protecting Biological Resources.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.4-55). 

 

Explanation: The 2035 General Plan policies and compliance with City ordinance would reduce potential 

impacts on protected trees (FEIR, p. 4.4-55). 

 

Impact 4.4-8: Substantial Reduction in the Habitat of a Fish or Wildlife Species, Cause a Fish or Wildlife 

Population to Drop Below Self-Sustaining Levels, Eliminate a Plant or Animal Community, or 

Substantially Reduce the Number or Restrict the Range of an Endangered, Rare, or Threatened Species.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.4-59).  

 

Explanation: Implementing the Proposed Project would not substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or 

wildlife species, eliminate a plant or animal community, or substantially reduce the number or restrict the 

range of any endangered, rare, or threatened species because the majority of known occurrences of special-

status species and their habitat would be preserved (FEIR, p. 4.4-59). 

 



22 

Impact 4.5-3: Develop Land Uses or Development Patterns that Cause Wasteful, Inefficient, or 

Unnecessary Consumption of Energy.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.5-62). 

 

Explanation: With implementation of policies in the 2035 General Plan and reduction strategies in the 

2035 CAP, combined with current laws, regulations, and policies, the impact related to the use of energy 

would be reduced.  

 

The environmental effects associated with the use of energy in the transportation sector, as well as for 

building energy use and construction, are evaluated in this section, as well as Section 4.3 of the EIR, “Air 

Quality” and Section 4.11 of the EIR, “Noise and Vibration.” Section 4.13 of the EIR, “Transportation 

and Circulation,” summarizes the traffic analysis prepared to support the EIR.  

 

During construction and following buildout of the Proposed Project, energy would be consumed in the 

forms of fossil fuels and electricity. A large body of existing regulations would have the effect of reducing 

energy demand and would, then, also reduce potential adverse environmental effects associated with 

energy demand. The Proposed Project also includes many policies that promote additional energy 

conservation and savings and that would reduce peak demand and associated environmental effects (FEIR, 

p. 4.5-62). 

 

Impact 4.5-4: Require or Result in the Construction of New or Expanded Energy Production or 

Transmission Facilities, the Construction of which Could Cause Significant Environmental Effects. 

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.5-65). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would increases energy demand and would result 

in the need to extend services and infrastructure to new users in the Planning Area. Policies and 

implementation programs in the Proposed Project, as well as existing regulations would reduce potential 

impacts. Construction of facilities would occur within the assumed development footprint of the Proposed 

Project, and impacts are considered throughout the EIR. There are no additional significant effects that 

are not already addressed (FEIR, p. 4.5-65). 

 

Geology, Soils, Minerals Resources, and Paleontological Resources 

 

Impact 4.7-1: Seismic Hazards Related to Surface Fault Rupture, Strong Seismic Ground Shaking, and 

Liquefaction.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.7-27). 

 

Explanation: Development and land use change consistent with the Proposed Project could subject people 

and structures to hazards associated with strong seismic ground shaking and liquefaction. Implementation 

of the policies in the 2035 General Plan, and compliance with relevant laws and ordinances, would reduce 

the potential for loss or damage from seismic hazards (FEIR, p. 4.7-27).  

 

Impact 4.7-2: Impacts Related to Soil Erosion.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.7-29). 

 



23 

Explanation: Land use change under the Proposed Project would result in substantial grading, excavation, 

and movement of earth associated with site preparation activities. These activities would increase soil 

erosion, especially from wind and water, and the potential for siltation of local drainages. Implementation 

of the policies in the Proposed Project, combined with relevant laws and ordinances, would reduce the 

potential for soil erosion (FEIR, p. 4.7-29).  

 

Hazards and Hazardous Materials 

 

Impact 4.8-1: Create a Significant Hazard to the Public or the Environment through the Routine 

Transport, Use, or Disposal of Hazardous Materials.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.8-31). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project could create a significant hazard to the public or 

the environment through the routine transport, use, or disposal of hazardous materials. However, existing 

regulations and proposed policies in the Proposed Project would address this potential risk and the impact 

is considered less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.8-31). 

 

Impact 4.8-2: Create a Significant Hazard to the Public or the Environment through Reasonably 

Foreseeable Upset and Accident Conditions Involving the Release of Hazardous Materials into the 

Environment.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, pp. 4.8-33 and 4.8-34). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project plans for a wide variety of uses, including 

commercial and industrial uses that could result in upset and accident conditions involving the release of 

hazardous materials into the environment. Individual projects under the Proposed Project for which there 

are potential significant impacts related to hazards would require a project-level environmental review at 

the time they are proposed. With existing regulations and Proposed Project goals and policies, the impact 

is considered less than significant (FEIR, pp. 4.8-33 and 4.8-34). 

 

Impact 4.8-3: Emit Hazardous Emissions or Handle Hazardous or Acutely Hazardous Materials, 

Substances, or Waste within One-Quarter Mile of an Existing or Proposed School.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.8-38). 

 

Explanation: Projects that could potentially occur under the Proposed Project could emit hazardous 

emissions or handle hazardous or acutely hazardous materials, substances, or waste within one-quarter 

mile of an existing or proposed school. However, existing regulations provide standards for uses involving 

the handling or emissions of hazardous materials within a quarter mile of schools (FEIR, p. 4.8-38).  

 

Impact 4.8-4: Be Located on a Site Which Is Included on a List of Hazardous Materials Sites Compiled 

Pursuant to Government Code Section 65962.5 and, as a Result, Would Create a Significant Hazard to 

the Public or the Environment.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.8-40). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project could involve changes to sites included on a list of 

hazardous materials sites compiled pursuant to Government Code 64964.5. However, with existing 



24 

regulations and Proposed Project goals and policies, the impact is considered less than significant (FEIR, 

p. 4.8-40). 

 

Impact 4.8-5: For a Project Located within and Airport Land Use Plan or, where such a Plan has Not 

Been Adopted, within Two Miles of a Public Airport or Public Use Airport, Would the Project Result in 

a Safety Hazard For People Residing or Working within an Airport Land Use Plan Area.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.8-41). 

 

Explanation: A portion of the Planning Area is in the SMF Airport Influence Area. The 2035 General 

Plan includes policies to avoid any adverse impact (FEIR, p. 4.8-41). 

 

Impact 4.8-6: Impair Implementation of or Physically Interfere with an Adopted Emergency Response 

Plan or Emergency Evacuation Plan.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.8-43). 

 

Explanation: Proposed Project policies support the mitigation of and preparation for emergencies (FEIR, 

p. 4.8-43).  

 

Impact 4.8-7: Expose People or Structures to a Significant Risk of Loss, Injury or Death Involving 

Wildland Fires, Including Where Wildlands are Adjacent to Urbanized Areas or Where Residences are 

Intermixed with Wildlands. Most of the Planning Area is non-wildland/non-urban area that is not at risk 

for wildland fires.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.8-46). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would result in new development in SP-1A, which 

is adjacent to a Moderate Fire Hazard Severity Zone. However, existing regulations related to fire flow, 

access, and clearances around structures would ensure a less than significant impact (FEIR, p. 4.8-46). 

 

Hydrology, Flooding, and Water Quality 
 

Impact 4.9-4: Interference with Groundwater Recharge or Substantial Depletion of Groundwater 

Supplies.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.9-50). 

 

Explanation: Land use changes under the Proposed Project would result in additional impervious 

surfaces, which could reduce the amount of groundwater recharge and in turn, affect the yield of 

hydrologically connected wells. However, a substantial reduction in groundwater recharge is not 

anticipated. An increase in water demands and associated depletion of groundwater supplies could also 

result from the land use changes under the Proposed Project; however, access to new surface water 

supplies and opportunities for conjunctive use through aquifer storage and recovery would result in a 

reduced reliance on groundwater supplies. With compliance with existing regulations and implementation 

of Proposed Project policies, this impact is considered less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.9-50). 

 

Impact 4.9-5: Place Housing Within a 100-Year Flood Hazard Area As Mapped on a Federal Flood 

Hazard Boundary Or Flood Insurance Rate Map or Other Flood Hazard Delineation Map.  



25 

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.9-58). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would place housing in new growth areas within a 

current 100-year flood hazard area only if a funded, comprehensive flood solution is secured. Additional 

policies in the Proposed Project limit the flooding risks of infill development (FEIR, p. 4.9-58). 

 

Impact 4.9-6: Place Within a 200-year Flood Hazard Areas Structures Which Would Impede or Redirect 

Flood Flows.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.9-60). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would place structures within a 200-year flood 

hazard area; however, policies in the Proposed Project prohibit diversion of flood flows onto adjacent 

properties (FEIR, p. 4.9-60). 

 

Land Use Planning, Population, and Housing 
 

Impact 4.10-1: Physically Divide an Established Community.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.10-24). 

 

Explanation: Goal 2.E establishes that the City must foster patterns and scales of development that 

encourage neighborhood interaction, which will reduce the potential for isolation and division of 

communities. Policy 2.A.8 requires the City to transform corridors to connect neighborhoods, and Policy 

3.A.10 requires the City to eliminate barriers and gaps in the existing transportation network to improve 

multi-modal connectivity. Policies 2.I.6 and 3.I.5 require the City to pursue the option of relocating the 

railroads in the City to locations outside of existing neighborhoods. Policy 3.A.8 discourages the 

construction of six-lane roads, which due to their width have the potential to divide communities. Policy 

3.I.1 requires the City to work with Yolo County on developing truck routes for areas adjacent to the City, 

rather than through the City, which would otherwise have a greater potential to impact existing 

communities. The Proposed Project does not include new investment in infrastructure or development that 

would physically divide existing communities. In addition, the 2035 General Plan includes policies that 

reduce the potential for impact, by requiring the City to use corridors to connect neighborhoods, 

discourage wide highways, and locate truck routes outside of the city. Implementation of the Proposed 

Project would not physically divide an established community (FEIR, p. 4.10-24). 

 

Impact 4.10-2: Conflict with Any Applicable Land Use Plan, Policy, or Regulation of an Agency with 

Jurisdiction over the Project (Including, but not Limited to the General Plan, Specific Plan, Local Coastal 

Program, or Zoning Ordinance). 

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.10-26). 

 

Explanation: The 2035 General Plan proposes land use designations of unincorporated county land that 

differ from the land use designations in the Yolo County 2030 General Plan. Until the unincorporated land 

in the Planning Area is annexed, the County’s general plan and land use regulations apply (FEIR, p. 4.10-

26). 

 



26 

Impact 4.10-4: Displace substantial numbers of people or existing housing, necessitating the construction 

of replacement housing elsewhere.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.10-32). 

 

Explanation: Policy 9.A.3 promotes the provision of adequate housing for all persons in the City by 

ensuring there is sufficient land for residential development and that it is zoned for a variety of housing 

types. Policies 9.B.1 and 9.D.2 promote infill development and the repair, rehabilitation, and retention of 

existing housing in the city thereby conserving existing housing stock and minimizing the displacement 

of existing people.  

 

Compliance with the Proposed Project policies would ensure that new development pursuant to the 

Proposed Project would not displace substantial numbers of people. Implementation of the Proposed 

Project would result in the construction of 7,000 residential dwelling units on the project site. Although 

the Proposed Project is not expected to result in substantial displacement, if there is unanticipated 

displacement, construction of 7,000 residential dwelling units would provide housing for any displaced 

residents.  

 

In addition, should any redevelopment of existing housing units be proposed, California Public Resources 

Code Section 7260(b), the California Relocation Law, establishes “a uniform policy for the fair and 

equitable treatment of persons displaced as a direct result of programs or projects undertaken by a public 

entity.” The law requires public entities to prepare a relocation plan, provide relocation payments, and 

identify substitute housing opportunities for any resident that would be displaced by a proposed project. 

Privately funded projects would have no such requirement.  

 

The Proposed Project does not propose converting established residential areas to a nonresidential land 

use or changing the land use or development character of existing developed residential areas. However, 

if any housing or residences are displaced, it is assumed that construction of 7,000 residential dwelling 

units on the project site would fully replace any residential units removed and provide housing for any 

displaced residents (FEIR, p. 4.10-32). 

 

Noise and Vibration 
 

Impact 4.11-4: Expose People to Excessive Airport Noise.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, pp. 4.11-63 and 4.11-64). 

 

Explanation: The closest airport to the Planning Area is the Watts Woodland Airport, which is located 

3.7 miles from the western city limits. The Sacramento International Airport is located approximately five 

miles northeast and Yolo County Airport approximately five miles southwest of the City limits. Based 

upon the most recent noise contours for the Watts Woodland and Yolo County Airports contained within 

the Yolo County 2030 General Plan EIR (April 2009) and recent noise contours obtained from Sacramento 

International Airport Master Plan 2004, areas within the City’s Urban Limit Line are located outside of 

the 60 dB CNEL contours.  

 

The Planning Area is outside of the 60 dB CNEL contours of all nearby airports (FEIR, pp. 4.11-63 and 

4.11-64). 

 



27 

Public Services and Recreation 
 

Impact 4.12-1: Impacts Related to Fire Protection Services.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.12-32). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would not result in substantial adverse physical 

impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered governmental facilities, need for new 

or physically altered governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant 

environmental impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response time or other performance 

objectives for fire protection (FEIR, p. 4.12-32).  

 

Impact 4.12-2: Impacts Related to Police Protection Services.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.12-35). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would not result in substantial adverse physical 

impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered governmental facilities, need for new 

or physically altered governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant 

environmental impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response time or other performance 

objectives for police protection (FEIR, p. 4.12-35). 

 

Impact 4.12-4: Impacts Related to Parks and Recreation Services.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.12-43). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would require the provision of 5.0 acres of parkland 

per 1,000. The Proposed Project would not result in substantial adverse physical impacts associated with 

the provision of new or physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or physically altered 

governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental impacts, in order 

to maintain acceptable service ratios, response time or other performance objectives for parks (FEIR, p. 

4.12-43). 

 

Impact 4.12-6: Impacts Related to Increased Use of Existing Parks and Recreational Facilities. 

  

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.12-48). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would not increase the use of existing 

neighborhood and regional parks or other recreational facilities such that substantial physical deterioration 

of the facilities would occur or be accelerated (FEIR, p. 4.12-48). 

 

Impact 4.12-7: Impacts Related to Recreational Facilities.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.12-52). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would not include recreational facilities or require 

the construction or expansion of recreational facilities which might have an adverse physical effect on the 

environment (FEIR, p. 4.12-52).  

 



28 

Transportation and Circulation 

 

Impact 4.13-4: Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance, or Policy Establishing Measures of 

Effectiveness for the Performance of the Circulation System, Taking into Account All Modes of 

Transportation.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.13-27). 

 

Explanation: The 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP contain numerous goals, policies, implementation 

programs, strategies, and actions that are largely taken directly or derived from these adopted plans with 

regards to transit, bicycling, and walking. Further, this update to the General Plan complies with Assembly 

Bill (AB) 1358 requiring cities and counties to include a complete streets policy in their general plans, 

which stresses balance and compatibility across modes. Implementation of the Proposed Project would 

not result in conflicts with applicable plans, ordinances or policies that have not already been discussed in 

Impacts 4.13-1 through 4.13-3 (FEIR, p. 4.13-27). 

 

Impact 4.13-5: Result in Changes to Air Traffic Patterns.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.13-29). 

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project includes land use changes that would have only a 

limited influence on air traffic patterns (FEIR, p. 4.13-29). 

 

Impact 4.13-6: Substantially Increase Hazards Due to a Design Feature.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.13-30). 

 

Explanation: The Proposed Project would not increase hazards due to design features of transportation 

facilities. All existing facility modifications and new facilities resulting from the circulation diagram 

proposed improvements would be constructed to City of Woodland Community Design Standards that 

have been developed to minimize the potential for conflicts or collisions. Implementation of the Proposed 

Project will modify the existing transportation network to accommodate existing and future users that 

could change existing travel patterns or traveler expectations (FEIR, p. 4.13-30). 

 

Impact 4.13-7: Result in Inadequate Emergency Access.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.13-31). 

 

Explanation: The Proposed Project contains policies that are designed to ensure adequate facilities and 

services are provided for under daily and emergency response conditions. Responsibility for building and 

maintaining adequate facilities extends to development projects through these policies to ensure that 

changes to facilities and services are planned in accordance with growth over time. Implementation of the 

Proposed Project will alter land use patterns and increase travel demand on the transportation network that 

may influence emergency access (FEIR, p. 4.13-31).  

 

Impact 4.13-8: Result in Potential Conflicts with Adopted Policies, Plans, or Programs Regarding Public 

Transit, Bicycle, or Pedestrian Facilities, or Otherwise Decrease the Performance or Safety of Such 

Facilities. 

 



29 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.13-33). 

 

Explanation: The Proposed Project goals and policies are designed to accommodate the new travel 

demand by providing adequate facilities and services including complete streets. Implementation of the 

Proposed Project would not disrupt any existing, or interfere with any planned, transit, bicycle, or 

pedestrian facilities or services. Implementation of the Proposed Project would not result in conflicts with 

adopted policies, plans, or programs regarding public transit, bicycle, or pedestrian facilities (FEIR, p. 

4.13-33).  

 

Utilities 
 

Impact 4.14-1: Exceed Wastewater Treatment Requirements of the Applicable Regional Water Quality 

Control Board.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.14-36). 

 

Explanation: In addition to existing regulations at the federal, State, and local levels that reduce the 

potential environmental impact, 2035 General Plan Goal 5.H ensures that wastewater treatment facilities 

are provided in a timely fashion to serve existing and future needs. 2035 General Plan Policy 5.H.6 

requires all sewage generators within its service area to connect to the City’s system, except those areas 

where the City has determined a connection to the City’s sewage collection system would be infeasible. 

Woodland Municipal Code, Chapter 23C, Article VI requires all buildings to connect to the public sewer 

system, thus prohibiting the use of individual sewer systems, which are more likely to leak and 

contaminate water. However, in exceptional circumstances, the Municipal Code allows the City Council 

to permit continued use of or construction of a septic system, in accordance with the City engineer and 

county health officer. The Municipal Code also establishes design, construction, and maintenance 

standards of connections to the public sewer system. Additionally, the 2035 CAP supports increased 

efficiency in the wastewater system.  

 

2035 General Plan Policies 5.F.1, 5.H.1 and 4.C.10 ensure that there would be sufficient public services, 

including wastewater treatment facility capacity, to serve existing and new development in Woodland. 

Policies 5.F.2, 5.F.3, 5.F.4, and 5.F.5 address fiscal and funding impacts of new development to ensure 

there is funding available to support public facilities and services. Policies 5.H.2, 5.H.3, 5.H.4, and 5.H.5 

address the need to plan for wastewater needs by requiring updates to the Sanitary Sewer Management 

Plan, consideration of the wastewater needs in amendments to the adopted General Plan, active planning 

for maintenance and repairs, and evaluation and updates to the Capital Improvement Program. Policy 

5.H.9 requires a reduction in wastewater system demand, and Police 5.H.10 requires continuation of the 

industrial pretreatment program. Implementation of the Proposed Project would not exceed wastewater 

treatment requirements of the Central Valley Regional Water Quality Control Board (FEIR, p. 4.14-36). 

 

Impact 4.14-2: Require or Result in the Construction of New Water or Wastewater Treatment Facilities 

or Expansion of Existing Facilities, the Construction of Which Could Cause Significant Environmental 

Effects.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.14-42). 

 

Explanation: Policies listed under Impact 4.14-1 reduce demand for wastewater facilities and ensure 

adequate wastewater treatment facilities are in place before development occurs. Other 2035 General Plan 

goals and policies strive to reduce water use and ensure water system facilities are provided. Goal 5.G is 



30 

to provide an adequate potable water supply and delivery system to meet the needs of the City. 2035 

General Plan Policy 5.G.1 directs the City to provide an adequate water supply, while Policy 5.G.3 

requires connection to the City’s water system, unless the City has determined a connection to the City’s 

potable water system would be infeasible. Policy 5.G.2 requires preparation of a Water Supply Assessment 

for significant projects. Policy 5.G.4 requires periodic updates to the UWMP and the Groundwater 

Management Plan and is implemented by Implementation Program 5.6. Policy 5.G.6 requires that water 

production and supply facilities are in place as a condition of development approval, and is implemented 

by Implementation Program 5.8. Updates to the Capital Improvement Program to ensure delivery of 

necessary water infrastructure are supported by Policy 5.G.8 and Implementation Program 5.9. Policies 

5.G.5, 5.G.7, 5.G.9, and 7.A.5 reduce the demand on potable water production and delivery systems by 

requiring the expansion of the recycled water system, maintenance of existing facilities, coordination with 

regional partners to improve water efficiency and conservation, and updated landscaping regulations. 

Policy 7.A.1 requires the City to continue to cooperate with partners on the Surface Water Project to 

maintain its surface water supply. Policy 7.A.5 encourages efficient use of water in landscaping. The CAP 

sets an Objective to support reduced water demand, which is supported by a number of Actions. With 

compliance with existing and future local, State, and federal regulations and the Proposed Project goals 

and policies and the CAP objective, the potential impact will be reduced.  

 

Implementation of the Proposed Project would not require or result in the construction of new water or 

wastewater treatment facilities or expansion of existing facilities, the construction of which would cause 

significant environmental effects (FEIR, p. 4.14-42).  

 

Impact 4.14-3: Impacts Related to Construction or Expansion of Stormwater Facilities.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.14-46). 

 

Explanation: The 2035 General Plan includes policies to reduce the demand for stormwater facilities and 

requires mitigation of impacts from projects. Policy 5.I.4 in the 2035 General Plan reduces demand for 

new stormwater drain capacity by requiring new development to incorporate low impact development 

features such as canopy trees and permeable paving. In addition, Policies 5.I.1, 5.I.3, 5.I.5, 5.I.7, 5.I.8, and 

5.I.9 set standards for new storm drainage, the use of stormwater, and stormwater detention facilities. 

Policy 5.I.6 requires adequate financing of stormwater management. Supported by Implementation 

Program 5.11, Policy 5.I.2 ensures that Woodland’s Storm Drainage Facilities Master Plan is updated as 

needed. The CAP also includes an action under Municipal Operations Objective 2 to reduce the need for 

increased stormwater pumping and reduce stormwater runoff.  

 

Implementation of the Proposed Project would not require or result in the construction of new stormwater 

drainage facilities or expansion of existing facilities, the construction of which would cause significant 

environmental effects (FEIR, p. 4.14-46). 

 

Impact 4.14-4: Water Supply Impacts.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.14-49). 

 

Explanation: According to the Woodland 2015 Urban Water Management Plan, Woodland’s surface 

water availability in 2035 is expected to meet the demand. It is expected that there will be sufficient water 

supplies available to serve the Proposed Project from existing entitlements and resources. In addition, the 

CAP includes goals and actions to reduce reliance on potable water supply and promote water 

conservation. The 2035 General Plan includes goals and policies requiring the promotion of water 



31 

conservation to reduce impacts and the protection of water quality. Goal 7.A protects the qualities and 

quantities of water resources. Policy 7.4.A supports watershed protection efforts. Policies 7.A.2 and 7.A.4 

require strategic groundwater management and use of best management practices to protect water quality 

and are supported by Implementation Program 7.1.  

 

In 2007, the Supreme Court issued a decision on the requirements for the water supply analysis in a land 

use plan EIR. The decision in the case, Vineyard Area Citizens for Responsible Growth, Inc. v. City of 

Rancho Cordova, 40 Cal. 4th 412 (2007), states that CEQA requires an EIR to show a likelihood of water 

availability. The court stated that the water supply does not have to be available during the adoption of 

the land use plan, but the water supply analysis must not rely on uncertain assumptions and must not 

ignore long-term demand. Based on the projections in the Woodland UWMP, there is likelihood that water 

will be available at least until 2035 to serve the demand from implementation of the Proposed Project. 

 

Implementation of the Proposed Project would not result in having insufficient water supplies available 

to serve the project from existing entitlements and resources, nor are new or expanded entitlements needed 

(FEIR, p. 4.14-49). 

 

Impact 4.14-5: Wastewater Treatment Capacity Impacts.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.14-51). 

 

Explanation: The policies in the 2035 General Plan minimize potential impact by requiring adequate 

public facilities and services for all new and existing development in the Planning Area, including 

wastewater treatment facilities. The City’s Water Pollution Control Facility has the capacity to handle 

wastewater generated from approximately 70,000 residents and can be expanded to accommodate 105,000 

residents. WPCF upgrades to accommodate additional future growth in the Planning Area will be made 

as needed by the City over the horizon of the Proposed Project.  

 

Implementation of the Proposed Project would not result in inadequate capacity to serve the Proposed 

Project’s projected demand (FEIR, p. 4.14-51). 

 

Impact 4.14-6: Solid Waste Disposal Capacity Impacts.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, pp. 4.14-54 and 4.14-55).  

 

Explanation: Development under the Proposed Project would be served by a landfill with sufficient 

permitted capacity to serve the project’s solid waste disposal needs (FEIR, pp. 4.14-54 and 4.14-55). 

 

Impact 4.14-7: Compliance with Federal, State, and Local Statutes and Regulations Related to Solid 

Waste.  

 

Finding: The impact is less than significant (FEIR, p. 4.14-56). 

 

Explanation: Policies 5.J.1 and 5.J.2 require adequate solid waste services and compliance of solid waste 

collection in new development with local regulations, and Policy 5.J.4 requires compliance with State 

regulation. Implementation of the Proposed Project would be compliant with federal, State, and local 

statutes and regulations related to solid waste (FEIR, p. 4.14-56). 

 



32 

2. Findings Regarding Impacts Mitigated to a Level of Less than Significant 

The City Council hereby finds that feasible mitigation measures have been identified in the EIR and these 

Findings of Fact that will avoid or substantially lessen the following potentially significant environmental 

impacts to a less than significant level. The potentially significant impacts and the mitigation measures 

that will reduce them to a less-than-significant level are summarized below. Please refer to the Draft EIR, 

the Final EIR, the Final 2035 General Plan, and the Final 2035 CAP for more detail.  
 

Air Quality 
 

Impact 4.3-3: Expose Sensitive Receptors to Substantial Pollutant Concentrations (Construction 

Related).  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, pp. 4.3-44 and 4.3-45).  

 

Explanation: During construction and operation of the Proposed Project, localized air quality emissions 

would be generated that could affect existing and proposed sensitive receptors. Construction activities 

would generate diesel particulate matter (diesel PM) emissions that could affect existing and proposed 

sensitive receptors. Existing regulations and proposed policies and implementation programs would 

reduce potential exposure to substantial pollutant concentrations. The impact is potentially significant for 

construction activities and mitigation is identified (FEIR, p. 4.3-43). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.3-3d – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Air Quality 3) 

a. New development that would require the use of diesel-fueled construction 

equipment within 300 feet of an existing sensitive receptor use an equipment mix, incorporate 

buffering, schedule construction activities, or use other strategies to reduce potential health risk 

consistent with guidance from the Yolo-Solano Air Quality Management District.  

b. Alternatively, a project applicant may prepare a site-specific estimate of diesel PM 

emissions associated with total construction activities and evaluate for health risk impact on 

existing sensitive receptors in order to demonstrate that applicable YSAQMD-recommended 

thresholds for toxic air contaminants would not be exceeded or that applicable thresholds would 

not be exceeded with the application of alternative mitigation techniques approved by the City. 

 

Implementation Program Air Quality 3 includes as an option to use an equipment mix, including the use 

of Tier 4 engine emission standards, which has been shown to reduce PM emissions by more than 90 

percent from current levels or site-specific analysis and mitigation with clear performance outcomes tied 

to YSAQMD-recommended thresholds. With the incorporation of mitigation, the TAC impact attributable 

to construction activities would be less than significant (FEIR, pp. 4.3-44 and 4.3-45). 

 

Biological Resources 

 

Impact 4.4-1: Loss of Special-status Plants and Loss of Special-status Plant Habitat.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.4-36).  

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would result in conversion of habitat for special-

status plant species, which could result in loss of special-status plants either through direct removal or 



33 

through habitat degradation. The impact is potentially significant and mitigation is identified (FEIR, pp. 

4.4-34 through 4.4-36). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-1a – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Biological Resources 1) 

a. The City will require biological inventory surveys for new developments that could 

affect special-status species or sensitive habitat in areas designated for development under the 

General Plan.  

b. The City will work with project applicants to identify opportunities to preserve 

special-status species occurrences and sensitive habitats through design and planning. If the 

HCP/NCCP is adopted and state and federal Incidental Take Permits (ITPs) have been issued, the 

City shall implement the applicable requirements of the HCP/NCCP as relevant to any specific 

land use project. If the HCP/NCCP is not in place and/or ITPs have not been issued, the City shall 

follow the steps described below. 

c. If the City determines it is reasonable and feasible to do so, while still achieving 

the specific project development goals and objectives, the City will require preservation of 

occupied special-status species habitat and sensitive habitat types as a condition of project 

approval. If adverse effects cannot be avoided, project proponents shall be required to mitigate all 

adverse effects in accordance with guidance from the appropriate state or federal agency charged 

with the protection of the subject species and habitat, including surveys conducted according to 

applicable standards and protocols, where necessary, implementation of impact minimization 

measures based on accepted standards and guidelines and best available science, and compensatory 

mitigation for unavoidable loss of special-status species and sensitive habitats.  

d. If the project would result in take of state or federally listed species, the City will 

require project proponent/s to obtain take authorization from the U.S. Fish & Wildlife Service 

(USFWS) or the California Department of Fish and Wildlife (CDFW), as appropriate, depending 

on species status, and comply with all conditions of the take authorization. 

e. If the Yolo HCP/NCCP is not adopted or the affected species or habitat is not 

covered under the plan, the City will require project applicants to develop a mitigation and 

monitoring plan, in coordination with CDFW and/or USFWS, as appropriate depending on species 

status, to compensate for the loss of special-status species and sensitive habitats. The mitigation 

and monitoring plan will describe in detail how loss of special-status species or sensitive habitats 

shall be avoided or offset, including details on restoration and creation of habitat, compensation 

for the temporal loss of habitat, management and monitoring to avoid indirect habitat degradation 

(e.g., management of invasive plant species, maintenance of required hydrology), success criteria 

ensuring that habitat function goals and objectives are met and target special-status species are 

established, performance standards to ensure success, and remedial actions if performance 

standards are not met. The plan will include detailed information on the habitats present within the 

preservation and mitigation areas, the long-term management and monitoring of these habitats, 

legal protection for the preservation and mitigation areas (e.g., conservation easement, declaration 

of restrictions), and funding mechanism information (e.g., endowment). 

f. If available, purchase of mitigation credits at an agency-approved mitigation bank 

(i.e., approved by the agency with jurisdiction over the affected species or habitat) in Yolo County, 

will be acceptable for compensatory mitigation for special-status species that are not covered under 

the Yolo HCP/NCCP.  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-1b – Policy 7.B.5., Policy 7.B.7, and Policy 7.B.11 should be amended as 

follows: 



34 

Policy 7.B.5 Open Space for Conservation. Where appropriate, permanently protect as 

open space areas of natural resource value, including sensitive habitat types (e.g., alkali sink and 

prairie, freshwater wetlands, freshwater marsh, riparian forest, drainages), wetland preserves, 

riparian corridors, woodlands, special-status plant occurrences, and floodplains. Support the 

maintenance of open space and natural areas that are interconnected and of sufficient size to protect 

biodiversity, accommodate wildlife movement, and sustain ecosystems. Maintain connectivity 

between open space areas designated for habitat conservation values within the Planning Area as 

well as linkages to adjacent habitats outside of the Planning Area, such as Willow Slough, Cache 

Creek, and habitat preserves to the east. 

Policy 7.B.7 Woodland Regional Park. Protect and maintain Woodland Regional Park as 

an important wildlife preserve and habitat for special-status plants and allow for public access that 

is compatible with and promotes public education of the site’s habitat value. 

Policy 7.B.11 Sensitive Site Planning. Site new development to maximize the protection 

of native tree species and special-status plant and wildlife habitats. 

 

Implementation of these mitigation measures combined with current laws, regulations, and policies would 

reduce impacts because the General Plan would preserve the majority of the known special-status plant 

occurrences and suitable habitat in the Planning Area, within designated Open Space land uses that would 

be protected under permanent conservation easements. These provisions would require new developments 

to identify and avoid special-status plant populations and their habitats to the extent feasible and 

compensate for the loss of special-status plants through establishment of new populations or other 

appropriate measures in coordination with state and federal agencies (FEIR, p. 4.4-36). 

 

Impact 4.4-2: Loss and Degradation of Habitat for Special-status Wildlife Species and Potential Direct 

Take of Individuals.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.4-44).  

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would allow conversion of undeveloped land that 

currently supports known occupied and potential habitat for special-status wildlife species to residential, 

commercial, and other developed land uses. Buildout of the Proposed Project would result in loss and 

degradation of suitable habitat for several special-status wildlife species and could result in take of State- 

and Federally-listed wildlife species and loss or displacement of special-status wildlife populations. 

However, implementation of the 2035 General Plan policies and implementation program and compliance 

with state and federal laws, along with the General Plan Land Use Diagram would reduce potential impacts 

on special-status wildlife species. The impact is potentially significant and mitigation is identified (FEIR, 

p. 4.4-44). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-2a – Policy 7.B.6 and 7.B.8 should be incorporated as follows: 

Policy 7.B.6. Open Space Buffer. Continue to work with Yolo County and the City of 

Davis to maintain the permanent open space buffer between County Roads 27 and 29 and its 

existing wildlife habitat values. 

Policy 7.B.8 Native and Compatible Non-Native Plant Species. Require developers to use 

native and compatible non-native species, especially drought-resistant species, to the extent 

possible in order to preserve the visual integrity of the landscape, provide benefits for native 

wildlife, and ensure that a variety of plants suited to the region are maintained. 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-2b – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.4.1a 

 



35 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-2c – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.4.1b 

 

With implementation of these changes, impacts would be reduced because these provisions would 

preserve the majority of sensitive habitats (e.g., alkali prairie and vernal pools) that could support special-

status wildlife within the Open Space land use designation, would require development projects to identify 

and avoid special-status wildlife or provide compensation for loss of habitat (FEIR, p. 4.4-44). 

 

Impact 4.4-3: Loss and Degradation of Riparian Habitat or Other Sensitive Natural Communities.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.4-47).  

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would result in conversion of undeveloped land 

that currently supports a limited amount of riparian habitat and possibly remnant alkali prairie to 

residential, commercial, and other developed land uses. (All other sensitive natural communities, 

including vernal pool habitats and other freshwater wetlands found in the Planning Area are addressed 

under impacts on federally protected wetlands and are not discussed here.) Therefore, buildout of the 

Proposed Project could result in loss and degradation of riparian or alkali prairie habitat. However, 

implementation of the 2035 General Plan policies and implementation programs and compliance with 

state and federal laws, along with the General Plan Land Use Diagram would reduce potential impacts on 

riparian habitat and other sensitive natural communities. The impact is potentially significant and 

mitigation is identified (FEIR, pp. 4.4-46 and 4.4-47).  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-3a – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Biological Resources 3):  

If the project would result in fill or alteration of a waterway or any body of water supporting 

riparian forest habitat, the City will require project proponent/s to notify the California Department 

of Fish and Wildlife, obtain a Lake and Streambed Alteration Agreement if determined necessary 

by the California Department of Fish and Wildlife, and comply with all conditions of the Lake and 

Streambed Alteration Agreement.  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-3b – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.4-1a 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-3c – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.4-1b 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-3d – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.4-2a  

 

With implementation of these changes, impacts would be reduced because these provisions would 

preserve the majority of sensitive habitats (e.g., alkali prairie and riparian forest) within the Open Space 

land use designation, and would require development projects to identify and avoid sensitive habitats or 

provide compensation for loss of habitat (FEIR, p. 4.4-47). 

 

Impact 4.4-4: Loss and Degradation of Federally Protected Wetlands.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.4-50).  

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would result in conversion of land that currently 

supports waterways and ponds and may support freshwater marsh, vernal pools, and other freshwater 

wetlands to residential, commercial, and other developed land uses. These wetland habitats and other 

waters may be protected under Section 404 of the CWA. Therefore, buildout of the Proposed Project could 



36 

result in loss and degradation of federally protected wetlands. The impact is potentially significant and 

mitigation is identified (FEIR, pp. 4.4-49 and 4.4-50). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-4a – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Biological Resources 3) 

If the project would result in ground disturbance on sites containing waterways or other aquatic 

habitats, the City will require project proponent/s to complete a delineation of waters of the United 

States according to U.S. Army Corps of Engineers’ methods, and to submit the completed 

delineation to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers for jurisdictional determination. If the project 

would result in fill of wetlands or other waters of the United States, the City will require project 

proponent/s to obtain a Section 404 Clean Water Act permit from the U.S. Army Corps of 

Engineers and water quality certification from the Regional Water Quality Control Board pursuant 

to Section 401 of the Clean Water Act. If the project involves work in areas containing waters 

disclaimed by the USACE, project applicants shall obtain a Waste Discharge Requirement permit 

from the Regional Water Quality Control Board pursuant to the Porter Cologne Act. Project 

applicants shall be required to obtain all needed permits prior to project implementation, to abide 

by the conditions of the permits, including all mitigation requirements, and to implement all 

requirements of the permits in the timeframes required therein. 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-4b – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.4-1a 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-4b – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.4-1b  

 

With implementation of these changes, impacts would be reduced because it would preserve the majority 

of wetland and aquatic habitats (e.g., alkali sink and freshwater wetlands) within the Open Space land use 

designation and would require development projects to identify and avoid wetland habitats or provide 

compensation resulting in no net loss of habitat functions and values. Policies requiring protection of 

special-status species and their habitats also protect wetlands and drainages because these include special-

status species such as vernal pool branchiopods, vernal pool plants, and giant garter snake that are 

associated with aquatic habitats (FEIR, p. 4.4-50). 

 

Impact 4.4-7: Conflict with an Adopted Habitat Conservation Plan Natural Community Conservation 

Plan.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.4-57). 

 

Explanation: The General Plan Land Use Diagram and 2035 General Plan policies and implementation 

programs have been designed to provide consistency with the proposed Yolo HCP/NCCP. The impact is 

potentially significant and mitigation is identified (FEIR, p. 4.4-57). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-7a – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.4-1a 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-7b – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.4-1b 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.4-7c – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.4-2a 

 

With implementation of these changes, impacts would be reduced because these provisions would ensure 

that growth projected under the Proposed Project would not conflict with the goals and objectives of the 

Yolo HCP/NCCP because it would preserve habitat identified for preservation under the current Draft 



37 

HCP/NCCP and would require project applicants to participate in the Plan, if adopted, to mitigate impacts 

on covered species and habitats consistent with the Yolo HCP/NCCP conservation strategy (FEIR, p. 4.4-

57). 

 

Climate Change, Greenhouse Gas Emissions, and Energy 
 

Impact 4.5-1: Generation of Greenhouse Gas Emissions.  

 

Finding: Less than cumulatively considerable with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.5-41).  

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would implement planned land uses that would 

involve short-term GHG emissions associated with construction and infrastructure improvements, along 

with long-term operational emissions. However, policies and reduction strategies within the 2035 

General Plan and the 2035 CAP would ensure that the City achieves its share of AB 32, Executive Order 

B-30-15, SB 32, and Executive Order S-3-05 emissions reductions. There is a significant cumulative 

impact and mitigation is identified (FEIR, pp. 4.5-38 and 4.5-39).   

 

Mitigation Measure 4.5-1a – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Greenhouse Gas Emissions 1) 

a. The City will maintain a Climate Action Plan designed to achieve the reduction 

targets for land use-related emissions for the years 2020 and 2035 and put the City on a 

trajectory toward goals for longer-term years, such as 2050. The City’s reduction targets may be 

revised over time, but will represent a rate of emissions that is efficient enough to provide for 

Woodland’s share of AB 32, Executive Order B-30-15, SB 32,and Executive Order S-3-05 

emissions reductions. 

b. The Climate Action Plan will focus on GHG emission sectors over which the City 

could have influence – either through entitlement authority, public investments, incentives, or 

other feasible means. When making the comparison between Woodland’s GHG efficiency and 

that required for the state as a whole, the City can remove from consideration GHG sources that 

are beyond local control. 

c. The City will monitor relevant local, regional, State, and federal legislation and 

regulations related to GHG emissions, land use planning, and environmental review, and will 

make changes to the Climate Action Plan accordingly. Future regulations may have the effect of 

reducing GHG emissions associated with implementation of the Proposed Project. The effect of 

future regulations shall be taken into account in future revisions to the Climate Action Plan. New 

transportation modeling tools may become available that allow revisions to emissions estimates 

based on the City’s policies related to land use, urban design, and transportation.  

d. The City will revise the Climate Action Plan, as necessary, based on updated 

inventories and assessments of the effectiveness of reduction strategies no less than every 5 

years. If, based on the City’s future updated assessments, existing reduction strategies would not 

achieve the City’s reduction targets, the City will make revisions to strategies or develop new 

strategies. The City will make revisions to its reduction targets, if necessary, to ensure that the 

target continues to demonstrate an appropriate share of the State’s emission reduction goals for 

Woodland. The City anticipates that a Climate Action Plan update will be needed after new 

statewide measures are adopted to reduce GHG emissions, such as when the State updates the 

Air Resources Board Scoping Plan. The City will make revisions to the Climate Action Plan, if 

necessary, as new technology becomes available that would affect emissions in the Planning 

Area or the City’s ability to forecast future emissions.  



38 

e. In maintaining the Climate Action Plan, during the CAP updates described above, 

the City will consider new or revised reduction strategies that may be necessary to achieve the 

City’s reduction targets, while also promoting other goals of the City’s General Plan. The City 

will identify additional plans, policies, projects, mitigation measures, and regulations that are 

necessary to reduce GHG emissions and achieve the City’s reduction targets. The City will 

consider regulatory changes, infrastructure investment strategies, incentives, contributions to (or 

local use of) carbon offset programs, and other measures, as appropriate. The City shall consider 

financing programs for installation and use of renewable energy infrastructure in new and/or 

existing development, building codes to further increase energy efficiency in new buildings, 

incentive programs to assist existing property owners in making energy efficiency upgrades, 

travel demand management programs for new nonresidential projects, and other mechanisms that 

would reduce GHG emissions. The City will prioritize reduction strategies that offer co-benefits, 

such as reducing household or business transportation costs, reducing household and business 

utility bills, improving local air quality, reducing energy use, reducing traffic congestion, 

conserving water and other resources, moderating the heat island effect, preserving natural 

habitat, creating local jobs, among other benefits.  

f. The City anticipates that State funding for GHG-efficient transportation systems 

and other local applications of the State’s GHG reduction mandates will be important in meeting 

the State’s overall GHG goals. Local governments will rely on state funding to improve existing 

buildings and provide more energy- and GHG-efficient sources of electricity. The City will 

monitor grant and other funding programs that could be used to implement different components 

of the Climate Action Plan.  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.5-1b – Implementation of Mitigation Measure 4.3-2a 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.5-1c – Implementation of Mitigation Measure 4.3-2b 

 

As noted, the City developed a preliminary CAP that demonstrates a 15 percent reduction in emissions 

compared to 2005 levels by 2020. The 2005 baseline was estimated to be approximately 566,389 MT 

CO2e. Statewide measures would reduce emissions in 2020 to approximately 541,657 MT CO2e. Local 

reductions in the preliminary CAP demonstrate another 60,226 MT CO2e of reductions, resulting in a 

2020 estimate of approximately 481,431 MT CO2e, or a 15 percent reduction from 2005 levels. Please 

see the 2035 CAP, released under a separate cover, for details. Pursuant to AB 32, ARB adopted the 

Climate Change Scoping Plan (Scoping Plan) in December 2008, outlining measures to meet the 2020 

GHG reduction target (i.e., achieve 1990 emissions levels by year 2020). To meet the target, California 

must reduce its GHG emissions by 15 percent from 2005 levels. The City’s emission reductions of 15 

percent from 2005 levels are consistent with the mandate established for the State government under AB 

32.  

 

The Proposed Project contains several policies that would promote mixed-use and infill development. 

Several policies would site residents, jobs, and retail amenities in proximity of each other to reduce the 

need for motor vehicle travel. The Proposed Project would encourage alternative modes of transportation. 

Many policies through various mechanisms would support development of pedestrian and bicycle 

facilities that would promote non-vehicular modes of travel. For the water and wastewater sector, policies 

have been developed to encourage minimizing water use and wastewater generation. Policies have also 

been developed to encourage methods to minimize solid waste generation and increase waste diversion 

systems. Policies have also been developed to encourage alternative transportation and transit that would 

reduce transportation-related air quality impacts. Policies require development to be consistent with the 



39 

City’s 2035 CAP and that the City maintain and update its GHG inventory as new information becomes 

available. Policies commit the City to implementing a CAP, including targets for 2020 and 2035.  

 

The 2035 CAP would achieve local annual reductions that, when combined with estimated future 

statewide reductions, will achieve an efficiency level of 2.25 MT CO2e per service population per year, 

which is consistent with what the State of California would need to achieve goals for the State government 

under AB 32, Executive Order B-30-15, SB 32, and Executive Order S-3-05. Achieving this level of GHG 

emissions efficiency in Woodland for the 2035 General Plan horizon year also demonstrates the City’s 

progress toward longer-term reduction target years, such as 2050. This is because the efficiency based 

reduction target of 2.25 MT CO2e per service population per year is extrapolated between State’s own 

goals for 2030 (Executive Order B-30-15 and SB 32) and 2050 (Executive Order S-3-05). Lastly, 

numerous policies would promote low impact development to reduce energy and water consumption, 

which would also indirectly reduce air pollutant emissions – both criteria air pollutants and GHG 

emissions – but are not specifically factored into the calculations on emission reductions. The Proposed 

Project policies would reduce GHG emissions from various sources (e.g., energy, water, solid waste, 

transportation). Implementation of these policies would result in an additional reduction in total annual 

GHG emissions.  

 

The State has just initiated the effort to begin gathering public and stakeholder input regarding approaches 

that could achieve the nearer-term of the two post-2020 targets (the Executive Order B-30-15 and SB 32 

goal for the State to reduce emissions 40 percent below 1990 levels by 2030). 

 

According to ARB’s 2030 Target Scoping Plan Concept Paper, Governor Brown has articulated some of 

the key concepts that will be explored further, including (ARB 2016):  

► reducing today’s petroleum use in cars and trucks by up to 50 percent; 

► increasing from one-third to 50 percent our electricity derived from renewable sources; 

► doubling the efficiency savings achieved at existing buildings and making heating fuels cleaner; 

► reducing the release of methane, black carbon, and other short lived climate pollutants; and 

► managing farm and rangelands, forests and wetlands so they can store carbon. 

 

The 2030 target for the State government will require multiple efforts that achieve reductions from 

multiple sources, including existing efforts that are already underway, along with new programs. In order 

to achieve more ambitious emission reduction goals, the State will need to be flexible enough to 

accommodate innovation and change, provide incentives for voluntary efforts, and remove regulatory 

barriers (ARB 2016). A holistic perspective that continues California’s efforts to link related policy 

priorities will be needed for post-2020 emission reduction goals. For example, the State will need to 

continue to connect infrastructure investments with GHG reduction goals for passenger vehicles, connect 

open space preservation objectives with sequestration potential, and connect economic development goals 

for both rural and urban communities with progress on environmental justice (ARB 2016). Although the 

State is just initiating its efforts on developing a strategy to achieve post-2020 goals, it appears that it will 

be important in defining this strategy to identify areas where there is synergy among multiple positive 

outcomes.  

 

The next Scoping Plan will outline the actions necessary to achieve the 2030 goal and is expected to help 

contribute also to the more ambitious 2050 goal established in Executive Order S-3-05 for the State 

government. Without any information about how the next Scoping Plan will approach the 2030 goal, and 

without any information about how the State may approach a 2050 goal, it is not possible to determine 

whether GHG emissions in Woodland would mirror the State’s efforts toward either of these milestones. 

However, the 2035 CAP and the 2035 General Plan commit the City to revisiting the emissions inventory 



40 

and CAP reduction strategies when new information is available and making appropriate changes. The 

General Plan includes several policies, as noted above, that address the major emission sources for 

Woodland: transportation and energy. Policies that promote mixed-use and infill development and locate 

residents in proximity of jobs, amenities, entertainment, and other destinations will help to reduce travel 

demand and the main source of local emissions. Policies throughout the Proposed Project encourage non-

vehicular modes of transportation and support development of pedestrian and bicycle facilities. The 

Proposed Project policies would reduce GHG emissions from various sources (e.g., energy, water, solid 

waste, transportation). Implementation of these policies would result in an additional reduction in total 

annual GHG emissions. Policies in the 2035 General Plan, reduction strategies in the 2035 CAP, and 

mitigation identified in this section will reduce local GHG emissions and commit the City to adjust policies 

and reduction measures, as needed, when future information related to the State’s efforts become available 

(FEIR, p. 4.5-41). 

 

Impact 4.5-2: Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Policy, or Regulation Adopted for the Purpose of 

Reducing the Emissions of Greenhouse Gases.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.5-43).  

 

Explanation: 2035 General Plan policies and implementation programs and the 2035 CAP ensure that 

GHG emissions within the Planning Area occur at a rate that is consistent with goals set for the State 

government to reduce GHG emissions. Projects that seek to use streamlining identified under SB 375 

would need to determine consistency with SACOG’s MTP/SCS. The impact is potentially significant and 

mitigation is identified (FEIR, p. 4.5-43). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.5-2 – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new policy: 

Policy 7.F.12. MTP/SCS Consistency. For projects seeking to utilize available CEQA 

streamlining, determine project consistency with the MTP/SCS as a component of application 

review. 

 

The methodology and purpose of the City’s estimate of development capacity under the Proposed Project 

is different from the methodology and purpose of SACOG’s forecast for the purposes of the MTP/SCS. 

The SACOG projections are market-based growth estimates that project the amount and location of likely 

growth in the region based on a variety of socio-economic factors that are updated every four years. The 

City’s General Plan is a long range planning tool that seeks to create opportunities for growth and provide 

a range of land use options to encourage economic investment and promote other City policy objectives. 

Given these different purposes, it is reasonable to expect variations in the growth forecasts between the 

two. For development projects that seek to utilize the CEQA streamlining allowed under SB 375 and other 

related legislation, it will be necessary to demonstrate project-level consistency with the MTP/SCS. With 

the identified mitigation, the City’s policy is clear that consistency with the MTP/SCS will be required in 

order to use streamlining that is related to the MTP/SCS (FEIR, p. 4.5-43).  

 

Geology, Soils, Minerals Resources, and Paleontological Resources 

 

Impact 4.7-3: Geologic Hazards Related to Unstable Soils, Expansive Soils, and Soil Unsuitable for 

Septic Systems.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, pp. 4.7-32 and 4.7-33).   

 



41 

Explanation: Land use change under the Proposed Project would result in the placement of buildings 

and infrastructure in areas of unstable soils, soils with high a shrink-swell potential, and in locations 

where the soil is not appropriate for use with septic systems. The impact is potentially significant and 

mitigation is identified (FEIR, p. 4.7-32). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.7-3a – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Soils 1) 

Where soils are proposed for use as leach fields associated with wastewater treatment, the City 

shall require a site-specific evaluation by a licensed geotechnical engineer regarding the soil 

suitability, including a perc test, as appropriate.  

All septic systems or other forms of on-site wastewater treatment and disposal facilities shall be 

designed by a licensed geotechnical or civil engineer. On-site wastewater treatment systems shall 

be designed to meet the following parameters: 

• provide available effective absorptive area in both primary and reserve disposal fields; 

• provide appropriate separation between the disposal field bottom and groundwater or a 

restrictive soil layer; 

• factor the ground slope in both the primary and reserve disposal field areas; 

• factor the influent wastewater strength and quantity in wastewater system design; 

• accommodate requirements for setbacks from wells, surface waters, and property 

boundaries; and 

• provide treatment of wastewater such that it does not adversely affect water quality or 

endanger public health.  

 

With implementation of these changes, impacts would be reduced since the City’s requirement for site-

specific geotechnical reports will identify specific methods to reduce hazards from construction in 

unstable and expansive soils, and because on-site wastewater treatment systems would be appropriately 

designed and engineered (FEIR, pp. 4.7-32 and 4.7-33). 

 

Impact 4.7-4: Loss or Damage to Paleontological Resources during Earth-Moving Activities.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.7-35).  

 

Explanation: Paleontological resources could occur in the Planning Area and construction activities under 

the Proposed Project could result in damage to, or destruction of unknown subsurface paleontological 

resources. Paleontological resources could occur in Pleistocene-age sediments that underlie portions of 

the Planning Area. Construction activities in these areas could result in damage to, or destruction of 

unknown subsurface paleontological resources. The impact is potentially significant and mitigation is 

identified (FEIR, pp. 4.7-34 and 4.7-35).  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.7-4 – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Paleontological Resources 1) 

• Prior to the start of earthmoving activities that would disturb one (1) acre of land or more 

within the Riverbank or Modesto Formations, the project applicant shall inform all construction 

personnel involved with earthmoving activities regarding the possibility of encountering fossils, 

the appearance and types of fossils likely to be seen during construction, and proper notification 

procedures should fossils be encountered.  

• If paleontological resources are discovered during earthmoving activities, the construction 

crew shall immediately cease work in the vicinity of the find and notify the City of Woodland 

Community Development Department.  



42 

• The project applicant shall retain a qualified paleontologist to evaluate the resource and 

prepare a recovery plan. The recovery plan may include, but is not limited to, a field survey, 

construction monitoring, sampling and data recovery procedures, museum curation for any 

specimen recovered, and a report of findings. Recommendations in the recovery plan that are 

determined by the City to be necessary and feasible shall be implemented before construction 

activities can resume at the site where the paleontological resources were discovered. 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.7-4 would create a new implementation program that contains additional resource 

disturbance prevention activities and a cease-work requirement upon paleontological resource discovery. 

With implementation of these changes, impacts would be reduced because earth-moving activities in 

paleontologically sensitive rock formations would be subject to requirements consisting of construction 

worker personnel education, halting of work in the vicinity of any fossil specimen(s) uncovered, and 

preparation of a recovery plan for said specimen(s) (FEIR, p. 4.7-35). 

 

Hydrology, Flooding, and Water Quality 

 

Impact 4.9-1: Violation of Water Quality Standards.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.9-39).  

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would convert large areas of undeveloped land to 

residential, commercial, industrial, and mix-uses, as well as intensify land uses as infill in existing 

downtown and major corridor areas, resulting in impacts related to additional discharges of pollutants to 

receiving water bodies. Such pollutants would result in adverse changes to the water quality of local water 

bodies. However, with adoption and implementation of the proposed policies in the Proposed Project, 

combined with current land use, stormwater, grading, and erosion control regulations, this impact is 

potentially significant and mitigation is identified (FEIR, pp. 4.9-38 and 4.9-39).  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.9-1 – Policy 5.1.4 should be amended to read: 

Policy 5.I.4. Low Impact Development (LID). Require new development and 

redevelopment projects to incorporate site design and low impact development runoff 

requirements, in accordance with the Municipal Code to reduce runoff rates, filter out pollutants, 

and facilitate groundwater infiltration. Such features may include, but are not limited to: 

• Canopy trees or shrubs to absorb rainwater; 

• Grading that lengthens flow paths over permeable surfaces and increases runoff travel time 

to reduce the peak hour flow rate; 

• Partially removing curbs and gutters from parking areas where appropriate to allow 

stormwater sheet flow into vegetated areas; 

• Use of permeable paving in parking lots and other areas characterized by significant 

impervious surfaces; 

• On-site stormwater detention, use of bioswales and bioretention basins to facilitate 

infiltration; and 

• Integrated or subsurface water retention facilities to capture rainwater for use in landscape 

irrigation and other non-potable uses.  

 

Implementation of the this mitigation measure in addition to policies outlined in the Proposed Project 

would serve to minimize long-term water quality impacts associated with increased urbanization. The goal 

of these policies as they relate to wastewater collection, treatment, disposal, and reuse is to ensure that 



43 

adequate facilities are provided in a timely fashion to accommodate current and future needs, and thereby 

manage wastewater to protect receiving water quality.  

 

Inadequate stormwater drainage infrastructure can lead to localized flooding, as well as erosion and 

sedimentation. Adequate stormwater conveyance capacity and pre-treatment through the use of LID 

technologies and BMPs is critical since stormwater in the City of Woodland is discharged untreated 

through a series of sloughs that eventually connect to Yolo Bypass.  

 

The goal of the General Plan policies as they relate to stormwater management is to provide flood 

protection, enhance water quality, prevent infrastructure deterioration, and facilitate compliance with State 

and federal laws. Successful implementation of the 2035 General Plan policies would avoid, minimize, or 

compensate for potential water quality impacts by requiring projects to reduce pollution and runoff 

through implementation of LID technologies, BMPs, pretreatment, and upgrades to stormwater and 

wastewater treatment capacity, as needed.  

 

Policies related to the safe handling and disposal of hazardous materials would also protect water quality 

through the proper handling, use, and disposal of hazardous materials, as well as emergency response 

planning to minimize potential water quality impacts from accidental spills. Together, these polices assist 

the City in complying with federal and State regulations, such as the Clean Water Act, EPA’s water quality 

criteria, and the Safe Drinking Water Act.  

 

Adoption and implementation of the proposed policies and compliance with existing stormwater, grading, 

and erosion control regulations would reduce this potential impact (FEIR, p. 4.9-39). 

 

Impact 4.9-2: Construction-Related Water Quality Impacts.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.9-43).  

 

Explanation: Construction and grading activities during development consistent with the Proposed 

Project could result in excess runoff, soil erosion, and stormwater discharges of suspended solids and 

increased turbidity. Such activities could mobilize other pollutants from project construction sites as 

contaminated runoff to on-site and ultimately off-site drainage channels. Many construction-related 

wastes have the potential to degrade existing water quality. Construction activities that are implemented 

without mitigation could violate water quality standards or cause direct harm to aquatic organisms. 

However, with implementation of existing regulations and water quality policies contained in the 2035 

General Plan, the impact is potentially significant and mitigation is identified (FEIR, p. 4.9-43).  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.9-2 – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.9-1  

 

Successful implementation of the General Plan policies would avoid and minimize water quality impacts 

during construction because they would require implementation of LID technologies and BMPs to protect 

receiving water quality; appropriate hazardous materials handling, storage, and disposal; and prohibit 

grading activities in the rainy season when erosion potential is at its highest. Compliance with General 

Plan policies and existing regulations, including acquisition of appropriate regulatory permits and 

preparation and implementation of a SWPPP and BMPs, would reduce potential impacts related to erosion 

and water quality during construction (FEIR, p. 4.9-43). 

 

Impact 4.9-3: On-Site and Downstream Erosion and Sedimentation and Alteration of Drainage Patterns.  

 



44 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.9-47). 

 

Explanation: Development and land use change consistent with the 2035 General Plan would increase 

the amount of impervious surfaces, thereby increasing surface runoff. This increase in surface runoff 

would result in an increase in both the total volume and the peak discharge rate of stormwater runoff, and 

therefore could result in greater potential for erosion, sedimentation, hydromodification, and on- and off-

site flooding. However, with adoption and implementation of the proposed policies and actions in the 

2035 General Plan, combined with current grading, erosion, and flood control regulations, this impact is 

considered significant and mitigation is identified (FEIR, p. 4.9-47). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.9-3 – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.4-1  

 

General Plan policies require implementation of LID technologies, BMPs, and hydromodification 

management techniques to protect receiving water quality, mitigate excessive runoff, and mimic the runoff 

of a natural environment. Additional policies would serve to maintain and improve the City’s storm 

drainage system. Prohibiting grading activities in the rainy season would also serve to reduce erosion 

potential. Finally, policies addressing open space and sensitive habitat conservation would restrict 

incompatible land uses and development from areas including riparian corridors, drainages, and 

floodplains. Adoption and implementation of the policies in the 2035 General Plan, combined with 

enforcement of the existing grading, erosion, and flood control regulations would reduce this potential 

impact (FEIR, p. 4.9-47). 

 

Public Services and Recreation 

 

Impact 4.12-3: Impacts Related to School Services.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.12-39).  

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would not result in substantial adverse physical 

impacts associated with the provision of new or physically altered governmental facilities, need for new 

or physically altered governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant 

environmental impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response time or other performance 

objectives for schools. The impact is considered potentially significant and mitigation is identified (FEIR, 

p. 4.12-39). 

 

Funding for new school construction is provided through State and local revenue sources. Senate Bill 

(SB) 50 (Chapter 407, Statutes of 1998) governs the amount of fees that can be levied against new 

development. Payment of fees authorized by the statute is deemed “full and complete mitigation” (FEIR, 

p. 4.12-39). 

 

Impact 4.12-5: Impacts Associated with Other Public Facilities.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.12-46).  

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project could result in substantial adverse physical impacts 

associated with the provision of new or physically altered governmental facilities, need for new or 

physically altered governmental facilities, the construction of which could cause significant environmental 

impacts, in order to maintain acceptable service ratios, response time or other performance objectives for 



45 

other public facilities. The impact is considered potentially significant and mitigation is identified (FEIR, 

p. 4.12-46). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.12-5a – The 2035 General Plan should be modified to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Public Services 1): 

Adopt a Municipal Facilities Master Plan that studies and identifies future space needs for 

city government offices, library facilities, and any other municipal service facilities not addressed 

in the Parks, Recreation, and Community Services Master Plan, and establishes space standards 

and ratios, as appropriate.  

 

The 2035 General Plan is an expression of the City of Woodland’s vision for future physical growth within 

the Planning Area and consists of a series of policies and implementation programs necessary for 

achieving that vision. The 2035 General Plan does not establish service standards for public facilities and 

therefore is in conflict with the existing service standards for public facilities in the existing 2002 General 

Plan. The mitigation measure listed above would ensure that future space needs are identified and 

standards are established for public facilities to support the City as it continues to grow, even though the 

standards are not included in the 2035 General Plan itself. However, before this Master Plan is prepared, 

it cannot be known whether the standards within it will be equal to or better than those included in the 

2002 General Plan. The only other mitigation would be to not adopt the 2035 General Plan, which is not 

a feasible action that would still achieve the objectives of the Proposed Project (FEIR, p. 4.12-46). 

 

Transportation and Circulation 

 

Impact 4.13-1: Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance or Policy Establishing Measures of 

Effectiveness for the Performance of the Circulation System by Resulting in Unacceptable Levels of 

Service on City of Woodland Roadways.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.13-20).  

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project could cause unacceptable LOS conditions on some 

roadway segments. The impact is considered potentially significant and mitigation is identified (FEIR, pp. 

4.13-17 through 4.13-19). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.13-1a – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

modification of the Circulation Diagram: 

Include E. Gum Avenue from Bourn Drive to Pioneer Avenue as a 2-lane minor arterial.  

This action would result in potential physical changes to the roadway under this 

classification that may include access control and minor turn-lane widening at intersections. Under 

this classification, the LOS would be improved to LOS C and the impact would be less than 

significant with mitigation. 

OR 

Mitigation Measure 4.13-1b – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

modified policy: 

Policy 3.A.1 Vehicle Level of Service (LOS) Standard. Strive to develop and manage the 

roadway system to maintain LOS D or better as defined in the latest edition of the Highway 

Capacity Manual (Transportation Research Board) during weekday AM and PM peak hour 

conditions with the following exceptions described below and mapped on Figure 3-1. 



46 

A. LOS C - Kentucky Ave from East Street to County Road 98. This level of service 

is required to accommodate the mix of commercial/industrial truck traffic with residential 

driveways. 

B. LOS E – Freeway ramp terminal intersections and E. Gum Avenue from Bourn 

Drive to Pioneer Avenue. 

C. LOS F – LOS F is allowed for the following roadway segments and intersections 

where the City finds that the improvements or other measures required to achieve the LOS standard 

are unacceptable because of their impact on other community values. 

• Main Street from 6th Street to Cleveland St. 

• Maxwell Ave from Farnham Avenue to County Road 102 

This action would recognize that potential physical changes to this section E. Gum Avenue to 

increase its capacity are not desirable due to access or right-of-way impacts on adjacent properties 

or the environment. The impact would be less than significant with mitigation. 

AND 

Mitigation Measure 4.13-1c – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

modified policy and new implementation program:  

Policy 3.A.4 Reduce Vehicle Miles Traveled (VMT). Require new development projects 

to achieve a 10 percent reduction in VMT per capita or VMT per service population compared to 

the general plan 2035 VMT performance, or a 10 percent reduction compared to baseline 

conditions for similar land uses Apply a VMT transportation performance metric threshold of 30 

VMT per capita when measuring transportation impacts for subsequent projects and making 

General Plan consistency findings. Reducing peak period VMT in particular is desirable due to the 

added benefit of minimizing severe congestion and reducing emissions. Use of VMT reduction 

strategies such as those in Chart 6-2 below taken from Quantifying Greenhouse Gas Mitigation 

Measures, CAPCOA, 2010 or similar professional research documents is encouraged. [See Section 

4.13 of this EIR, “Transportation and Circulation”] taken from Quantifying Greenhouse Gas 

Mitigation Measures, CAPCOA, 2010 or similar professional research documents is encouraged. 

 

Implementation Program 3.8. After final adoption of SB 743 CEQA Guidelines changes and any 

associated technical advisory recommendations by the State of California, the City will assess the 

VMT reduction goal contained in Policy 3.A.4. The assessment should consider substantial 

evidence presented by the State in recommending any alternative VMT reduction goals as CEQA 

thresholds plus the community values expressed by the goals and policies. The City should strive 

to set thresholds consistent with the City’s envisioned future while striving to achieve reasonable 

reductions in vehicle travel that produce air pollution and greenhouse gases. 

 

This mitigation would recognize that potential physical changes to this section East Gum Avenue to 

increase its capacity are not desirable due to access or right-of-way impacts on adjacent properties or the 

environment. The mitigation would also strengthen the policy’s influence on reducing vehicle travel 

associated with new development projects helping to reduce p.m. peak hour traffic volumes (FEIR, p. 

4.13-20). 

 

Impact 4.13-2: Conflict with an Applicable Plan, Ordinance or Policy Establishing Measures of 

Effectiveness for the Performance of the Circulation System by Resulting in Unacceptable Levels of 

Service on Caltrans Roadways.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.13-21).  

 



47 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would exacerbate unacceptable No Project LOS D 

conditions on the I-5 Mainline east of County Road 102 under 2035 conditions. The impact is considered 

potentially significant and mitigation is identified (FEIR, p. 4.13-21).  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.13-2 – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.13-1c.  

 

This mitigation would strengthen the policy’s influence on reducing vehicle travel associated with new 

development projects helping to reduce p.m. peak hour traffic volumes (FEIR, p. 4.13-21).  

 

Impact 4.13-3: Conflict with an Applicable Congestion Management Program by Resulting in 

Unacceptable Levels of Service on CMP Network Roadways.  

 

Finding: Less than significant with mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.13-23).  

 

Explanation: Implementation of the Proposed Project would cause unacceptable LOS conditions on one 

CMP roadway segment. The impact is considered potentially significant and mitigation is identified 

(FEIR, p. 4.13-22).  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.13-3a – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.13-1c.  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.13-3b – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

modification of the circulation diagram.  

Circulation Diagram: Include County Road 102 from E. Gibson Road to Farmers Central 

Road as a 4-lane principal arterial.  

 

This mitigation would strengthen the policy’s influence on reducing vehicle travel associated with new 

development projects. This mitigation would result in a physical capacity expansion to the roadway under 

this classification that would improve the LOS to C or better. A potential indirect effect of Mitigation 

Measure 4.13-3b is an increase in VMT due to the increase in roadway capacity. This effect is captured 

in the VMT forecasts contained in Table 4.13-3 for buildout where this segment of County Road 102 is 

planned as a four-lane principal arterial (FEIR, p. 4.13-23). 

 

3. Findings Regarding Environmental Impacts Not Fully Mitigated to a Level of Less than 

Significant 

The City Council hereby finds that the following impacts from the Proposed Project cannot be mitigated 

to a less than significant level with any feasible mitigation, and a Statement of Overriding Considerations 

is therefore required. 

 

Aesthetics and Visual Resources 

Impact 4.1-3: Substantially Degrade the Existing Visual Character or Quality of the Site and its 

Surroundings.  

 

Finding: The Proposed Project facilitates new development that will change the existing visual character 

of the Planning Area. However, impacts on visual character and quality of the site are subjective and 

variable between different individuals.  

 



48 

Policies from the 2035 General Plan provide guidance for development and conservation that relate to 

aesthetics and visual resources. Implementation Program 2.13 requires the City to update the Community 

Design Standards to identify the City’s expectations for planning, designing, and reviewing development 

proposals, consistent with the balance of the 2035 General Plan. Implementation Program 2.23 requires 

the City to develop historic design guidelines that provide context sensitivity in historic districts and 

neighborhoods. Despite proposed policies and implementation programs, implementation of the 2035 

General Plan is still expected to result in development in infill and new growth areas that will inherently 

change Woodland’s visual character. The City has presented all feasible mitigation in the form of policies 

and programs in the Proposed Project. There is no additional feasible mitigation available (FEIR, p. 4.1-

31). 

The impact would remain significant and unavoidable (FEIR, p. 4.1-31). As described in Section VIII, 

specific social, economic, and environmental benefits of the Project outweigh the identified potential 

unavoidable significant impacts.  

 

Impact 4.1-4: Create a New Source of Substantial Light or Glare Which Would Adversely Affect Day or 

Nighttime Views in the Area.  

 

Finding:  Implementation of the Proposed Project would create a new source of substantial light or glare 

which would adversely affect day or nighttime views in the area. The impact is considered significant. 

Mitigation is included (FEIR, p. 4.1-33).  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.1-4 – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new policies: 

Policy 2.F.4 Light Pollution. Control artificial lighting to avoid spill-over lighting and 

preserve the night sky. 

Policy 2.F.5 Glare. Control artificial lighting to prevent glare. 

 

The mitigation measures limit the impact from light and glare, but it is not feasible to mitigate the impacts 

completely without prohibiting the use of light in new development.  

 

The impact would remain significant and unavoidable (FEIR, p. 4.1-33). As described in Section VIII, 

specific social, economic, and environmental benefits of the Project outweigh the identified potential 

unavoidable significant impacts. 
 

Agriculture and Forestry Resources 

 

Impact 4.2-1: Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance, as 

Shown on the Maps Prepared Pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the 

California Resources Agency, to Non-Agricultural Use.  

 

Finding:  Implementation of the Proposed Project would convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or 

Farmland of Statewide Importance to non-agricultural use. Mitigation is included (FEIR, p. 4.2-35). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.2-1 – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

modified policy: 

Policy 2.A.3 Agricultural Mitigation. For impacts to agricultural land within the ULL, 

require one acre to be permanently conserved for every acre converted to urban development (1:1 

ratio). The farmland being conserved must be of the same Farmland Mapping and Monitoring 

Program type (Prime Farmland, Farmland of Statewide Importance, Unique Farmland, Farmland 



49 

of Local Importance) as the farmland that is being converted, or of a type of higher quality, and 

the conserved farmland should be located outside of, but as close to the Woodland Urban Limit 

Line as possible. For projects proposing to convert agricultural land to urban use, require soils 

analysis to determine farmland classification for purposes of determining appropriate mitigation 

as part of environmental review conducted for the project. 

 

Implementation of the 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP policies, as well as the Yolo County Agricultural 

Conservation Policy, will reduce the impacts on farmland conversion. The ULL was adopted for the 

purpose of permanently circumscribing development and preserving surrounding agricultural lands. This 

action of the voters identified those lands intended to be converted to urban uses over time in the form of 

an urban limit line and permanently protected lands outside of that boundary. Ballot initiatives are not 

subject to environmental impact review under CEQA and therefore the 2006 action by the voters did not 

include an assessment of the impacts resulting from the urban limit line. As enacted by the voters, Policy 

2.A.1 prohibits City public services and facilities beyond Woodland’s ULL. In addition, Policy 2.A.3 

requires agricultural mitigation of farmland within the ULL at a rate of one acre of permanently conserved 

farmland for every acre converted to urban development or non-agricultural uses. The policy specifies 

conservation of the same type of farmland, therefore loss of Prime Farmland can only be mitigated with 

the conservation of Farmland of equal or higher quality. Goal 7.6 prioritizes the preservation of 

agricultural land, and Policy 7.C.1 requires the City to minimize the amount of annexed land. 

 

In addition, several policies prioritize infill and compact development. The focus of the Proposed Project 

on infill and compact development in strategic new growth areas within the ULL aims to minimize the 

magnitude of farmland conversion and to help protect large tracts of farmland in agricultural areas. 

 

Actions under Objective 2 Strategy E-6 and Objective 2 Strategy UF-5 in the 2035 CAP require the City 

to promote the installation of solar systems on existing development, rather than on agricultural land or 

open space. Additional policies require the maintenance of the ULL and support for legislative efforts that 

incentivize agricultural land preservation. 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.2-1 ensures that for every acre of a certain type of farmland that is converted as a 

result of the Proposed Project, an acre of that same type (or better) of farmland will be conserved. 

However, there would still be a net loss of farmland that cannot be completely mitigated (FEIR, pp. 4.2-

35 and 4.2-36).  Thus, the impact is significant and unavoidable.  

 

The impact would remain significant and unavoidable (FEIR, pp. 4.2-35 and 4.2-36). As described in 

Section VIII, specific social, economic, and environmental benefits of the Project outweigh the identified 

potential unavoidable significant impacts. 

 

Impact 4.2-3: Involve Other Changes in the Existing Environment that, Due to Their Location or Nature, 

Could Result in Conversion of Farmland, to Non-Agricultural Use.  

 

Finding: Policies in the 2035 General Plan emphasize the importance of agriculture to Woodland and 

support the viability of farming operations; however, implementation of the Proposed Project would result 

in the conversion of farmland to non-agricultural use. Mitigation is included (FEIR, p. 4.2-41). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.2-3 – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new policy: 

Policy 7.C.5 Agricultural Buffer. Require new development that occurs at the edge of the 

ULL to be set back a minimum of 150 feet from adjacent agricultural land where possible. 



50 

Equivalent means of providing agricultural buffers may be considered by the Planning 

Commission on a case by case basis for parcels whose dimensions would preclude or severely 

limit development potential with the required buffer size. The buffer shall be landscaped and may 

include public right of way. 

 

In addition to the policies that lessen direct impacts on farmland discussed in Impact 4.2-1, the Proposed 

Project includes policies and goals to support agriculture in Woodland and minimize conflicts between 

urban and agricultural uses. 2035 General Plan Policy 7.C.4 requires the City to ensure that urban 

development within the ULL does not affect the economic viability of adjacent farms outside of the ULL. 

2035 General Plan Policies 2.D.2, 6.C.1, and 4.G.2 help strengthen specific segments of the agricultural 

industry, similar to the 2035 CAP policy listed above. Policy 4.C.9 explicitly supports the continuation 

and development of the agricultural industry in Woodland, and Policy 8.G.10 requires the City’s support 

for both the City’s and the County’s right to farm ordinances. Policy 7.C.2 helps protect existing 

agriculture within the ULL, and Policy 7.C.3 requires Woodland to support Yolo County’s agricultural 

conservation efforts.  

 

Although policies in the Proposed Project will reduce the impact that development and other changes to 

the existing environment would have on existing agricultural uses and support the continued viability of 

the agricultural industry in Woodland, it cannot be guaranteed that farmland would not be indirectly 

impacted by development envisioned in the Plan. With the addition of Mitigation Measure 4.2-3, the City 

has presented all feasible mitigation in the form of policies and programs in the Proposed Project. There 

is no additional feasible mitigation available (FEIR, p. 4.2-41).  

 

The impact would remain significant and unavoidable (FEIR, p. 4.2-41). As described in Section VIII, 

specific social, economic, and environmental benefits of the Project outweigh the identified potential 

unavoidable significant impacts.  

 

Air Quality 

 

Impact 4.3-1: Generation of Short-Term Construction-Related Emissions of Criteria Air Pollutants and 

Precursors.  

 

Finding: Emissions of criteria air pollutants and precursors could exceed an ambient air quality standard 

or contribute substantially to an existing or predicted air quality exceedance. The level of construction 

emissions could conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan. YSAQMD 

recommends that lead agencies incorporate construction mitigation measures, and the Proposed Project 

has policies that would reduce this impact. However, given the scale of the Proposed Project, the City 

cannot determine that potential construction impacts would be below relevant significance thresholds 

throughout the planning horizon. The impact is considered significant.  

Mitigation is included (FEIR, pp. 4.3-24 and 4.3-25).  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.3-1a – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Air Quality 1): 

New developments that could generate a potentially significant short-term air quality 

impact shall incorporate feasible construction mitigation strategies, including those listed below, 

those included in an updated set of mitigation recommendations prepared by the Yolo-Solano Air 

Quality Management District, or those determined by the City to be as effective: 

a. Water all active construction areas at least twice daily. 

b. Haul trucks shall maintain at least two feet of freeboard. 



51 

c. Cover all trucks hauling soil, sand, and other loose materials. 

d. Apply non-toxic binders (e.g., latex acrylic copolymer) to exposed areas after cut-

and-fill operations and hydroseed area. 

e. Apply chemical soil stabilizers on inactive construction areas (disturbed lands 

within construction projects that are unused for at least four consecutive days). 

f. Plant tree windbreaks on the windward perimeter of construction projects if 

adjacent to open land. 

g. Plant vegetative ground cover in disturbed areas as soon as possible. 

h. Cover inactive storage piles. 

i. Sweep streets if visible soil material is carried out from the construction site. 

j. Treat accesses to a distance of 100 feet from the paved road with a 6 to 12 inch 

layer of wood chips or mulch. 

k. Treat accesses to a distance of 100 feet from the paved road with a 6-inch layer of 

gravel. 

l. Limit all idling of vehicles and equipment that use gasoline or diesel fuel to five 

minutes maximum.  

m. Use alternative power source, such as electricity, for construction equipment or use 

reformulated and emulsified fuels, incorporate catalyst and filtration technologies, and generally 

modernize the equipment fleet with cleaner and newer engines.  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.3-1b – Policy 7.F.2. will be amended to read: 

Policy 7.F.2 Best Management Practices. Require all projects to implement Best 

Management Practices (BMPs) for reducing air pollutant emissions associated with the 

construction and operation of development projects as a standard City condition of approval.   

 

The above policy and mitigation measures would reduce construction-related impacts. However, because 

the District estimates that these measures have a range of effectiveness that can be well below 100 percent, 

construction-related emissions of criteria air pollutants and precursors could still exceed significance 

thresholds. Such emissions could exceed or contribute substantially to an existing or projected air quality 

violation and/or expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations. In addition, these 

emissions could conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan. There are no 

additional feasible mitigation measures available to address this significant impact (FEIR, p. 4.3-25).  

 

The impact would remain significant and unavoidable (FEIR, p. 4.3-25). As described in Section VIII, 

specific social, economic, and environmental benefits of the Project outweigh the identified potential 

unavoidable significant impacts.  

 

Impact 4.3-2: Generation of Long-Term Operational Emissions of Criteria Air Pollutants and Precursors.  

 

Finding: Long-term operational emissions would be generated from day-to-day activities associated with 

residential and non-residential land uses under the Proposed Project. Operational emissions associated 

with the Proposed Project would exceed applicable YSAQMD thresholds. The level of operational 

emissions could conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan. Proposed 

Project policies would reduce potentially significant impacts, but not to a level that would be below 

relevant thresholds. The impact is considered significant. Mitigation is included (FEIR, p. 4.3-32). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.3-2 – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.3-1b. 

 



52 

The Proposed Project contains several policies that would promote mixed-use and infill development. 

Policies have been developed to site residents, jobs, and retail amenities in proximity of each other to 

reduce the need for motor vehicle travel. The Proposed Project would encourage modes of transportation 

that can reduce or eliminate air pollutant emissions. Since transportation is a major source of criteria air 

pollutants, this is important for reducing the operational impacts of the Proposed Project. Policies would 

support development of pedestrian and bicycle facilities that would promote non-vehicular modes of 

travel. In order to eliminate or minimize transportation-related emissions, policies have also been designed 

to encourage pedestrian, bicycle, and transit access and mobility that would reduce transportation-related 

air quality impacts. In addition, the 2035 CAP’s actions related to energy, transportation and land use, 

water and waste, and municipal operations would not only reduce greenhouse gas emissions, but also 

criteria air pollutants.  

 

General Plan policies would reduce long-term operational air quality impacts. However, because the 

precise effectiveness of these measures cannot be determined at the time of this analysis, it is likely that 

operational emissions of criteria air pollutants and precursors could still exceed significance thresholds. 

Such emissions could exceed or contribute substantially to an existing or projected air quality violation 

and/or expose sensitive receptors to substantial pollutant concentrations. In addition, these emissions 

could conflict with or obstruct implementation of the applicable air quality plan. There are no additional 

feasible mitigation measures available to address this significant impact (FEIR, p. 4.3-33). 

 

The impact would remain significant and unavoidable (FEIR, p. 4.3-33). As described in Section VIII, 

specific social, economic, and environmental benefits of the Project outweigh the identified potential 

unavoidable significant impacts.  

 

Impact 4.3-3: Expose Sensitive Receptors to Substantial Pollutant Concentrations (Stationary).   

 

Finding: Project-related vehicle trips would contribute vehicles to local intersections that could cause a 

CO hotspot (i.e., exceedance of the CO ambient air quality standard). However, it is not anticipated that 

the Proposed Project’s land uses would contribute substantial vehicle volumes to existing or future 

intersections that could cause a CO hotspot. During construction and operation of the Proposed Project, 

localized air quality emissions would be generated that could affect existing and proposed sensitive 

receptors. Construction activities would generate diesel particulate matter (diesel PM) emissions that 

could affect existing and proposed sensitive receptors. Existing regulations and proposed policies and 

implementation programs would reduce potential exposure to substantial pollutant concentrations. The 

impact is considered significant. Mitigation is included (FEIR, pp. 4.3-43 and 4.3-44). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.3-3a – Policy 7.F.3 should be amended to read:  

Policy 7.F.3. Protect Sensitive Receptors. For the purposes of environmental review of 

potential toxic air contaminant impacts, consider residentially designated land uses, hospitals and 

other medical facilities, and residential care facilities, schools, day care centers, playgrounds to be 

“sensitive receptors.” Discourage the location of new sensitive receptor uses within 500 feet of a 

limited access state highway (SR 113 and 1-5). Implement applicable buffer distances 

recommended by the California Air Resources Board between sensitive uses and sources of 

substantial pollutant concentrations. 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.3-3b – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.3-1b. 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.3-3c – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Air Quality 2) 



53 

a. New development shall be required to demonstrate adherence with applicable 

YSAQMD-recommended health risk thresholds involving sensitive receptors, uses that involve 

substantial truck trips, and large gas stations, as defined by the applicable regulations. “Substantial 

truck trips” is defined as more than 100 trucks per day, more than 40 trucks with operating transport 

refrigeration units (TRUs) per day, or TRU unit operations that exceed 300 hours per week. A 

“large gas station” is one that would be anticipated to accommodate a throughput of 3.6 million 

gallons per year or greater.  

b. Proposed uses that include sensitive receptors may demonstrate compliance with 

this implementation program by providing a minimum 1,000-foot buffer from existing uses that 

involve substantial truck trips and a minimum 50-foot buffer from existing large gas stations.  

c. Proposed uses that involve substantial truck trips may demonstrate compliance with 

this implementation program by providing a minimum 1,000-foot buffer from properties where 

the City’s land use designation would allow sensitive receptors.  

d. Proposed large gas stations may demonstrate compliance with this implementation 

program by providing a minimum 300-foot buffer, while typical gas dispensing facilities would 

provide a minimum 50-foot buffer from existing sensitive receptors and from properties where the 

City’s land use designation would allow sensitive receptors. 

e. Avoid siting new sensitive receptors within 500 feet of the edge of the closest travel 

lane of a freeway, urban roads with 100,000 vehicles per day, or rural roads with 50,000 vehicles 

per day. 

f. Avoid siting new sensitive land uses within 300 feet of any existing dry cleaning 

operation. 

g. As an alternative to these buffer distances, proposed sensitive receptors, uses that 

involve substantial truck trips, and large gas stations may provide a site-specific health risk 

assessment, using methods consistent with applicable guidance from the Office of Environmental 

Health Hazard Assessment, with mitigation, if necessary, to demonstrate compliance with 

applicable YSAQMD-recommended health risk thresholds. When health risk impacts exceed 

YSAQMD-recommended thresholds, feasible on-site mitigation measures to reduce TAC 

exposure shall be implemented to mitigate health risk impacts below YSAQMD thresholds. On-

site measures could include, but are not limited to providing enhanced filtration systems (e.g., 

MERV 13 or greater) for near-by sensitive receptor buildings, changes to the TAC emission 

source’s operation, and positioning of exhaust and intake for ventilation systems to minimize 

exposure among others. 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.3-3d – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Air Quality 3) 

a. New development that would require the use of diesel-fueled construction 

equipment within 300 feet of an existing sensitive receptor use an equipment mix, incorporate 

buffering, schedule construction activities, or use other strategies to reduce potential health risk 

consistent with guidance from the Yolo-Solano Air Quality Management District.  

b. Alternatively, a project applicant may prepare a site-specific estimate of diesel PM 

emissions associated with total construction activities and evaluate for health risk impact on 

existing sensitive receptors in order to demonstrate that applicable YSAQMD-recommended 

thresholds for toxic air contaminants would not be exceeded or that applicable thresholds would 

not be exceeded with the application of alternative mitigation techniques approved by the City.  

 

The Proposed Project contains policies to reduce emissions associated with both construction and 

operational activities. The Proposed Project includes Policy 7.F.3 that would discourage development in 

locations that would conflict with the buffer recommendations in the ARB Air Quality and Land Use 



54 

Handbook. Mitigation Measures 4.3-3c and 4.3-3d provide specific guidance tied to performance 

standards that have been developed to protect the public health. The buffer distances incorporated into 

Mitigation Measure 4.3-3c are consistent with guidance from ARB. Implementation Program Air Quality 

3 includes as an option to use an equipment mix, including the use of Tier 4 engine emission standards, 

which have been shown to reduce PM emissions by more than 90 percent from current levels or site-

specific analysis and mitigation with clear performance outcomes tied to YSAQMD-recommended 

thresholds.  

 

However, the potential for sensitive receptors to be exposed to substantial pollutant concentrations from 

stationary sources remains significant, even with the Proposed Project’s policies and mitigation measures 

described above. There is not additional feasible mitigation. The impact related to stationary sources of 

TACs is significant and unavoidable (FEIR, p. 4.3-45). 

 

The impact would remain significant and unavoidable (FEIR, p. 4.3-45). As described in Section VIII, 

specific social, economic, and environmental benefits of the Project outweigh the identified potential 

unavoidable significant impacts.  
 

Cultural Resources 

 

Impact 4.6-1: Cause a Substantial Adverse Change in the Significance of Archaeological or Historical 

Resources as defined in CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5.  

 

Finding:  The Proposed Project plans for the construction of new buildings and structures. Modification 

of existing buildings and structures could also occur in the Planning Area. Although there are no 

previously recorded archaeological resources within the Planning Area, future projects involving intensive 

grading, trenching, excavation, soil stockpiling, and other earthmoving activities could impact previously 

unrecorded cultural resources. Implementation of the Proposed Project has the potential to damage or 

destroy archaeological and historic architectural resources that qualify as historical resources or unique 

archaeological resources under CEQA. The significance of such resources could be materially impaired 

because their ability to convey significance could be destroyed or diminished. This impact is considered 

significant. Mitigation is included (FEIR, pp. 4.6-25 through 4.6-29). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.6-1a – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

modified policy: 

Policy 2.O.3. Relocation of Historic Buildings. Where feasible and appropriate, encourage 

the relocation of reusable historic buildings within or into historic neighborhoods as a means of 

historic preservation. Relocation is only permitted with reuse provisions and timing agreements in 

place. Upon execution of an agreement covering reuse provisions and approval of a replacement 

project. 

Policy 2.P.2. Environmental Review. Require that environmental review be conducted for 

alterations and/or demolition of buildings designated as, or potentially eligible for designation as, 

historic structures as required by Chapter 12A of the Municipal Code and CEQA regulations. 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.6-1b – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Cultural 1) 

Projects that could have significant adverse impacts to potentially significant archaeological 

resources shall be required to assess impacts and provide feasible mitigation. The following steps, 

or those deemed equally effective by the City, will be followed: 



55 

a. Request information from the California Native American Heritage Commission to 

obtain a review of the Sacred Lands File and a list of local Native American groups and individuals 

that may have specific knowledge of cultural resources in the area that could be affected by project 

implementation. Each Native American group and individual identified by the Native American 

Heritage Commission will be contacted to obtain any available information on cultural resources 

in the project area. Additional consultation with relevant tribal representatives may be appropriate 

depending on the relative level of cultural sensitivity.  

b. Request updated information from the Northwest Information Center of the 

California Historical Resources Information System to determine whether the project area has been 

previously surveyed and whether archaeological resources were identified. In the event the records 

indicate that no previous survey has been conducted or existing survey data is greater than five 

years old, the applicant will retain the services of a qualified archaeologist to assess the adequacy 

of the existing data (if any) and assess the archaeological sensitivity of the project area. If the 

survey did not meet current professional standards or regulatory guidelines, or relies on outdated 

information, a qualified archaeologist will make a recommendation on whether a survey is 

warranted based on the sensitivity of the project area for archaeological resources. 

c. If a survey is warranted, it will include all necessary background research in 

addition to an archaeological pedestrian survey. Based on findings of the survey, additional 

technical studies may be required, such as geoarchaeological sensitivity analysis, or other analysis 

scaled according to the nature of the individual project. A report will document the results of the 

survey and provide appropriate management recommendations, and include recordation of 

identified archaeological resources on appropriate California Department of Parks and Recreation 

site record forms and cultural resources reports.  

d. Management recommendations may include, but are not limited to additional 

studies to evaluate identified sites or archaeological monitoring at locations determined by a 

qualified archaeologist to be sensitive for subsurface cultural resource deposits. 

e. Once approved by the City, provide the Northwest Information Center with 

appropriate California Department of Parks and Recreation site record forms and cultural resources 

reports for any resources identified. Any subsequent reports completed as a result of additional 

technical work will likewise be submitted to the Northwest Information Center. 

f. If no archeological resources are identified that may be directly or indirectly 

impacted by project activities, mitigation is complete as there would be no adverse change to 

documented archeological resources. The exception would be in the event of the discovery of a 

previously unknown archaeological site inadvertently exposed during project implementation. In 

such an event, a qualified archaeologist will be retained to assess the discovery and provide 

management recommendations as necessary. 

g. When a project will impact a known archaeological site, and avoidance is not a 

feasible option, a qualified archaeologist shall evaluate the eligibility of the site for listing in the 

California Register of Historic Resources. If the archaeological site is found to be a historical 

resource as per CEQA Guidelines Section15064.5 (a)(3), the qualified archaeologist shall 

recommend further mitigative treatment which could include preservation in place or data 

recovery. 

h. If a site to be tested is prehistoric, local tribal representatives should be afforded 

the opportunity to monitor the ground-disturbing activities. Appropriate mitigation may include 

curation of artifacts removed during subsurface testing. 

i. If significant archaeological resources that meet the definition of historical or 

unique archaeological resources are identified in the project area, the preferred mitigation of 

impacts is preservation in place. If impacts cannot be avoided through project design, appropriate 

and feasible treatment measures are required, which may consist of, but are not limited to actions, 



56 

such as data recovery excavations. If only part of a site will be impacted by a project, data recovery 

will only be necessary for that portion of the site. Data recovery will not be required if the 

implementing agency determines prior testing and studies have adequately recovered the 

scientifically consequential information from the resources. Studies and reports resulting from the 

data recovery shall be deposited with the Northwest Information Center. Archaeological sites 

known to contain human remains shall be treated in accordance with the provisions of Section 

7050.5 Health and Safety Code. 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.6-1c – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Cultural 2) 

For projects that could adversely affect a potential historic resources: 

a. Consult the City’s Historic Resources Inventory and, as necessary, seek updated 

information from the North Central Information Center or other applicable data repositories to 

determine whether the project area has been surveyed, and whether historic built environment 

resources were identified. 

b. If a survey of the property or the area in which the property is located has not been 

conducted, a qualified architectural historian shall conduct a study of the project area for the 

presence of historic built environment resources.  

c. If a study is required, it will evaluate the significance of built environment resources 

greater than 50 years in age that may be directly or indirectly impacted by project activities. The 

study may include a field survey; background, archival and historic research; and consultation with 

local historical societies, museums or other interested parties; as necessary.  

d. If necessary, the qualified architectural historian’s study will recommend 

appropriate protection or mitigative treatment, if any, and include recordation of identified built 

environment resources on appropriate California Department of Parks and Recreation (DPR) series 

523 forms. Recommended treatment for historical resources identified in the report shall be 

implemented. 

e. If no significant historic built environment resources are identified in the study or 

prior survey of the project area that may be directly or indirectly impacted by project activities, 

there is no adverse change to documented historical built environment resources and no further 

action is required. 

f. If a significant historic built environment resource could be directly or indirectly 

impacted by project activities, avoidance shall be considered the primary mitigation option. If 

avoidance is not feasible, then the maintenance, repair, stabilization, rehabilitation, restoration, 

preservation, conservation, or reconstruction of the historical resource, conducted in a manner 

consistent with the Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties 

will reduce impacts to an acceptable level. If adherence to the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards 

cannot avoid materially altering in an adverse manner the physical characteristics or historic 

character of the surrounding environmental setting that contribute to a resource’s historic 

significance, additional mitigation may be required. 

g. If avoidance is not feasible and minimizing impacts through adherence to the 

Secretary of the Interior's Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties is not feasible, 

documentation is required using, as appropriate, Historic American Buildings Survey (HABS), 

Historic American Engineering Record (HAER), and/or Historic American Landscapes Survey 

(HALS) guidelines. 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.6-1d – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Cultural 3) 



57 

a. During ground-disturbing activities necessary to implement proposed development 

and infrastructure projects, if any prehistoric or historic subsurface resources are discovered, all 

work within 100 feet of the resources shall be halted and a qualified archaeologist  shall be 

consulted within 24 hours to assess the significance of the find, according to CEQA Guidelines 

Section 15064.5, and implement, as applicable, CEQA Guidelines Sections 15064.5(d), (e), and 

(f).  

b. If any find is determined to be a historical resource according to CEQA Guidelines 

Section 15064.5, representatives from the City and the archaeologist will meet to determine the 

appropriate avoidance measures or other appropriate mitigation. Cultural resources shall be 

recorded on appropriate Department of Parks and Recreation forms, and all significant cultural 

materials recovered shall be, as necessary and at the discretion of the qualified archaeologist and 

in consultation with the local Native American community if the discovery is prehistoric in age, 

subject to scientific analysis, professional curation, and documentation according to professional 

standards. If it is determined that the proposed development or infrastructure project could damage 

a historical resource or a unique archaeological resource (as defined pursuant to the CEQA 

Guidelines), mitigation shall be implemented in accordance with Section 21083.2 of the California 

Public Resources Code and CEQA Guidelines Section 15126.4, with a preference for preservation 

in place. Work may proceed on other parts of the project site while mitigation for historical 

resources or unique archaeological resources is being carried out. Preservation in place may be 

accomplished by planning construction to avoid the resource; incorporating the resource within 

open space; capping and covering the resource; or deeding the site into a permanent conservation 

easement.  

c. If avoidance is not feasible, the qualified archaeologist shall develop and oversee 

the execution of a treatment plan. The treatment plan shall include, but shall not be limited to, data 

recovery procedures based on location and type of archaeological resources discovered and a 

preparation and submittal of report of findings to the Northwest Information Center of the 

California Historical Resources Information System. Data recovery shall be designed to recover 

the significant information the archaeological resource is expected to contain, based on the 

scientific/historical research questions that are applicable to the resource, what data classes the 

resource is expected to possess, and how the expected data classes would address the applicable 

resource questions. Data recovery, in general, should be limited to the portions of the historical 

property that could be adversely affected by project proponents’ actions. Destructive data recovery 

methods shall not be applied to portions of the archaeological resources if nondestructive methods 

are practical. 

 

The policies and implementation programs summarized above establish appropriate review procedures 

and consultation requirements, while also addressing the need for qualified personnel to undertake 

technical analysis, where necessary. The policies and implementation programs provide for the 

identification and evaluation of cultural resources, as well as for the assessment of potential impacts to 

such resources and the development of mitigation strategies. Additionally, CEQA review and local 

regulatory review provide additional levels of protection for known resources, and address the 

identification of unidentified cultural resources. 

 

Although the policies and implementation programs will minimize the severity of significant impacts 

associated with such change, impacts may occur that cannot be reduced to a less-than-significant level 

through mitigation. Applicants for entitlements requiring General Plan consistency findings will need to 

comply with the policies described above. These policies and implementation programs will help ensure 

new development is designed to maintain important elements of the historic setting, where this is 



58 

important; preserve and rehabilitate historic structures in a way that preserves their integrity; relocate 

structures as method of historic preservation; and avoid impacts to archaeological and historic resources.  

 

While the Proposed Project policies and implementation programs will reduce potential effects, the 

potential remains for residual effects. 

 

Beyond existing regulations that protect cultural resources and these proposed policies and 

implementation programs, no further mitigation is available (FEIR, p. 4.6-29).  

 

The impact would remain significant and unavoidable (FEIR, p. 4.6-29). As described in Section VIII, 

specific social, economic, and environmental benefits of the Project outweigh the identified potential 

unavoidable significant impacts. 

 

Impact 4.6-2: Disturb Human Remains, including those Interred Outside of Formal Cemeteries.  

 

Finding: The Proposed Project would result in development and infrastructure improvement projects 

throughout the Planning Area that would involve earthmoving activities that could impact human remains. 

There is the potential for discovery of human remains during construction. This impact is considered 

significant. Mitigation is included (FEIR, pp. 4.6-31 and 4.6-32). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.6-2 – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Cultural 4): 

a. Consistent with Health and Safety Code, Section 7050 through 7052 and Health 

and Safety Code Section 8010 through 8030, in the event of the accidental discovery or recognition 

of any human remains in any location other than a dedicated cemetery during construction, the 

City and contractor/s shall take the following steps: 

(1) No further excavation or disturbance of the project site or any nearby area 

reasonably suspected to overlie adjacent human remains will occur until: 

(A) the coroner of Yolo County has been contacted to determine that no investigation 

of the cause of death is required, and 

(B) if the coroner determines the remains to be Native American: 

1. the coroner shall contact the Native American Heritage Commission within 

24 hours; 

2. the Native American Heritage Commission shall identify the person or 

persons it believes to be the most likely descendant from the deceased Native American; and 

3. the most likely descendant may make recommendations to the landowner 

or the person responsible for the excavation work, for means of treating or disposing of, with 

appropriate dignity, the human remains and any associated grave goods, as provided in Section 

5097.98 of the Public Resources Code; or 

(2) Where the following conditions occur, the landowner or his or her authorized 

representative shall rebury the Native American remains and associated grave goods with 

appropriate dignity on the property in a location not subject to further subsurface disturbance: 

(A) the Native American Heritage Commission is unable to identify a most likely 

descendant or the most likely descendant fails to make a recommendation within 24 hours after 

being notified by the commission; 

(B) the most likely descendant identified fails to make a recommendation; or 

(C) the landowner or his or her authorized representative rejects the recommendation 

of the most likely descendant, and mediation by the Native American Heritage Commission fails 

to provide measures acceptable to the landowner.  



59 

 

Because prehistoric and historic archaeological sites that contain human remains can occur below ground 

with little or no surface manifestation it may not be feasible to entirely avoid impacts to interred human 

remains during buildout of the General Plan, despite implementation of the City’s proposed policies and 

mitigation measure. If buried human remains are encountered during construction without prior discovery 

they may be inadvertently damaged or destroyed (FEIR, p. 4.6-32).  

 

The impact would remain significant and unavoidable (FEIR, p. 4.6-32). As described in Section VIII, 

specific social, economic, and environmental benefits of the Project outweigh the identified potential 

unavoidable significant impacts.  

 

Noise and Vibration 

 

Impact 4.11-1: Exposure of Noise-Sensitive Land Uses to Short-Term (Construction).  

 

Finding:  Future development and implementation of the policies in the Proposed Project would result in 

exposure of existing and proposed noise sensitive land uses to noticeable increases from construction 

activities. This impact is considered significant. Mitigation is included (FEIR, pp. 4.11-50 and 4.11-51).  

 

Mitigation Measure 4.11-1 – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Noise 1) 

a. Demolition, construction, site preparation, and related activities that would 

generate noise perceptible at the property line of the subject property are limited to the hours 

between 7:00 A.M. and 6:00 P.M. on Monday through Saturday and between 9:00 A.M. and 6:00 

P.M. on Sunday and federal holidays. The building inspector may issue an exception to this 

limitation on hours in cases of urgent necessity where the public health and safety will not be 

substantially impaired. 

b. Idling times for noise-generating equipment used in demolition, construction, site 

preparation, and related activities shall be minimized either by shutting equipment off when not in 

use or reducing the maximum idling time to 5 minutes.  

c. Demolition, construction, site preparation, and related activities that do not involve 

pile driving proposed within 445 feet from the edge of properties with existing, occupied noise-

sensitive uses shall incorporate all feasible strategies to reduce noise exposure for noise-sensitive 

uses, including: 

• Provide written notice to all known occupied noise-sensitive uses within 400 feet 

of the edge of the project site boundary at least 2 weeks prior to the start of each construction phase 

of the construction schedule;  

• Ensure that construction equipment is properly maintained and equipped with noise 

control components, such as mufflers, in accordance with manufacturers’ specifications; 

• Re-route construction equipment away from adjacent noise-sensitive uses;  

• Locate noisy construction equipment away from surrounding noise-sensitive uses;  

• Use sound aprons or temporary noise enclosures around noise-generating 

equipment;  

• Position storage of waste materials, earth, and other supplies in a manner that will 

function as a noise barrier for surrounding noise-sensitive uses;  

• Use the quietest practical type of equipment; 

• Use electric powered equipment instead of diesel or gasoline engine powered 

equipment; 

• Use shrouding or shielding and intake and exhaust silencers/mufflers; and 



60 

• Other effective and feasible strategies to reduce construction noise exposure for 

surrounding noise-sensitive uses. 

d. For construction of buildings that require the installation of piles, an alternative to 

installation of piles by hammering shall be used. This could include the use of augured holes for 

cast-in-place piles, installation through vibration or hydraulic insertion, or another low-noise 

technique. 

 

The above described implementation program would reduce construction noise exposure. However, for 

construction sites that are adjacent to noise-sensitive uses, there still could be a substantial temporary 

increase in noise levels that could lead to adverse noise-related impacts. The City is obliged to balance 

temporary noise impacts associated with implementation of the Proposed Plan with other environmental 

benefits, as well as economic, legal, social, technological, and other benefits. The City’s focus on 

facilitating infill development in the Downtown area and along major corridors will help to achieve goals 

related to economic development, fiscal sustainability, and local employment opportunities. As noted in 

OPR’s draft General Plan Guidelines update, “While urban infill developments can be noisy 

environments, they are often healthy communities. Residents whom opt to live in infill developments may 

welcome such noise, and there are many ways to minimize harmful exposure to excessive noise” (OPR 

2015, page 185). While sites for future infill development may be located near noise-sensitive uses, these 

sites are also in proximity to a mix of housing and destinations. Locating a mix of uses in proximity to 

one another makes travel without the use of a car more practical, and this provides benefits related to 

mobility, air quality, and greenhouse gas emission reductions. Communities that make non-automobile 

trips (pedestrian, bicycle, transit) practical for more residents can also reduce traffic congestion for those 

who still need to drive. Land and transportation policies that reduce vehicle miles traveled (VMT) also 

reduce harmful air pollution and greenhouse gas emissions, enhance mobility, and reduce commuting 

time. Since transportation is a major cost for most households, making transportation without a car more 

feasible could also hold benefits related to reducing household transportation costs. Municipal costs can 

be reduced with compact, planned development. The City can help to free up discretionary income that 

can support expanded local retail activity through planning strategies that reduce travel and utility costs 

for households. Since infill sites are generally in areas that have access to existing infrastructure, infill 

development also holds potential benefits related to the up-front and ongoing cost of infrastructure. 

Implementation of this mitigation measure co would reduce impacts from construction noise. However, 

there could still be a noticeable temporary increase in noise levels for noise-sensitive uses that are adjacent 

to construction sites. There is no additional feasible mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.11-51).  

 

The impact would remain significant and unavoidable (FEIR, p. 4.11-51). As described in Section VIII, 

specific social, economic, and environmental benefits of the Project outweigh the identified potential 

unavoidable significant impacts. 

 

Impact 4.11-2: Exposure to or Generation of Long-Term Noise Levels.  

 

Finding: Future development of new noise-sensitive land uses would occur under the Proposed Project 

within areas that either are currently exposed to noise from both transportation and non-transportation 

noise sources, or will be in the future. Uses allowed under the 2035 General Plan could potentially expose 

existing or planned noise-sensitive uses to noise levels that exceed local standards. The impact is 

considered significant. Mitigation is included. (FEIR, pp. 4.11-59 and 4.11-60). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.11-2a – Policy 8.G.3 should be amended as follows: 

Policy 8.G.3 Noise Exposure from Transportation Sources. Require noise-reducing 

mitigation to meet allowable outdoor and indoor noise exposure standards in Table 8-6 [Table 



61 

4.11-13]. Noise mitigation measures that may be approved to achieve these noise level targets 

include but are not limited to the following: 

• Construct facades with  sound insulation to achieve acceptable interior noise; 

• Use sound-rated windows for primary sleeping and activity areas; 

• Use sound-rated doors for all exterior entries at primary sleeping and activity areas; 

• Use setbacks and/or sound  barriers where applicable, feasible, and reasonable; 

• Use acoustic baffling of vents for chimneys, attic and gable ends; 

• Install a mechanical ventilation system that provides fresh air under closed window 

conditions; and 

• Maximize site design so that buildings shelter outdoor areas. 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.11-2b – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new policies: 

Policy 8.G.13 Noise Attenuation Barriers. Noise attenuation barriers are strongly 

discouraged, except to attenuate noise for existing developed uses, and may be used in the context 

of new developments only when no other approach to noise mitigation is feasible. 

Policy 8.G.14 Vehicle Traffic. New developments shall disperse vehicular traffic onto a 

network of fully connected smaller roadways and minimize funneling of local traffic onto large-

volume, high-speed roadways near existing or planned noise-sensitive land uses to the maximum 

extent feasible. 

Policy 8.G.15 Operational Noise. In new development areas, service, utility, loading areas, 

roof-mounted equipment, and noise-generating equipment shall be screened, designed, and located 

to reduce visibility and noise for surrounding properties and pedestrian areas. 

 

The policies referenced above would reduce long-term noise exposure impacts by establishing noise 

compatibility standards and requiring new development to include certain measures and strategies to 

achieve acceptable noise environments, wherever feasible. The Proposed Project provides options for 

different mitigation strategies and performance standards designed to avoid significant adverse noise 

exposure impacts. The effectiveness of the noise control strategy to bring the desired reduction in noise 

exposure depends on the physical characteristics of the development and existing surrounding 

environment. With the proposed intensification of land uses in Woodland, especially Downtown and along 

key corridors, noise control will be an increasing consideration for new development, particularly for infill 

projects. However, urban development generally experiences greater ambient (background) noise than 

rural areas and residents, employees, and visitors to more urban environments would generally be expected 

to be acclimated to relatively noisier conditions. In order to achieve the increased levels of density and 

development intensity outlined in this 2035 General Plan, somewhat greater ambient noise levels must be 

acknowledged and accepted. The noise standards established in the 2035 General Plan accept 70 dB as 

being in the “normally acceptable” range for residential uses, as compared with 60 dB in the previous 

2002 General Plan. This policy supports the development of infill projects Downtown and along key 

corridors by setting a realistic, achievable threshold of impact for new development that acknowledges 

the somewhat greater noise levels associated with a vibrant, urban environment in appropriate locations. 

This policy could result in a greater number of new noise sensitive uses that are exposed to ambient noise 

levels between 60 dB and 70 dB compared to what may have occurred under the previous General Plan.  

 

Similarly, Policy 8.G.7 addresses acceptable noise levels associated with roadway improvement projects, 

changing from 60 dB to 70 dB areas where an increase in 5 dB increase is considered significant; 

increasing from 60-65 to 70-75 areas where an increase of 3 dB is considered significant; and increasing 

from greater than 65 to greater than 75 areas where a 1.5 dB increase is considered significant. This policy 



62 

change from the 2002 General Plan relaxes the baseline against which noise increases attributable to 

roadway improvement projects are assessed.  

 

Policies in the 2035 General Plan establish noise performance standards and require feasible mitigation. 

Implementation of policies in the Proposed Project, as described above, would reduce the potential for 

significant noise exposure impacts. Although the policies are designed to avoid substantial disturbances 

to noise-sensitive receptors, the City anticipates that, despite implementation of feasible noise reduction 

strategies, noise-sensitive uses could be exposed to noise in exceedance of the City’s standards, including 

noise generated by new development anticipated under the Proposed Project. The City cannot demonstrate 

at this time that policies in the Proposed Project would reduce impacts of each project and upon each 

project that could be developed under the 2035 General Plan to a less-than-significant level (FEIR, p. 

4.11-60). 

 

The impact would remain significant and unavoidable (FEIR, p. 4.11-60). As described in Section VIII, 

specific social, economic, and environmental benefits of the Project outweigh the identified potential 

unavoidable significant impacts.  

 

Impact 4.11-3: Exposure to or Generation of Vibration.  

 

Finding: Construction of projects under the Proposed Project could cause temporary, short-term 

disruptive vibration for locations near sensitive receptors. Under the Proposed Project, future development 

of new vibration-sensitive land uses could occur within vibration-generating areas (e.g., railroads). This 

impact is considered significant. Mitigation is included (FEIR, pp. 4.11-62 and 4.11-63). 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.11-3a – The 2035 General Plan should be amended to include the following 

new implementation program (Implementation Program Vibration 1) 

a. New development that proposes the use of piles for foundations shall include all 

feasible measures necessary with the goal to ensure that vibration exposure for adjacent buildings 

is less than 0.5 PPV and less than 80 VdB for adjacent vibration-sensitive uses and less than 0.2 

PPV for adjacent historic buildings. These performance standards shall take into account the 

reduction in vibration exposure that would occur through coupling loss provided by each affected 

building structure. If it is determined necessary to avoid damage, the project applicant shall 

coordinate with the Chief Building Official to implement corrective actions, which may include, 

but is not limited to building protection or stabilization.  

b. New developments that would generate substantial long-term vibration shall 

provide analysis and mitigation, as feasible, to achieve velocity levels, as experienced at habitable 

structures of vibration-sensitive land uses, of less than 80 vibration decibels. 

 

Mitigation Measure 4.11-3b – Implement Mitigation Measure 4.11-1 

 

As described above, the new implementation programs require use of project-specific vibration mitigation 

measures (preparation of vibration analysis and implementation of vibration abatement measures, as 

necessary and to the greatest extent feasible) and best practices during construction to mitigate vibration 

impacts to sensitive land uses. Implementation would reduce the potential for vibration levels in areas of 

new vibration-sensitive land uses and the level of impact associated with temporary construction-related 

vibration exposure for sensitive uses. However, the City cannot determine at this time that potentially 

significant vibration-related impacts would be avoided in every instance. There is no additional feasible 

mitigation (FEIR, p. 4.11-63).  

 



63 

The impact would remain significant and unavoidable (FEIR, p. 4.11-63). As described in Section VIII, 

specific social, economic, and environmental benefits of the Project outweigh the identified potential 

unavoidable significant impacts.  

 

C. Mandatory Findings of Significance 

CEQA Guidelines Section 15065(a) states that a project may have a significant effect on the environment 

when one of the following four conditions occurs:  
 

(1) The project has the potential to substantially degrade the quality of the environment, 

substantially reduce the habitat of a fish or wildlife species, cause a fish or wildlife population to 

drop below self-sustaining levels, threaten to eliminate a plant or animal community, substantially 

reduce the number or restrict the range of an endangered, rare, or threatened species, or eliminate 

important examples of the major periods of California history or prehistory. 

 

(2) The project has the potential to achieve short-term environmental goals to the disadvantage 

of long-term environmental goals. 

 

(3)  The project has possible environmental effects that are individually limited but 

cumulatively considerable, which means that the incremental effects of an individual project are 

significant when viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, the effects of other current 

projects, and the effects of probable future projects.  

 

(4) The environmental effects of a project will cause substantial adverse effects on human 

beings, either directly or indirectly.  

 

Section 15061(a)(1) states that a lead agency shall find that a project may have a significant effect on the 

environment when there is substantial evidence that the project has the potential to (1) substantially reduce 

the habitat of a fish or wildlife species; (2) cause a fish or wildlife population to drop below self-sustaining 

levels; (3) substantially reduce the number or restrict the range of an endangered, rare, or threatened 

species; or (4) eliminate important examples of major periods of California history or prehistory. The EIR 

fully addresses any impacts that might relate to reduction of habitat and the effect on species. Impacts 

related to wildlife and plant species are addressed under Impacts 4.4-1, 4.4-2, 4.4-3, 4.4-4, and 4.4-8, and 

as outlined above, impacts are less than significant with mitigation. Historic and prehistoric impacts are 

addressed under Impact 4.6-1 and 4.6-2 and, as outlined above, impacts are significant and unavoidable.  
 

Section 15061(a)(2) states that a lead agency shall find that a project may have a significant effect on the 

environment when there is substantial evidence that the project has the potential to achieve short-term 

environmental goals to the disadvantage of long-term environmental goals. Chapter 6 of the EIR includes 

a section on Significant Irreversible Environmental Effects of the Proposed Project. In addition, Section 

6.4 of the EIR identifies all significant and unavoidable impacts that could occur and create a long-term 

impact on the environment. Finally, Chapter 6 of the EIR also identifies any long-term environmental 

impacts caused by the Proposed Project. 
 

Section 15061(a)(3) states that a lead agency shall find that a project may have a significant effect on the 

environment when there is substantial evidence that the project has potential environmental effects that 

are individually limited but cumulatively considerable. This means that the “incremental effects of an 

individual project are significant when viewed in connection with the effects of past projects, the effects 



64 

of other current projects, and the effects of probably future projects.” Cumulative impacts are addressed 

for each of the environmental topics in the EIR and are discussed in Chapter 6 of the EIR.  

 

Section 15065(a)(4) requires a lead agency to find that a project will have a significant effect on the 

environment when there is substantial evidence that the project has the potential to cause substantial 

adverse effects on human beings, either directly or indirectly. This factor relates to effects to the 

environment on human beings generally but not to effects on specific individuals. Any of the 

environmental effects analyzed in the EIR could cause adverse impacts to human beings, but all impacts 

that could directly affect human beings (such as aesthetics, air quality, hazardous materials, hydrology, 

flooding, and water quality, noise and vibration, and transportation) were examined in Chapter 4 of the 

EIR. 

 
The City Council therefore finds that the EIR for the Proposed Project has analyzed all four mandatory findings of 

significance.  

 

D. Mitigation Monitoring and Reporting Program 

Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15091(d), the City has included all feasible mitigation measures 

that avoid or substantially lessen the potentially significant and significant effects of the Proposed Project 

as policies or implementation programs. Public Resources Code Section 21081.6(b) and CEQA 

Guidelines Section 15097(b) establish that when the project examined in an EIR is a general plan, 

mitigation measures may be incorporated into the plan. This is the approach taken by the City. These 

mitigation measures are fully enforceable by the City Council. As such, the General Plan and CAP are 

considered self-mitigating, and the only action required for full implementation of the MMRP is adoption 

of the General Plan and CAP. 

 

The MMRP includes Table 2-1, which contains the final revised summary of the impacts and mitigation 

measures, and is simultaneously being adopted by the City Council with its Resolution Certifying the EIR 

for the Proposed Project.  

 

E. Growth Inducement 

Chapter 6, “Other CEQA Considerations,” of the Draft EIR provides a discussion of the growth-inducing 

impacts of the 2035 General Plan pursuant to Section 15126.2(d) of the CEQA Guidelines. The 2035 CAP 

would not create any growth-inducing impacts as it does not propose development or land use changes, 

does not propose infrastructure that would induce development, and does not include components that 

could induce growth. Rather, it provides a roadmap for reducing emissions of GHG emissions to achieve 

specified targets over time. 

 

The EIR analysis points out that by definition, the 2035 General Plan is intended to provide for, and 

address future growth in the City. The goals, policies, and implementation programs of the 2035 General 

Plan provide a framework for long-term growth and conservation within the City’s Planning Area. The 

General Plan is required by State law to be long-term in its focus, addressing physical development within 

and outside the City’s jurisdiction that is related to the City’s planning. 

 

Revisions to the General Plan are required in order to address long-range goals related to land use, 

transportation, public health and safety, housing, open space and conservation, economic development, 

fiscal sustainability, climate change, and other topics that are a focus of the Final 2035 General Plan. The 

environmental consequences related to the potential for direct growth are analyzed throughout Chapter 4, 



65 

“Environmental Impact Analysis,” of the Draft EIR and discussed herein in Section VII.C (Significant 

Effects and Mitigation Measures). Other indirect growth-inducing impacts are analyzed including the 

following: (1) inducement of substantial unanticipated population growth; (2) economic expansion 

resulting in jobs and housing growth; (3) elimination of obstacles to growth; and (4) result in service, 

facility, or infrastructure demand. 

 

The growth inducement analysis states that with the amount of new development planned under the 2035 

General Plan, it is possible that, through expansion of job opportunities or other aspects of the 2035 

General Plan, growth elsewhere could be facilitated. If jobs are created that cause people to move to the 

Planning Area or nearby communities and create a demand for housing construction beyond that provided 

under the 2035 General Plan, the 2035 General Plan could be considered growth inducing. 

 

The EIR analysis states that whether or not obstacles to growth are eliminated relates to the extent to which 

the 2035 General Plan would increase infrastructure capacity or change the regulatory structure such that 

additional development beyond that assumed in the EIR would be facilitated. A physical obstacle to 

growth typically involves insufficient or no infrastructure and insufficient public service capacity. The 

extension of public service infrastructure (e.g., roadways, water and sewer lines) into areas that are not 

currently provided with these services would be expected to support new development. Similarly, the 

elimination or change to a regulatory obstacle, including existing growth and development policies, could 

result in new growth. With respect to the Proposed Project, development in new growth areas is 

anticipated. Therefore, the 2035 General Plan would facilitate elimination of growth obstacles that would 

result in new growth. 

 

The 2035 General Plan does anticipate development of currently undeveloped areas. This could result in 

infrastructure being extended into areas that are currently undeveloped and result in pressure to plan for 

and entitle development beyond that anticipated under the 2035 General Plan. The 2035 General Plan 

includes policies for both infill and new development that would avoid unplanned development that could 

be induced through infrastructure expansions into new growth areas. This reduces the potential for 

unplanned, induced growth. An important consideration that limits growth within the City is the City’s 

urban limit line, which sets an ultimate boundary around the City. Because the urban limit line was 

approved as a voter initiative in 2006, the urban limit line may only be modified by another vote by the 

people. Additionally, the initiative measure approving the urban limit line also places restrictions on the 

provision of services outside of the urban limit line. Both parts of this initiative provide an effective 

constraint to induced growth outside of the City’s boundaries. 

 

However, the EIR analysis concludes that it is possible for the Proposed Project to induce growth that 

could have indirect effects. The analysis concludes that the purpose of the 2035 General Plan is to provide 

for future development of new housing and employment opportunities. The EIR concludes that the indirect 

effects on the environment would have a significant and unavoidable impact, and there are no feasible 

mitigation measures beyond those already embodied in the Final 2035 General Plan to reduce this impact 

to a less-than-significant level without changing the purposes of the 2035 General Plan. The City Council 

finds that due to the overriding considerations set forth in Section VIII below, the benefits of the Proposed 

Project outweigh its growth-inducing impacts.  

 

F. Significant Irreversible Environmental Changes 

Chapter 6.0, “Other CEQA Considerations,” of the Draft EIR examines “significant irreversible 

environmental changes” pursuant to Section 15126.2(c) of the CEQA Guidelines. The Proposed Project 

includes both the 2035 General Plan and the 2035 CAP. The CAP is designed to reduce impacts associated 



66 

with GHG emissions and will provide air quality and other benefits. The 2035 CAP will not create any 

significant irreversible environmental impacts.  

 

However, development allowed under the 2035 General Plan is identified as contributing to the following 

significant irreversible environmental changes: (1) changes in land use which would commit future 

generations; (2) irreversible changes from environmental actions; and (3) consumption of non-renewable 

resources. 

 

Specifically, the EIR analysis identifies the following items as significant and unavoidable outcomes of 

implementation of the 2035 General Plan for which there are no known additional feasible mitigation 

measures beyond those already embodied in the Final General Plan: urban development in areas the 

previous 2002 General Plan designated urban reserve; irreversible loss of agricultural land and existing 

wildlife habitats; environmental disturbance from development; increased traffic, air pollution, GHG 

emissions, and noise; use of non-renewable resources during construction, such as lumber and other forest 

products, sand and gravel, asphalt, petrochemical construction materials, steel, copper, lead, and water; 

potential for accidental release of hazardous materials; and nonrenewable energy use. 

 

The EIR concludes that there is no feasible mitigation without changing the 2035 General Plan purposes 

and that the impacts are significant and unavoidable. However, and as explained below in Section VIII of 

these Findings, the City Council finds that the benefits of the Proposed Project outweigh the significant 

and unavoidable growth-inducing effects caused by the Proposed Project.  

 

G. Cumulative Impacts 

 

CEQA Guideline 15130(b)(1) requires an EIR to either analyze (a) a list of past, present, and probable 

future projects producing related or cumulative impacts, including, if necessary, projects outside of the 

agency’s control or (b) a summary of projections contained in an adopted local, regional, or statewide 

plan, or related planning document, that describes or evaluates conditions contributing to the cumulative 

effect. These plans may include a general plan, a regional transportation plan, or plans for the reduction 

of greenhouse gas emissions. The summary of projections may also be contained in an adopted or certified 

prior environmental document for one of these plans, and the projections may be supplemented with 

additional information.  

 

Chapter 6.0, “Other CEQA Considerations,” of the EIR contains an analysis of the cumulative impacts, 

pursuant to Section 15130 of the CEQA Guidelines. The analysis in the  EIR uses the second method 

described above, the “plan method,” and  analyzes cumulative issues based on regional growth projections. 

The analysis examines population, housing, and employment growth for the six-county Sacramento Area 

Council of Governments (SACOG) region, which includes the City of Woodland. SACOG’s Metropolitan 

Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy (MTP/SCS) includes a regional-scale land use 

change scenario covering the period from 2012 to 2036. This represents past, present, and probable future 

projects that may have impacts to which the Proposed Project would contribute (past, present, and future 

projects are collectively known as the “Cumulative Context”). 

 

The Cumulative Scenario for the Proposed Project considers buildout of the City’s Planning Area if all 

vacant and underutilized parcels within the Planning Area developed. Regional cumulative impacts are 

analyzed within each CEQA issue area and contribution of buildout of the City’s Planning Area in each 

impact area is considered. The following conclusions are reached: 

 



67 

1. Aesthetics and Visual Resources 
 

Implementation of the Cumulative Scenario would allow for greater density and development intensity in 

certain infill areas – particularly areas designated Downtown Mixed Use and Corridor Mixed Use under 

the Final 2035 General Plan. Taller or larger buildings do not necessarily constitute a visual impact. In 

addition to adding uses and density, new investment in urban infill areas typically improves visual quality 

by developing vacant or underutilized properties and improving maintenance of existing structures and 

yards. Nonetheless, the Cumulative Scenario would change the visual character of the Planning Area, 

which would be perceived within the Planning Area, as well as from adjacent areas. In addition, the 

Cumulative Scenario would contribute nighttime light to the already increasing amount of light pollution 

in the region. Mitigation measures in Section 4.1, “Aesthetics and Visual Resources,” of the EIR and 2035 

General Plan policies establish high standards for design and compatibility with a project’s surroundings; 

however, there is no feasible mitigation that would avoid changing the visual character of the Planning 

Area while also allowing the City to accomplish its Vision and Guiding Principles for the 2035 General 

Plan. The Proposed Project would make a cumulatively considerable contribution to significant 

cumulative regional impacts. The cumulative impact is significant and unavoidable. However, and as 

explained below in Section VIII, the benefits of the Proposed Project outweigh the significant and 

unavoidable environmental effects of these cumulative impacts.  

 

2. Agricultural Resources 
 

The conversion of farmland in the region constitutes a significant cumulative impact. As described in 

Section 4.2, “Agriculture and Forestry Resources,” of the Draft EIR, multiple policies are identified in the 

2035 General Plan to manage agricultural land conversion, including an ULL that is designed to protect 

agricultural land surrounding the City limits, which would reduce the potential impact associated with 

conversion of agricultural land. The 2035 General Plan also requires mitigation for lost farmland within 

the ULL at a rate of one acre of permanently conserved farmland for every acre converted to urban 

development or non-agricultural uses. Notwithstanding these policies, there is no feasible mitigation that 

would allow the City to implement the 2035 General Plan according to the City’s Vision and Guiding 

Principles, while also avoiding the conversion of farmland. No additional feasible mitigation, in addition 

to those discussed above, are available to further reduce the impact. The conversion of farmland that would 

occur under the Cumulative Scenario will contribute to the loss of agricultural land in the region, which 

is an irreversible loss of a shared and finite resource. The loss of farmland associated with the Cumulative 

Scenario makes a cumulatively considerable contribution, and the impact is considered significant and 

unavoidable. However, and as explained below in Section VIII, the benefits of the Proposed Project 

outweigh the significant and unavoidable environmental effects of these cumulative impacts.  

 

3. Air Quality 
 

By its nature, air pollution has cumulative impacts. The implementation of plans and projects within the 

Sacramento Valley Air Basin would contribute to this impact on a cumulative basis, and this regional 

impact is a significant cumulative impact. The Cumulative Scenario of the Proposed Project would 

generate construction-related and operational criteria air pollutants and precursor emissions that would 

exceed Yolo-Solano Air Quality Management District’s thresholds of significance. This is a cumulatively 

considerable contribution to a significant cumulative impact. The 2035 General Plan policies, mitigation 

included in Section 4.3, “Air Quality,” of the Draft EIR, and strategies outlined in the 2035 CAP will 

reduce emissions, but it is not possible to demonstrate with reasonable certainty that emissions would be 

reduced below applicable thresholds. There is no additional feasible mitigation. As a result, this 

cumulative impact is significant and unavoidable. However, and as explained below in Section VIII, the 



68 

benefits of the Proposed Project outweigh the significant and unavoidable environmental effects of these 

cumulative impacts. 

 

Existing toxic air contaminant sources in the Planning Area include mobile sources, stationary sources, 

and areawide sources, which all cumulatively contribute to the existing toxic air contaminant 

concentrations and the associated health risk. Implementation of the Cumulative Scenario of the Proposed 

Project would generate additional vehicle trips within the Planning Area that would increase vehicle 

volumes at local intersections. The 2035 General Plan includes policies that would require buffers between 

sensitive land uses and sources of toxic air contaminants (TACs), and Section 4.3 of the Draft EIR 

recommends detailed mitigation that would ensure against exposure of sensitive receptors to substantial 

pollutant concentrations – both as a result of construction and operation of the Proposed Project. As a 

result, this impact is less than cumulatively considerable.  

 

4. Biological Resources 
 

Adverse regional impacts on palmate-bracted bird’s beak, vernal pool habitat and associated vernal pool 

species, and alkali prairie sink habitat, giant garter snake, and Swainson’s hawk are considered significant 

cumulative impacts. Buildout of the Cumulative Scenario would preserve the remaining occurrences of 

palmate-bracted bird’s beak; preserve the known remaining vernal pool habitat and vernal pool species, 

including vernal pool fairy shrimp, vernal pool tadpole shrimp, and California tiger salamander; and 

preserve both the known remaining alkali prairie/sink habitat and the majority of known occurrences of 

special-status plant species, including alkali milk-vetch, brittlescale, San Joaquin spearscale, and 

Heckard’s peppergrass, in the Planning Area. Therefore, implementing the Cumulative Scenario would 

not have a cumulatively considerable contribution to significant cumulative impacts. Impacts associated 

with loss of palmate-bracted bird’s beak, loss of vernal pool habitat and associated vernal pool species, 

and loss of special-status species associated with alkali prairie sink habitat are less than cumulatively 

considerable.  

 

With successful implementation of the 2035 General Plan policies, mitigation measures in Section 4.4 of 

the EIR, “Biological Resources,” and compliance with existing State and federal regulations, the 

Cumulative Scenario of the Proposed Project would not have a cumulatively considerable contribution to 

the giant garter snake or Swainson’s hawk. Impacts associated with the loss of giant garter snake and 

Swainson’s hawk are less than cumulatively considerable. 

 

5. Climate Change, Greenhouse Gas Emissions, and Energy 
 

The Cumulative Scenario would result in GHG emissions associated with construction and long-term 

operations. The Proposed Project commits the City to revisiting the emissions inventory and CAP 

reduction strategies when new information is available and making appropriate changes. Policies in the 

2035 General Plan, reduction strategies in the 2035 CAP, and mitigation identified in Section 4.5 of the 

EIR, “Climate Change, Greenhouse Gas Emissions, and Energy,” of the Draft EIR will reduce local GHG 

emissions and commit the City to adjust policies and reduction measures, as needed, when future 

information related to the State’s efforts become available. In addition, Mitigation Measure 4.5-1a 

provides additional clarity and requires the City to maintain and revise, as necessary, a Climate Action 

Plan that would achieve local emission rates for relevant emission sectors consistent with the State’s own 

reduction targets outlined in AB 32, Executive Order B-30-15, SB 32, and Executive Order S-3-05. The 

City will update GHG inventories, evaluate the performance of individual strategies, evaluate progress 

toward the City’s reduction targets, and make revisions to strategies, as necessary, to ensure that the City 

will achieve its targets. With mitigation, the impact is less than cumulatively considerable.  



69 

 

Under the Cumulative Scenario, the City does not anticipate any unusual or atypical project characteristics 

that would generate the need for construction equipment that would be less energy-efficient than at 

comparable construction sites in other parts of the region or state. In addition, the Cumulative Scenario 

includes developments that would improve overall energy efficiency (energy demand per unit of 

development – per capita and per square footage of non-residential development, for example). The 

Cumulative Scenario would not be expected to cause the inefficient, wasteful, or unnecessary consumption 

of energy. Furthermore, by adhering to the policies proposed in the 2035 General Plan, as well as all 

applicable State and federal requirements pertaining to energy facilities construction and operation, and 

mitigation imposed in the Draft EIR, impacts associated with construction and operation of energy 

facilities to meet Cumulative Scenario demands would be substantially reduced. This impact is less than 

cumulatively considerable. 

 

6. Cultural Resources 
 

Future development and infrastructure improvements associated with the Cumulative Scenario could 

result in significant impacts to historical resources and archaeological resources through either direct 

physical impacts or by indirect impacts. Though record searches did not identify known archaeological 

resources in the Planning Area, the broader vicinity does have sensitivity for undiscovered resources. 

When projects occur in existing developed areas, and depending on the context, development could add 

incompatible architectural elements; diminish the historic integrity of a cultural resources setting, feeling, 

or association; or destroy the historic character of a property. Although the policies of the 2035 General 

Plan and mitigation proposed in Section 4.6, “Cultural Resources,” of the EIR will minimize the severity 

of significant impacts associated with the above described changes, impacts cannot altogether be avoided. 

Therefore, the Cumulative Scenario would have a cumulatively considerable contribution to the 

significant cumulative impact related to cultural resources. This cumulative impact is significant and 

unavoidable. However, and as explained below in Section VIII, the benefits of the Proposed Project 

outweigh the significant and unavoidable environmental effects of these cumulative impacts. 

 

7. Geology, Soils, Mineral Resources, and Paleontological Resources 
 

Construction activities associated with the Cumulative Scenario would result in substantial grading, 

excavation, and movement of earth associated with site preparation activities. These activities would 

increase soil erosion, especially from wind and water, and increase the potential for siltation of local 

drainages. All applicable projects are required to comply with the California Building Code, City of 

Woodland Stormwater Management Program and National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System 

(NPDES) regulations, including construction site storm water pollution prevention plans (SWPPPs) and 

best management practices (BMPs). Therefore, the cumulative effects associated with geology and soils 

would be less than cumulatively considerable. In addition, with implementation of 2035 General Plan 

policies and mitigation described in Section 4.7 of the EIR, “Geology, Soils, Mineral Resources, and 

Paleontological Resources,” the impacts of the Cumulative Scenario on paleontological resources would 

be less than cumulatively considerable. 

 

8. Hazards and Hazardous Material 
 

Hazardous materials and other public health and safety issues are generally site-specific and would not be 

significantly affected by other development in the region. The Cumulative Scenario anticipates growth 

that will likely result in an increase in routine use, transportation, and disposal of hazardous materials, as 

well as handling of hazardous materials near existing or proposed schools. In addition, the Cumulative 



70 

Scenario would result in development within the Airport Land Use Commission (ALCU) policy area 

boundaries. However, existing federal, State, and local regulations and implementation of 2035 General 

Plan policies enforce standards for the routine use, transportation, and disposal of hazardous materials and 

land uses within the ALCU boundaries. Therefore, the cumulative effects associated with hazards and 

hazardous materials would be less than cumulatively considerable. 

 

9. Hydrology and Water Quality 
 

Projects that could be facilitated under the Cumulative Scenario are subject to City’s Phase II Municipal 

Separate Storm Sewer System (MS4) permit requirements that would require developments to minimize 

the area of impervious surfaces and infiltrate or reuse storm runoff from project sites so that there would 

not be an increase in flow volume compared to pre-project conditions. There is no cumulatively 

considerable contribution to any significant cumulative impact associated with long-term water 

quality or groundwater recharge. 

 

Although the Cumulative Scenario anticipates more growth in these areas than under the Proposed Project, 

the amount of growth in these areas is not relevant to this impact analysis because proposed Policy 2.B.2 

applies at all intensities of buildout in SP-2 and SP-3A. The implementation of the Cumulative Scenario 

would not increase or add to the impacts already discussed in Section 4.9 of the EIR, “Hydrology, 

Flooding, and Water Quality.” In addition, Policy 8.B.6 requires that structures would not redirect flows 

onto adjacent properties. Similar to Policy 2.B.2, Policy 8.B.6 applies to all development. The Cumulative 

Scenario makes a less than cumulatively considerable contribution to this potentially significant 

cumulative impact for flood hazard areas. 

 

However, under the Cumulative Scenario, the City anticipates development in the levee inundation area 

and cannot guarantee that levees will not fail. The Cumulative Scenario would make a cumulatively 

considerable contribution to this significant cumulative impact. There is no additional feasible mitigation 

beyond that proposed in the 2035 General Plan to address this impact. This cumulative impact in dam and 

levee inundation areas is significant and unavoidable. However, and as explained below in Section VIII, 

the benefits of the Proposed Project outweigh the significant and unavoidable environmental effects of 

these cumulative impacts. 

 

10. Land Use Planning, Population, and Housing 
 

There are no significant cumulative impacts regarding land use planning; therefore, the Cumulative 

Scenario would not have any cumulatively considerable contribution to a significant cumulative impact. 

However, the population, housing, and employment projections under the Cumulative Scenario would be 

substantially larger than the SACOG projections. If non-residential development is attracted to Woodland 

beyond the levels currently forecast by SACOG, this could attract additional residential development to 

the Planning Area, as new residents seek opportunities to live near their new jobs. Policies in the 2035 

General Plan and mitigation described within the environmental topic-specific sections of the Draft EIR 

reduce potential effects associated with both residential and non-residential development within the 

Planning Area assumed under the Cumulative Scenario. The City’s Urban Limit Line (ULL) and 

associated policies are designed to manage growth within the Planning Area to avoid adverse effects, such 

as unplanned development indirectly facilitated by planned development within the ULL. The City’s ULL 

can only be modified by the voters. While the voter-approved ULL prevents conversion of additional 

agricultural land outside of the ULL, the City could increase land use density/intensity to allow for 

additional development to meet demand and/or neighboring jurisdictions may experience increased 

demand for additional development as a result. For these reasons, this cumulative impact is significant 



71 

and unavoidable. However, and as explained below in Section VIII, the benefits of the Proposed Project 

outweigh the significant and unavoidable environmental effects of these cumulative impacts. 

 

11. Noise and Vibration 
 

Noise is generally a localized impact that does not have regional or cumulative considerations. Stationary 

noise sources within Woodland’s Planning Area would not generally combine with noise sources outside 

the Planning Area to create a cumulative increase in stationary noise. However, development forecast 

under the MTP/SCS would generate and attract vehicular travel along roadways located throughout the 

region, including within and near the City’s Planning Area, which would combine with traffic associated 

with development in the Planning Area to increase vehicular traffic noise in areas directly adjacent to 

travelways. Implementation of policies in the 2035 General Plan and mitigation described in Section 4.11, 

“Noise and Vibration,” of the Draft EIR would reduce the potential for noise exposure for noise-sensitive 

land uses – both existing and future planned noise-sensitive uses. While in most locations and for most 

projects, compliance with General Plan policies and EIR mitigation would reduce ambient noise levels to 

acceptable levels, it is not possible to demonstrate with reasonable certainty at this time that no significant 

noise exposure impacts could occur within the Planning Area as a result of the Cumulative Scenario. In 

addition, it is possible that traffic generated under the Cumulative Scenario could combine with traffic 

generated by existing and future development throughout the SACOG region to increase vehicular traffic 

noise along regional roadways to levels that are deemed unacceptable to Yolo County, Sacramento 

County, the City of Sacramento, and other local agencies in the region. There is no additional feasible 

mitigation. The cumulative impact is significant and unavoidable. However, and as explained below in 

Section VIII, the benefits of the Proposed Project outweigh the significant and unavoidable environmental 

effects of these cumulative impacts. 

 

12. Public Services and Recreation 
 

Public services are generally provided by local governments and/or special districts for areas within their 

jurisdiction and are not provided on a regional basis. The Cumulative Scenario includes changes in land 

use and the density and intensity of development that would create demand for new fire protection 

services, law enforcement and emergency services, school facilities, and parks in the Planning Area. The 

2035 General Plan includes policies to ensure that sufficient fire, police, and school facilities and services, 

as well as sufficient parks and recreation facilities are provided to serve additional growth. Therefore, 

cumulative impacts on public services would be less than cumulatively considerable. 

 

13. Transportation and Circulation 
 

The Cumulative Scenario is expected to result in 33 roadway segments with level of service (LOS) D, one 

with LOS E, and one with LOS F. The only unacceptable LOS condition would occur on East Gum 

Avenue from Bourn Drive to Pioneer Avenue. This segment is projected to operate at LOS F under the 

Cumulative Scenario, while the acceptable LOS threshold is LOS C. The traffic volume growth on this 

segment is over 100 peak hour trips. Implementing Mitigation Measure 4.13-1a in Section 4.13, 

“Transportation and Circulation,” of the Draft EIR would reduce the impact. This impact is less than 

cumulatively considerable.  

 

14. Utilities and Service Systems 
 

The Proposed Project’s contribution to the Cumulative Scenario associated with the provision of utilities 

and service systems are considered below: 



72 

 

a. Water Supply and Infrastructure  
 

The City has not analyzed the availability of water supply beyond the population anticipated from the 

Proposed Project through 2035. Therefore, it is possible the water demand from the Cumulative Scenario 

may exceed supply. Because the City has not analyzed the water supply for the Cumulative Scenario and 

cannot state with any certainty what impact on water supply new development will have, this is assumed 

to be a cumulatively considerable contribution. There is a potential significant and unavoidable impact. 

However, and as explained below in Section VIII, the benefits of the Proposed Project outweigh the 

significant and unavoidable environmental effects of these cumulative impacts. 

 

b. Wastewater  
 

Implementation of the Cumulative Scenario would result in increased development and therefore greater 

amounts of wastewater effluent. The projected future capacity of the Water Pollution Control Facility, 

which treats Woodland’s wastewater, could serve up to 105,000 residents and is sufficient to serve growth 

under the Cumulative Scenario. The sewer system capacity in the Downtown area currently faces capacity 

constraints, but the City has plans to improve the system capacity with a new sewer line. In addition, 

Policy 5.F.1 of the 2035 General Plan ensures that sufficient public facilities and services will be available 

to serve new development. Therefore, the Cumulative Scenario makes a less than cumulatively 

considerable contribution to the potentially significant cumulative impact. 

 

15. Solid Waste  
 

Solid waste management is generally provided by the respective counties and not on a regional basis. Yolo 

County Central Landfill’s disposal capacity is sufficient to absorb that increase, as well as projected 

increases from population growth in the rest of the County. Furthermore, the 2035 General Plan and 2035 

CAP include policies to reduce solid waste disposal needs through encouraging the development of 

regional and community-based recycling facilities and secondary resource businesses, and through the 

promotion of waste reduction measures to Woodland residents and businesses. Therefore, the Cumulative 

Scenario makes a less than cumulatively considerable contribution to the less than significant 

cumulative impact. 

 

VII. PROJECT ALTERNATIVES 
 

When a lead agency has determined that, even with the adoption of all feasible mitigation measures, a 

proposed project would still cause one or more significant environmental effects that cannot be 

substantially lessened or avoided, the agency, prior to approving the project as mitigated, must first 

determine whether, with respect to such impacts, there remain any project alternatives that are both 

environmentally superior and feasible within the meaning of CEQA. An alternative may be “infeasible” 

if it fails to fully promote the lead agency’s underlying goals and objectives with respect to the project.  

 

When significant effects are identified in the EIR for the project, CEQA Guideline section 15126.6 

requires the EIR to consider and discuss alternatives to the proposed actions as a way of avoiding the 

significant effects. Subdivision (a) states:  

 

An EIR shall describe a range of reasonable alternatives to the project, or to the location of 

the project, which would feasibly attain most of the basic objectives of the project but 

would avoid or substantially lessen any of the significant effects of the project, and evaluate 



73 

the comparative merits of the alternatives. An EIR need not consider every conceivable 

alternative to a project. Rather it must consider a reasonable range of potentially feasible 

alternatives that will foster informed decision making and public participation. An EIR is 

not required to consider alternatives which are infeasible. The Lead Agency is responsible 

for selecting a range of project alternatives for examination and must publicly disclose its 

reasoning for selecting those alternatives. There is no ironclad rule governing the nature or 

scope of the alternatives to be discussed other than the rule of reason.  

 

Subdivision (b) states the purpose of the alternatives analysis is to discuss alternatives to the project or its 

location that are capable of avoiding or substantially lessening any significant effects of the project, even 

if the alternatives would impede, to some degree, the attainment of the project objectives or if the 

alternative or alternative location would be more costly.  

 

Subdivision (c) describes the selection process for a range of reasonable alternatives and states that the 

range must include those that could feasibly accomplish most of the project’s basic objectives and could 

avoid or substantially lessen one or more of the significant effects. The EIR must briefly describe the 

rationale for selecting the alternatives and identify alternatives that were considered by the lead agency 

but rejected as infeasible and briefly explain the agency’s reasons underlying that determination. Factors 

that may be used to eliminate alternatives from consideration include an alternative’s failure to meet most 

of the basic project objectives, infeasibility, or the inability to avoid significant environmental effects. 

Thus, the range of alternatives is governed by a “rule of reason” that requires the EIR to set forth only 

those alternatives necessary to allow a reasoned choice. The EIR must include enough information about 

each alternative to allow meaningful evaluation, analysis, and comparison with the Project. Alternatives 

are limited to ones that would avoid or substantially lessen any of the significant effects of the project. Of 

those alternatives, the EIR need examine only the ones that the lead agency determines could feasibly 

attain most of the basic project objectives.  

 

Under CEQA, “(f)easible means capable of being accomplished in a successful manner within a 

reasonable period of time, taking into account economic, environmental, legal, social, and technological 

factors” (CEQA Guidelines Section 15364.) The concept of feasibility permits agency decision-makers to 

consider the extent to which an alternative is able to meet some or all of a project’s objectives. In addition, 

the definition of feasibility encompasses desirability to the extent that an agency’s determination of 

infeasibility represents a reasonable balancing of competing economic, environmental, social, and 

technological factors. 

 

Section 15126.6(f) of the CEQA Guidelines provides a discussion of factors that can be taken into account 

in determining the feasibility of alternatives. These factors include: 

 

► Project objectives; 

► Avoid or substantially lessen significant effects; 

► Site suitability; 

► Other plans or regulatory limitations; 

► Economic viability; 

► Availability of infrastructure; 

► Jurisdictional boundaries/regional context; 

► Property ownership and control; and 

► Other reasons for rejecting as infeasible (e.g., effects cannot be reasonably ascertained or 

implementation is remote and speculative). 

 



74 

In accordance with CEQA Guidelines Section 15126.6, a reasonable range of alternatives to the Proposed 

Project are described in Section 5 of the EIR and summarized below.  

 

A. Proposed Project Objectives 

 

 1. 2035 General Plan 

 

 The Vision Statement and the Guiding Principles for the 2035 General Plan also serve as the 

objectives for it, as follows:  

 

 2035 General Plan Vision Statement: 

 

In 2035, Woodland is a highly desirable community to live, learn, work and recreate. It has 

maintained a small-town feel while maturing into an attractive, vibrant, and sustainable 

city that celebrates it architectural heritage and cultural diversity. Woodland is a healthy 

community with livable neighborhoods, a thriving downtown, well maintained 

infrastructure, excellent schools and recreational amenities connected by a seamless 

network of trails and paths.  

 

The city is the region’s center of agricultural technology and food production and is 

recognized globally as a leader in sustainable agriculture. The community is prosperous 

and fiscally sound, offering abundant employment opportunities to its diverse and creative 

workforce.  

 

Woodland has become a destination for visitors seeking to experience its unique 

agricultural, historical, recreational, cultural and entertainment amenities.  

 

2035 General Plan Guiding Principles:  

 

► Quality and Character: Retain and enhance Woodland’s quality of life, its distinctive identity and 

small-town characteristics. 

 

► Orderly Development: Promote new growth while achieving an orderly pattern of community 

development, consistent with economic, social, fiscal and environmental needs. 

 

► Historic Downtown: Strengthen the historic downtown district as the City’s center of shopping, 

dining, entertainment and employment. 

 

► Economic Development: Foster economic growth and diversification with a range of employment 

opportunities for all residents. 

 

► Mobility Options: Coordinate land use and transportation planning to provide a range of attractive 

and viable transportation options, such as bicycle, pedestrian, and transit. 

 

► Housing Choice: Provide a variety of housing types to meet the needs for all generations and income 

levels. 

 

► Agricultural Heritage: Preserve and protect prime agricultural lands and their uses within and 

surrounding the community. 



75 

 

► Safety: Ensure that Woodland remains a safe place to live, protected from natural and manmade 

hazards. 

 

► Environmental Stewardship: Foster a sustainable community for the next generation and protect and 

improve the quality of the natural environment. 

 

► Public Services: Provide realistic, supportable and appropriate levels of public service that are 

sustainable and fiscally sound. 

 

► Health and Recreation: Provide all residents with opportunities to live an active, healthy, and green 

lifestyle. 

 

► Quality Education: Foster quality educational and enrichment opportunities.  
 

2. 2035 CAP Objectives 

The 2035 CAP is organized into six focus area, each of which includes overarching strategies to achieve 

each objective and implementation actions for each strategy. The 2035 CAP objectives are as follows: 

 

► Energy: 

• Reduce Building Energy Use  

• Increase Renewable Energy Generation 

 

► Transportation and Land Use: 

• Implement Land Use Policies to Support Reduced Motor Vehicle Use 

• Reduce Vehicle Trip Mileage and Equipment Idling Emissions  

• Replace Gas and Diesel Vehicles with Alternative-Fuel Vehicles 

 

► Urban Forest and Open Space: 

• Increase Community Tree Canopy  

• Maintain and Enhance Open Space Environmental Values 

 

► Water and Solid Waste: 

• Reduce Per Capita Water Demand 

• Achieve 75 percent Landfill Waste Diversion 

• Achieve 90 percent Landfill Methane Capture 

 

► Public Involvement: 

• Build Community Engagement in CAP Implementation 

• Measure CAP Implementation Progress and Adjust Actions as Needed 

 

► Municipal Operations: 

• Incorporate Sustainable Practices into All City Operations 

• Reduce Emissions from Municipal Electricity Use by 80 percent or More  

• Reduce Vehicle Fleet and Employee Commute Emissions 

 

B. Alternatives Considered and Rejected  

 



76 

The City’s process of developing and analyzing alternatives to the Proposed Project began with the 

Development Scenarios Analysis report in April 2015, which was a part of the City’s general plan update 

process. The four different development scenarios set forth options to address the long-term physical 

growth and other community issues and priorities. The development scenarios analysis evaluated four 

development scenarios. Two of the scenarios eventually became the East Alternative and the South 

Alternative, which the EIR examined, and are explained more fully below.  

 

The other two scenarios, Scenarios 1 and 3, were rejected as possible development scenarios. Scenario 1 

considered development only on infill sites, primarily in the downtown area, along major existing 

transportation corridors, and in the Spring Lake Specific Plan Area. Scenario 1 would have provided for 

approximately 4,000 new housing units and 8,600 new jobs by 2035.  

 

Scenario 3 considered a moderate amount of infill development, in addition to new development in SP-

1A and SP-3. Scenario 3 would have provided for approximately 7,700 new housing units and 11,000 new 

jobs by 2035.  

 

The City evaluated each of the four scenarios for impacts to transportation, utility capacity, odor exposure, 

and fiscal repercussions to the City. This analysis was provided to, and discussed by, members in 

attendance at a public workshop, the General Plan Steering Committee at three separate meetings, the 

Planning Commission at two meetings, and one City Council hearing. The City rejected Scenario 1 

because it did not align with the City Council’s growth objectives, and it would have resulted in the highest 

Vehicle Miles Traveled per capita. The City rejected Scenario 3 because a large portion of land in SP-3 

would need to be reserved for a potential flood solution, leaving too little land available for development. 

This scenario also would have required moving an existing fire station and would have converted the most 

amount of Prime Farmland to urban uses. Thus, Scenarios 1 and 3 were incompatible with the City 

Council’s objectives for future growth and development within the Planning Area.  

 

C. Alternatives Analyzed in the EIR.  

 

1. No Project Alternative: Buildout of the 2002 General Plan and Implementation of 

the Preliminary 2020 Climate action Plan  

CEQA Guidelines Section 15126.6(e)(2) provides that an EIR’s evaluation of alternatives must include a 

“no project” scenario, which is “ . . . what is reasonably expected to occur in the foreseeable future if the 

[Proposed Project] were not approved, based on current plans and consistent with available infrastructure 

and community services.” This alternative assumes that the 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP would not 

be implemented and instead the City would build out as provided under the 2002 General Plan (as 

amended) and implement the Preliminary 2020 Climate Action Plan. The No Project Alternative plans for 

approximately 14,930 new residents, 5,420 new housing units, 5,545,000 new square feet of non-

residential building space, and 8,170 new jobs. This alternative is considered to be feasible as it is currently 

in effect as the City’s adopted general plan.  

 

The No Project Alternative includes planned development also in the areas west of I-5 and north of 

Kentucky Avenue – including Rural Residential development in the western portion of the Planning Area, 

and Industrial, Business park, and Industrial development closer to I-5, as well as a small area identified 

for Highway Commercial development. Areas north of this planned development to the City’s northern 

ULL are identified as Undesignated on the 2002 General Plan land use diagram. The No Project 

Alternative identifies a Planned Neighborhood in the areas west of CR 101 and south of the existing City 

limits. The Planned Neighborhood designation in the 2002 General Plan provides for detached and 



77 

attached single-family units, multi-family units, commercial uses, parks, open space, public and quasi-

public uses under a future specific plan with an average density for residential areas not to exceed seven 

units per acre. The areas south of the Planned Neighborhood area to the City’s southern ULL are 

Undesignated. 

 

Of the non-residential square footage anticipated to develop under the No Project Alternative, 72 percent 

is anticipated to be located in infill locations. For residential development, the No Project Alternative 

anticipates that 60 percent of the new dwelling units would be located in infill settings. The No Project 

Alternative also assumes continued buildout of the Spring Lake Specific Plan Area.  

 

The No Project Alternative also includes implementation of the Preliminary 2020 Climate Action Plan. 

The Preliminary 2020 Climate Action Plan is set to achieve emissions 15 percent below 2005 levels. This 

target is intended to approximate a return to 1990 emissions levels, consistent with the statewide target 

adopted in Assembly Bill 32. The Preliminary 2020 Climate Action Plan presents a set of community-

generated strategies to guide the City of Woodland, its residents, and local businesses in GHG emissions 

consistent with state goals for 2020 addressing California’s contributions to climate change. 

 

Table 5-24 in the EIR sets forth a summary comparison of the environmental impacts associated with the 

No Project Alternative as compared to the other two alternatives analyzed in the EIR. That table concludes 

that the No Project Alternative would have a similar or lesser impact in almost all areas analyzed in the 

EIR except for (1) climate change, greenhouse gas emissions, and energy as the 2035 CAP would help 

reduce many of those impacts and (2) cultural resources.  

 

2. East Alternative: Moderate Infill, SP-1A Development, SP-2 Development 

Unlike other EIRs that analyze a project and different alternatives, this EIR analyzed the East Alternative 

and the South Alternative as “equal weight” alternatives, with the understanding that the City Council 

would select one of these two alternatives. 

 

Development Scenario 2 became the East Alternative, which considered a moderate amount of infill 

development, new development in SP-1A (in the southern portion of the Planning Area) and new 

development in SP-2 (in the eastern portion of the Planning Area).  

 

The City modified Scenario 2 to include the potential for new development in the northern portion of the 

Planning Area, in the vicinity of SP-3, where feasible. Development capacity assumptions were adjusted 

so that Scenario 2 would provide the same number of new dwelling units and approximately the same 

amount of nonresidential square footage as Scenario 4 (which became the South Alternative).  

 

The East Alternative anticipated approximately 19,300 new residents, 7,000 new housing units, 

17,386,000 new square feet of non-residential building space, and 19,340 new jobs. Of the non-residential 

square footage, 76 percent was anticipated to occur in infill locations under the East Alternative, 

particularly in the Downtown area (compared to 72 percent for the No Project Alternative and 80 percent 

for the South Alternative). For residential development, the East Alternative anticipated that 51 percent of 

the new dwelling units would occur in infill locations within existing City limits but not including the 

Spring Lake Specific Plan Area (compared to 60 percent for the No Project Alternative and 65 percent for 

the South Alternative). The East Alternative included the same amount of non-residential and residential 

development in the Spring Lake Specific Plan Area as the No Project Alternative and South Alternative. 

 



78 

Because the EIR provides an “equal weight” analysis of the East Alternative and the South Alternative, 

Chapter 4 of the EIR analyzes in detail the environmental effects of the East Alternative. Chapter 5 of the 

EIR sets forth in detail a comparison of the environmental impacts associated with the East Alternative as 

compared to the No Project Alternative and the South Alternative. The EIR concludes that the East 

Alternative would have a more significant effect on almost every impact as compared to the No Project 

Alternative. As compared to the No Project Alternative, the East Alternative would have a less significant 

effect on Climate Change, Greenhouse Gas, and Energy. The East Alternative would have the same effect 

on Hazardous Materials and Toxics, Public Services and Recreation, and Utilities as the No Project 

Alternative.  

 

3. South Alternative: Moderate Infill, New Greenfield Growth in the South 

 

The City modified the South Alternative from Development Scenario 4 to include potential for new 

development in the northern portion of the Planning Area, in the vicinity of SP-3, where feasible. 

Development capacity assumptions for the South Alternative were adjusted to provide the same number 

of new dwelling units and approximately the same amount of nonresidential square footage as theEast 

Alternative. 

  

The EIR analyzed in detail the environmental effects of the South Alternative throughout Chapter 4 of the 

Draft EIR, along with the East Alternative, as the EIR is an “equal weight” analysis of two different 

alternatives, the East and the South. The South Alternative planned for approximately 19,300 new 

residents, 7,000 new housing units, 16,685,000 new square feet of non-residential building space, and 

18,210 new jobs. Of the non-residential square footage, 80 percent was anticipated to occur in infill 

locations, with the majority occurring in the Downtown area and Corridors, under the South Alternative 

(compared to 72 percent for the No Project Alternative and 76 percent for the East Alternative). For 

residential development, the South Alternative anticipated that 51 percent of the new dwelling units would 

occur in infill settings, particularly in the Downtown area and Corridors,(compared to 65 percent for the 

No Project Alternative and 40 percent for the East Alternative). The South Alternative included same 

amount of non-residential and residential development in the Spring Lake Specific Plan Area as the No 

Project Alternative and East Alternative. 

 

The EIR concluded that the South Alternative would have a more significant effect on seven impacts 

(aesthetics, agriculture, air quality, geology, land use, noise and vibration, and transportation and traffic) 

than the No Project Alternative and would have a more significant effect on one impact (Agriculture) as 

compared to the East Alternative. 

 

D. Environmentally Superior Alternative  

 

The No Project Alternative is environmentally superior since it would have fewer impacts in the greatest 

number of environmental impact areas. In many instances, the No Project Alternative would have fewer 

impacts compared to the East and South Alternatives because the No Project Alternative would result in 

less overall development, including residential and non-residential square footage, employment, and total 

population. Thus, despite the fact that the Proposed Project includes policies that will result in more 

efficient development, community design approaches that may help to reduce environmental effects, or 

other benefits, including implementation of the 2035 Climate Action Plan, the total amount of 

development would still increase the level of environmental impact for many topic areas compared to the 

Proposed Project.  

 



79 

When the No Project Alternative is environmentally superior, CEQA Guidelines Section 15126.6(c) 

requires that another alternative be identified. Generally, CEQA requires lead agencies to adopt the 

environmentally superior alternative instead of the proposed project unless the lead agency finds a basis 

for rejecting the alternative. CEQA allows the lead agency to reject an alternative if the alternative is not 

environmentally superior to the proposed project, including its mitigation measures, if the alternative fails 

to meet most of the basic project objectives, or if the alternative is infeasible for legal, economic, social, 

or other reasons.  

 

In this case, the next most environmentally superior Alternative is the South Alternative of the Proposed 

Project, since it would reduce impacts in eight impact areas compared to two for the East Alternative of 

the Proposed Project. The South Alternative would have fewer impacts compared to the East Alternative 

for air quality, biological resources, cultural resources, hydrology, flooding, and water quality; and land 

use planning, population, and housing. The South Alternative would have fewer impacts compared to the 

No Project Alternative for cultural resources, as well.  

 

Since the South Alternative would involve a reduced amount of area of land disturbance, the emissions 

during trenching, grading, and site preparation would be slightly less than the East Alternative. Under the 

East Alternative, a greater amount of habitat loss would occur than under the South Alternative or the No 

Project Alternative because greater acreage of planned growth would occur in areas that are currently 

undeveloped and provide habitat that could help to support special-status species. Each of the Alternatives 

would involve ground-disturbing construction in areas where the City anticipates infill development will 

happen during the planning horizon, as well as in the Specific Plan Areas. Overall, the South Alternative 

would have the least land area potentially subject to disturbance, relative to the No Project Alternative and 

the East Alternative. Thus, there is less potential to encounter archaeological and historic architectural 

resources that could be damaged or destroyed. Implementation of any alternative could expose people or 

structures to significant risks due to flooding, including flooding as a result of the failure of a levee or 

dam. The impact would be significant and unavoidable for any alternative, with greater areas of risk for 

the East Alternative due to the fact that it permits development in the SP-2 area. Housing and employment 

growth related to the East and South Alternatives exceeds the forecast included in SACOG’s current 

MTP/SCS. This could be considered a growth-inducing impact if the City is successful in attracting more 

development than forecast by SACOG and if this, in turn, results in less overall development locating in 

other parts of the region. The East Alternative assumes a total population of approximately 19,300 people, 

7,000 dwelling units, 19,340 local jobs, and 17.4 million square feet of nonresidential development. 

Therefore, the East Alternative is projected to generate the same population and housing growth but more 

employment than the South Alternative and more population and employment growth than the No Project 

Alternative. 

 

However, as explained below, even though the South Alternative is the environmentally superior 

alternative (other than the No Project Alternative) the City Council has chosen not to select either the East 

Alternative or the South Alternative as its preferred development scenario and instead is adopting a 

modified growth strategy that does not select a particular growth direction.  

 

E. Findings for Project Alternatives  

 

1. Rejection of No Project Alternative  
 

The City Council specifically rejects the No Project Alternative on the ground that the No Project 

Alternative does not meet the Proposed Project’s objectives. The No Project Alternative would result in 

less overall development, including residential and non-residential square footage, employment, and total 



80 

population. The No Project Alternative would not include policies that result in more efficient 

development; community design approaches that may help to reduce environmental effects; or other 

benefits, including implementation of the 2035 CAP. While the No Project Alternative could reduce 

impacts related to greenhouse gas emissions and energy, cultural resources, and paleontological resources, 

the No Project Alternative would not avoid significant and unavoidable impacts related to aesthetics, 

agricultural resources, air quality, and noise.  

 

The Final 2035 General Plan requires the maintenance of LOS D or better in most places. The Final 

General Plan also includes a requirement to develop a transportation demand management ordinance, 

includes policies on Complete Streets (that promote travel by all modes), and includes a policy to reduce  

the amount of land devoted to parking. The No Project Alternative would not promote the City’s Project 

Objective related to Mobility Options to the same extent as would the Final 2035 General Plan and CAP. 

This Objective indicates that the City will “[c]oordinate land use and transportation planning to provide a 

range of attractive and viable transportation options, such as bicycle, pedestrian, and transit.” The change 

from LOS C to D better promotes the City’s Objective related to Public Services, which indicates that the 

City will “[p]rovide realistic, supportable and appropriate levels of public service that are sustainable and 

fiscally sound” both in relation to capital costs, as well as ongoing maintenance costs of roadways.  

 

Unlike the No Project Alternative, the Final 2035 General Plan and CAP includes new policies that address 

fiscal sustainability, strong partnerships with entities such as University of California at Davis, and the 

provision of infrastructure to support new growth. The No Project Alternative would not promote the 

City’s Project Objective related to Economic Development to the same degree as would the Final 2035 

General Plan and CAP. This Objective indicates that the City will “[f]oster economic growth and 

diversification with a range of employment opportunities for all residents.” 
 

Compared to the No Project Alternative, the Final 2035 General Plan and CAP include new policies that 

are more specific to certain resources and environmental concerns. The 2035 General Plan includes 

policies specific to the protection of agricultural land and mineral and cultural resources. While the No 

Project Alternative does not, the Final 2035 General Plan and CAP includes a policy on the Surface Water 

Project. The Final 2035 General Plan and CAP explicitly addresses GHG emissions and climate change 

with respect to the latest State legislation. These differences mean that the No Project Alternative is not 

as effective in promoting the City’s Project Objective related to Environmental Stewardship, which 

indicates that the City will “[f]oster a sustainable community for the next generation and protect and 

improve the quality of the natural environment.” 

 

Compared to the No Project Alternative, the Final 2035 General Plan and CAP include more detail related 

to development in flood hazard zones. The No Project Alternative is not as effective in promoting the 

City’s Project Objective related to Safety, which indicates that the City will “[e]nsure that Woodland 

remains a safe place to live, protected from natural and manmade hazards.” 

 

In order to better balance between environmental noise and other planning objectives, including economic 

development and infill development in particular, noise policies have been revised under the Final 2035 

General Plan and CAP. These changes promote the City’s Objectives related to the Historic Downtown 

and Economic Development, which indicate that the City will “[s]trengthen the historic downtown district 

as the City’s center of shopping, dining, entertainment and employment” and “[f]oster economic growth 

and diversification with a range of employment opportunities for all residents,” including in infill 

locations, such as downtown.  

 

2. Rejection of the East and South Alternatives 



81 

  

The City Council held three public hearings on the 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP prior to adopting 

the Proposed Project. During those hearings, the City Council considered whether to select either the East 

Alternative or the South Alternative and ultimately decided to adopt a different growth strategy. That 

strategy continues to prioritize future residential growth through infill along key corridors and Downtown 

and continues to prioritize Spring Lake buildout. The City Council recognizes the potential benefits of 

development in new growth areas (including SP-1, SP-2, and SP-3) and desires to not preclude 

consideration of development in any of the growth areas through selection of either the south or east 

alternative. Instead, the City Council recognizes that inherent physical, financial, and market constraints 

exist that will naturally direct and meter growth in these areas. Various growth phasing considerations are 

imbedded as policy considerations rather than as regulatory “restrictions.” Decisions on future 

development in new growth areas will rely on a thorough assessment of the specific project proposal and 

its consistency with the 2035 General Plan Goals and Policies, 2035 Climate Action Plan, as well as the 

Final EIR.   

 

As discussed above in Section VI.A, the City made various changes to the 2035 General Plan in order to 

accomplish this change to the growth strategy, but none of these changes required revisions to the EIR as 

they did not change the environmental effects of the Proposed Project.  

 

Based on impacts identified in the EIR, and other reasons documented in these Findings and below in the 

Statement of Overriding Considerations, the City Council finds that adoption and implementation of the 

Final 2035 General Plan and Final 2035 CAP is the most desirable, feasible, and appropriate action and 

rejects the other alternatives as infeasible based on consideration of the relevant factors identified herein.  

 

Additionally, none of the alternatives achieves the same the City’s objectives and community values to 

the same degree as the Final 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP. The East Alternative and South Alternative 

would achieve some of the Project Objectives, but not to the same degree as would the Final 2035 General 

Plan and 2035 CAP. Based on the information in the EIR, comments received on the Public Review Draft 

General Plan, and professional expertise, the City team has identified proposed changes to the Public 

Review Draft General Plan in the form of clarifications, corrections, and modifications. 

 

The Final 2035 General Plan provides greater flexibility compared to both the East and South Alternatives 

unknown future market conditions and will allow for an independent review of appropriate constraints on 

development based on actual conditions at the time opportunities/applications emerge. The Final 2035 

General Plan provides the desired flexibility in terms of location of growth while continuing to guide the 

location, timing, and character of future development through the General Plan’s policies. Compared to 

the East and South Alternatives, the Final 2035 General Plan and CAP is better able to achieve the City’s 

Objective related to Economic Development, which indicates the City will “[f]oster economic growth and 

diversification with a range of employment opportunities for all residents.  

 

As a part of revisions to the Final 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP, the City modified Policy 2.B.1 to 

clearly provide protections for completion of infrastructure and amenities in existing specific plan areas 

while they are developing. Compared to the East and South Alternatives, the Final 2035 General Plan and 

2035 CAP are better able to achieve the City’s Objectives related to Mobility Options, Public Services, 

and Health and Recreation, as follows:  

 

► Mobility Options: Coordinate land use and transportation planning to provide a range of attractive 

and viable transportation options, such as bicycle, pedestrian, and transit.  



82 

► Public Services: Provide realistic, supportable and appropriate levels of public service that are 

sustainable and fiscally sound.  

► Health and Recreation: Provide all residents with opportunities to live an active, healthy, and green 

lifestyle. Promote healthy lifestyles by enhancing opportunities for physical activity, healthy eating 

and sustainable living. The General Plan ensures that adequate parks and recreational amenities are 

well integrated in new neighborhoods. The Plan promotes creation of a recreational greenbelt and 

expansion of walking and biking paths to enable residents to use active transportation options to 

connect to work, schools, grocery stores, and variety of open spaces. 

 

With the modified growth strategy, the City will be able to evaluate new development proposals as they 

are submitted and to determine whether they meet the above policies, as well as all of the 2035 General 

Plan policies, to ensure that growth occurs in an orderly and logical manner. The City will analyze each 

new development project for its impacts and will compare it to the Proposed Project and the EIR for the 

Proposed Project. In this manner, the City Council determines that it will be able to grow in a manner that 

is more thoughtful than had it selected one of the two alternatives.  

 

As a part of the revisions to the Final 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP, Policy 2.B.2 was modified to be 

consistent with State law related to flood protection but to also clarify that advance processing in areas 

subject to flood risk is not allowed. Policy 2.B.2 now states that no specific plan for SP-1, SP-2, or SP-3 

may be processed until the designs for projects to provide necessary 200-year flood protection have been 

approved and the funding for construction has been secured. The City Council also modified the policy to 

require a 4/5 vote prior to the City’s agreement to purchase the 900-acre property within SP-2.  Compared 

to the East and South Alternatives, the Final 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP is better able to achieve 

the City’s Objectives related to Safety, which indicates the City will, “[e]nsure that Woodland remains a 

safe place to live, protected from natural and manmade hazards.” 

 

The City has also modified Policy 2.L.1 to clarify that plans to develop new Specific Plan areas will be 

independently analyzed for consistency with the 2035 General Plan and to consider site-specific 

constraints. This policy modification will similarly ensure that the City grows in a logical and orderly 

manner with a recognition of specific limitations and will not necessarily tie growth to a particular location 

with the City.  

 

Additionally, the City modified General Plan Policy 2.A.3 to clarify that the farmland identified for 

preservation must be of the same quality as the farmland that is impacted. With these revisions, the Final 

2035 General Plan and CAP would be better able to achieve the City’s Objectives related to Agricultural 

Heritage and Environmental Stewardship, which indicate the City will, “[p]reserve and protect prime 

agricultural lands and their uses within and surrounding the community,” and, “[f]oster a sustainable 

community for the next generation and protect and improve the quality of the natural environment.” 

 

The City also modified 2035 General Plan Policy 3.A.4 to require new development projects to achieve a 

10 percent reduction in VMT per capita or service population compared to General Plan 2035 VMT 

performance or baseline conditions. Compared to the East and South Alternatives, the Final 2035 General 

Plan and CAP is better able to achieve the City’s Objectives related to Mobility and Environmental 

Stewardship, which indicate the City will, “[c]oordinate land use and transportation planning to provide a 

range of attractive and viable transportation options, such as bicycle, pedestrian, and transit,” and “[f]oster 

a sustainable community for the next generation and protect and improve the quality of the natural 

environment.” 

 



83 

The City also made other modifications to the 2035 General Plan in the Economic Development Element, 

the Public Facilities and Services Element, the Healthy Community Element, the Sustainability, 

Conservation, and Open Space Element, the Safety Element, and the Draft CAP to create the Final 2035 

General Plan and CAP. These clarifications, corrections, and modifications are all set forth in Attachment 

A to the City Council’s resolution approving the 2035 General Plan and overall represent a more desirable 

and therefore feasible Final 2035 General Plan. 
 

The City Council may reject an alternative that it considers undesirable from a policy standpoint, provided 

that such a decision reflects a reasonable balancing of various “economic, social, and other factors.” Based 

on impacts identified in the EIR and throughout this findings document, the City Council finds that 

adoption and implementation of the Final 2035 General Plan and CAP as approved, is the most desirable, 

feasible, and appropriate General Plan and CAP, and rejects other alternatives and other combinations 

and/or variations of alternatives as infeasible. 

 

VIII. STATEMENT OF OVERRIDING CONSIDERATIONS 

As set forth in the preceding sections, the City of Woodland City Council’s approval of the Final 2035 

General Plan and 2035 CAP will result in significant adverse environmental effects that cannot be avoided 

even with the adoption of all feasible mitigation measures, and there are no feasible project alternatives 

which would mitigate or substantially lessen the impacts. Despite the occurrence of these effects, however, 

the City Council chooses to approve the Final 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP because the economic, 

social, and other benefits that the Final 2035 General Plan and CAP will produce will render the significant 

effects acceptable. 

 

Pursuant to CEQA Section 21081(b) and Guidelines Section 15093, the City of Woodland has balanced 

the benefits of the Proposed Project against the unavoidable adverse impacts associated with the Proposed 

Project and has included all feasible mitigation measures in the EIR. The City has also examined 

alternatives to the Proposed Project and determined and adoption and implementation of the Proposed 

Project is the most desirable, feasible, and appropriate action.  

 

The City Council determines that the EIR identified and discussed significant effects that may occur as a 

result of the Proposed Project. By implementing the EIR mitigation measures, as adopted by this 

Resolution, these effects can be mitigated to a level of less than significant except for the unavoidable 

significant impacts discussed below. The City Council finds that it has made a reasonable and good faith 

effort to eliminate or substantially mitigate the potential impacts resulting from the Proposed Project. The 

City Council also finds that except for the Proposed Project, all other alternatives set forth in the EIR are 

infeasible because they would prohibit the realization of the Proposed Project’s objectives and/or specific 

economic, social, or other benefits that the City Council finds outweigh any environmental benefits of the 

alternatives. 

 

In making this Statement of Overriding Considerations in support of the findings of fact and the Proposed 

Project, the City Council finds that the environmental effects of the Proposed Project have been reduced 

to the extent feasible b the mitigation measures, that it has considered the information contained in the 

Final EIR, as well as the public testimony and record in proceedings in which the Final 2035 General Plan 

and CAP were considered, and that the benefits of the Proposed Project, as discussed further below, 

outweigh the potential unavoidable adverse impacts and render those potential adverse potential 

environmental impacts acceptable based upon the City Council’s overriding considerations. 

 



84 

A. Significant and Unavoidable Impacts 

Based on the information and analysis set forth in the EIR and reiterated in Section VI.B.3 of these 

Findings, implementation of the Proposed Project would result in the following significant and 

unavoidable impacts, even with the implementation of all feasible mitigation: 

 

Aesthetics and Visual Resources 

4.1-3: Substantially Degrade the Existing Visual Character or Quality of the Site and its Surroundings.  

 

4.1-4: Create a New Source of Substantial Light or Glare Which Would Adversely Affect Day or 

Nighttime Views in the Area.  

 

Agricultural and Forestry Resources 
 

4.2-1: Convert Prime Farmland, Unique Farmland, or Farmland of Statewide Importance, as Shown on 

the Maps Prepared Pursuant to the Farmland Mapping and Monitoring Program of the California 

Resources Agency, to Non-Agricultural Use.  

 

4.2-3: Involve Other Changes in the Existing Environment that, Due to Their Location or Nature, Could 

Result in Conversion of Farmland, to Non-Agricultural Use.  

 

Air Quality 
 
4.3-1: Generation of Short-Term Construction-Related Emissions of Criteria Air Pollutants and Precursors.  

 

4.3-2: Generation of Long-Term Operational Emissions of Criteria Air Pollutants and Precursors.  
 

4.3-3: Expose Sensitive Receptors to Substantial Pollutant Concentrations. 

 

Cultural Resources 
 

4.6-1: Cause a Substantial Adverse Change in the Significance of Archaeological or Historical Resources as 
defined in CEQA Guidelines Section 15064.5. 

 

4.6-2: Disturb Human Remains, including those Interred Outside of Formal Cemeteries. 

 

Hydrology, Flooding, and Water Quality 
4.9-7: Expose People or Structures to a Significant Risk of Loss, Injury or Death Involving Flooding, Including 
Flooding as a Result of the Failure of a Levee or Dam. 

 

Land Use Planning, Population, and Housing 

4.10-3: Impacts Related to Inducing Population Growth. 

Noise and Vibration 

4.11-1: Exposure of Noise-Sensitive Land Uses to Short-Term (Construction). 

4.11-2: Exposure to or Generation of Long-Term Noise Levels. 



85 

4.11-3: Exposure to or Generation of Vibration. 

Cumulative Impacts 

The Cumulative Scenario of the Final 2035 General Plan and CAP, taken together with other past, 

present, and probable future projects producing related impacts, would have a significant impact in the 

following areas:  

 

► Aesthetics: Changes in visual character and increased light and glare in the Planning Area and 

region. 

 

► Agricultural and Forestry Resources: Permanent loss of agricultural land in the Planning Area and 

region. 

 

► Air Quality: Increased generation of construction-related and operational criteria air pollutants and 

precursor emissions that exceed Yolo-Solano Air Quality Management District’s thresholds of 

significance. 

 

► Cultural Resources: Potential damage or destruction of undiscovered cultural resources. 

 

► Hydrology, Flooding, and Water Quality: Potential flooding from development in dam inundation 

areas. 

 

► Land Use Planning, Population, and Housing: Increase in population, housing, and employment 

that could attract additional residential development to the Planning Area and region.  

 

► Noise: Increase in noise exposure for noise-sensitive land uses associated with increases in traffic in 

the Planning Area and region. 

   

► Water Supply and Infrastructure:  Increase in water demand that may exceed supply.  

 

 

B. Benefits of the Proposed Project/ Statement of Overriding Considerations 

The City of Woodland has independently reviewed the information in the EIR and the record of 

proceedings, made a reasonable and good faith effort to eliminate or substantially lessen the impacts 

resulting from the Proposed Project to the extent feasible by including policies and actions in the General 

Plan that effectively mitigate potential environmental impacts to the greatest extent feasible, and balanced 

the Proposed Project’s benefits against its significant unavoidable impacts.  

 

In the judgment of the City Council, the Proposed Project and its general benefits, set forth in Section IV. 

outweigh its unavoidable significant effects. It is the position of the City Council that any one of these 

reasons is sufficient to justify approval of the Proposed Project. Thus, even if a court were to conclude 

that not every reason is supported by substantial evidence, the City Council would stand by its 

determination that each individual reason is sufficient. The substantial evidence supporting the various 

benefits can be found in the preceding findings, which are incorporated by reference into this section, and 

in the documents found in the Record of Proceedings, as defined in Section V, (Record of Proceedings). 

The City Council finds that adoption and implementation of the Proposed Project would provide 



86 

economic, social, legal, and other considerable benefits. The following statement identifies the reasons 

why this is the case:  

 

1. The 2035 General Plan promotes environmentally-sustainable development through goals 

and policies that integrate the 2035 Climate Action Plan and balance the need for adequate 

infrastructure, housing, and economic vitality with the need for resource management, 

agricultural preservation, environmental protection, and preservation of quality of life for 

City of Woodland residents.  

 

2. The 2035 General Plan ensures the long-term productivity and viability of the City’s 

economic base as well as preserves and protects prime agricultural land and their uses 

within and surrounding the City.  

 

3. The 2035 General Plan land use map accounts for existing development, physical 

constraints, agricultural preservation, economic development, hazards, and incompatible 

uses in accordance with the voter-adopted Urban Limit Line and assigns densities and use 

types accordingly to enhance the safety, livability, and economic vitality of the City of 

Woodland. 

  

4. The 2035 General Plan permits growth in existing and new areas of the City while retaining 

and enhancing the City’s small town characteristics as well as providing all City residents 

with opportunities to live an active, healthy, and green lifestyle.  

  

5. The 2035 General Plan and 2035 Climate Action Plan together outline a strategy to reduce 

greenhouse gas emissions within and from the City of Woodland so that the City can grow 

responsibly while also conserving energy, water, and other resources and promote net-zero 

energy development.  

 

6. The 2035 Climate Action Plan provides GHG reduction targets for 2020 and 2035 that 

allow the City to demonstrate consistency with the State of California’s long-term GHG 

reduction targets, as set forth in AB 32 and SB 32 and outlines actions that are appropriate 

for the City.  

 

7. The City of Woodland is legally required to update its General Plan pursuant to 

Government Code section 65302(b).  

 

IX. CONCLUSION 

 

The City prepared the Final EIR pursuant to CEQA and the CEQA Guidelines. The City Council has 

independently determined that the Final EIR fully and adequately addresses the impacts, mitigating 

policies and implementation programs, and implementation of goals, policies, and programs, and build-

out of the Final 2035 General Plan and Climate Action Plan (CAP) The alternatives identified and 

considered in the Final EIR meet the test of “reasonable” analysis, and this consideration provides the City 

Council with important information from which to make an informed decision. Both the Planning 

Commission and City Council held public hearings. Substantial evidence in the record from those 

meetings and other sources demonstrates various benefits and considerations including economic, legal, 

social, technological, and other benefits that the City would achieve from the implementation of the Final 

2035 General Plan and CAP. The City Council has balanced these project benefits and considerations 

against the significant and unavoidable environmental impacts that would result from the Proposed Project 



87 

and has concluded that those impacts are outweighed by the Final 2035 General Plan and CAP benefits. 

Upon balancing the environmental risk and countervailing Final 2035 General Plan and CAP benefits, the 

City Council has concluded that the benefits that the City will derive from the implementation of the 

project outweigh those environmental risks. The City Council hereby determines that the above-described 

Final 2035 General Plan and CAP benefits override the significant and unavoidable environmental impacts 

of the Proposed Project.  

 

In sum, the City Council finds that any residual or remaining effects on the environment resulting from 

adoption and implementation of the Final 2035 General Plan and 2035 CAP are acceptable due to the 

benefits set forth in this Statement of Overriding Considerations. 

 



YOLO LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

Resolution № 2018-11 

Adopting the Municipal Service Review (MSR) and Sphere of Influence (SOI) Update for 
the City of Woodland (LAFCo No. S-051)  

WHEREAS, the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000, set forth 
in Government Code Sections 56000 et seq., governs the organization and reorganization of cities 
and special districts by local agency formation commissions established in each county, as 
defined and specified in Government Code Sections 56000 et seq. (unless otherwise indicated 
all statutory references are to the Government Code); and, 

WHEREAS, Section 56425 et seq. provides that the local agency formation commission (LAFCo) 
in each county shall develop and determine the sphere of influence (SOI) of each local 
governmental agency within the county, and enact policies designed to promote the logical and 
orderly development of areas within the spheres of influence; and, 

WHEREAS, Section 56430 requires that LAFCos conduct a municipal service review (MSR) prior 
to, or in conjunction with, consideration of actions to establish or update a SOI in accordance with 
Sections 56076 and 56425; and, 

WHEREAS, in 2018, the Yolo LAFCo conducted a review of the municipal services and SOI of 
the City of Woodland and based on the results of the MSR determined that the SOI for the City of 
Woodland should be updated; and, 

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer set a public hearing for December 6, 2018 for consideration of 
the draft MSR/SOI Update and caused notice thereof to be posted, published and mailed at the 
times and in the manner required by law at least twenty-one (21) days in advance of the date; 
and, 

WHEREAS, on December 6, 2018, the draft MSR/SOI Update came on regularly for hearing 
before LAFCo, at the time and place specified in the notice; and, 

WHEREAS, at said hearing, LAFCo reviewed the draft MSR/SOI Update, and the Executive 
Officer's Report and Recommendations; each of the policies, priorities and factors set forth in 
Government Code Sections 56430; LAFCo’s Guidelines and Methodology for the Preparation and 
Determination of Municipal Service Reviews and Spheres of Influence; and all other matters 
presented as prescribed by law; and, 

WHEREAS, at that time, an opportunity was given to all interested persons, organizations, and 
agencies to present oral or written testimony and other information concerning the proposal and 
all related matters; and, 

WHEREAS, the Commission received, heard, discussed, and considered all oral and written 
testimony related to the SOI update, including but not limited to protests and objections, the 
Executive Officer's report and recommendations, the environmental documents and 
determinations and the service review; and  

Item 6-ATT B



 

  

 2 Resolution 2018-11 

  Adopted January 24, 2019 

 

WHEREAS, the Commission adopted the CEQA Findings as a Responsible Agency and 
MSR/SOI on a 4-0 vote, including direction to staff to add the Flood Study Area to the City of 
Woodland’s Sphere of Influence as identified on its 2035 General Plan Land Use Map, and 
directed staff to return at the January 24, 2019, meeting and present a resolution and supporting 
materials consistent with its decision for approval by the Commission. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, DETERMINED AND ORDERED that the Yolo Local 
Agency Formation Commission hereby adopts Resolution 2018-11 as consistent with the 
December 6, 2018 decision as follows: 

1. Adopt the Municipal Service Review for the City of Woodland dated December 6, 2018 
incorporated herein by this reference, subject to the following findings and 
recommendations; and  

2. Adopt the Sphere of Influence Update for the City of Woodland as shown in Exhibit A, 
subject to the following findings. 

FINDINGS 

1. Finding: Approval of the Municipal Service Review is consistent with all applicable 
state laws and local LAFCo policies. 

Evidence: The project was prepared consistent with the requirements in the Cortese-
Knox-Hertzberg Act for a MSR and all applicable Yolo LAFCo policies and adopted 
Standards for Evaluation. The MSR includes written determinations as required by 
Section 56430 of the Cortese Knox Hertzberg Local Government Act. 

2. Finding: Approval of the SOI Update for the City of Woodland is in compliance with the 
Yolo LAFCo Project Policies Criteria for Spheres of Influence (Policy 6.3) as follows: 

 Retention and strengthening of community identities, as well as increasing efficiency 
and conserving resources, by providing essential services within a framework of 
controlled growth; 

 Identification of the county's prime agricultural land and protection of this land through 
all available devices, such as including controlling the provision of services, requiring 
infill development first, and preferring non-prime land for growth. Other open-space 
resources such as stream banks, flood plains, and present and future recreation areas 
should also be protected for public benefit; 

 Creation of realistic and controlled, yet flexible, planning areas into which anticipated 
services can be expanded as growth requires and as the communities' resources 
provide; 

 Provision of infrastructure systems such as streets, sewers, water, open space for 
parks and recreation as a product of growth, rather than growth inducing; 

 Encouragement of city annexation or incorporation as a means of supplying the full 
range of urban services as required; and 

 Evaluation of the availability and need for basic services in each community and 
forecast these to meet anticipated population growth, and recommend creation, 
expansion, consolidation and/or reorganization of districts when need for such change 
is indicated. 



3 Resolution 2018-11 

Adopted January 24, 2019 

Evidence: The SOI Update consolidates new development with the City of Woodland 
rather than in incorporated or any new development areas. The City has created a 
framework of controlled growth by adopting its voter approved Urban Limit Line (ULL). 
The SOI Update would create realistic and controlled, yet flexible, planning areas for 
development. There is a value to aligning the SOI and ULL for simplicity and planning 
purposes. The City has adequate infrastructure to serve the added SOI growth areas. 

The SOI area recommended for expansion would eventually result (i.e. upon future 
annexation) in the conversion of prime agricultural lands to urban uses. The City's 
2035 General Plan has adopted a policy requiring 1:1 mitigation for every acre 
converted to urban uses as noted below. It also includes a policy requiring a 150' 
agricultural buffer from adjacent agricultural land. These mitigation measures would 
not be required for the SOI Update itself, but would be applied to any future 
development project. However, LAFCo acknowledges impacts resulting from 
urbanization of prime agricultural land would remain significant and unavoidable.  

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. The City of Woodland should review and/or improve its budget monitoring process to
minimize or eliminate overdrawn appropriations.

2. The City of Woodland should create a strategy and necessary studies to increase its storm
drainage fees since this fund has an accumulated net operating loss of almost $5M over
the past five years.

3. The City should consider changing accounting and financial reporting of the Cemetery
fund from enterprise fund to governmental activity as the service cannot realistically be
self-supporting and requires general fund support. (For comparison, the Davis Cemetery
District received $237,713 in FY 2016/17 property tax revenue and the Winters Cemetery
District received $137,774 in FY 2016/17 property tax revenue, within their respective city
limits.)

4. Provide any City contracts for building/fire plan check & inspection, fleet maintenance,
park/landscape maintenance and arborist/tree maintenance services (per LAFCo’s March
23, 2018 memo), to allow LAFCo to compare contractors and rates with the other cities
and Yolo County for shared services opportunities.

5. Strive to continue with the City’s recent practice of completing audits within 6 months and
no more than 9 months from the end of the fiscal year.

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission, State of California, 
this 24thth day of January 2019, by the following vote: 

Ayes: 
Noes: 
Abstentions: 
Absent: 



4 Resolution 2018-11 

Adopted January 24, 2019 

_____________________________________ 
Olin Woods, Chair 
Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission 

Attest: 

__________________________________ 
Christine Crawford, Executive Officer 
Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission 

Approved as to form: 

______________________________ 
Eric May, Commission Counsel 



C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
9
6
B

CountyRoad21

C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
9
7

C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
9
7

CountyRoad24

51ft

N
E
a
s
t
S
t

C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
9
7
A

C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
1
0
0
B

CountyRoad20

WWoodlandAve WoodlandAve

C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
9
9

CountyRoad18C

KentuckyAve EKentuckyAveWKentuckyAve

V
ic

F
a
z
io

H
w
y

V
ic

F
a
z
io

H
w
y

C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
1
0
1

P
a
rk
la
n
d
A
v
e

P
io
n
e
e
r
A
v
e

B
o
u
rn

D
r

C
le
v
e
la
n
d
S
t

C
o
tt
o
n
w
o
o
d
S
t

BeamerSt

WElDoradoDr

A
s
h
le
y
A
v
e

M
a
tm

o
r
R
d

C
o
ll
e
g
e
S
t

WBeamerSt

C
a
li
fo
rn
ia

S
t

3
rd

S
t

ElDoradoDr

CountyRoad25A

E
a
s
t
S
t

E
a
s
t
S
t

C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
9
8

C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
9
8

C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
1
0
2

C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
1
0
2

EGibsonRd

W
e
s
t
S
t

EMainSt

WGibsonRd GibsonRd

Woodland

CountyRoad20

C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
1
0
2

37ft

26ft

BpYoloByp

CountyRoad25

C
o
u
n
ty

R
o
a
d
1
0
3

CountyRoad22EMainSt

113

113
16

5

5

5

Sources: Esri, USGS, NGA, NASA, CGIAR, N Robinson, NCEAS, NLS, OS, NMA, Geodatastyrelsen, Rijkswaterstaat, GSA, Geoland, FEMA, Intermap and the GIS user community

Sphere of Influence*

Woodland City Limit

Parcels

±0 0.5 1 1.50.25
Miles

City of Woodland Boundary and Sphere of Influence

*City of Woodland Urban Limit Line is
coincident with the Sphere of Influence

Adopted by LAFCo on December 6, 2018

Exhibit A



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

Yolo LAFCo MSR/SOI for the City of Woodland 
Adopted December 6, 2018 

43 

SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

On the basis of the Municipal Service Review: 

Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update is NOT 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, NO CHANGE 
to the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE NOT been made. 

Staff has reviewed the agency’s Sphere of Influence and recommends that a SOI Update IS 
NECESSARY in accordance with Government Code Section 56425(g). Therefore, A CHANGE to 
the agency’s SOI is recommended and SOI determinations HAVE been made and are included in 
this MSR/SOI study. 

EXISTING AND PROPOSED SPHERE OF INFLUENCE 

Item 6-ATT C



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Yolo LAFCo  MSR/SOI for the City of Woodland 
  Adopted December 6, 2018 

44 

POTENTIALLY SIGNIFICANT SOI DETERMINATIONS 

The SOI determinations below are potentially significant, as indicated by “yes” or “maybe” answers to the 
key policy questions in the checklist and corresponding discussion on the following pages. 

 Present and Planned Land Uses   

 Need for Public Facilities and Services   

 Capacity and Adequacy of Provide Services   

 Social or Economic Communities of Interest   

 Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities   

 

1 .  P R E S E N T  A N D  P L A N N E D  L A N D  U S E S  

The present and planned land uses in the area, including agricultural and open-space lands. 

 YES MAYBE NO 

a) Are there any present or planned land uses in the area that 
would create the need for an expanded service area? 

   

b) Would the SOI conflict with planned, orderly and efficient 
patterns of urban development? 

   

c) Is there a conflict with the adopted SACOG Metropolitan 
Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy? 

   

d) Would the SOI result in the loss of prime agricultural land or 
open space? 

   

e) Would the SOI impact the identity of any existing 
communities; e.g. would it conflict with existing postal zones, 
school, library, sewer, water census, fire, parks and 
recreation boundaries? 

   

f) Are there any natural or made-made obstructions that would 
impact where services can reasonably be extended or should 
otherwise be used as a logical SOI boundary? 

   

g) Would the proposed SOI conflict with a Census boundary, 
such that it would compromise the ability to obtain discrete 
data? 

   

Discussion: 

a) There are no existing developments that would create the need for an expanded service area, however, 
the City’s recently adopted General Plan has land uses planned within the Urban Limit Line. There is 



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Yolo LAFCo  MSR/SOI for the City of Woodland 
  Adopted December 6, 2018 

45 

also a development project in process in the Specific Plan 1A area. There are two general areas 
identified in the City’s General Plan which the City has requested be added to its sphere of influence. 

Flood Study Area (from the City’s General Plan):6 

 

 

“The Flood Study Area designation is applied to areas 
restricted from urban development due to health and safety 
concerns related to flood risk, or because the property falls 
within a likely future flood project improvement area. Allowed 
uses include open space, as well as low-intensity agriculture 
or recreational uses. Generally, land uses that require 
extensive capital improvements or permanent infrastructure 
improvements shall be prohibited, with the exception of 
improvements related to flood protection and control. Existing 

structures and business operations in areas designated as Flood Study Area may remain but may not 
expand. When the exact boundaries of the future flood project are determined, the City will initiate an 
amendment to the Land Use Diagram to update the adjacent land use designations, as necessary.”  

The City’s General Plan has restricted urban development in this area until additional study has been 
completed. The City will amend its Land Use Diagram to update land use designations when the 
boundaries of any future development are known. Although there is currently little demand for growth 
in this area and it is at risk for flooding, it is appropriate to include this area in the City’s SOI. The City 
is working on a flood solution while Yolo County has a portion of this area zoned for urbanization which 
may exacerbate flooding issues and complicate a levy solution. The City ultimately should control land 
use in this area to compliment the eventual flood solution. Therefore, it is recommended to be included 
in the City’s SOI.  

Specific Plan (SP) – 17 

 

SP-1 is located in the southern portion of 
the Planning Area, generally south of CR 
24A and west of CR 101. It includes the 
area referred to in older planning 
documents as the Spring Lake Master 
Plan Remainder Area. SP-1 is separated 
into three sub-areas. SP-1A encompasses 
347 acres and is located on the eastern 
portion of the Specific Plan area between 
State Route 113 and Spring Lake. SP-1B 
is located between East Street and State 
Route 113, covering 248 acres. SP-1C is 
the smallest of the three at 151 acres and 
is located west of East Street. The thin green dotted line crossing SP-1A and SP-1B shows the existing 

                                                      

6 Woodland 2035 General Plan: Land Use, Community Design and Historic Preservation Element, page LU 2-62.  

7 Woodland 2035 General Plan: Land Use, Community Design and Historic Preservation Element, page LU 2-54-56. 



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Yolo LAFCo  MSR/SOI for the City of Woodland 
  Adopted December 6, 2018 

46 

City SOI. The southern portions of SP-1A and 1B are not within the City’s SOI, and all of 1C is already 
within the SOI.  

The General Plan envisions SP-1A to develop as a mixed-use neighborhood anchored by a research 
and technology business park in the “Southern Gateway” located at CR 25 and SR 113. The remainder 
of SP-1A will be largely residential with some open space and recreation areas. The Southern Gateway 
portion of SP-1B is also expected to develop to complement the business park and commercial 
development in SP-1A. SP-1C is assumed to be entirely residential.  

The City is currently processing a development application on the SP – 1A area. The project is called 
the “Woodland Research and Technology Park”. Most of this area (the NE quadrant of SR 113/County 
Road 25A) is already within the City’s SOI. The area south of CR 25A and east of SR 113 is not within 
the City’s COI. It appears appropriate to extend the City’s SOI to the Urban Limit Line east of SR 113 
so that development could have a better economic advantage along the interchange.  This appears 
consistent with LAFCo’s policies regarding a framework of controlled growth due to the City’s Urban 
Limit Line. Therefore, the City’s SOI boundary is recommended to be expanded to include the SP-1 
designated areas.  

Specific Plan (SP) – 2 

Although this third area is already within the City, a recent land use designation change may result in 
an expanded service area potentially outside the City 
boundaries. The City recently designated its City-owned waste 
water treatment plant (WWTP) site in the General Plan 2035 
Update for future development. However, the General Plan 
does not appear to explain where the municipal spray fields 
would be relocated, if necessary. They could not be relocated 
outside City boundaries without LAFCo Out of Agency Services 
approval to extend municipal services outside the boundaries.  

This site was annexed to the City as non-contiguous property 
in 2001 only because it was City-owned for municipal services. 
Per Government Code Section 56741(e), if the City sold this 
property it would cease to be part of the City and revert back to 
unincorporated lands.  

LAFCo staff notes that it may be difficult to justify LAFCo approval to extend WWTP facilities outside 
the City boundaries (if requested in the future) as it would be considered growth inducing.  

b) The proposed SOI would not conflict with planned, orderly and efficient patterns of urban development. 
No islands or awkward patterns of development would be created.  

c) SACOG correspondence dated November 8, 2016 (see appendices) states that the City’s Draft General 
Plan “demonstrates good local planning and is in alignment with the Blueprint and MTP/SCS 
Metropolitan Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy.  

d) Development of the proposed SOI would result in the loss of prime agricultural land. However, most of 
Yolo County is fertile agricultural soils and it is difficult to expand the City’s footprint without impacting 
agricultural land (see farmland map below). The City’s Urban Limit Line preempts any uncontrolled 
sprawl. The City’s General Plan Environmental Impact Report mitigates for this loss consistent with 
LAFCo policies and concludes that this loss is significant and unavoidable.  



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Yolo LAFCo  MSR/SOI for the City of Woodland 
  Adopted December 6, 2018 

47 

 

e-g) The proposed SOI would include primarily agricultural lands and would not impact any existing 
communities, census boundaries, etc. In addition, there are no obstructions of concern other than the 
flood issues discussed under Section 1a.  

Present and Planned Land Uses SOI Determination 

There are two general areas identified in the City’s General Plan which the City has requested added to its 
sphere of influence (SOI): The Flood Study Area and Specific Plan 1 (SP-1). The City’s General Plan has 
restricted urban development in the Flood Study Area until additional study has been completed. Although 
there is currently little demand for growth in this area and it is at risk for flooding, it is appropriate to include 
this area in the City’s SOI. The City is working on a flood solution while Yolo County has a portion of this 
area zoned for urbanization which may exacerbate flooding issues and complicate a levy solution. The City 
ultimately should control land use in this area to compliment the eventual flood solution. Therefore, it is 
recommended to be included in the City’s SOI. The SP-1 areas appear consistent with LAFCo’s policies 
regarding a framework of controlled growth, therefore, the City’s SOI boundary is recommended to be 
expanded to include the SP-1 designated areas.  

While already within the City boundaries, the SP-2 area was annexed to the City as non-contiguous property 
in 2001 only because it was City-owned for municipal services. Per Government Code Section 56741(e), if 
the City sold this property it would cease to be part of the City and revert back to unincorporated lands (if it 
were still non-contiguous). The City should note that LAFCo may not be able to justify approval to extend 
WWTP facilities outside City boundaries (if requested in the future) as it would be growth inducing.  

The proposed SOI would not conflict with planned, orderly and efficient patterns of urban development. 
SACOG correspondence dated November 8, 2016 (see appendices) states that the City’s Draft General 
Plan “demonstrates good local planning and is in alignment with the Blueprint and MTP/SCS Metropolitan 
Transportation Plan/Sustainable Communities Strategy. Development of the proposed SOI would result in 
the loss of prime agricultural land. However, most of Yolo County is fertile agricultural soils and it is difficult 
to expand the City’s footprint without impacting agricultural land and the City’s Urban Limit Line preempts 
any uncontrolled sprawl. The City’s General Plan Environmental Impact Report mitigates for this loss 
consistent with LAFCo policies and concludes that this loss is significant and unavoidable. 



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Yolo LAFCo  MSR/SOI for the City of Woodland 
  Adopted December 6, 2018 

48 

 

2 .  N E E D  F O R  P U B L I C  F A C I L I T I E S  A N D  S E R V I C E S  

The present and probable need for public facilities and services in the area. 

 YES MAYBE NO 

a) Would the SOI conflict with the Commission’s goal to 
increase efficiency and conservation of resources by 
providing essential services within a framework of controlled 
growth? 

   

b) Would the SOI expand services that could be better provided 
by a city or another agency? 

   

c) Does the SOI represent premature inducement of growth or 
facilitate conversion of agriculture or open space lands? 

   

d) Does the SOI conflict with the Regional Housing Needs 
Analysis (RHNA) or other SACOG growth projections? 

   

e) Are there any areas that should be removed from the SOI 
because existing circumstances make development unlikely, 
there is not sufficient demand to support it or important open 
space/prime agricultural land should be removed from 
urbanization? 

   

f) Have any agency commitments been predicated on 
expanding the agency’s SOI such as roadway projects, 
shopping centers, educational facilities, economic 
development or acquisition of parks and open space? 

   

Discussion:   

a) The City’s Urban Limit line provides for a framework of controlled growth.  

b) The City of Woodland is best suited to provide expanded municipal services in the proposed SOI area.  

c) See response to MSR checklist 1c), SOI checklist 1a), and SOI checklist 1d). In addition, the City’s 
General Plan 2035 Draft EIR concludes that the General Plan represents premature inducement of 
growth.  

d) See the response to SOI checklist 1c). In addition, SACOG’s letter indicated that the total growth 
assumed is in alignment with the 2016 MTP/SCS, which includes the Regional Housing Needs 
Allocation.  

e) Please see the discussion under SOI checklist item 1a).   

f) LAFCo staff is not aware of any City commitments predicated on expanding the agency’s SOI. 

Need for Public Facilities and Services SOI Determination 

The City’s recently updated General Plan 2035 plans for future growth and the City of Woodland is best 
suited to provide expanded municipal services in the proposed SOI areas. The City’s Urban Limit line 



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Yolo LAFCo  MSR/SOI for the City of Woodland 
  Adopted December 6, 2018 

49 

provides for a framework of controlled growth. SACOG has indicated via letter that the total growth assumed 
in the City’s General Plan is in alignment with the 2016 MTP/SCS, which includes the Regional Housing 
Needs Allocation.  

 

3 .  C A P A C I T Y  A N D  A D E Q U A C Y  O F  P R O V I D E D  S E R V I C E S  

The present capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services that the agency provides or is 
authorized to provide. 

 YES MAYBE NO 

a) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s capacity to 
provide services in the proposed SOI territory? 

   

b) Are there any issues regarding the agency’s willingness and 
ability to extend services? 

   

Discussion: 

a-b) See the discussion for MSR checklist 3. “Capacity and Adequacy of Public Facilities and Services”. 

Capacity and Adequacy of Provided Services SOI Determination 

The City of Woodland has capacity to provide its full range of municipal services to the proposed SOI 
territory. The City is willing and able to extend services and has conducted the analysis required to do so 
in its 2035 General Plan Update.  

 

4 .  S O C I A L  O R  E C O N O M I C  C O M M U N I T I E S  O F  I N T E R E S T  

The existence of any social or economic communities of interest in the area if the commission 
determines that they are relevant to the agency. 

 YES MAYBE NO 

a) Are there any “inhabited unincorporated communities” (per 
adopted Commission policy) within or adjacent to the subject 
agency’s sphere of influence that are considered 
“disadvantaged” (same as MSR checklist question 2b)? 

   

Discussion: 

a) Please see response to MSR checklist question 2b.  

Social or Economic Communities of Interest SOI Determination 

There is a Disadvantaged Unincorporated Community adjacent to the City boundaries and within its SOI, 
however, construction is already underway to extend municipal water and sewer services to this community.  

 



YOLO LAFCO MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEW/SPHERE OF INFLUENCE STUDY 

 

Yolo LAFCo  MSR/SOI for the City of Woodland 
  Adopted December 6, 2018 

50 

5 .  D I S A D V A N T A G E D  U N I N C O R P O R A T E D  C O M M U N I T I E S  

For an update of an SOI of a city or special district that provides public facilities or services related to 
sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire protection, the present and probable need for 
those public facilities and services of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within the existing 
sphere of influence. 

 YES MAYBE NO 

a) Does the subject agency provide public services related to 
sewers, municipal and industrial water or structural fire 
protection (same as MSR checklist question 2a)? 

   

b) If yes, does the proposed SOI exclude any disadvantaged 
unincorporated community (per MSR checklist question 2b) 
where it either may be feasible to extend services or it is 
required under SB 244 to be included? 

   

Discussion: 

a) Please see response to MSR checklist question 2a. 

b) The disadvantaged unincorporated community of “Westucky” is already included in the City’s SOI. In 
addition, a project is underway to extend City water and sewer services to this community which is 
estimated to be completed during fiscal year 2018/19. It already receives structural fire protection from 
the City via contract with the Springlake Fire Protection District.  

Disadvantaged Unincorporated Communities SOI Determination 

The disadvantaged unincorporated community of “Westucky” is already included in the City’s SOI. In 
addition, a project is underway to extend City water and sewer services to this community which is estimated 
to be completed during fiscal year 2018/19. It already receives structural fire protection from the City via 
contract with the Springlake Fire Protection District. 

 

ATTACHMENTS 

1. City of Woodland Voter Approved Urban Limit Line Act, October 26, 2005 

2. SACOG Comment Letter Regarding City of Woodland Draft General Plan, November 8, 2016 



   
    Consent      7.             

LAFCO
Meeting Date: 01/24/2019  

Information
SUBJECT
Review and file Fiscal Year 2018/19 Second Quarter Financial Update

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Review and file Fiscal Year 2018/19 Second Quarter Financial Update.

FISCAL IMPACT
None.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTION
The intent of the quarterly financial report is to provide the Commission with an
update on how LAFCo performed financially in the previous quarter as compared
to the adopted budget and to discuss any issues as appropriate. The practice was
recommended during a previous audit as an additional safeguard to ensure sound
financial management, given the small size of the LAFCo staff. In accordance with
LAFCo Administrative Policies and Procedures, the Commission adopts the final
budget and is authorized to make adjustments as appropriate.

BACKGROUND
The LAFCo FY 2018/19 budget was adopted on May 24, 2018. During the first half
of the year, LAFCo has remained on track with regards to both revenue and
expenditures.

Revenues
By the end of the second quarter of FY 2018/19, LAFCo had received 101.99%
($447,678.50) of its expected revenues of $438,925. During the second quarter
LAFCo received 110.23% ($1,653.50) in investment earnings. LAFCo's most
significant revenue source comes from local government agency payments. By
the close of the second quarter LAFCo had received 100% ($433,425) of its funds
from the agencies.  



Other revenue received during the first half of the year included LAFCo total
deposit fees of $12,600 (315%) which is more than three times the $4,000 that
was budgeted. $4,200 in deposit fees were collected during the second quarter.
Those fees are from the following LAFCo proposals; $2,100 for the Reorganization
of Reclamation District (RD) 900 and the City portion of RD 537 (LAFCo No.
930), and $2,100 for the Reorganization of RDs 537, 785, and 827 (LAFCo No.
928).

Expenditures
During the first half of FY 2018/19, LAFCo expended a total of 39.50%
($186,970.97) of its annual budgeted costs of $473,314.

Salary and Employee Benefits
LAFCo expended 46.14% ($161,141.90) of its Salary and Benefits appropriation
and remains on track for the first half of the fiscal year.

Services and Supplies
LAFCo expended 24.83% ($24,979.07) of its Services and Supplies appropriation.
It should be noted that LAFCo was charged $450 for building improvements
during its recent move to the first floor of the Administration Building. The
amount has been charged to a previously unused account (501071
Maintenance-Bldg Improvement), however there are sufficient funds in the
Services and Supplies category (i.e. major object) to cover these costs. Next fiscal
year's budget will appropriate funds for this new account for building maintenance
charges.  

Other Charges and Other Financing Uses
LAFCo expended 85% ($850) of its Other Charges appropriations. This budget is
used to pay other agency fees in processing LAFCo proposals and the fees are
reimbursed by the applicant.

Attached Budget Reports
The Budget Status Summary (Attachment A) is a one-page easy to read summary
of the budget. The Income Statement Report  (Attachment B) shows the amount
expended for the quarter, the year to date amount and budget and the percentage
of budget used. The General Ledger Report (Attachment C) shows a running
balance of all transactions, including both revenue and expenditure amounts.

Attachments
ATT A-FY18/19 2nd QTR Budget Status Summary
ATT B-FY18/19 2nd QTR Income Statement
ATT C-FY18/19 2nd QTR General Ledger

Form Review



Inbox Reviewed By Date
Christine Crawford Christine Crawford 01/16/2019 02:31 PM
Form Started By: Terri Tuck Started On: 01/15/2019 10:09 AM
Final Approval Date: 01/16/2019 



LAFCO BUDGET - 2nd QUARTER BUDGET STATUS SUMMARY FISCAL YEAR 2018/19

Account Name 1st 2nd 3rd 4th Year FY 18/19 %

Account # Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter to Date Budget Budget

REVENUES

400700 INVESTMENT EARNINGS-POOL $0.00 $1,653.50 $1,653.50 1,500$   110.23%

402010 OTHER GOVT AGENCY-COUNTY $216,713.00 $0.00 $216,713.00 216,713$   100%

402030 OTHER GOVT AGENCY-WEST SACRAMENTO $69,885.00 $0.00 $69,885.00 69,885$   100%

402040 OTHER GOVT AGENCY-WOODLAND $63,758.00 $0.00 $63,758.00 63,758$   100%

402050 OTHER GOVT AGENCY-WINTERS $7,078.00 $0.00 $7,078.00 7,078$   100%

402060 OTHER GOVT AGENCY-DAVIS $0.00 $75,991.00 $75,991.00 75,991$   100%

403460 OTH CHRG FR SVC-LAFCO FEES $8,400.00 $4,200.00 $12,600.00 4,000$   315.00%

UNUSED FUND BALANCE FROM PREVIOUS FY 34,388$   

TOTAL AGENCY COST 433,425$   

TOTAL OTHER LISTED SOURCES 39,888$   

TOTAL FINANCING SOURCES 365,834$   81,845$   -$   -$   447,679$   438,925$   101.99%

Item 7-ATT A



LAFCO BUDGET - 2nd QUARTER BUDGET STATUS SUMMARY FISCAL YEAR 2018/19

1st 2nd 3rd 4th Year FY 18/19 %

Account # Account Name Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter to Date Budget Budget

SALARIES AND BENEFITS

500100 REGULAR EMPLOYEES $40,076.58 $55,371.42 $95,448.00 201,567$           47.35%

500110 EXTRA HELP $1,680.00 $3,460.00 $5,140.00 20,000$             25.70%

500310 RETIREMENT (CALPERS) $10,485.59 $14,491.29 $24,976.88 50,904$             49.07%

500320 OASDI $2,650.10 $3,717.88 $6,367.98 13,360$             47.66%

500330 FICA/MEDICARE TAX $619.77 $869.51 $1,489.28 3,516$               42.36%

500340 HEALTH INSURANCE (Life Insurance/EAP) $33.00 $39.00 $72.00 -$                       0.00%

500360 OPEB - RETIREE HEALTH INSURANCE $3,195.12 $4,415.75 $7,610.87 18,141$             41.95%

500380 UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 350$                  0.00%

500390 WORKERS' COMPENSATION INSURANCE $441.93 $0.00 $441.93 500$                  88.39%

500400 OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS $9,371.50 $10,223.46 $19,594.96 40,894$             47.92%

     TOTAL SALARY & BENEFITS $68,553.59 $92,588.31 $0.00 $0.00 $161,141.90 349,232$           46.14%

SERVICES AND SUPPLIES

501020 COMMUNICATIONS $278.47 $392.73 $671.20 2,500$               26.85%

501030 FOOD $83.91 $84.95 $168.86 350$                  48.25%

501051 INSURANCE-PUBLIC LIABILITY $500.00 $0.00 $500.00 500$                  100.00%

501070 MAINTENANCE-EQUIPMENT $0.00 $152.95 $152.95 750$                  20.39%

501071 MAINTENANCE-BLDG IMPROVEMENT $0.00 $450.00 $450.00 -$                       0.00%

501090 MEMBERSHIPS $2,805.00 $0.00 $2,805.00 3,600$               77.92%

501100 MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 250$                  0.00%

501110 OFFICE EXPENSE $155.85 $296.42 $452.27 1,250$               36.18%

501111 OFFICE EXP-POSTAGE $60.00 $236.49 $296.49 250$                  118.60%

501112 OFFICE EXP-PRINTING $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 800$                  0.00%

501125 IT SERVICES-DPT SYS MAINT (Dept System Maint.) $0.00 $168.00 $168.00 2,000$               8.40%

501126 IT SERVICES-ERP (Enterprise/Resource/Planning) $719.69 $719.69 $1,439.38 2,879$               50.00%

501127 IT SERVICES-CONNECTIVITY $708.76 $1,506.11 $2,214.87 3,629$               61.03%

501151 PROF & SPEC SVC‐AUDITG & ACCTG $0.00 $8,215.00 $8,215.00 15,000$             54.77%

501152 PROF & SPEC SVC‐INFO TECH SVC $300.00 $0.00 $300.00 1,300$               23.08%

501156 PROF & SPEC SVC‐LEGAL SVC $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 7,000$               0.00%

501165 PROF & SPEC SVC‐OTHER $225.00 $225.00 $450.00 40,000$             1.13%

501180 PUBLICATIONS AND LEGAL NOTICES $63.00 $344.26 $407.26 1,500$               27.15%

501190 RENTS AND LEASES - EQUIPMENT ($674.54) $2,624.79 $1,950.25 2,000$               97.51%

501192 RENTS & LEASES‐RECRDS STRGE (Archives) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 925$                  0.00%

501205 TRAINING $2,850.00 ($520.00) $2,330.00 4,200$               55.48%

501210 MINOR EQUIPMENT (COMPUTERS) $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 1,400$               0.00%

501250 TRANSPORTATION AND TRAVEL ($358.20) $2,365.74 $2,007.54 8,500$               23.62%

     TOTAL SERVICES & SUPPLIES $7,716.94 $17,262.13 $0.00 $0.00 $24,979.07 100,583$           24.83%

OTHER CHARGES

502201 PAYMENTS TO OTHER GOV INSTITUTIONS $50.00 $800.00 $850.00 1,000$               85.00%

    TOTAL OTHER CHARGES $50.00 $800.00 $0.00 $0.00 $850.00 1,000$               85.00%

OTHER FINANCING USES

503300 APPROP FOR CONTINGENCY $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 22,500$             0.00%

     TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 22,500$             0.00%

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 76,321$          110,650$       -$               -$               186,971$        473,315$           39.50%



Income Statement
GL293  Date 01/15/19 Company 1000 - YOLO COUNTY USD Page    1

Time 13:03 Income Statement
For Period  4 Through  6 Ending December 31, 2018 Fiscal Year 2019  Budget 1

6940 6940 LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMM

Period           Period        Pct Of     Year To Date    Year To Date     Pct Of
Account Nbr  Description Amount           Budget         Budget       Amount           Budget Budget
------------ ------------------------------ ----------------- -----------------  ------ ------------------ ----------------- -------
NETFUND/POST NET FUND BALANCE
REVENUES     REVENUES
REVUSEMONEY  REVENUE FROM USE OF MONEY AND
400700-0000  INVESTMENT EARNINGS-POOL 1,653.50- 0.00    0.00 1,653.50- 1,500.00- 110.23

Total REVENUE FROM USE OF MONE 1,653.50- 0.00    0.00 1,653.50- 1,500.00- 110.23
INTGOVREVENU INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENUES
OTHRGOVAGNCY OTHER GOVERNMENTAL AGENCIES
402010-0001  OTHR GOVT AGENCY-OTH CO-CITYS 0.00 0.00    0.00 216,713.00- 216,713.00- 100.00
402030-0001  OTHR GOVT AGENCY-WEST SAC 0.00 0.00    0.00 69,885.00- 69,885.00- 100.00
402040-0001  OTHR GOVT AGCY-WOODLAND 0.00 0.00    0.00 63,758.00- 63,758.00- 100.00
402050-0001  OTHR GOVT AGCY-WINTERS 0.00 0.00    0.00 7,078.00- 7,078.00- 100.00
402060-0001  OTHR GOVT AGCY-DAVIS 75,991.00- 0.00    0.00 75,991.00- 75,991.00- 100.00

Total OTHER GOVERNMENTAL AGENC 75,991.00- 0.00    0.00 433,425.00- 433,425.00- 100.00
Total INTERGOVERNMENTAL REVENU 75,991.00- 0.00    0.00 433,425.00- 433,425.00- 100.00

CHG FOR SVCS CHARGES FOR SERVICES
403460-0000  OTH CHRG FR SVC-LAFCO FEE 4,200.00- 0.00    0.00 12,600.00- 4,000.00- 315.00

Total CHARGES FOR SERVICES 4,200.00- 0.00    0.00 12,600.00- 4,000.00- 315.00
Total REVENUES 81,844.50- 0.00    0.00 447,678.50- 438,925.00- 101.99

EXPENDITURES EXPENDITURES
SALARY&BEN   SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
SALARY&WAGES SALARY AND WAGES
500100-0000  REGULAR EMPLOYEES 55,371.42 0.00    0.00 95,448.00 201,567.00   47.35
500110-0000  EXTRA HELP 3,460.00 0.00    0.00 5,140.00 20,000.00   25.70

Total SALARY AND WAGES 58,831.42 0.00    0.00 100,588.00 221,567.00   45.40
EMPBENEFITS  EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
500310-0000  RETIREMENT 14,491.29 0.00    0.00 24,976.88 50,904.00   49.07
500320-0000  OASDI 3,717.88 0.00    0.00 6,367.98 13,360.00   47.66
500330-0000  FICA/MEDICARE 869.51 0.00    0.00 1,489.28 3,516.00   42.36
500340-0000  HEALTH INSURANCE 39.00 0.00    0.00 72.00 0.00    0.00
500360-0000  OPEB - RETIREE HEALTH INSURANC 4,415.75 0.00    0.00 7,610.87 18,141.00   41.95
500380-0000  UNEMPLOYMENT INSURANCE 0.00 0.00    0.00 0.00 350.00    0.00
500390-0000  WORKERS' COMP INSURANCE 0.00 0.00    0.00 441.93 500.00   88.39
500400-0000  OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 10,223.46 0.00    0.00 19,594.96 40,894.00   47.92

Total EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 33,756.89 0.00    0.00 60,553.90 127,665.00   47.43
Total SALARIES AND EMPLOYEE BE 92,588.31 0.00    0.00 161,141.90 349,232.00   46.14

SERVSUPPLIES SERVICES AND SUPPLIES
501020-0000  COMMUNICATIONS 392.73 0.00    0.00 671.20 2,500.00   26.85
501030-0000  FOOD 84.95 0.00    0.00 168.86 350.00   48.25
501051-0000  INSURANCE-PUBLIC LIABILITY 0.00 0.00    0.00 500.00 500.00  100.00
501070-0000  MAINTENANCE-EQUIPMENT 152.95 0.00    0.00 152.95 750.00   20.39
501071-0000  MAINTENANCE-BLDG IMPROVEMENT 450.00 0.00    0.00 450.00 0.00    0.00
501090-0000  MEMBERSHIPS 0.00 0.00    0.00 2,805.00 3,600.00   77.92
501100-0000  MISCELLANEOUS EXPENSE 0.00 0.00    0.00 0.00 250.00    0.00
501110-0000  OFFICE EXPENSE 296.42 0.00    0.00 452.27 1,250.00   36.18
501111-0000  OFFICE EXP-POSTAGE 236.49 0.00    0.00 296.49 250.00  118.60
501112-0000  OFFICE EXP-PRINTING 0.00 0.00    0.00 0.00 800.00    0.00
501125-0000  IT SERVICE-DPT SYS MAINT 168.00 0.00    0.00 168.00 2,000.00    8.40
501126-0000  IT SERVICE-ERP 719.69 0.00    0.00 1,439.38 2,879.00   50.00

Item 7-ATT B



Income Statement
GL293  Date 01/15/19               Company 1000 - YOLO COUNTY                      USD                                     Page    2
       Time 13:03                  Income Statement
                                   For Period  4 Through  6 Ending December 31, 2018          Fiscal Year 2019  Budget          1

6940                                 6940              LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMM

                                                 Period           Period        Pct Of     Year To Date    Year To Date     Pct Of
Account Nbr  Description                         Amount           Budget         Budget       Amount           Budget        Budget
------------ ------------------------------ ----------------- -----------------  ------ ------------------ ----------------- -------
SERVSUPPLIES SERVICES AND SUPPLIES
501127-0000  IT SERVICE-CONNECTIVITY                 1,506.11              0.00    0.00          2,214.87          3,629.00   61.03
501151-0000  PROF & SPEC SVC-AUDITG & ACCTG          8,215.00              0.00    0.00          8,215.00         15,000.00   54.77
501152-0000  PROF & SPEC SVC-INFO TECH SVC               0.00              0.00    0.00            300.00          1,300.00   23.08
501156-0000  PROF & SPEC SVC-LEGAL SVC                   0.00              0.00    0.00              0.00          7,000.00    0.00
501165-0000  PROF & SPEC SVC-OTHER                     225.00              0.00    0.00            450.00         40,000.00    1.13
501180-0000  PUBLICATIONS AND LEGAL NOTICES            344.26              0.00    0.00            407.26          1,500.00   27.15
501190-0000  RENTS AND LEASES - EQUIPMENT            2,624.79              0.00    0.00          1,950.25          2,000.00   97.51
501192-0000  RENTS & LEASES-RECRDS STORAGE               0.00              0.00    0.00              0.00            925.00    0.00
501205-0000  TRAINING                                  520.00-             0.00    0.00          2,330.00          4,200.00   55.48
501210-0000  MINOR EQUIPMENT                             0.00              0.00    0.00              0.00          1,400.00    0.00
501250-0000  TRANSPORTATION AND TRAVEL               2,365.74              0.00    0.00          2,007.54          8,500.00   23.62
             Total SERVICES AND SUPPLIES            17,262.13              0.00    0.00         24,979.07        100,583.00   24.83
OTHERCHARGES OTHER CHARGES
502201-0000  PAYMENTS TO OTH GOV INSTITUTIO            800.00              0.00    0.00            850.00          1,000.00   85.00
             Total OTHER CHARGES                       800.00              0.00    0.00            850.00          1,000.00   85.00
CONTINGENCY  APPROPRIATION FOR CONTINGENCIE
503300-0000  APPROPRIATION FOR CONTINGENCY               0.00              0.00    0.00              0.00         22,500.00    0.00
             Total APPROPRIATION FOR CONTIN              0.00              0.00    0.00              0.00         22,500.00    0.00
             Total EXPENDITURES                    110,650.44              0.00    0.00        186,970.97        473,315.00   39.50
             Total NET FUND BALANCE                 28,805.94              0.00    0.00        260,707.53-        34,390.00  758.09-




General Ledger Report
GL290  Date 01/15/19 Company 1000 - YOLO COUNTY USD Page     1

Time 13:48 RUNNING BAL TRANS    - RUNNING BALANCE TRANS REPORT Sort Variable Level, Account
For Period 04 - 06  Ending December 31, 2018 Type Amounts

Activity  Beg Bal and Activity

Accounting Unit  69405229816991  LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMM     Resp Level  6940-0052-02981-6991

Posting  Sy Pd Journal/Seq  Inco Transaction Desc     Activity        Catg Debit Credit Balance
----------------------------------------------------------------------------- ----- ------ -------
    Account   400700-0000      INVESTMENT EARNINGS-POOL Begin Balance 0.00
10/01/18 GL 04 N     668-00 1000 09-30-18 INTEREST AP 1,744.95 1,744.95-
10/01/18 GL 04 N     668-00 1000 09-30-18 INTEREST AP .75 1,745.70-
10/01/18 GL 04 N     669-00 1000 09-30-18 INT. APPORT 92.16 1,653.54-
10/01/18 GL 04 N     669-00 1000 09-30-18 INT. APPORT .04 1,653.50-

Total Activity  Account 92.20 1,745.70

400700-0000      INVESTMENT EARNINGS-POOL                                         End Balance                1,653.50-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   402010-0001      OTHR GOVT AGENCY-OTH CO-CITYS                                    Begin Balance            216,713.00-

402010-0001      OTHR GOVT AGENCY-OTH CO-CITYS                                    End Balance              216,713.00-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   402030-0001      OTHR GOVT AGENCY-WEST SAC                                        Begin Balance 69,885.00-

402030-0001      OTHR GOVT AGENCY-WEST SAC                                        End Balance 69,885.00-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   402040-0001      OTHR GOVT AGCY-WOODLAND                                          Begin Balance 63,758.00-

402040-0001      OTHR GOVT AGCY-WOODLAND                                          End Balance 63,758.00-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   402050-0001      OTHR GOVT AGCY-WINTERS                                           Begin Balance 7,078.00-

402050-0001      OTHR GOVT AGCY-WINTERS                                           End Balance 7,078.00-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   402060-0001      OTHR GOVT AGCY-DAVIS Begin Balance 0.00
10/23/18 CB 04 N      76-00 1000 DavisPortionLAFCoBud 75,991.00 75,991.00-

Total Activity  Account 75,991.00

402060-0001      OTHR GOVT AGCY-DAVIS                                             End Balance               75,991.00-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   403460-0000      OTH CHRG FR SVC-LAFCO FEE Begin Balance 8,400.00-
12/12/18 CB 06 N      29-00 1000 #928 Reorg of RDs 53 2,100.00 10,500.00-
12/12/18 CB 06 N      29-00 1000 #930 DetachRD537,Ann 2,100.00 12,600.00-

Total Activity  Account 4,200.00

403460-0000      OTH CHRG FR SVC-LAFCO FEE                                        End Balance               12,600.00-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   500100-0000      REGULAR EMPLOYEES                                                Begin Balance 40,076.58
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Expense accrual 16.92 40,093.50
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Expense accrual 338.82 40,432.32
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Expense accrual 1,467.03 41,899.35
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Expense accrual 119.21 42,018.56
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Expense accrual 340.59 42,359.15
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Expense accrual 118.58 42,477.73
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Expense accrual 2,060.35 44,538.08
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Expense accrual 4,989.52 49,527.60
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Expense accrual 311.28 49,838.88
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Expense accrual 25.00 49,863.88
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Expense accrual                                                           314.70 49,549.18
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual 51.09 49,600.27
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual 118.58 49,718.85
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual 2,282.68 52,001.53
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual 5,193.86 57,195.39
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual 22.23 57,217.62

Item 7-ATT C



General Ledger Report
GL290  Date 01/15/19                    Company 1000 - YOLO COUNTY                    USD                             Page     2
       Time 13:48                       RUNNING BAL TRANS    - RUNNING BALANCE TRANS REPORT      Sort      Variable Level, Account
                                        For Period 04 - 06  Ending December 31, 2018             Type      Amounts
                                                                                                 Activity  Beg Bal and Activity

Accounting Unit  69405229816991  LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMM     Resp                   Level  6940-0052-02981-6991

Posting  Sy Pd Journal/Seq  Inco Transaction Desc     Activity        Catg                Debit            Credit           Balance
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------             -----            ------           -------
    Account   500100-0000      REGULAR EMPLOYEES                                                Balance Fwd               57,217.62
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          66.71                           57,284.33
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         204.35                           57,488.68
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          25.00                           57,513.68
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual                                                           314.70         57,198.98
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          51.09                           57,250.07
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         340.58                           57,590.65
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         118.58                           57,709.23
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       2,371.62                           60,080.85
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       5,057.63                           65,138.48
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          25.00                           65,163.48
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                                           314.70         64,848.78
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         187.32                           65,036.10
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          59.29                           65,095.39
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          34.06                           65,129.45
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         118.58                           65,248.03
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       2,312.33                           67,560.36
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       5,227.93                           72,788.29
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          25.00                           72,813.29
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Expense accrual                                                           314.70         72,498.59
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         711.48                           73,210.07
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       1,634.79                           74,844.86
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          51.09                           74,895.95
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       1,600.74                           76,496.69
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         118.58                           76,615.27
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       1,156.17                           77,771.44
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       1,992.40                           79,763.84
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          22.23                           79,786.07
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         481.73                           80,267.80
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         170.29                           80,438.09
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          25.00                           80,463.09
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                                           314.70         80,148.39
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         289.50                           80,437.89
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          59.29                           80,497.18
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         170.29                           80,667.47
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         118.58                           80,786.05
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       2,312.33                           83,098.38
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       4,989.52                           88,087.90
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          25.00                           88,112.90
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                                           314.70         87,798.20
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          51.09                           87,849.29
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         118.58                           87,967.87
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       2,371.62                           90,339.49
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       5,398.21                           95,737.70
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                          25.00                           95,762.70
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                                           314.70         95,448.00
                                        Total Activity  Account                       57,574.32          2,202.90

              500100-0000      REGULAR EMPLOYEES                                                End Balance               95,448.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------




General Ledger Report
GL290  Date 01/15/19                    Company 1000 - YOLO COUNTY                    USD                             Page     3
       Time 13:48                       RUNNING BAL TRANS    - RUNNING BALANCE TRANS REPORT      Sort      Variable Level, Account
                                        For Period 04 - 06  Ending December 31, 2018             Type      Amounts
                                                                                                 Activity  Beg Bal and Activity

Accounting Unit  69405229816991  LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMM     Resp                   Level  6940-0052-02981-6991

Posting  Sy Pd Journal/Seq  Inco Transaction Desc     Activity        Catg                Debit            Credit           Balance
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------             -----            ------           -------
    Account   500110-0000      EXTRA HELP                                                       Begin Balance              1,680.00
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         310.00                            1,990.00
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         270.00                            2,260.00
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         550.00                            2,810.00
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         420.00                            3,230.00
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         820.00                            4,050.00
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                       1,090.00                            5,140.00
                                        Total Activity  Account                        3,460.00

              500110-0000      EXTRA HELP                                                       End Balance                5,140.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   500310-0000      RETIREMENT                                                       Begin Balance             10,485.59
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                  2,480.38                           12,965.97
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                  2,001.82                           14,967.79
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                  2,001.82                           16,969.61
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                  2,001.82                           18,971.43
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                  2,001.81                           20,973.24
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                  2,001.82                           22,975.06
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                  2,001.82                           24,976.88
                                        Total Activity  Account                       14,491.29

              500310-0000      RETIREMENT                                                       End Balance               24,976.88
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   500320-0000      OASDI                                                            Begin Balance              2,650.10
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    587.30                            3,237.40
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    504.64                            3,742.04
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    502.15                            4,244.19
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    519.51                            4,763.70
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    511.45                            5,275.15
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    538.04                            5,813.19
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    554.79                            6,367.98
                                        Total Activity  Account                        3,717.88

              500320-0000      OASDI                                                            End Balance                6,367.98
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   500330-0000      FICA/MEDICARE                                                    Begin Balance                619.77
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    137.36                              757.13
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    118.02                              875.15
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    117.43                              992.58
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    121.51                            1,114.09
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    119.61                            1,233.70
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    125.83                            1,359.53
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    129.75                            1,489.28
                                        Total Activity  Account                          869.51

              500330-0000      FICA/MEDICARE                                                    End Balance                1,489.28
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------




General Ledger Report
GL290  Date 01/15/19                    Company 1000 - YOLO COUNTY                    USD                             Page     4
       Time 13:48                       RUNNING BAL TRANS    - RUNNING BALANCE TRANS REPORT      Sort      Variable Level, Account
                                        For Period 04 - 06  Ending December 31, 2018             Type      Amounts
                                                                                                 Activity  Beg Bal and Activity

Accounting Unit  69405229816991  LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMM     Resp                   Level  6940-0052-02981-6991

Posting  Sy Pd Journal/Seq  Inco Transaction Desc     Activity        Catg                Debit            Credit           Balance
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------             -----            ------           -------
    Account   500340-0000      HEALTH INSURANCE                                                 Begin Balance                 33.00
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                      3.00                               36.00
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                      6.00                               42.00
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                      6.00                               48.00
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                      6.00                               54.00
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                      6.00                               60.00
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                      6.00                               66.00
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                      6.00                               72.00
                                        Total Activity  Account                           39.00

              500340-0000      HEALTH INSURANCE                                                 End Balance                   72.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   500360-0000      OPEB - RETIREE HEALTH INSURANCE                                  Begin Balance              3,195.12
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    755.81                            3,950.93
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    609.99                            4,560.92
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    609.99                            5,170.91
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    609.99                            5,780.90
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    609.99                            6,390.89
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    609.99                            7,000.88
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Summarized transacti                                    609.99                            7,610.87
                                        Total Activity  Account                        4,415.75

              500360-0000      OPEB - RETIREE HEALTH INSURANCE                                  End Balance                7,610.87
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   500390-0000      WORKERS' COMP INSURANCE                                          Begin Balance                441.93
              500390-0000      WORKERS' COMP INSURANCE                                          End Balance                  441.93
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   500400-0000      OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS                                          Begin Balance              9,371.50
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         439.34                            9,810.84
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         412.61                           10,223.45
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         851.96                           11,075.41
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         439.34                           11,514.75
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         412.61                           11,927.36
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         851.96                           12,779.32
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         439.34                           13,218.66
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         412.61                           13,631.27
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         851.96                           14,483.23
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         439.34                           14,922.57
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         412.61                           15,335.18
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         851.96                           16,187.14
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         447.32                           16,634.46
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         404.63                           17,039.09
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         851.96                           17,891.05
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         447.32                           18,338.37
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         404.63                           18,743.00
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Expense accrual                                         851.96                           19,594.96
                                        Total Activity  Account                       10,223.46

              500400-0000      OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS                                          End Balance               19,594.96
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------




General Ledger Report
GL290  Date 01/15/19                    Company 1000 - YOLO COUNTY                    USD                             Page     5
       Time 13:48                       RUNNING BAL TRANS    - RUNNING BALANCE TRANS REPORT      Sort      Variable Level, Account
                                        For Period 04 - 06  Ending December 31, 2018             Type      Amounts
                                                                                                 Activity  Beg Bal and Activity

Accounting Unit  69405229816991  LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMM     Resp                   Level  6940-0052-02981-6991

Posting  Sy Pd Journal/Seq  Inco Transaction Desc     Activity        Catg                Debit            Credit           Balance
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------             -----            ------           -------
    Account   501020-0000      COMMUNICATIONS                                                   Begin Balance                278.47
10/08/18 GL 04 N     111-00 1000 185-1 09/18 INTERNAL                                    125.99                              404.46
10/22/18 GL 04 N     418-00 1000 185-1 09/18 INTERNAL                                      8.50                              412.96
11/07/18 GL 05 N     105-00 1000 185-1 10/18 INTERNAL                                    125.16                              538.12
11/27/18 GL 05 N     353-00 1000 185-1 10/18 INTERNAL                                      8.50                              546.62
12/14/18 GL 06 N     400-00 1000 185-1 11/18 INTERNAL                                    124.58                              671.20
12/20/18 GL 06 N     497-00 1000 185-1 11/18 INTERNAL                                      8.50                              679.70
12/31/18 GL 06 N     512-00 1000 REV JE 6-497                                                                8.50            671.20
                                        Total Activity  Account                          401.23              8.50

              501020-0000      COMMUNICATIONS                                                   End Balance                  671.20
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501030-0000      FOOD                                                             Begin Balance                 83.91
12/31/18 GL 06 N     111-00 1000 Nugget-YoloLeadersSp                                     84.95                              168.86
                                        Total Activity  Account                           84.95

              501030-0000      FOOD                                                             End Balance                  168.86
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501051-0000      INSURANCE-PUBLIC LIABILITY                                       Begin Balance                500.00
              501051-0000      INSURANCE-PUBLIC LIABILITY                                       End Balance                  500.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501070-0000      MAINTENANCE-EQUIPMENT                                            Begin Balance                  0.00
10/12/18 AP 04 N      64-00 1000     13078INLAND BUSI                                    117.27                              117.27
10/31/18 AP 04 N     186-00 1000     13078INLAND BUSI                                     35.68                              152.95
                                        Total Activity  Account                          152.95

              501070-0000      MAINTENANCE-EQUIPMENT                                            End Balance                  152.95
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501071-0000      MAINTENANCE-BLDG IMPROVEMENT                                     Begin Balance                  0.00
12/31/18 GL 06 N      51-00 1000 10/18 FacilityWorkRe                                    450.00                              450.00
                                        Total Activity  Account                          450.00

              501071-0000      MAINTENANCE-BLDG IMPROVEMENT                                     End Balance                  450.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501090-0000      MEMBERSHIPS                                                      Begin Balance              2,805.00
              501090-0000      MEMBERSHIPS                                                      End Balance                2,805.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501110-0000      OFFICE EXPENSE                                                   Begin Balance                155.85
10/09/18 AP 04 N      39-00 1000     10246ALHAMBRA                                         7.18                              163.03
11/02/18 AP 05 N       8-00 1000     10246ALHAMBRA                                         3.59                              166.62
11/30/18 GL 05 N      35-00 1000 LAFCO 10/18 SIGN REQ                                    107.83                              274.45
12/03/18 AP 06 N       5-00 1000     10246ALHAMBRA                                         7.18                              281.63
12/31/18 GL 06 N     110-00 1000 CA Newspaper-Democra                                    138.88                              420.51
12/31/18 GL 06 N     111-00 1000 Bay Photo Lab-LAFCo                                      31.76                              452.27
                                        Total Activity  Account                          296.42

              501110-0000      OFFICE EXPENSE                                                   End Balance                  452.27
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------




General Ledger Report
GL290  Date 01/15/19                    Company 1000 - YOLO COUNTY                    USD                             Page     6
       Time 13:48                       RUNNING BAL TRANS    - RUNNING BALANCE TRANS REPORT      Sort      Variable Level, Account
                                        For Period 04 - 06  Ending December 31, 2018             Type      Amounts
                                                                                                 Activity  Beg Bal and Activity

Accounting Unit  69405229816991  LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMM     Resp                   Level  6940-0052-02981-6991

Posting  Sy Pd Journal/Seq  Inco Transaction Desc     Activity        Catg                Debit            Credit           Balance
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------             -----            ------           -------
    Account   501111-0000      OFFICE EXP-POSTAGE                                               Begin Balance                 60.00
10/31/18 GL 04 N     138-00 1000 Postage,Certified-Pr                                     86.49                              146.49
11/30/18 GL 05 N      41-00 1000 USPS-Postage/#924 Pr                                    150.00                              296.49
                                        Total Activity  Account                          236.49

              501111-0000      OFFICE EXP-POSTAGE                                               End Balance                  296.49
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501125-0000      IT SERVICE-DPT SYS MAINT                                         Begin Balance                  0.00
10/31/18 GL 04 N     390-00 1000 #927 EspartoCSDAnnex                                    168.00                              168.00
                                        Total Activity  Account                          168.00

              501125-0000      IT SERVICE-DPT SYS MAINT                                         End Balance                  168.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501126-0000      IT SERVICE-ERP                                                   Begin Balance                719.69
12/21/18 GL 06 N     533-00 1000 LAFCO Q2 IT CHGS-ERP                                    719.69                            1,439.38
                                        Total Activity  Account                          719.69

              501126-0000      IT SERVICE-ERP                                                   End Balance                1,439.38
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501127-0000      IT SERVICE-CONNECTIVITY                                          Begin Balance                708.76
12/21/18 GL 06 N     533-00 1000 LAFCO Q2 IT CHGS-CON                                    708.75                            1,417.51
12/31/18 GL 06 N     761-00 1000 LAFCO OFFICE 365 CHG                                    797.36                            2,214.87
                                        Total Activity  Account                        1,506.11

              501127-0000      IT SERVICE-CONNECTIVITY                                          End Balance                2,214.87
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501151-0000      PROF & SPEC SVC-AUDITG & ACCTG                                   Begin Balance                  0.00
12/06/18 AP 06 N      41-00 1000 Audit FYE 2016-2018                                   8,215.00                            8,215.00
                                        Total Activity  Account                        8,215.00

              501151-0000      PROF & SPEC SVC-AUDITG & ACCTG                                   End Balance                8,215.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501152-0000      PROF & SPEC SVC-INFO TECH SVC                                    Begin Balance                300.00
              501152-0000      PROF & SPEC SVC-INFO TECH SVC                                    End Balance                  300.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501165-0000      PROF & SPEC SVC-OTHER                                            Begin Balance                225.00
10/15/18 AP 04 N      78-00 1000     16780DIGITAL DEP                                     75.00                              300.00
11/15/18 AP 05 N      77-00 1000     16780DIGITAL DEP                                     75.00                              375.00
12/17/18 AP 06 N      81-00 1000     16780DIGITAL DEP                                     75.00                              450.00
                                        Total Activity  Account                          225.00

              501165-0000      PROF & SPEC SVC-OTHER                                            End Balance                  450.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501180-0000      PUBLICATIONS AND LEGAL NOTICES                                   Begin Balance                 63.00
10/09/18 AP 04 N      73-00 1000 Notice-Garcia Bend C                                     49.00                              112.00
10/31/18 GL 04 N     138-00 1000 Democrat-Notice-Prop                                    129.74                              241.74
11/30/18 GL 05 N      41-00 1000 #924 Protest Hearing                                    165.52                              407.26




General Ledger Report
GL290  Date 01/15/19                    Company 1000 - YOLO COUNTY                    USD                             Page     7
       Time 13:48                       RUNNING BAL TRANS    - RUNNING BALANCE TRANS REPORT      Sort      Variable Level, Account
                                        For Period 04 - 06  Ending December 31, 2018             Type      Amounts
                                                                                                 Activity  Beg Bal and Activity

Accounting Unit  69405229816991  LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMM     Resp                   Level  6940-0052-02981-6991

Posting  Sy Pd Journal/Seq  Inco Transaction Desc     Activity        Catg                Debit            Credit           Balance
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------             -----            ------           -------
    Account   501180-0000      PUBLICATIONS AND LEGAL NOTICES                                   Balance Fwd                  407.26
                                        Total Activity  Account                          344.26

              501180-0000      PUBLICATIONS AND LEGAL NOTICES                                   End Balance                  407.26
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501190-0000      RENTS AND LEASES - EQUIPMENT                                     Begin Balance                674.54-
10/09/18 AP 04 N      39-00 1000     10246ALHAMBRA                                         5.00                              669.54-
11/02/18 AP 05 N       8-00 1000     10246ALHAMBRA                                         5.00                              664.54-
11/26/18 AP 05 N     120-00 1000     15291TIAA COMMER                                  2,416.48                            1,751.94
11/26/18 AP 05 N     120-00 1000     15291TIAA COMMER                                    175.19                            1,927.13
11/26/18 AP 05 N     120-00 1000     15291TIAA COMMER                                     18.12                            1,945.25
12/03/18 AP 06 N       5-00 1000     10246ALHAMBRA                                         5.00                            1,950.25
                                        Total Activity  Account                        2,624.79

              501190-0000      RENTS AND LEASES - EQUIPMENT                                     End Balance                1,950.25
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501205-0000      TRAINING                                                         Begin Balance              2,850.00
11/07/18 CB 05 N      12-00 1000 REF V#13218 07.26.18                                                      520.00          2,330.00
                                        Total Activity  Account                                            520.00

              501205-0000      TRAINING                                                         End Balance                2,330.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   501250-0000      TRANSPORTATION AND TRAVEL                                        Begin Balance                358.20-
10/01/18 AP 04 N       3-00 1000 FY18/19 1st QTR Mile                                     97.21                              260.99-
10/15/18 AP 04 N      78-00 1000 TT TravelClaim-Confe                                     79.00                              181.99-
10/15/18 AP 04 N      78-00 1000 EM Travel Claim-CALA                                     34.00                              147.99-
10/15/18 AP 04 N      85-00 1000 RD Travel-CALAFCO Co                                    306.81                              158.82
10/16/18 AP 04 N     129-00 1000 CC Travel-CALAFCO Co                                    305.72                              464.54
10/31/18 GL 04 N     139-00 1000 Parking-Meetingw/CA                                       6.00                              470.54
11/30/18 GL 05 N      41-00 1000 TenayaLodge-CALAFCOC                                  1,537.00                            2,007.54
                                        Total Activity  Account                        2,365.74

              501250-0000      TRANSPORTATION AND TRAVEL                                        End Balance                2,007.54
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   502201-0000      PAYMENTS TO OTH GOV INSTITUTION                                  Begin Balance                 50.00
11/15/18 AP 05 N      91-00 1000 LAFCo#924                                               800.00                              850.00
                                        Total Activity  Account                          800.00

              502201-0000      PAYMENTS TO OTH GOV INSTITUTION                                  End Balance                  850.00
              69405229816991   LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMM                                      End Balance              260,707.53-
====================================================================================================================================





General Ledger Report
GL290  Date 01/15/19                    Company 1000 - YOLO COUNTY                    USD                             Page     8
       Time 13:48                       RUNNING BAL TRANS    - RUNNING BALANCE TRANS REPORT      Sort      Variable Level, Account
                                        For Period 04 - 06  Ending December 31, 2018             Type      Amounts
                                                                                                 Activity  Beg Bal and Activity

Accounting Unit  69409900010001  LOC AGENCY FORM BSU ONLY        Resp                   Level  6940-0099-00001-0001

Posting  Sy Pd Journal/Seq  Inco Transaction Desc     Activity        Catg                Debit            Credit           Balance
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------             -----            ------           -------
    Account   100000-0000      CASH IN TREASURY                                                 Begin Balance            409,742.84
10/01/18 GL 04 N     670-00 1000 APPR REST CASH Q4 EN                                                         .71        409,742.13
10/01/18 AP 04 N       3-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                       97.21        409,644.92
10/01/18 GL 04 N     668-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                  1,745.70                          411,390.62
10/01/18 GL 04 N     669-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                       92.20        411,298.42
10/05/18 PR 04 N       2-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                   13,436.45        397,861.97
10/08/18 GL 04 N     111-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      125.99        397,735.98
10/09/18 AP 04 N      39-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                       12.18        397,723.80
10/09/18 AP 04 N      73-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                       49.00        397,674.80
10/12/18 AP 04 N      64-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      117.27        397,557.53
10/15/18 AP 04 N      78-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      188.00        397,369.53
10/15/18 AP 04 N      85-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      306.81        397,062.72
10/16/18 AP 04 N     129-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      305.72        396,757.00
10/19/18 PR 04 N       6-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                   12,904.18        383,852.82
10/22/18 GL 04 N     418-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                        8.50        383,844.32
10/23/18 CB 04 N      76-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                 75,991.00                          459,835.32
10/31/18 GL 04 N     138-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      216.23        459,619.09
10/31/18 GL 04 N     139-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                        6.00        459,613.09
10/31/18 AP 04 N     186-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                       35.68        459,577.41
10/31/18 GL 04 N     390-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      168.00        459,409.41
11/02/18 PR 05 N       1-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                   12,861.10        446,548.31
11/02/18 AP 05 N       8-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                        8.59        446,539.72
11/07/18 CB 05 N      12-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                    520.00                          447,059.72
11/07/18 GL 05 N     105-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      125.16        446,934.56
11/15/18 AP 05 N      77-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                       75.00        446,859.56
11/15/18 AP 05 N      91-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      800.00        446,059.56
11/16/18 PR 05 N       3-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                   13,162.55        432,897.01
11/26/18 AP 05 N     120-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                    2,609.79        430,287.22
11/27/18 GL 05 N     353-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                        8.50        430,278.72
11/30/18 PR 05 N       4-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                   13,022.57        417,256.15
11/30/18 GL 05 N      35-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      107.83        417,148.32
11/30/18 GL 05 N      41-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                    1,852.52        415,295.80
12/03/18 AP 06 N       5-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                       12.18        415,283.62
12/06/18 AP 06 N      41-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                    8,215.00        407,068.62
12/12/18 CB 06 N      29-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                  4,200.00                          411,268.62
12/14/18 PR 06 N       1-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                   13,455.40        397,813.22
12/14/18 GL 06 N     400-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      124.58        397,688.64
12/17/18 AP 06 N      81-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                       75.00        397,613.64
12/20/18 GL 06 N     497-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                        8.50        397,605.14
12/21/18 GL 06 N     533-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                    1,428.44        396,176.70
12/28/18 PR 06 N       4-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                   13,746.06        382,430.64
12/31/18 GL 06 N      51-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      450.00        381,980.64
12/31/18 GL 06 N     110-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      138.88        381,841.76
12/31/18 GL 06 N     111-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      116.71        381,725.05
12/31/18 GL 06 N     512-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                      8.50                          381,733.55
12/31/18 GL 06 N     761-00 1000 Auto Offset From Zon                                                      797.36        380,936.19
                                        Total Activity  Account                       82,465.20        111,271.85

              100000-0000      CASH IN TREASURY                                                 End Balance              380,936.19
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------




General Ledger Report
GL290  Date 01/15/19                    Company 1000 - YOLO COUNTY                    USD                             Page     9
       Time 13:48                       RUNNING BAL TRANS    - RUNNING BALANCE TRANS REPORT      Sort      Variable Level, Account
                                        For Period 04 - 06  Ending December 31, 2018             Type      Amounts
                                                                                                 Activity  Beg Bal and Activity

Accounting Unit  69409900010001  LOC AGENCY FORM BSU ONLY        Resp                   Level  6940-0099-00001-0001

Posting  Sy Pd Journal/Seq  Inco Transaction Desc     Activity        Catg                Debit            Credit           Balance
-----------------------------------------------------------------------------             -----            ------           -------
    Account   101000-0144      RC-LAFCO PC REPL                                                 Begin Balance                145.86
10/01/18 GL 04 N     670-00 1000 APPR REST CASH Q4 EN                                       .71                              146.57
                                        Total Activity  Account                             .71

              101000-0144      RC-LAFCO PC REPL                                                 End Balance                  146.57
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   190200-0000      FUTURE LONG TERM DEBT REQUIRE                                    Begin Balance            654,193.00
              190200-0000      FUTURE LONG TERM DEBT REQUIRE                                    End Balance              654,193.00
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   195010-0000      DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-PENSIONS                                       Begin Balance            123,779.00-
              195010-0000      DEFERRED OUTFLOWS-PENSIONS                                       End Balance              123,779.00-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   210900-0000      COMPENSATED ABSENSES (S/T)                                       Begin Balance              2,605.50-
              210900-0000      COMPENSATED ABSENSES (S/T)                                       End Balance                2,605.50-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   220501-0000      DEFERRED INFLOWS PENSION                                         Begin Balance             72,443.00-
              220501-0000      DEFERRED INFLOWS PENSION                                         End Balance               72,443.00-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   230000-0000      COMPENSATED ABSENSES (L/T)                                       Begin Balance              2,604.50-
              230000-0000      COMPENSATED ABSENSES (L/T)                                       End Balance                2,604.50-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   230600-0000      OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS                                   Begin Balance             58,485.00-
              230600-0000      OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFITS                                   End Balance               58,485.00-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   230650-0000      NET PENSION LIABILITY                                            Begin Balance            394,276.00-
              230650-0000      NET PENSION LIABILITY                                            End Balance              394,276.00-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   300600-0001      FD BAL-ASSIGNED-CAP ASSET REPL                                   Begin Balance              1,343.85-
              300600-0001      FD BAL-ASSIGNED-CAP ASSET REPL                                   End Balance                1,343.85-
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
    Account   300999-0000      UNASSIGNED                                                       Begin Balance            119,031.38-
              300999-0000      UNASSIGNED                                                       End Balance              119,031.38-
              69409900010001   LOC AGENCY FORM BSU ONLY                                         End Balance              260,707.53
====================================================================================================================================

              Company 1000 Totals:
              Debit Transactions                    195,939.95
              Credit Transactions                   195,939.95
              Debit Balances                      1,222,246.73
              Credit Balances                     1,222,246.73
              P/L Debit Transactions                113,474.04
              P/L Credit Transactions                84,668.10
              Net Loss                               28,805.94





General Ledger Report
GL290 Date: 01/15/19           JOB SUBMISSION PARAMETERS  
      Time: 13:48                                         
                                                          
  
User Name: YLLSFPD\TTuck  
Job Name: GL290TT         
Step Nbr: 1               
                          
  
              Company: 1000              YOLO COUNTY           USD                     
    or  Company Group:                                                                 
              Reports: RUNNING BAL TRANS                                               
                                                                                       
                                                                                       
                                                                                       
            Year Code:      or Posting Dates:                        -                 
             or  Year: 2019                                                            
              Periods:  4 -    6                                                       
                                                                                       
      Accounting Unit: 6940              LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMM                   
             Accounts:        -                                                        
          Subaccounts:        -                                                        
      Report Currency: B                 Base                                          




   
    Consent      8.             

LAFCO
Meeting Date: 01/24/2019  

Information
SUBJECT
Correspondence

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Receive and file the following correspondence:

A. CALAFCO Quarterly - December 2018
B. CHW Newsletter - Winter 2019

Attachments
ATT A-CALAFCO Quarterly-Dec2018
ATT B-CHW Newsletter-Winter 2019

Form Review
Form Started By: Terri Tuck Started On: 01/15/2019 09:57 AM
Final Approval Date: 01/15/2019 



CALAFCO Board and Staff Changes 
Results of the recent CALAFCO Board of Directors elections netted 

several new Board members for 2019. One northern representative 

elected to fill the City seat lost a local election, so there is now a 2-

year vacancy being filled by the Board. Current Board members 

include: 

Northern: Bill Connelly (Butte), Debra Lake (Humboldt) and Josh 

Susman (Nevada). 

Southern: Cheryl Brothers (Orange), Mike Kelley (Imperial), Jo 

MacKenzie (San Diego) and David West (Imperial). 

Coastal: Mike McGill (Contra Costa), Margie Mohler (Napa), Jane 

Parker (Monterey) and Susan Vicklund Wilson (Santa Clara).  

Central: Shiva Frentzen (El Dorado), Gay Jones (Sacramento), Anita 

Paque (Calaveras) and Daniel Parra (Fresno – filling a 1-year term).  

In October the Board said goodbye to John Leopold (Santa Cruz), 

Gerard McCallum (Los Angeles) and Ricky Samayoa (Yuba), and 

earlier this year Bill Kirby (Placer) left the CALAFCO Board. We thank 

all of them for their service and many contributions to CALAFCO.  

Additionally, a new Southern region DEO was appointed. We 

welcome Keene Simonds (San Diego) to the team, and thank 

outgoing DEO Carolyn Emery (Orange) for her service.  

CALAFCO Board 2019 Officers and Committees 
At their December 7 meeting, the CALAFCO Board elected their 

officers for 2019 as follows: 

Chair – Josh Susman (Nevada – northern) 

Vice Chair – Mike McGill (Contra Costa - coastal) 

Secretary – Mike Kelley (Imperial - southern) 

Treasurer – Shiva Frentzen (El Dorado - central) 

They also appointed members to the 2019 standing committees as 

follows: 

Legislative Committee Elections Committee 

Bill Connelly (North) Cheryl Brothers 

Shiva Frentzen (Central) Shiva Frentzen (Chair) 

Jo MacKenzie (South) Jane Parker 

Susan Vicklund Wilson (Coastal) Josh Susman  

Mike McGill (At-Large) 

Gay Jones (a) (At-Large) Awards Committee 

Michael Kelley (a) (South) Cheryl Brothers 

Margie Mohler (a) (Coastal) Mike Kelley (Chair) 

Anita Paque (a) (Central) Debra Lake 

Josh Susman (a) (North) Margie Mohler 

Daniel Parra 

2019 Annual Conference 

Debra Lake 

Anita Paque (Chair) 

Jane Parker 

Daniel Parra 

Josh Susman 

David West 

Conferences and Workshops Update 

2018 ANNUAL CONFERENCE A SUCCESS 
A final Conference program report was 

provided to the Board on December 7 

(financial report will be provided once the 

2nd quarter financials are closed). The 

Conference was held October 3-5 in Yosemite at the beautiful 

 

Tenaya Lodge. Approximately 294 commissioners, staff, 

associate members, guests and speakers attended the 

Conference. A total of 47 LAFCos were represented. Participant 

evaluations rated the overall experience a 5.5 out of 6.0 (the 

highest since we have been tracking). This year we had a total of 

$25,750 in sponsorship revenue, with 15 total sponsors of 

varying levels. CALAFCO thanks all of our sponsors for your 

support and participation in this event. 

We also thank Conference Chair Anita Paque, Program 

Committee Co-Chairs Carolyn Emery and Christine Crawford, 

everyone who worked to plan the program and all of you who 

volunteered and helped on site. A very special thank you goes 

out to Madera County Supervisor (and Madera LAFCo 

Commissioner) Tom Wheeler and his Chief of Staff Brittany Dyer 

for planning and delivering such an outstanding Mobile 

Workshop and Thursday luncheon keynote on tree mortality. The 

Mobile Workshop ratings were a perfect 6.0.  

All program presentations were placed on the CALAFCO website 

the week before the Conference.  

MARK YOUR CALENDARS FOR THE 2019 ANNUAL 

CONFERENCE: October 30 – November 1 in Sacramento 

at the Hyatt Regency downtown.  

2019 STAFF WORKSHOP 
The 2019 Staff Workshop is set for April 10-12 at the Holiday Inn 

in San Jose. Our host for this workshop will be Santa Clara 

LAFCo. The Program Planning Committee is working hard and 

already has a hot line-up of sessions you will not want to miss! 

Keep an eye open for registration details coming in January.  

CALAFCO Congratulates the 2018 Annual Achievement 

Award Recipients 
CALAFCO wishes to congratulate all of this 

year’s nominees, and especially those who 

received the 2018 Achievement Award. 

 Outstanding Commissioner –Margie

Mohler (Napa LAFCo)

 Outstanding LAFCo Clerk –Elizabeth

Valdez (Riverside LAFCo)

 Outstanding LAFCo Professional – George Williamson (Del

Norte and Shasta LAFCos)

 Distinguished Service – John Withers  (formerly of Orange

LAFCo)

 Outstanding Associate Member – Best Best & Krieger

 Project of the Year –Lake LAFCo  (Cobb Fire)

 Government Leadership – County of Tulare, City of

Porterville, CA Dept. of Water Resources, CA State Water

Resources Control Board, Governor’s Office of Emergency

NNeewwss  ffrroomm  tthhee  BBooaarrdd  ooff  DDiirreeccttoorrss  

CCAALLAAFFCCOO  QQUUAARRTTEERRLLYY DDeecceemmbbeerr  22001188

Item 8-ATT A



 

 

 

 

Services, Self-Help Enterprises and Community Water 

Center (East Porterville water supply project)  

 Most Effective Commission – Santa Clara LAFCo 

 Mike Gotch Courage & Innovation – Mike Ott (formerly 

of San Diego LAFCo) 

 Lifetime Achievement – Pat McCormick (Santa Cruz LAFCo) 

and George Spiliotis (Riverside LAFCo)  

 Legislator of the Year – Assemblymember Anna 

Caballero 

 

CALAFCO Board Actions  
The Board met on October 5 and appointed the 

staff members of the 2019 Legislative and 

Advisory Committees. They also adopted their 

2019 annual meeting calendar which includes 

the biennial strategic planning retreat on 

February 28, 2019 in Irvine.  

 

During the Board’s meeting on December 7, they took the following 

actions: 
 Received and filed the 1st quarter financial reports 

 Received and filed the Annual Conference report 

 Decided on the priority topics for their February Strategic 

Planning Workshop 

 Unanimously approved the 2019 legislative priorities 

 Adopted the CALAFCO 2019 Legislative Policies 

 

CALAFCO White Papers and Other Publications 
We are pleased to report several projects completed in the latter 

part of the year.  

 
DUC Mapping Project Complete 
The long awaited disadvantaged unincorporated community (DUC) 

mapping statewide project is complete and on the CALAFCO website. 

This map is not intended to supersede any individual LAFCo DUC 

map but rather to fulfill requirements in SB 244 (Wolk, 2011) of 

LAFCos statewide needing to map DUCs.  CALAFCO wishes to thank 

Joe Serrano (Monterey) for his assistance in this mapping project. 

The map can be found on the CALAFCO website in the Resources 

section.   

 

White Paper Published  

In partnership with the Strategic Growth Council (SGC), CALAFCO 

published a White Paper titled, Creating Sustainable Communities 

and Landscapes. The paper is intended to be a guide for LAFCos, 

Counties, Cities and other local entities with respect to urban growth 

boundaries. We wish to thank the authors of the paper including Ena 

Lupine, SGC; Emily Tibbott, SGC; Michael McCormick, OPR; and 

Jessie Hudson, OPR. The Advisory Working Group included: Pamela 

Miller, CALAFCO; Neelima Palacherla, Santa Clara LAFCo; Michael 

McCormick, OPR; Emily Tibbott, SGC; Randall Winston, SGC; and 

Louise Bedsworth, SGC. Special thanks to Mark Bramfitt (Sonoma), 

Kai Luoma (Ventura), Sara Lytle-Piney (Stanislaus) and Neelima 

Palacherla (Santa Clara) for their help in developing case studies for 

each of the four counties. 

 
Each LAFCo received a special bound hard copy of the white paper 

and it is available on the CALAFCO website.  

 

 

 

 

 
CALAFCO Legislative Update 
 

 

CALAFCO Legislative Update 
The new Legislature will convene January 7. 

With a new Administration, a super majority 

and a number of new legislators, 2019 is 

expected to be unpredictable (more so than 

usual).   

 

During their December 7 meeting, the 

CALAFCO Board of Directors deliberated at 

length about the 2019 legislative priorities. In 

the end, they unanimously decided to sponsor an Omnibus bill, 

try one more time for LAFCo grant funding (a follow up to AB 

2258, Caballero from last year) and begin a two-year project on 

evaluating and possibly amending the protest provisions. The 

latter two priorities were recommendations in the 2017 Little 

Hoover Commission report.  

 

CALAFCO has been asked to participate in DWR’s County 

Drought Advisory Group. Our representatives are Mike McGill 

(Contract Costa), Josh Susman (Nevada) and Pamela Miller 

(CALAFCO).  

 

 
 
CALAFCO Associate Members’ Corner 
 
This section highlights our Associate 

Members. The information below is provided 

to CALAFCO by the Associate member upon 

joining the Association. All Associate 

member information can be found in the CALAFCO Member 

Directory. 

 
We are pleased to welcome a new Silver Associate Member to 

CALAFCO, Pacific Gold Agriculture LLC.  

 
Pacific Gold Agriculture, LLC  

 
Pacific Gold Agriculture is focused on 

sustainable agricultural practices and overall 

sustainability. They desire to work with LAFCos 

to ensure sustainability in agricultural 

communities. For more information, visit 

their website at www.pacgoldag.com or contact Chief Executive 

Officer Ben King at bking@pacgoldag.com or call 530-723-3119. 

 

 

Congratulations to the 2018 CALAFCO 

Outstanding Associate Member of the 

Year, Best Best & Krieger.  

  

In meeting the needs of public and 

private sector clients, BB&K offers unique experiences in 

handling complex, multi-disciplinary issues and providing 

solutions of common interest to leaders of both business and 

government, including LAFCo law. BB&K has been CALAFCO’s 

legal counsel since 1982. 

 

CALAFCO wishes to thank all of our Associate Members for your 

support and partnership. We look forward to continuing to 

highlight our Associate Members in each Quarterly Report. 

 

NNeewwss  ffrroomm  tthhee  BBooaarrdd  ooff  DDiirreeccttoorrss  

CCAALLAAFFCCOO  QQUUAARRTTEERRLLYY     DDeecceemmbbeerr  22001188  

PPaaggee  22 

 

http://www.pacgoldag.com/
mailto:bking@pacgoldag.com


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Monterey LAFCo 

CALAFCO was pleased to attend the Monterey LAFCo meeting on 

December 3 to bid farewell to Commissioner Simón Salinas after 

serving 22 years on the Monterey LAFCo, 

in honor of his leadership in the CA State 

Assembly and his contributions to the 

CALAFCO Board.  His countless 

contributions to LAFCos throughout the 

state as a result of his many years of 

public service are greatly appreciated and 

we wish him well in his retirement.   

 

Riverside LAFCo 

It was with mixed emotions we visited 

Riverside LAFCo on December 6 to honor 

Executive Officer George Spiliotis 

at his last meeting after serving 

29 years with his LAFCo and his 

countless contributions to 

CALAFCO. The day before there 

was a celebration in his honor 

and sporting one of his more conservative shirt and tie 

combos, George celebrated with a host of friends and 

colleagues. We wish George all the best in his 

retirement.  

 

Contra Costa LAFCo 

Contra Costa LAFCo is processing its fourth district dissolution in the 

last 13 months.  Three of the dissolutions were initiated by LAFCo, 

two of which were/are inactive districts.  

 

El Dorado LAFCo 

The staff at El Dorado LAFCo congratulates LAFCo Chair Shiva 

Frentzen on her election as Treasurer to the CALAFCO Board of 

Directors.  We also welcome Riley Nork, who started on September 

17 as our new Assistant Policy Analyst.  Finally, in 2018, LAFCo has 

held two study sessions on the state of fire protection districts.  We 

thank San Diego LAFCo for lending the expertise of John Traylor, who 

provided valuable insight to this Commission.  The next study 

session will be at the January 23rd meeting where the Commission 

will be examining various alternative governing models. 

 

Merced LAFCo 

After serving as both  a city and a county appointed Commissioner 

for the past 35 years, Supervisor Jerald (Jerry) O’Banion is retiring as 

a Supervisor and therefore as a  Merced LAFCo Commissioner. 

During this unprecedented span he participated in the adoption of 

the initial sphere of influence reports and all municipal service 

reviews.  Jerry is a believer in control and in agencies answerable to 

their constituents, firm urban boundaries and agricultural 

preservation.  The Merced LAFCo family wishes him a relaxing well-

deserved retirement. 

 

Napa LAFCo 

Napa LAFCo is hiring a new Analyst, Dawn Mittleman Longoria, who 

previously served as Marin LAFCo EO from 1989 to 1998. Dawn also 

served as a Commissioner for Sonoma LAFCo and was Legislative  

 

 

 

 

Chair for CALAFCO at one time. Dawn worked in her consulting 

capacity with Pat McCormick recently as the project manager for 

Santa Cruz LAFCo’s Mid-County Fire Agencies Consolidation 

Feasibility Study and Service Review. Dawn’s first day on the job 

is January 14, 2019. 

 

San Diego LAFCo 

San Diego LAFCo is pleased to announce the 

addition of two new employees.  Dieu Ngu 

started in November 2018 as our new fulltime 

GIS Analyst.  Dieu most recently worked for GIS 

Surveyors, Inc. and earned a graduate degree 

in GIS from the University of Redlands.  Alex 

Vidal is scheduled to start in January 2019 as a fulltime Analyst 

I.  Alex recently finished an internship with the City of Louisville 

and earned a graduate degree in environmental planning from 

the University of Georgia.    

 

San Luis Obispo LAFCo 

San Luis Obispo LAFCo has been very busy with a variety of 

typical and unique CKH work. These are some of the things 

keeping the SLO life interesting: 

 

 Completed the annexation of a 131 acre parcel with 109 

acres of prime agricultural land that was surrounded by the 

City of SLO. This annexation provided conditions requiring 

that at least 56 acres (amount proposed for conversion) of 

prime agricultural land (onsite and offsite) be placed in a 

conservation easement prior to submitting the annexation 

to the Board of Equalization. The City of San Luis Obispo 

was great to work with and Mike Prater, Deputy Executive 

Officer, did a wonderful job of coordinating the pieces to 

the puzzle. 

 

 Working with the County and District, SLO LAFCo 

completed the dissolution of the Cayucos Fire Protection 

District and the activation of fire authority for CSA 10. A 

changing of the guard ceremony from the Fire District crew 

to the CAL FIRE/County Fire crew was conducted on 

December 1st at the Station in Cayucos.  

 

A huge thanks to Donna Bloyd, Commission Clerk, for her 

dedication to herding all the cats associated with all this good 

work and being the glue that holds things together. So 

appreciate her willingness to laugh in the face of it all. Also a 

warm welcome to Brian Pierik, Burke, Williams and Sorensen, as 

our new legal counsel! 

 

San Mateo LAFCo 

San Mateo LAFCo welcomes Alternate Special District Member 

Kati Martin and Alternate Public Member James O’Neill. San 

Mateo LAFCo has also filled the newly created position of 

Management Analyst and welcomes Rob Bartoli who brings 

valuable planning and environmental review expertise. 

 

Sierra LAFCo 

Sierra LAFCo is seeing activity pick up.  They recently approved a 

large fire district annexation and has another pending with 

Plumas County for a hospital district.  

 

On the fire district proposal, over one third of the county (east 

side) was proposed to be annexed into an existing fire protection 

district based out of Sierraville.  This included border 

communities shared with Washoe County, Nevada (state) 

NNeewwss  ffrroomm  tthhee  BBooaarrdd  ooff  DDiirreeccttoorrss  

CCAALLAAFFCCOO  QQUUAARRTTEERRLLYY     DDeecceemmbbeerr  22001188  

PPaaggee  33 



 

 

 

 

(Verdi and Long Valley) and included new assessments under the 

County Service Area laws as well as agreements between the district 

annexing the territory and the fire protection service agency 

operating out of Washoe County, Nevada (Truckee Meadows Fire 

Protection District) since this agency already provided professional 

fire services to its portion of the “border communities” in Nevada. 

This proceeding removed the County from any fire protection 

responsibility, included a detailed property tax transfer, and gave 

structural fire protection and EMS services to several population 

centers that had no formal fire protection (not within any district).  

The uniqueness of this “border” issue coupled with the mere size of 

the annexation stands out.   

 

The second proceeding was the old Sierra Valley Hospital District (a 

district entirely within the boundary of Sierra County) that formerly 

operated a hospital in Loyalton.  The Hospital and adjacent clinic 

buildings were sold to Eastern Plumas Health Care District (a district 

entirely within the boundary of Plumas County) years ago and the 

hospital was later converted to a skilled nursing facility, operated by 

EPHC.  The Sierra Valley Hospital District continued to collect taxes, 

pay off bonds that are due to expire in 2023, provide insurance 

(even though offering no services) and paying for an annual audit 

(again even though providing no services) and of course, the Board 

of Supervisors had one heck of a time finding people to serve on the 

Hospital District Board.  EPHC received special legislation to allow 

out-of-service-area exemption for a period of time while EPHC 

contemplated annexation of the property located within Sierra 

County-the Sierra Valley Hospital District.  So Plumas LAFCo as 

principal County and through agreement with Sierra LAFCo is now 

processing what is best described as a dissolution of the Sierra 

Valley Hospital District and an annexation of a majority of the former 

Sierra Valley Hospital District lands into the EPHC district. 

 

 

Did You Know?? 
 

Certificate of Recognition Program 

Did you know that CALAFCO has a Certificate 

of Recognition Program and offers it at no 

cost to our 

members (both 

LAFCo and 

Associate members)? The program has 

been in place several years and while a 

few of you utilize this service, most of 

you do not. For details, visit the 

CALAFCO website in the Member Services Section and upload the 

program packet or contact the CALAFCO Executive Director.  

 

DUC Map 

Did you know that if your LAFCo has not mapped DUCs in 

accordance with SB 244 (2011) that the DUC map on the CALAFCO 

website can be used by your LAFCo? 

https://calafco.org/calafco_duc/  

 

Meeting Documents Online 

Did you know that all CALAFCO Board of Directors and Legislative 

Committee meeting documents are online? Visit the Boards & 

Committees pages in the Members Section of the site. Board 

documents date back to 2008 and Legislative Committee 

documents back to 2007. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Happy Holidays 
to all of  

our Members 
and your families. 

 
May 2019 bring all of 

us peace and 
prosperity. 

 
 

CALAFCO 
Board of Directors 

and Staff 
 

 

NNeewwss  ffrroomm  tthhee  BBooaarrdd  ooff  DDiirreeccttoorrss  

CCAALLAAFFCCOO  QQUUAARRTTEERRLLYY     DDeecceemmbbeerr  22001188  

PPaaggee  44 

https://calafco.org/calafco_duc/


With a “peace treaty” keeping a broad measure to limit local 
government revenue authority off the November ballot, most recent 
activity in the law of local revenues has been in the courts. 

California Cannabis Coalition v. City of Upland disputed an initiative 
to authorize marijuana dispensaries, imposing what courts deemed a 
general tax on each. The California Supreme Court concluded this 
general tax need not appear on a general election ballot (as Prop. 218 
requires for most general taxes) because that provision of Prop. 218 
applies only to local officials, not voters acting by initiative. This raised 
the possibility that special taxes proposed by initiative might be 
approved by a simple majority of voters rather than the two‐thirds 
Prop. 218 requires for taxes proposed by city councils and boards of 
supervisors. The San Francisco City Attorney issued an opinion that the 
two‐thirds rule could be avoided in this way and, as a result, three San 
Francisco revenue measures approved in 2018 are now in litigation. 
Those cases will provide guidance for all local governments over the 
next year or two. 

In South Dakota v. Wayfair, the U.S. Supreme Court allowed 
taxation of e‐commerce by state and local governments even if a 
taxpayer has no physical presence in the taxing jurisdiction, provided it 
does business there. The California Department of Tax and Fee 
Administration, which succeeded to most powers of the Board of 
Equalization, issued rules late last year to implement California’s sales 
and use taxes consistently with Wayfair. As a result, some modest 
increase in local sales tax receipts may follow. The case creates more 
flexibility for taxes local governments may propose to voters in the 
future, too.  

(continued on page 2) 

By Michael G. Colantuono 

Update on Public Law –  
Courts Take the Lead in  
Finance Law 

Congratulations 
Gary Bell 

Welcome 
Conor Harkins 
and Ryan Reed 

The shareholders of CH&W 
are pleased to welcome Gary 
Bell to their ranks. Gary chairs 
the firm’s Public Law 
Department and serves as 
Town Attorney of Yountville, 
Assistant City Attorney of 
Auburn, and General Counsel 
of the Garden Valley Fire 
Department, the Pine Grove 
CSD and the First Five Yuba 
Commission. He is among the 
firm’s experts on conflicts of 
interest, public works 
contracting and election law. 
His elevation marks the 
significant development of his 
practice and the confidence 
of his fellow shareholders. 
Congrats, Gary! 

(continued on page 3)

Newsletter  |  Winter 2019 

Item 8-ATT B



In SF POA v. SF Police Commission, the Court of 
Appeal held a city need not meet and confer before 
implementing a use of force policy. The Police 
Commission sought to prohibit officers from 
shooting at moving vehicles or using the carotid 
restraint, which applies pressure to a subject’s neck 
to cut off blood to the brain, leaving his wind pipe 
open. Some subjected to that hold have died. 

San Francisco argued the policy was a 
management right, but agreed to meet with the POA 
“to consider the negotiable impacts that the policy 
may have.” The City and POA met nine times. The 
City ultimately determined that only training and 
discipline issues were subject to bargaining, and the 
parties agreed on those. The City refused to meet 
and confer further. The POA grieved and demanded 
arbitration, the City denied both, and the POA sued.		

The Court of Appeal affirmed the trial court’s 
refusal to compel arbitration. It first noted the MOU 
provided the City’s compliance with law “shall not be 
grievable hereunder” and, if such actions are 
grieved, a court determines arbitrability — not an 
arbitrator. It cited POA v. City of San Jose, which held 
establishing a use of force policy is a management 
right. That authority is within the constitutional 
police power which the City cannot “suspend, 
bargain or contract away.”  In Claremont Police 
Officers Assn. v. City of Claremont, our Supreme 
Court applied a balancing test to determine whether 
bargaining is required as to implementation of a 
management right affecting terms of employment. 
Such actions are bargainable “only if the employer’s 
need for unencumbered decisionmaking … is 
outweighed by the benefit to employer‐employee 
relations.” The Court of Appeal concluded the 
burden of bargaining on a use of force policy 
outweighs any labor relations benefit. Otherwise, a 
POA could stall a new policy indefinitely.		

Johnson v. Mendocino County confirms that the 
strategy of combining a general tax with an advisory 
measure stating how voters would like tax proceeds 
to be spent is lawful as a majority‐approval, general 
tax under Prop. 218. A 1997 case involving a pre‐
Prop. 218 measure had upheld this strategy under 
Props. 13 and 62, but whether Prop. 218 made a 
difference was an open question. No more. Still, this 
strategy can confuse voters and generate 
controversy, so it is not often invoked. Instead, local 
governments commonly rely on ballot labels 
(questions printed on ballots), impartial analyses and 
“yes” arguments to tell voters how they will spend 
tax proceeds. 

2019 promises decisions on sales tax remedies, 
groundwater charges under Prop. 26, tiered water 
rates to encourage conservation, general fund 
transfers from electric utilities after Prop. 26 and the 
Redding decision of last year, the duty to exhaust 
remedies under Prop. 218, and franchise fee 
requirements under Jacks v. Santa Barbara. Stay 
tuned for new developments in what promises to be 
a busy year! 

For more information, contact Michael at 
MColantuono@chwlaw.us or (530) 432‐7359. 

No Need to Bargain Use of Force Policy 

Page 2                      Newsletter  |  Winter 2019 

By Holly O. Whatley 

Good news for those cities and counties 
considering revising their use of force policies in light 
of the current debate about such policies in 
California and around the country! 

For more information, contact Holly at 
HWhatley@chwlaw.us or (213) 542‐5704. 

Finance Law (cont.) 



		

SB 998 (Dodd, D‐Napa), the “Water Shutoff 
Protection Act” imposes new requirements for 
shutting off residential water service for unpaid bills. 
Water systems with 200 or more connections must 
revise shutoff policies by early 2020. 

The policy must: 

•  Be posted to the agency’s website in English, 
Spanish, Chinese, Tagalog, Vietnamese, and 
Korean whether or not those languages are 
spoken by significant numbers of customers. It 
must also be translated into any other 
language spoken by 10 percent or more of 
residents. It must offer: (i) deferred or 
reduced payment plans, (ii) alternative 
payment schedules, (iii) a means to appeal a 
bill, and (iv) a customer service number. 

•  Prohibit shut‐off until a customer is 
delinquent for 60 days. At least 7 days before 
termination, the agency must contact the 
customer by telephone or written notice (such 
as mail or door hangers).  

•  Prohibit shut‐off if: (i) a bill appeal is pending, 
(ii) a primary health care provider certifies 
termination poses a serious threat to the 
health and safety of a resident, (iii) a customer 
is financially unable to pay as demonstrated 
by a household member’s receipt of 
government assistance or a declaration that 
household income is below 200 percent of the 
federal poverty level, or (iv) the customer is 
willing to enter into a deferred, reduced, or 
alternative payment plan.		

•  An agency that shuts off a meter must inform 
the customer how to restore service. For 
customers receiving government assistance or 
declare that household income is below 200 
percent of the federal poverty level,  

reconnection fees are capped at $50 for 
reconnection during operating hours and $150 
otherwise. The agency must waive interest on 
delinquent bills once every 12 months. 

•  A water system must report on its website, 
and to the State Water Resources Control 
Board, the annual number of meter shutoffs 
for non‐payment. 

 
The law will likely increase bad debt and slow 

recovery of accounts receivable. These costs can 
likely be recovered from rates imposed on all 
customers. Agencies should anticipate these costs, 
monitor their cash flows, and prepare to raise rates 
as needed to fund this new mandate. They may also 
wish to check the credit of new account holders and 
require security deposits in appropriate cases. 

For more information, contact Gary at 
GBell@chwlaw.us or (530) 208‐5346. 

New State Mandate For Water Meter Shutoffs 

Page 3                    Newsletter  |  Winter 2019 

By Gary B. Bell 

The firm also welcomes first year lawyers Conor 
Harkins and Ryan Reed.  

Conor joins us after externing for Justice Robie on 
the Third District Court of Appeal in Sacramento and 
graduating from the McGeorge School of Law. He is 
in our Litigation Department with an interest in 
appellate work.  

Ryan comes to us after graduating from the 
Georgetown University Law Center. He is in our 
Public Law Practice supporting our general and 
special counsel clients on a wide range of public law 
issues. 

Welcome Conor and Ryan! 

Welcome (cont.) 



	

PRESORTED 
FIRST‐CLASS MAIL 
U.S. POSTAGE 

PAID 
MAIL MASTERS 

Are you on our list? To subscribe to our newsletter or to update your information, complete the form below 
and fax it to (530) 432‐7356. You can also call Marta Farmer at (530) 432‐7357 or subscribe via our website 
at WWW.CHWLAW.US. 

 

Name    ____________________________________ Title _______________________________________ 

Affiliation _______________________________________________________________________________ 

Address    _______________________________________________________________________________ 

      _______________________________________________________________________________ 

City    ____________________________________  State _____________  Zip Code ________________ 

Phone    ____________________________________  Fax _______________________________________ 

E‐mail   ________________________________________ 

□ Mail       □ E‐Mail       □ Both 
Our newsletter is available as a printed document sent by U.S. Mail and as a PDF file sent by e‐mail. Please let us know 
how you would like to receive your copy. 

 
The contents of this newsletter do not constitute legal advice. You should seek the opinion of qualified  

counsel regarding your specific situation before acting on the information provided here. 
Copyright © 2019 Colantuono, Highsmith & Whatley, PC. All rights reserved. 



   
    Public Hearings      9.             

LAFCO
Meeting Date: 01/24/2019  

Information
SUBJECT
Public Hearing to consider and adopt Resolution 2019-01 approving the Esparto
Community Services District (CSD) Annexation of APN 049-130-042 for Randall
Jacobs Jr. (LAFCo No. 927), finding the proposal exempt from environmental
review and waiving the protest proceedings, subject to findings and conditions
contained in the staff report

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Receive staff presentation and open the Public Hearing for public comments
on the item.

1.

Close the Public Hearing and consider the information presented in the staff
report and during the public hearing.

2.

Find that the project is exempt from environmental review pursuant to CEQA
Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3)

3.

Adopt Resolution 2019-01 approving the Esparto CSD Annexation of APN
049-130-042 (LAFCo No. 927) waiving conducting authority proceedings

4.

FISCAL IMPACT
None. LAFCo will be reimbursed for staff time associated with processing this
request in accordance with the adopted fee schedule.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTION
LAFCo approved an out of agency agreement to extend water and sewer services
to this parcel on September 27, 2018 and Yolo County issued a building permit for
a single family residence, which is currently under construction. This annexation
would formalize the extension of CSD services to this parcel and was required by
LAFCo as a condition of the September approval.

BACKGROUND
The Esparto CSD was formed in 1969 to provide water, wastewater and street



The Esparto CSD was formed in 1969 to provide water, wastewater and street
lighting services to the Esparto community. LAFCo added parks and recreation as
an additional function in 2016. The subject parcel is currently in the Esparto CSD's
sphere of influence, which indicates areas intended for annexation. The property
is immediately east of and adjacent to the existing CSD boundary. The parcel is
currently designated for and zoned single family residential by Yolo County. There
was a tentative map approved to subdivide the parcel, however, the project will
not go forward and the tentative approval has been rescinded. Yolo County is in
the process of rezoning this parcel to Intensive Agriculture, which would
also allow the single family residence.The Esparto CSD will extend the existing
sewer main and install a new manhole within service distance to the new
residence. The property owner will be responsible to connect the new residence to
the sewer system at this manhole along the easement. The CSD charges a water
connection fee of $6,525.00 for a 1" line and a sewer tap fee of $200.00. 

This request for annexation was initiated by the CSD and submitted to LAFCo on
August 24, 2018. The landowner also submitted a letter indicating he is in
agreement with the proposal. The proposal was somewhat delayed due to LAFCo
and Yolo County staff clarifying the property tax exchange process for special
districts. However, the delays did not impact the landowner because the extension
of services was authorized in September 2018 to facilitate building permit
issuance. The Board of Supervisors approved the property tax exchange on
December 11, 2018 resolving that no taxes will be exchanged as a result of
annexation because the Esparto CSD will charge usage fees for the service. 
 
The Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act Government Code Section 56668.3 outlines the
following factors to be considered by the Commission for a reorganization that
includes the annexation of territory to any district: 

Whether the proposed annexation will be for the interest of present and future
landowners and inhabitants within the territory to be annexed;

1.

Any resolution raising objections (financial or service concerns) that may be
filed by an affected agency;

2.

The adequacy of existing and planned future services to meet the probable
future needs of the territory; and

3.

Any other information which the commission deems appropriate for
consideration.

4.

The extension of water was thoroughly evaluated by the Commission when it
considered approval of the Out of Agency Agreement in September 2018. The
Esparto CSD has capacity and it is preferable from a public health perspective to
have municipal services to this parcel rather than an individual well and septic
system. This annexation would formalize the intent to have the CSD provide water
service to the parcel indefinitely. Therefore, the annexation would be for the
interest of present and future landowners and inhabitants within the territory to be
annexed. No objections or concerns have been raised by any affected agency,



annexed. No objections or concerns have been raised by any affected agency,
landowner or resident of the subject territory.  
 
Public/Agency Notification and Waiver of Protest Proceedings
LAFCo provided notice of the public hearing to the applicant. A notice was also
published on January 2, 2019 in the Woodland Democrat. No objections from any
affected or interested agency landowners or the general public have been
received. Pursuant to Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act Section 56662 and 57002, the
Commission may waive protest proceedings entirely because 100% of the
landowners within the affected territory have consented to the proposal. 
 
CEQA
The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires analysis of agency
approvals of discretionary projects. A “Project,” under CEQA, is defined as “the
whole of an action, which has a potential for resulting in either a direct physical
change in the environment, or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change
in the environment.” The proposed annexation is a project under CEQA. Staff has
reviewed the project and recommends that the project is categorically exempt
from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to Guidelines
Section 15303 (New Construction or Conversion of Small Structures). The Class 3
exemption applies to the construction and location of limited numbers of new,
small facilities or structures; installation of small new equipment and facilities in
small structures; and the conversion of small structures from one use to another
where only minor modifications are made in the exterior of the structure.
Examples of this exemption include construction of a single family residence in a
residential zone. Staff reviewed the proposed project and did not find any
evidence that special circumstances exist that would create a reasonable
possibility that the proposed project will have a significant adverse effect on the
environment. Therefore, the proposed project qualifies for the exemption under
CEQA Guidelines Section 15303.

Attachments
ATT A-Reso 2019-01 Approving Esparto CSD Annexation LAFCo 927 01.24.19
ATT B-BOS Tax Revenue Exchange Item No. 13 - CAO
ATT C-Property Tax Accounting Letter LAFCO 927
ATT D-Landowner Application Consent Letter

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
Christine Crawford (Originator) Christine Crawford 01/15/2019 12:59 PM
Form Started By: Christine Crawford Started On: 01/10/2019 03:13 PM
Final Approval Date: 01/15/2019 



1 
Resolution 2019-01 

Adopted January 24, 2019 

RESOLUTION № 2019-01 

Approving the Esparto Community Services District Annexation of APN 049-130-042 
and Waiving Conducting Authority Proceedings (LAFCo № 927) 

WHEREAS, on August 24, 2018 the Esparto Community Services District (CSD) submitted 
an application to the Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) for annexation of 
APN 049-130-042 for Randall Jacobs Jr. (“subject territory”); and 

WHEREAS, the project is subject to a negotiated exchange per Revenue and Taxation Code 
Section 99(b)(3) which was approved by the Yolo County Board of Supervisors for zero 
exchange on December 11, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, the project was routed to all subject, affected, and interested agencies and 
public notices were published in the Woodland Democrat on January 2, 2019; and 

WHEREAS, the project was analyzed in accordance with all applicable sections of the 
Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act, LAFCo Standards of Evaluation and Agricultural Policy, and 
all other matters presented as prescribed by law; and  

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer reviewed the proposal and prepared and filed a report 
with recommendations with this Commission at least five (5) days prior to the date of the 
January 24, 2019, meeting during which the project was set to be considered; and 

WHEREAS, an opportunity was given to all interested persons, organizations, and agencies 
to present oral or written testimony, protests, objections, and any other information 
concerning the proposal and all related matters; and  

WHEREAS, at said meeting, the Commission reviewed and considered the CEQA 
documentation and the Executive Officer’s Report including all the information, 
recommendations, findings, and conditions contained therein; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission 
approves the Esparto Community Services District Annexation of APN 049-130-042 
(LAFCO № 927) as illustrated in Exhibit A and hereby waives conducting authority 
proceedings pursuant to Government Code Section 56662 subject to the following findings 
and conditions of approval: 

Findings 

CEQA Findings 
1. Finding:  The Esparto Community Services District Annexation of APN 049-130-042

(LAFCO № 927) is exempt from review under the California Environmental Quality
Act (CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15303 (Class 3 exemption) and
Section 15061(b)(3) (common sense exemption).

Evidence: Staff has reviewed the project and recommends that the project is
categorically exempt from the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant

Item 9-ATT A



2 
Resolution 2019-01 

Adopted January 24, 2019 

to Guidelines Section 15303 (Class 3 Exemption for New Construction or Conversion 
of Small Structures). The Class 3 exemption applies to the construction and location 
of limited numbers of new, small facilities or structures; installation of small new 
equipment and facilities in small structures; and the conversion of small structures 
from one use to another where only minor modifications are made in the exterior of 
the structure. Examples of this exemption include construction of a single family 
residence in a residential zone, similar to what may be developed at this site. In 
addition, Staff reviewed the proposed project and did not find any evidence that 
special circumstances exist that would create a reasonable possibility that the 
proposed project will have a significant adverse effect on the environment. According 
to Section 15061(b)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines, “[w]here it can be seen with certainty 
that there is no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on 
the environment, the activity is not subject to CEQA.”  Therefore, the proposed project 
qualifies for the exemption under CEQA Guidelines Sections 15303 and 15061(b)(3). 

Project Findings (in Accordance with Section Government Code Section 56668.3) 
2. Finding:  The annexation will be for the interest of present and future landowners and

inhabitants within the territory to be annexed.

Evidence:  This annexation and sphere of influence amendment would formalize the 
intent to have the CSD provide water and wastewater service to the Jacobs’ property 
for the foreseeable future. The extension of water and wastewater services was 
thoroughly evaluated by the Commission when it approved the Out of Agency 
Agreement on September 27, 2018. Therefore, the annexation would be for the 
interest of present and future landowners and inhabitants within the territory to be 
annexed.  

3. Finding:  No resolutions raising objections have been filed by an affected agency
regarding the proposed project.

Evidence:  LAFCo has not received any objections (resolutions or otherwise) filed by 
an affected or interested agency regarding the proposed project.   

4. Finding:  The Esparto CSD has adequate services to meet the existing and probable
future needs of the territory.

Evidence:  The proposed annexation to the Esparto CSD consists of one parcel that 
is currently being developed with one single family house. Both sewer and water 
mains are located along the frontage of the parcel that will meet the needs the project 
parcel. The 2016 Yolo LAFCo Municipal Service Review and Sphere of Influence 
Study for the Western Yolo Special Districts analyzed the water and wastewater 
capacity for the Esparto CSD and found that both systems have capacity for 
additional connections.  



3 
Resolution 2019-01 

Adopted January 24, 2019 

Findings to Waive Proceedings (In accordance with Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg Act 
Section 56663(a)) 

5. Finding:  The proposal of application for an annexation is accompanied by proof,
satisfactory to the Commission, that all the owners of land within the affected territory
have given their written consent to that reorganization.

Evidence:  The application (LAFCo No 927) includes a written letter signed by the 
landowner that comprises 100% of the affected territory. Additionally, the territory is 
uninhabited pursuant to the definition of inhabited in Section 56046 of Cortese-Knox-
Hertzberg and no written demand for notice and hearing was received from an 
affected located agency during the notice period. 

Conditions of Approval 

1. The applicant and the real party of interest, if different, agree to defend, indemnify,
hold harmless and release the Yolo County Local Agency Formation Commission, its
agents, officers, attorney and employees from any claim, action or proceeding
brought against any of them, the purpose of which to attack, set aside, void, or annul
the approval of this application or adoption of the environmental review which
accompanies it. This indemnification obligation shall include, but not be limited to,
damages, costs, expenses, attorney fees, or expert witness fees that may be
asserted by any person or entity, including the applicant, arising out of or in
connection with the approval of this application, whether or not there is concurrent
passive negligence of the part of the Yolo County Local Agency Formation
Commission its agents, officers, attorney or employees.

2. The project will be subject to all appropriate LAFCo, State Board of Equalization and
County Clerk-Recorder fees prior to recording the Certificate of Completion for the
Esparto CSD Annexation of APN 049-130-042 (LAFCO № 927).

3. The effective date of the approval of this annexation is five (5) days after the date the
Certificate of Completion is recorded by the County Recorder.



4 
Resolution 2019-01 

Adopted January 24, 2019 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission, State of 
California, this 24th day of January 2019, by the following vote. 

AYES:  
NOES:  
ABSENT: 

______________________________ 
Olin Woods, Chair 
Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission 

ATTEST: 

______________________________ 
Christine Crawford, Executive Officer 
Yolo Local Agency Formation Commission 

Approved as to form: 

______________________________ 
Eric May, Commission Counsel 



± Data Source: Yolo County
Produced by: Yolo County ITTD

Date: 8/30/2018

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

Community Service Districts

Community Service District Sphere of Influence

Proposed Annexation Parcel

APN
049-130-042

C
O
U
N
T
Y
R
O
A
D
8
7

COUNTYROAD 21A

O
R
L
E
A
N
S
S
T

COUNTY ROAD 23

F
R
E
M
O
N
T
S
T

CAPAY ST
CLOVERST

C
A
M
P
O
S
D
R

WOODLAND AVE

Y
O
L
O
 A
V
E

GRAFTONST

STEPHENS
ST

O
M
E
G
A
S
T

A
L
P
H
A
 S
T

W
IN
T
E
R
S
S
T

A
N
T
E
L
O
P
E
 S
T

B
O
N
Y
N
G
E
S
T

M
A
T
T
IE
 S
T

MADISONST
PLAINFIELDST

DUNCANDR

CRAIG ST

C
O
U
N
T
Y
R
O
A
D
8
5
C

HWY 16

COUNTYROAD20A

JE
N
S
E
N
 L
N

C
O
U
N
T
Y
R
O
A
D
8
6

C
O
U
N
T
Y
R
O
A
D
8
6
A

COUN
TYROAD

19B

O
A
K
D
A
L
E
R
A
N
C
H
LN

COUNTYROAD 20X

£¤50

128

113

45

16

80

505

5

Esparto
CSD
Site

Esri, HERE, Garmin, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS user community

Esparto Community Services District 
Annexation of APN 049-130-042

Exhibit A





BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
Yolo County, California 

To: CAO  
Fin. Svcs.              

CONSENT CALENDAR
Excerpt of Minute Order No. 18-202 Item No.       13       , of the Board of Supervisors’ meeting of 
December 11, 2018. 

MOTION: Saylor.  SECOND: Rexroad.  AYES: Saylor, Rexroad, Provenza, Chamberlain, Villegas. 

Adopt resolution determining that the proposed annexation of land into the Esparto 
Community Services District will not result in any property tax revenue impacts and 
therefore there will be no tax revenue exchange. (No general fund impact) 
(Blacklock/Tengolics) 

Approved recommended action on Consent. 

13.

Item 9-ATT B



Consent-General Government    #   13.             
Board of Supervisors County Administrator             
Meeting Date: 12/11/2018
Brief Title: Esparto CSD Annexation
From: Patrick Blacklock, County Administrator 

Staff Contact: Alexander Tengolics, Legislative & Government Affairs Specialist II,
County Administrator's Office, x8068 

Subject
Adopt resolution determining that the proposed annexation of land into the Esparto
Community Services District will not result in any property tax revenue impacts and
therefore there will be no tax revenue exchange. (No general fund impact)
(Blacklock/Tengolics)

Recommended Action
Adopt resolution determining that the proposed annexation of land into the Esparto
Community Services District will not result in any property tax revenue impacts and
therefore there will be no tax revenue exchange.

Strategic Plan Goal(s)
Thriving Residents

Reason for Recommended Action/Background
The Esparto Community Services District (District) has filed an application with the Yolo
County Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) requesting to annex into its
service territory a parcel adjacent to its existing service territory and within its sphere of
influence identified as Yolo County Assessors Parcel No. 049-130-042 (Atts. A and
B). As this jurisdictional change would affect the service area or service responsibility of
one or more special districts, Revenue and Tax Code section 99 requires the County to
negotiate any exchange of property tax revenue on behalf of the District and adopt a
resolution determining what amount, if any, is to be exchanged (Att. C). The Yolo County
Auditor has determined that there is no property tax revenue generated within the
territory that is the subject of this jurisdictional change and that there will not be any tax
revenue impact as a result of the annexation. The County has noticed the District of the
determination of zero tax revenue impact.



Collaborations (including Board advisory groups and external partner agencies)
LAFCo, Esparto CSD, County Counsel

Fiscal Information
No Fiscal Impact 

Fiscal Impact of this Expenditure
Total cost of recommended action $0
Amount budgeted for expenditure
Additional expenditure authority needed $0
On-going commitment (annual cost) 

Source of Funds for this Expenditure
General Fund

Attachments
Att. A. ECSD LAFCo Application
Att. B. Area Map
Att. C. Resolution

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
Carrie Scarlata Carrie Scarlata 11/19/2018 03:48 PM
Patrick Blacklock Patrick Blacklock 11/21/2018 09:19 AM
Elisa Sabatini Elisa Sabatini 11/28/2018 09:44 AM
Form Started By: Alexander Tengolics Started On: 11/19/2018 03:16 PM
Final Approval Date: 11/28/2018 



Att. A

YOLO 
LOCAL 

AGENCY 
FORMATION 

COMMISSION 

YOLO U\FCO 

PROPOSAL APPLICATION 
Includes: Changes of Organization/Reorganization {Incorporation, Formation, Annexation, Detachment, Dissolution, or 

Consalidatlon), Out of Agency Service Reviews, Sphere of Influence Amendment, and Expansion of District Powers 

This application is designed to be used for all proposals received by the Commission. If a question is not 
applicable to your proposal, please note accordingly. 

A) An application is hereby made for changes involving the following cities and special districts: 

Action: (ex. annexation, detachment) Agency: 

to/from 
Annexation Esparto Community Services District 

to/from 

to/from 

B) Proposal Detail (submit separate attachment if necessary): 

Provide water and sewer service to a single-family residence located just outside of the CSD's 

boundaries. but within the CSD's sphere of influence. 

C) This proposal includes: 

1) 12 or more registered voters: 

2) 100% consent of property owners: 

D~ 
GJ D 

D) Assessor's Parcel Numbers (Attach a list if necessary): 

049-130-042 

1of9 



E) Is this proposal consistent with the adopted Sphere of Influence of all affected agencies? If no, this 
application must include a Sphere of Influence Amendment. 

F) If the proposal includes a Change of Organization/Reorganization, the following items must be 
submitted with this application: 
1) A resolution of application adopted by the affected city or special district 

OR 
A petition of landowners or registered voters. 

The Notice of Intent to Circulate a Petition and the Petition forms are located on the Forms page 
of lAFCo's website. 

2) One copy of a metes-and-bounds description of the perimeter of the subject territory for 
review and approval by LAFCo's Surveyor. 

3) A reproducible plat map (1 "hardcopy" and 1 digital copy) showing the subject territory AND the 
existing boundaries of the affected city or district. 

4) Environmental Documents: 
a) If a Negative Declaration or Environmental Impact Report (EIR) has been prepared by 

another agency for a project associated with this proposal, submit one copy to LAFCo with 
this proposal. 

b) If no environmental document has been prepared, please complete the 
Environmental Questionnaire. 

5) City Proposals: 

If the proposal includes annexation to a city, submit one copy of the city's resolution or 

ordinance prezoning the subject territory. LAFCo cannot consider the proposal until prezoning 

has been completed. 

a) For all city annexations that include areas that are inhabited (territory where 12 or more 
registered voters reside) or developed, include the number of existing housing units within 
the proposed city's annexation area as of the date in the resolution. 

Annexing City: 
Detaching City/County: 

Total Housing Units: 

6) Property Tax Revenues: 
If the proposal involves an annexation to a city and/or changes in district boundaries, 
negotiations for any exchange of property tax revenues must be completed by the County and 
any affected city prior to lAFCo action. For those proposals, LAFCo will notify the affected 
agencies after receiving your application and will provide preliminary information to begin the 
negotiations process. 

7) Indemnification: 
LAFCo requires that applicants indemnify LAFCo from litigation costs as a condition of 
submitting an application. Click the highlighted hyperlink for the Indemnification Form. 
Contact LAFCo staff if you have any questions. 

2 of9 



8) Deposit: 
Fees will be charged for all Commission proceedings and actions at the Commission's actual 
costs (including overhead). Click the highlighted hyperlink for the LAFCo's Fee Schedule. 

All deposit fees listed are required to be paid by the applicant upon submittal of a proposal. A 
proposal with multiple actions requires a deposit for each action. If a proceeding is not listed, 
it will be subject to an initial fee as estimated by the Executive Officer. Any additional 
expenses incurred by the Commission, in excess of the deposited amount, will be billed to and 
paid by the applicant before completion of the LAFCo proceedings, including, but not limited 
to, consultant costs, feasibility studies, final recordation, and filings. Billing will be based on 
hourly rates. If a proposal is abandoned or terminated for any reason, the deposit amount not 
expended prior to that termination point will be refunded to the applicant. 

Fees due to the State of California, including State Board of Equalization and the Department 
of Fish and Wildlife CEQA filing fees, will be paid by the applicant at the appropriate time and 
prior to final recordation of the Certificate of Completion. 

JUSTIFICATION 
A) In as much detail as possible, please explain why this proposal is necessary and/or beneficial at this 

time. (For example, a proposed development or existing residences might require services not 
currently provided or available.) 

Build single family house on bare residental zoned land. 

B) Is this application proposed to carry out a development project? If so, describe the project. 

No 

3 of 9 



C) Indicate below all discretionary approvals or permits from a city, the County, or another agency that 
will be needed to complete the project. If already approved, please indicate the date of approval 
and attached the adopted conditions of approval. 

Project File Number Date of Approval 

City or County Plan Amendment 

Prezoning (City) 

Rezoning (City) 

Tentative Subdivision Map 

Minor Land Division 

Other 

SITE DESCRIPTION 
A) Describe the general location and physical features of the territory included in this proposal. Refer 

to major roads, watercourses, and topographical features. 

B) How many acres (or square miles) of territory are included in the proposal? 

C) How many people live in the subject territory? 

D) How many registered voters live in the subject territory? 

LAND USE INFORMATION 

A) General Plan and Zoning: 
1) If in the unincorporated area, what is the current General Plan designation? 

4of9 



2) What is the current County zoning?---------------------

3) Is the territory within a city general plan area? YES D NO 0 
If so, what is the current general plan designation?---------------

Has a city zoned or prezoned the territory? vEsD 
If so, how is the territory zoned or prezoned? ________________ _ 

B) Proposed Land Use: 
1) Will the territory be developed with approval(s)? YES D NOD 
2) If no development is planned at this time, is development of the area anticipated? If so, when? 

PLAN FOR PROVIDING SERVICES 
A) List the agencies providing existing and proposed services to the territory. If not applicable or no 

change, please indicate accordingly. 
SERVICE TYPE Existing Proposed 

Sewer Service 
None ECSD 

Water Service 
None ECSD 

Fire Protection 

Storm Drainage 

Police 

Street Lighting 

Maintenance 

Trash Pick-up 

Parks and Recreation 

Library 

Street Cleaning 

Other 

5 of 9 



B) Water/Wastewater Service: 
If water/wastewater services will be provided to the territory, please answer the following: 

1) What is the distance for connection to the agency's system? 300' 

2) Does the agency have capacity for the anticipated service? 

3) Will the agency be prepared to furnish service immediately? 

YES 0 
YES~ 

C) Service Plan: Describe any services to be extended to the affected territory, including the level and 
range of services and any improvements (on and off site) that will be necessary to connect and serve 
the anticipated development. Indicate an indication of when those services can feasibly be extended 
and the method of financing. (For example, assessment district, property owner, or developer fees etc.) 
Please provide will serve letter or other agency approvals. 

Extend sewer main and install new manhole within service distance to residence. The cost 

will be covered by the CSD to extend the main and install new manhole. The owner will be responsible 

to bring his line to the manhole on the easement. 

SPECIAL REVENUES 

A) Does the city or special district have plans to establish any new assessment districts, service charges, 
or other means to pay for new or extended services to this area? 

Yes, the new water connection fee for 1" will be $6,525.00 and a sewer tap fee of $200.00 

6 of 9 



B) Will the area assume liability for any existing bonded debt upon annexation? YES D NOD 

If so, please indicate taxpayer cost: 

C) Will the territory be subject to any new or additional taxes, benefit charges, or fees? 

YESD NOD 

If so, please explain: 

PROPONENT INFORMATION 

LAFCo will consider the person signing this application as the proponent of the proposed action(s). 

Notices and other communications regarding this application will be directed to the proponent at: 

Name: 

Address: 

City: I Zip: I 
Phones: Work: Fax: 

Cell: Home: 

email: 

Signature: 

7 of 9 



List any other person or agent who should be contacted concerning questions on this proposal (attach 
additional if needed): 

Name: Steven Knightley, General Manager - ECSD 

Address: PO Box 349 

City: Esparto, CA I Zip: I 95627 

Phones: Work: (530) 787-4502 Fax: 

Cell: (530) 681-5141 Home: 

email: gm@ecsd-ca.org 

Signature: ~\,' \ ;( A/1 
" \ 

8 of 9 



Esparto Community Service District
Proposed Annexation

± Data Source: Yolo County
Produced by: Yolo County ITTD

Date: 8/30/2018

0 0.25 0.5
Miles

Community Service Districts

Community Service District Sphere of Influence

Proposed Annexation Parcel

APN
049-130-042

C
O
U
N
T
Y
R
O
A
D
8
7

COUNTYROAD 21A

O
R
L
E
A
N
S
S
T

COUNTY ROAD 23

F
R
E
M
O
N
T
S
T

CAPAY ST
CLOVERST

C
A
M
P
O
S
D
R

WOODLAND AVE

Y
O
L
O
 A
V
E

GRAFTONST

STEPHENS
ST

O
M
E
G
A
S
T

A
L
P
H
A
 S
T

W
IN
T
E
R
S
S
T

A
N
T
E
L
O
P
E
 S
T

B
O
N
Y
N
G
E
S
T

M
A
T
T
IE
 S
T

MADISONST
PLAINFIELDST

DUNCANDR

CRAIG ST

C
O
U
N
T
Y
R
O
A
D
8
5
C

HWY 16

COUNTYROAD20A

JE
N
S
E
N
 L
N

C
O
U
N
T
Y
R
O
A
D
8
6

C
O
U
N
T
Y
R
O
A
D
8
6
A

COUN
TYROAD

19B

O
A
K
D
A
L
E
R
A
N
C
H
LN

COUNTYROAD 20X

£¤50

128

113

45

16

80

505

5

Esparto
CSD
Site

Esri, HERE, Garmin, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS user community

Att. B



FILE 

Resolution No. 18-148 BY_tL.']JJ./.&i../..Ja..L...Ljl-_~~'7 
DEPUTY CLERK OF 

A RESOLUTION OF THE YOLO COUNTY BOARD OF SUPERVISOR MAKING 
DETERMINATION OF ZERO PROPERTY TAX EXCHANGE RELATED TO A 

REQUESTED ANNEXATION OF THE ESPARTO COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICT 

WHEREAS, the Esparto Community Services District (District) has filed an application with the 
Yolo County Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCo) requesting to annex into its service territory 
a parcel adjacent to its existing service territory and within its sphere of influence identified as Yolo 
County Assessor's Parcel No. 049-130-042; 

WHEREAS, the Yolo County Auditor has determined that there is no property tax revenue 
generated within the territory that is the subject of the jurisdictional change and that there will not be any 
tax revenue impact as a result of the annexation; 

WHEREAS, because the jurisdictional change would affect the service area or service 
responsibility of one or more special districts, Revenue and Tax Code section 99 requires the County to 
negotiate any exchange of property tax revenue on behalf of the District; 

WHEREAS, because there will be no tax revenue impact as a result of the annexation, zero 
property tax revenue should be transferred to the Esparto Community Services District; 

WHEREAS, the County has noticed the District of the determination of zero tax revenue impact 
and provided adequate opportunity to comment on the determination. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND ORDER by the Board of Supervisors of the County of 
Yolo, State of California, as follows: 

1. No Property tax revenue or apportionment is affected by the proposed annexation and no property 
tax revenue or apportionment shall be transferred to the Esparto Community Services District. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Yolo County Board of Supervisors this 11th day of December, 2018, by 
the following vote: 

AYES: Saylor, Rexroad, Provenza, Chamberlain, Villegas. 
NOES: None. 
ABSENT: None. 
ABSTAIN: None. 

Oscar Villegas, Chair, 
Board of Supervisors 



Approved as to Form: 

::i.li~y Counsel 

caITieSCafiatiS County Counsel 

2 



Item 9-ATT C







Item 9-ATT D



   
    Regular      10.             

LAFCO
Meeting Date: 01/24/2019  

Information
SUBJECT
Receive and file the 2018 Website Transparency Scorecard and direct staff to
make any adjustments to the scorecard, if necessary

RECOMMENDED ACTION
Receive and file the 2018 Website Transparency Scorecard. Discuss and direct
staff to make any adjustments to the scorecard for either this year or next year.

FISCAL IMPACT
None. This scorecard was created "in-house" by staff and was included in LAFCo
work plans and budgets for the corresponding fiscal years.

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDED ACTION
In the fall of 2017, the cities and County requested LAFCo to begin preparing web
transparency scorecards on an annual basis promoting a vision for open
government and transparency for government agencies countywide (cities,
County, special districts, and joint powers authorities), thereby fostering public
trust and accountability.

BACKGROUND
Agencies should keep in mind that this is LAFCo’s inaugural year completing this
scorecard process. The goal is not necessarily to have a high score at the outset,
but to set a baseline that will hopefully see improvement from year to year.

Staff Observations/Recommendations
There are three criteria that were consistently not included on the city/county
websites: financial reserve policy (2b); approved contracts > $25,000 value (7c);
and the total number of lobbyists and dollars spent on lobbying (10a). LAFCo
should follow up with these agencies to assess what the issues are with posting
this information. LAFCo may need to consider increasing the threshold for
city/county contracts because this value likely would yield voluminous results. In



addition, the criteria regarding public dollars spent on lobbying was picked up from
the Marin County Grand Jury report and may not be information that Yolo LAFCo
finds warranted or valuable to post online.

Although there’s been improvement since this process begun a year ago, only
57% of Yolo’s independent special districts currently have a website. Legislation
was passed last year (SB 929 McGuire) which require all independent special
districts to have a website by January 1, 2020. Therefore, LAFCo needs to work
with more of these special districts to create and maintain websites. Three
dependent districts do not have websites of their own and an economical option
may be to have a page on the Yolo County website.

For the purposes of the Website Transparency Scorecard, LAFCo focused on the
JPAs that operate locally as opposed to multi-county or statewide JPAs. Some of
these local JPAs have an office with dedicated staff and others operate more as a
“paper” JPA. As one might expect, the JPAs with dedicated staff and resources
generally tend to have a website while “paper” JPAs do not. Similar to the districts,
LAFCo should work with “paper” JPAs to have a page on the member agency
website, such as the financing authorities.
 

Attachments
ATT-2018 Website Transparency Scorecard

Form Review
Inbox Reviewed By Date
Christine Crawford (Originator) Christine Crawford 01/16/2019 12:02 PM
Christine Crawford (Originator) Christine Crawford 01/16/2019 02:36 PM
Form Started By: Christine Crawford Started On: 01/15/2019 03:33 PM
Final Approval Date: 01/16/2019 



Yolo Local Government 

2018 

 Website Transparency Scorecard

“ 

“A lack of transparency results in distrust and a deep sense of insecurity.” 

– Dalai Lama

“A democracy requires accountability and accountability requires transparency.” 

– President Barack Obama

January 24, 2019 

Item 10-ATT



 
2 

Yolo LAFCo 
2018 Website Transparency Scorecard 

OVERVIEW 

Yolo County residents are likely unaware of all the various local agencies that serve them. The most 
common method for the public to obtain this information today is the internet. Residents should be able to 
easily find the description of services provided, the names and contact information of board members and 
management, the budget, agendas and minutes of meetings, and other information. An effective website 
presence can also benefit the agency by making resources available online and thus saving staff time.  

In the fall of 2017, the cities and County requested LAFCo to begin preparing web transparency 
scorecards on an annual basis promoting a vision for open government and transparency for government 
agencies countywide (cities, County, special districts, and joint powers authorities), thereby fostering 
public trust and accountability. 

YOLO COUNTY LOCAL AGENCIES 

There are 5 cities/county, 49 special districts and 17 local joint powers authorities for a total of 71 local 
agencies included in this scorecard as listed below. The reference to dependent versus independent 
special districts for each district category is explained in the Findings and Recommendations section.  

CITIES/COUNTY 
Davis 
West Sacramento 
Winters 
Woodland 
Yolo County 

CEMETERY DISTRICTS (INDEPENDENT) 
Capay Cemetery District 
Cottonwood Cemetery District 
Davis Cemetery District 
Knights Landing Cemetery District 
Mary's Cemetery District  
Winters Cemetery District 

COMMUNITY SERVICES DISTRICTS (CSD) (INDEPENDENT) 
Cacheville CSD 
Esparto CSD 
Knights Landing CSD 
Madison CSD 

COUNTY SERVICE AREAS (CSA) (DEPENDENT) 
Dunnigan CSA 
El Macero CSA 
Garcia Bend CSA 
North Davis Meadows CSA 
Snowball CSA 
Wild Wings CSA 
Willowbank CSA  

PORT DISTRICTS (DEPENDENT)  
Yolo-Sacramento Port District 



 
3 

Yolo LAFCo 
2018 Website Transparency Scorecard 

RESOURCE CONSERVATION DISTRICTS (RCD) (INDEPENDENT) 
Yolo County RCD 

WATER DISTRICTS (INDEPENDENT) 
Dunnigan Water District 
Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District 
Yolo County Flood Control & Water Conservation District 

FIRE PROTECTION DISTRICTS (FPD) (BOTH DEPENDENT AND INDEPENDENT 
AS NOTED) 
Capay FPD (dependent) 
Clarksburg FPD (independent) 
Dunnigan FPD (dependent) 
East Davis FPD (dependent) 
Elkhorn FPD (independent) 
Esparto FPD (dependent) 
Knights Landing FPD (dependent) 
Madison FPD (independent) 
No Man's Land FPD (dependent) 
Springlake FPD (independent) 
West Plainfield FPD (dependent) 
Willow Oak FPD (dependent) 
Winters FPD (dependent) 
Yolo FPD (independent) 
Zamora FPD (independent) 

RECLAMATION DISTRICTS (RD) (INDEPENDENT)  
RD 150  
RD 307 
RD 537  
RD 730  
RD 765  
RD 785  
RD 787  
RD 827  
RD 900  
RD 999  
RD 1600  
RD 2035  

LOCAL JOINT POWERS AUTHORITIES (JPA) 
Conaway Ranch 
Davis Public Facilities Financing Authority 
River City Regional Stadium Financing Authority 
Riverfront Authority 
Valley Clean Energy Alliance 
West Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency (“West SAFCA”) 
West Sacramento Financing Authority 
Winters Branch Library Financing Authority 



 
4 

Yolo LAFCo 
2018 Website Transparency Scorecard 

Winters Public Finance Authority 
Woodland Finance Authority 
Woodland-Davis Clean Water Agency 
Yolo County Law Library 
Yolo County Public Agencies Financing Authority 
Yolo County Public Agency Risk Management Insurance Authority (“YCPARMIA”) 
Yolo Emergency Communications Agency (“YECA”) 
Yolo Habitat Conservancy 
Yolo Subbasin Groundwater Agency 

WEBSITE CONTENT CHECKLIST 

The scorecard is based on the following criteria to be included on each agencies website or webpage. 
This criteria was borrowed from the 2015-16 Marin Web Transparency Report Card, which consolidated 
several well-respected organizations’ checklists1.  

LAFCo provided outreach information at multiple times in 2018 in an attempt to make agencies aware of 
the new scorecard, the checklist and process to expect. Website demonstrations were held for special 
districts in person and via webinar (which was recorded and can still be viewed). LAFCo provided a draft 
score to all agencies in July 2018 and final scoring for this report occurred over November and December 
2018. 

1. Overview 

a. Mission Statement: What is the agency's reason for existing? 

b. Description of services/functions: What actions does the agency undertake and what 
services does the agency provide? 

c. Boundary of service area: What specific area does the agency serve? (Note: may not be 
applicable to all JPAs) 

2. Budget 

a. Budget for current fiscal year and three years prior to the current year. 

b. Financial reserves policy: What is the agency's policy for designated reserves and 
reserve funds? (The policy should be in the agency policy manual but also may be 
restated and found in the budget or audit reports).  

3. Meetings 

a. Board meeting schedule: When and where specifically does the agency meet? 

b. Archive of Board meeting agendas & minutes for at least the last 6 months: Both 
approved minutes and past agendas  

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  

a. Board members (names, contact info, terms of office, compensation, and biography): 
Who specifically represents the public on the Board? How can the public contact them? 
When were they elected (or appointed)? How much do they earn in this role (as required 
by Assembly Bill 2040 effective January 1, 2015)? What background about the members 
illustrates their expertise for serving on the Board? (Note: terms of office does not apply 
to JPAs, appointment date by member agency should be noted instead). 

b. Election procedure and deadlines: If the public wishes to apply to be on the Board, how 
and when can they do so? (Note: does not apply to JPAs) 

                                                 
1 Sunshine Review (now Ballotpedia), Illinois Policy 10-Point Transparency Checklist, Institute for Local 
Government, and the Special District Leadership Foundation. 



 
5 

Yolo LAFCo 
2018 Website Transparency Scorecard 

c. Reimbursement and compensation policy: Which (if any) expenses incurred by the Board 
are reimbursed? Do the Board members receive compensation? 

5. Administrative Officials 

a. General manager and key staff (names, contact info, compensation, and benefits): Who 
specifically runs the agency on a day-to-day basis? How can the public contact them? 
How much do they earn in this role (as required by Assembly Bill 2040 effective January 
1, 2015)? What specific benefits are they eligible for (healthcare, retirement plan, 
educational benefits, etc.)? 

6. Audits 

a. Current financial audit 

b. Financial audits for the three years prior to the current year 

c. Most recent annual financial report provided to the State Controller’s Office, or a link to 
this information 

d. Most recent LAFCo Municipal Service Review, if applicable 

7. Contracts 

a. Current request for proposal and bidding opportunities (over $25,000 in value) 

b. Instructions on how to submit a bid or proposal 

c. Approved in force vendor contracts (over $25,000 value) 

8. Public Records 

a. What is the best way for the public to request public records? 

9. Revenue Sources 

a. Summary of fees received: fees for services, if any 

b. Summary of revenue sources: bonds, taxes, loans and/or grants 

10. Agency Specific Criteria 

a. Municipalities: Total number of lobbyists employed and total spent on lobbying, 
downloadable permit applications, and zoning ordinances 

b. Special Districts: Authorizing statute/enabling act (Principal Act or Special Act), board 
member ethics training certificates, link to the LAFCo website and any state agency 
providing oversight 

c. Joint Powers Authorities: A copy of the joint powers agreement as filed and adopted (with 
any updates) 

For ease and transparency of use, information for each agency should be found within a few “clicks”. 
Information that is buried in an agency's board minutes or on other websites not available in a click from 
the agency's website is not in the spirit of transparency. Long and complex PDF (Portable Document 
Format) documents, such as a budget or an audit report, must be text-searchable, and not simply a 
picture of a page of text, to easily find specific details. 

The scoring rubric was determined based on the number of points on the checklist for which the criteria 
was completely met. If an agency partially met the criteria, partial points were awarded and the checklist 
was denoted with an "incomplete". LAFCo remains open to public and agency feedback about what items 
are working well and which are not.  



6 
Yolo LAFCo 

2018 Website Transparency Scorecard 

FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Agencies should keep in mind that this is the inaugural year completing this scorecard process. The goal 
is not necessarily to have a high score at the outset, but to set a baseline that will hopefully see 
improvement from year to year.  

CITIES/COUNTY 

There are three criteria that were consistently not included on the city/county websites: financial reserve 
policy (2b); approved contracts > $25,000 value (7c); and the total number of lobbyists and dollars spent 
on lobbying (10a). LAFCo should follow up with these agencies to assess what the issues are with 
posting this information. LAFCo may need to consider increasing the threshold for city/county contracts 
because this value likely would yield voluminous results. In addition, the criteria regarding public dollars 
spent on lobbying was picked up from the Marin County Grand Jury report and may not be information 
that Yolo LAFCo finds warranted or valuable to post online.  

SPECIAL DISTRICTS 

Special districts can be divided into two different categories: dependent and independent. Dependent 
districts are formed and may have a local advisory/decision making body, but ultimately answer to a city 
or county. Examples include the county service areas and some fire protection districts, which can be 
formed either way. Independent districts have locally elected or appointed boards and do not answer to a 
city or county. Examples include cemetery districts, reclamation districts, and water districts, among 
others.  

Although there’s been improvement since this process begun a year ago, only 57% of Yolo’s independent 
special districts currently have a website. Legislation was passed last year (SB 929 McGuire) which 
require independent special districts to have a website by January 1, 2020. Therefore, LAFCo needs to 
work with more of these special districts to create and maintain websites. Three dependent districts do 
not have websites of their own and an economical option would be to have a page on the Yolo County 
website.  

JOINT POWERS AUTHORITIES 

JPAs can take many varied forms. For the purposes of the Website Transparency Scorecard, LAFCo 
focused on the JPAs that operate locally as opposed to multi-county or statewide JPAs. Some of these 
local JPAs have an office with dedicated staff and others operate more as a “paper” JPA. As one might 
expect, the JPAs with dedicated staff and resources generally tend to have a website while “paper” JPAs 
do not. Similar to the districts, LAFCo should work with “paper” JPAs to have a page on the agency 
website, such as the financing authorities.  

ATTACHMENTS 

A. Scorecard summaries by agency type

B. Detailed scorecard for each agency

C. Yolo Local Government Transparency and Accountability Program adopted fall 2017



Yolo County Web Transparency Scorecards

Cities

Score: 72% Score: 81% Score: 90% Score: 87%
Overview X Overview P Overview X Overview P

Budget X Budget X Budget P Budget X

Meetings P Meetings X Meetings P Meetings P

Elected Officials P Elected Officials P Elected Officials P Elected Officials X

Administrative 

Officials
P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Audits P Audits P Audits P Audits P

Contracts X Contracts X Contracts P Contracts X

Public Records  Public Records P Public Records P Public Records P

Revenue Sources P Revenue Sources X Revenue Sources P Revenue Sources P

Agency Specific X Agency Specific X Agency Specific X Agency Specific X

County

Score: 88%
Overview P

Budget X

Meetings P

Elected Officials P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Audits P

Contracts X

Public Records P

Revenue Sources P

Agency Specific X

City of Davis City of WoodlandCity of WintersCity of West Sacramento

County of Yolo

A-1

Attachment A



Yolo County Web Transparency Scorecards

Cemetery Districts

Score: 0% Score: 0% Score: 50% Score: 0% Score: 0%
Overview  Overview  Overview P Overview  Overview 

Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget 

Meetings  Meetings  Meetings P Meetings  Meetings 

Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials P Elected Officials  Elected Officials 

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Audits  Audits  Audits X Audits  Audits 

Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts 

Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records 

Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources P Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific X Agency Specific  Agency Specific 

Score: 28%
Overview X

Budget 

Meetings X

Elected Officials X

Administrative 

Officials
X

Audits 

Contracts 

Public Records 

Revenue Sources X

Agency Specific X

Community Service Districts (CSDs)

Score: 0% Score: 45% Score: 0% Score: 0%
Overview  Overview P Overview  Overview 

Budget  Budget X Budget  Budget 

Meetings  Meetings P Meetings  Meetings 

Elected Officials  Elected Officials X Elected Officials  Elected Officials 

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Audits  Audits P Audits  Audits 

Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts 

Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records 

Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources X Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific 

Capay Cemetery District

Cacheville CSD

Cottonwood Cemetery 

District
Davis Cemetery District Mary's Cemetery District

Knights Landing Cemetery 

District

Esparto CSD Knights Landing CSD Madison CSD

Winters Cemetery District

A-2



Yolo County Web Transparency Scorecards

County Service Areas (CSAs)

Score: 69% Score: 67% Score: 67% Score: 72% Score: 62%
Overview P Overview P Overview P Overview P Overview P

Budget X Budget X Budget X Budget X Budget X

Meetings X Meetings P Meetings X Meetings P Meetings X

Elected Officials P Elected Officials P Elected Officials P Elected Officials P Elected Officials P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Audits P Audits P Audits P Audits P Audits P

Contracts X Contracts X Contracts X Contracts X Contracts X

Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records 

Revenue Sources X Revenue Sources X Revenue Sources X Revenue Sources X Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific X Agency Specific  Agency Specific X Agency Specific X Agency Specific X

Score: 75% Score: 67%
Overview P Overview P

Budget X Budget X

Meetings P Meetings P

Elected Officials P Elected Officials P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Audits P Audits P

Contracts P Contracts X

Public Records  Public Records 

Revenue Sources X Revenue Sources X

Agency Specific X Agency Specific 

Wild Wings CSA Willowbank CSA

Dunnigan CSA El Macero CSA Garcia Bend CSA North Davis Meadows CSA Snowball CSA

A-3



Yolo County Web Transparency Scorecards

Fire Protection Districts (FPDs)

Score: 0% Score: 16% Score: 15% Score: 25% Score: 0%
Overview  Overview X Overview X Overview X Overview 

Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget 

Meetings  Meetings X Meetings X Meetings P Meetings 

Elected Officials  Elected Officials X Elected Officials X Elected Officials X Elected Officials 

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits 

Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts 

Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records 

Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources X Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific X Agency Specific 

Score: 8% Score: 0% Score: 23% Score: 0% Score: 0%
Overview X Overview  Overview P Overview P Overview 

Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget 

Meetings  Meetings  Meetings X Meetings X Meetings 

Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials X Elected Officials X Elected Officials 

Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits 

Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts 

Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records 

Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific X Agency Specific X Agency Specific 

Score: 5% Score: 12% Score: 13% Score: 0% Score: 0%
Overview X Overview X Overview P Overview  Overview 

Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget 

Meetings  Meetings  Meetings  Meetings  Meetings 

Elected Officials X Elected Officials X Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials 

Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits 

Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts 

Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records 

Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific 

Esparto FPD Knights Landing FPD Madison FPD No Man's Land FPD Springlake FPD

Capay FPD Clarksburg FPD Dunnigan FPD East Davis FPD Elkhorn FPD

Zamora FPDWillow Oaks FPD Winters FPD Yolo FPDWest Plainfield FPD

A-4



Yolo County Web Transparency Scorecards

Reclamation Districts

Score: 0% Score: 0% Score: 0% Score: 0% Score: 0%
Overview  Overview  Overview  Overview  Overview 

Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget 

Meetings  Meetings  Meetings  Meetings  Meetings 

Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials 

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits 

Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts 

Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records 

Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific 

Score: 0% Score: 18% Score: 0% Score: 0% Score: 15%
Overview  Overview X Overview  Overview  Overview X

Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget 

Meetings  Meetings P Meetings  Meetings  Meetings X

Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials X

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials
X

Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits 

Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts 

Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records 

Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific  Agency Specific X Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific X

Score: 0% Score: 0%
Overview  Overview 

Budget  Budget 

Meetings  Meetings 

Elected Officials  Elected Officials 

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Audits  Audits 

Contracts  Contracts 

Public Records  Public Records 

Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific  Agency Specific 

Reclamation District 785 Reclamation District 787 Reclamation District 999

Reclamation District 2035

Reclamation District 827 Reclamation District 900

Reclamation District 307 Reclamation District 537 Reclamation District 730 Reclamation District 765

Reclamation District 1600

Reclamation District 150

A-5



Yolo County Web Transparency Scorecards

Resource Conservation Districts

Score: 49%
Overview P

Budget 

Meetings P

Elected Officials X

Administrative 

Officials
X

Audits P

Contracts 

Public Records P

Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific 

River Port Districts

Score: 28%
Overview X

Budget 

Meetings X

Elected Officials X

Administrative 

Officials
X

Audits 

Contracts X

Public Records 

Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific X

Water Districts

Score: 90% Score: 62% Score: 67%
Overview P Overview X Overview P

Budget P Budget X Budget X

Meetings X Meetings X Meetings X

Elected Officials P Elected Officials P Elected Officials P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials
X

Audits P Audits X Audits P

Contracts X Contracts X Contracts 

Public Records P Public Records P Public Records 

Revenue Sources P Revenue Sources X Revenue Sources P

Agency Specific X Agency Specific X Agency Specific P

Dunnigan Water District KLRDD YCFCWCD

Yolo-Sacramento Port 

District

Yolo County Resource 

Conservation District

A-6



Yolo County Web Transparency Scorecards

Local JPAs (i.e. not regional or statewide)

Score: 0% Score: 3% Score: 8% Score: 18% Score: 68%
Overview  Overview X Overview  Overview X Overview P

Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget P

Meetings  Meetings  Meetings X Meetings X Meetings X

Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials X Elected Officials X

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials
X

Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits P

Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts P

Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records 

Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources X

Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific P

Score: 37% Score: 3% Score: 0% Score: 0% Score: 39%
Overview X Overview  Overview  Overview  Overview P

Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget X

Meetings P Meetings X Meetings  Meetings  Meetings X

Elected Officials X Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials X

Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials
X

Audits X Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits X

Contracts X Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts X

Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records 

Revenue Sources X Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific P

Score: 0% Score: 12% Score: 0% Score: 26% Score: 90%
Overview  Overview P Overview  Overview P Overview P

Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget  Budget P

Meetings  Meetings  Meetings  Meetings P Meetings P

Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials  Elected Officials X Elected Officials P

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials


Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials
P

Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits  Audits P

Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts  Contracts P

Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records  Public Records P

Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific  Agency Specific P

WSAFCA
West Sacramento Financing 

Authority

Winters Branch Library 

Financing Authority

Winters Public Finance 

Authority

Woodland-Davis Clean 

Water Agency

Woodland Finance 

Authority
Yolo County Law Library

Yolo County Public Agencies Financing 

Authority
YCPARMIA YECA

Valley Clean Energy 

Alliance
Conaway Ranch

Davis Public Facilities 

Financing Authority

River City Regional Stadium 

Financing Authority
Riverfront

A-7



Yolo County Web Transparency Scorecards

Local JPAs (con't)

Score: 84% Score: 32%
Overview P Overview P

Budget P Budget 

Meetings P Meetings P

Elected Officials P Elected Officials X

Administrative 

Officials
X

Administrative 

Officials
X

Audits P Audits 

Contracts X Contracts 

Public Records P Public Records 

Revenue Sources  Revenue Sources 

Agency Specific P Agency Specific P

LAFCo

Score: 92%
Overview X

Budget P

Meetings P

Elected Officials P

Administrative 

Officials
P

Audits P

Contracts P

Public Records P

Revenue Sources P

Agency Specific X

Yolo LAFCo

Yolo Habitat Conservancy
Yolo Subbasin Groundwater 

Agency

A-8



Audit completed: January 10, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/about-us/mission-values-strategic-plan

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/about-usExecutive Summary

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/about-us

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/budget-finance

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors/board-calendar

b. Archive of agendas/minutes (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors/board-meetings/board-of-supervisors-meeting-agendas-minutes

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors/advisory-bodies

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/staff-directoryhttps://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/human-resources/salary-resolution

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors/county-codeTitle 2, Ch.6

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids/-fsiteid-1

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids/-fsiteid-1

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 10 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors/board-meetings/official-board-of-supervisors-search

Total 10

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/business/county-fees

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/home/showdocument?id=2975

Total 10

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Municipalities  (10 points)

a. Total number of lobbyists and total spent? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Downloadable Permit Applications (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/community-services/planning-public-works/permit-and-license-resource-center

c. Zoning Ordnances (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/community-services/planning-division/zoning-code

Total 7

Total Score 88

County of Yolo

B-1

Attachment B

https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/about-us/mission-values-strategic-plan
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/about-us
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/about-us
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/budget-finance
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors/board-calendar
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors/board-meetings/board-of-supervisors-meeting-agendas-minutes
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors/advisory-bodies
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/staff-directory
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/human-resources/salary-resolution
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors/county-code
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids/-fsiteid-1
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids/-fsiteid-1
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors/board-meetings/official-board-of-supervisors-search
https://www.yolocounty.org/business/county-fees
https://www.yolocounty.org/home/showdocument?id=2975
https://www.yolocounty.org/community-services/planning-public-works/permit-and-license-resource-center
https://www.yolocounty.org/community-services/planning-division/zoning-code


Audit completed: January 7, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://cityofdavis.org/about-davis/government

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 https://cityofdavis.org/about-davis/location-and-topographysuggest including a boundary map of city

Total 3

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/finance/city-budget

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/city-council/city-council-meetings

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/city-council/city-council-meetings

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/city-council/who-s-whocompensation/benefits located at https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/human-resources/salary-table

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/city-council/commissions-and-committees/apply-to-serve-on-a-city-commission

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://qcode.us/codes/davis/2.01.110 Compensation

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/city-manager-s-office/staff-directorycompensation/benefits located at https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/human-resources/salary-table

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 http://qcode.us/codes/davis/15.20.060 Compensation

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/finance/comprehensive-annual-financial-reports-cafr

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/finance/comprehensive-annual-financial-reports-cafr

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://cityofdavis.org/business/bids-rfp-s

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://cityofdavis.org/business/bids-rfp-sincluded in RFP

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/finance/fee-schedules

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 5 https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/finance/city-budget/2018-2019-budget04. Financial Forcast

Total 10

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Municipalities  (10 points)

a. Total number of lobbyists and total spent? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Downloadable Permit Applications (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/community-development-and-sustainability/building-and-development-permit-center

c. Zoning Ordnances (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/community-development-and-sustainability/planning-and-zoning

Total 7

Total Score 72

City of Davis

B-2

https://cityofdavis.org/about-davis/government
https://cityofdavis.org/about-davis/location-and-topography
https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/finance/city-budget
https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/city-council/city-council-meetings
https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/city-council/city-council-meetings
https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/city-council/who-s-who
https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/city-council/commissions-and-committees/apply-to-serve-on-a-city-commission
http://qcode.us/codes/davis/
https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/city-manager-s-office/staff-directory
http://qcode.us/codes/davis/
https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/finance/comprehensive-annual-financial-reports-cafr
https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/finance/comprehensive-annual-financial-reports-cafr
https://cityofdavis.org/business/bids-rfp-s
https://cityofdavis.org/business/bids-rfp-s
https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/finance/fee-schedules
https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/finance/city-budget/2018-2019-budget
https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/community-development-and-sustainability/building-and-development-permit-center
https://cityofdavis.org/city-hall/community-development-and-sustainability/planning-and-zoning


Audit completed: January 7, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/mission-statement

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/services

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/services/gis-maps

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/administrative-services/finance/financial-documents

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/city-council

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 2.5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/meetings-agendas/council-meeting-agendasNo approved Minutes

Total 7.5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/city-council

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/commissions-committees/commissions-committees-application

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://qcode.us/codes/westsacramento/2.04.080 Compensation

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/city-manager-s-office/human-resources

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/city-manager-s-office/human-resources

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/administrative-services/finance/financial-documents

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/administrative-services/finance/financial-documents

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/business/invitation-to-bid/request-for-proposals

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/business/invitation-to-bid

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 10 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/city-manager-s-office/city-clerk-s-office/public-records

Total 10

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/administrative-services/finance/book-of-fees

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Municipalities  (10 points)

a. Total number of lobbyists and total spent? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Downloadable Permit Applications (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/building-division/applications

c. Zoning Ordnances (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/planning-division/zoning-ordinance

Total 7

Total Score 81

City of West Sacramento

B-3

https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/mission-statement
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/services
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/services/gis-maps
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/administrative-services/finance/financial-documents
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/city-council
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/meetings-agendas/council-meeting-agendas
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/city-council
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/commissions-committees/commissions-committees-application
http://qcode.us/codes/westsacramento/
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/city-manager-s-office/human-resources
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/city-manager-s-office/human-resources
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/administrative-services/finance/financial-documents
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/administrative-services/finance/financial-documents
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/business/invitation-to-bid/request-for-proposals
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/business/invitation-to-bid
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/city-manager-s-office/city-clerk-s-office/public-records
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/administrative-services/finance/book-of-fees
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/building-division/applications
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/planning-division/zoning-ordinance


Audit completed: January 8, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.cityofwinters.org/city-of-winters-mission-statement/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 http://www.cityofwinters.org/city-of-winters-mission-statement/
Suggest adding LAFCo boundary 

map or a link to the map.

Total 3

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwinters.org/finance1/

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwinters.org/finance1/

Total 10

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwinters.org/city-council/Suggest adding a calendar

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwinters.org/city-council-meetings_/http://www.cityofwinters.org/city-council-meeting-minutes/

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.cityofwinters.org/city-council/

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.cityofwinters.org/elections/

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Winters/#!/Winters02/Winters0204.html#2.04.1502.04.150 Compensation Policy

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwinters.org/contact/

Compensation link does not work. 

Suggest drilling down and uing 

specific link associated for City. 

(info is in several places)

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwinters.org/personnel/

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwinters.org/finance1/

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwinters.org/finance1/

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.cityofwinters.org/rfp/

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.cityofwinters.org/rfp/

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.cityofwinters.org/approved-contracts/has a page, but none listed.

Total 10

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 10 http://www.cityofwinters.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/CPRAIntakeForm091818.pdf

Total 10

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwinters.org/community-dev-forms/no single page of fees-individual to dept.

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwinters.org/finance1/

Total 10

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Municipalities  (10 points)

a. Total number of lobbyists and total spent? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Downloadable Permit Applications (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.cityofwinters.org/permit-requirements-and-checklists/

c. Zoning Ordnances (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Winters

Total 7

Total Score 90

City of Winters

B-4

http://www.cityofwinters.org/city-of-winters-mission-statement/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/city-of-winters-mission-statement/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/finance1/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/finance1/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/city-council/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/city-council-meetings_/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/city-council-meeting-minutes/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/city-council/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/elections/
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Winters/#!/Winters02/Winters0204.html
http://www.cityofwinters.org/contact/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/personnel/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/finance1/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/finance1/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/rfp/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/rfp/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/approved-contracts/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/CPRAIntakeForm091818.pdf
http://www.cityofwinters.org/community-dev-forms/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/finance1/
http://www.cityofwinters.org/permit-requirements-and-checklists/
https://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Winters


Audit completed: January 8, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/740/Transparency-in-Government

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/101/Departments

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://cityofwoodland.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=655c5c3689994a52a1e6ed10e583c8b1

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/164/Financial-Reports

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/654/Meetings-Agendas

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 2 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/608/City-Council

Suggest adding terms, 

compensation info. Suggest adding 

link to publicpay.ca.gov

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/851/Boards-Commissions

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://qcode.us/codes/woodland/Ch.2/Art.1/Prt.C/Sec. 2-1-42/43

Total 9

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/142/Contact

Compensation/benefits on 

anothter page. Suggest adding link 

to publicpay.ca.gov

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/189/Memorandums-of-Understanding

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/164/Financial-Reports

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/Archive.aspx?AMID=37

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/Bids.aspx

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/Bids.aspxIncluded in individual RFPs

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 10 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/730/Public-Records-Request

Total 10

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/164/Financial-Reports

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 5 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/742/Financial-Transparency

Total 10

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Municipalities  (10 points)

a. Total number of lobbyists and total spent? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Downloadable Permit Applications (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.cityofwoodland.org/259/Building-Division

c. Zoning Ordnances (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://qcode.us/codes/woodland/

Total 7

Total Score 87

City of Woodland

B-5

http://www.cityofwoodland.org/740/Transparency-in-Government
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/101/Departments
http://cityofwoodland.maps.arcgis.com/apps/webappviewer/index.html?id=655c5c3689994a52a1e6ed10e583c8b1
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/164/Financial-Reports
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/654/Meetings-Agendas
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/608/City-Council
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/851/Boards-Commissions
http://qcode.us/codes/woodland/
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/142/Contact
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/189/Memorandums-of-Understanding
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/164/Financial-Reports
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/Archive.aspx?AMID=37
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/Bids.aspx
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/Bids.aspx
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/730/Public-Records-Request
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/164/Financial-Reports
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/742/Financial-Transparency
http://www.cityofwoodland.org/259/Building-Division
http://qcode.us/codes/woodland/


Audit completed: November 5, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Capay Cemetary District

B-6



Audit completed: November 5, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Cottonwood Cemetary District

B-7



Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://daviscemetery.org/our-district-vision/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://daviscemetery.org/services-policies/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://daviscemetery.org/district/

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://daviscemetery.org/events/

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 http://daviscemetery.org/agendas-and-documents/

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://daviscemetery.org/cemetery-board-of-trustees-staff/

Suggest link to email address be 

added. Suggest brief biographies 

relevant to serving on the board.

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://daviscemetery.org/cemetery-board-of-trustees-staff/

Suggest adding link to County 

website to exact page for 

appointment process.

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://daviscemetery.org/cemetery-board-of-trustees-staff/

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 2.5 http://daviscemetery.org/davis-cemetery-staff/

No Compensation/Benefits. 

Suggest link to publicpay.ca.gov 

with specific page for District.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 2.5

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 http://daviscemetery.org/agendas-and-documents/FYs 13, 14, 15

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest adding a page for 

contracts/RFPs

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Suggest making it clear to public 

the best way to request 

info/records

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 http://daviscemetery.org/services-policies/

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 5 http://daviscemetery.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Brouchure-2018.pdf

Total 10

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 3 http://daviscemetery.org/district/

Only quote portions of 

statute/enabling act. Suggest 

adding "Public cemetery districts 

are single purpose special districts 

established and regulated under 

provisions of the Health and Safety 

Code, Sections 9000-9093 et seq".

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

Total Score 50

Davis Cemetary District

B-8

http://daviscemetery.org/our-district-vision/
http://daviscemetery.org/services-policies/
http://daviscemetery.org/district/
http://daviscemetery.org/events/
http://daviscemetery.org/agendas-and-documents/
http://daviscemetery.org/cemetery-board-of-trustees-staff/
http://daviscemetery.org/cemetery-board-of-trustees-staff/
http://daviscemetery.org/cemetery-board-of-trustees-staff/
http://daviscemetery.org/davis-cemetery-staff/
http://daviscemetery.org/agendas-and-documents/
http://daviscemetery.org/services-policies/
http://daviscemetery.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Brouchure-2018.pdf
http://daviscemetery.org/district/


Audit completed: November 5, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Knights Landing Cemetary District

B-9



Audit completed: November 5, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Mary's Cemetary District

B-10



Audit completed: November 6, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.winterscemetery.org/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 http://www.winterscemetery.org/services

No description, just a fee schedule. 

Suggest adding a sentence or two 

describing what the 

services/functions the district 

offers.

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 http://www.winterscemetery.org/services

CSDA map does not include 

Winters Cemetery and is not user 

friendly (no instructions). Suggest 

using a pdf of LAFCo boundary 

map.

Total 3

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://www.winterscemetery.org/board-meetings

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) http://www.winterscemetery.org/board-meetings

Suggest all agendas/minutes be in 

pdf for the integrity of the 

document. There is a place on 

agendas requiring they be 

signed/dated/time, suggest that be 

done before posting. Suggest 

approved/signed Minutes be 

posted. 

Total 5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.winterscemetery.org/board-members

The email address is not linked. 

Compensation for board is noted 

on board member page. 

Transparency page has a web 

address to Public Pay but it's not 

actually linked to Public Pay 

website. Web address should also 

open directly on to Cemetery page.  

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors/advisory-bodies
Suggest using County's link 

(attached) for procedures.

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3 http://www.winterscemetery.org/winters-cemetery-reimbursement-policyNo Compensation Policy. 

Total 6

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 http://www.winterscemetery.org/staff

Name/title only. No contact info. 

Compensation for employees are 

on Transparency page. Suggest title 

should be changed to say Board & 

Staff...Transparency page has a web 

address to Public Pay but it's not 

actually linked to Public Pay 

website. Web address should also 

open directly to Cemetery page. 

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 3 http://www.winterscemetery.org/winters-cemetery-reimbursement-policyNo Compensation Policy. 

Total 3

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Suggests the District make sure it's 

clear to the public the best way to 

request information and /or 

records

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 http://www.winterscemetery.org/services

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 5 http://www.winterscemetery.org/public-cemetery-districts-principle-enabling-act

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

Total Score 28

Winters Cemetary District

B-11

http://www.winterscemetery.org/
http://www.winterscemetery.org/services
http://www.winterscemetery.org/services
http://www.winterscemetery.org/board-meetings
http://www.winterscemetery.org/board-meetings
http://www.winterscemetery.org/board-members
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors/advisory-bodies
http://www.winterscemetery.org/winters-cemetery-reimbursement-policy
http://www.winterscemetery.org/staff
http://www.winterscemetery.org/winters-cemetery-reimbursement-policy
http://www.winterscemetery.org/services
http://www.winterscemetery.org/public-cemetery-districts-principle-enabling-act


Audit completed: November 5, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Cacheville CSD

B-12



Audit completed: November 9, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.ecsd-ca.org/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.ecsd-ca.org/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.ecsd-ca.org/about-us
Suggest using an updated boundary 

map

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 http://www.ecsd-ca.org/agendas/budgets

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://www.ecsd-ca.org/about-us

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 http://www.ecsd-ca.org/agendashttp://www.ecsd-ca.org/agendas/minutes

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 2.5 http://www.ecsd-ca.org/about-us

No terms, compensation, or brief 

biographies relevant to serving on 

the board. Suggest adding link to 

publicpay.ca.gov with specific page 

for District.

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest adding link to County 

website to exact page for 

appointment processes.

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 2.5 http://www.ecsd-ca.org/about-us

No Compensation/Benefits.  

Suggest adding link to 

publicpay.ca.gov with specific page 

for District.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 2.5

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 http://www.ecsd-ca.org/agendas/audits

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 http://www.ecsd-ca.org/agendas/audits

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Suggests the District make sure it's 

clear to the public the best way to 

request information and /or 

records

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 http://www.ecsd-ca.org/rate-schedule

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 45

Esparto CSD

B-13

http://www.ecsd-ca.org/
http://www.ecsd-ca.org/
http://www.ecsd-ca.org/about-us
http://www.ecsd-ca.org/agendas/budgets
http://www.ecsd-ca.org/about-us
http://www.ecsd-ca.org/agendas
http://www.ecsd-ca.org/agendas/minutes
http://www.ecsd-ca.org/about-us
http://www.ecsd-ca.org/about-us
http://www.ecsd-ca.org/agendas/audits
http://www.ecsd-ca.org/agendas/audits
http://www.ecsd-ca.org/rate-schedule


Audit completed: November 5, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Knights Landing CSD

B-14



Audit completed: November 9, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Madison CSD

B-15



Audit completed: November 13, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan/-toggle-all
Nothing since 2013. Meets as 

needed.

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 2.5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan/-toggle-allNothing since 2013. No Minutes

Total 7.5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest writing that the CSA does 

not have contracts.

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan/

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan/

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

Total Score 69

Dunnigan CSA

B-16

https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan/-toggle-all
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan/-toggle-all
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan/
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/dunnigan/


Audit completed: November 13, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/el-macero-csa

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/el-macero-csa

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/el-macero-csa

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/el-macero-csa/-toggle-all

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/el-macero-csa/-toggle-allpast

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest writing that the CSA does 

not have contracts.

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa-/el-macero-csa/el-macero-csa-charges

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 67

El Macero CSA

B-17

https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/el-macero-csa
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/el-macero-csa
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/el-macero-csa
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/el-macero-csa/-toggle-all
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/el-macero-csa/-toggle-allpast
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa-/el-macero-csa/el-macero-csa-charges


Audit completed: November 14, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/garcia-bend-csa

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/garcia-bend-csa

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/garcia-bend-csa

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

Suggest noting that there is no 

advisory committee, therefore, no 

meetings

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 n/a

Total 5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest writing that the CSA does 

not have contracts.

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/garcia-bend-csa

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/garcia-bend-csa

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

Total Score 67

Garcia Bend CSA

B-18

https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/garcia-bend-csa
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/garcia-bend-csa
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/garcia-bend-csa
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/garcia-bend-csa
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/garcia-bend-csa


Audit completed: November 14, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/north-davis-meadows

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/north-davis-meadows

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/north-davis-meadows

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/north-davis-meadows/-toggle-all

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/north-davis-meadows/-toggle-all

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest writing that the CSA does 

not have contracts.

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa-/north-davis-meadows-csa/north-davis-meadows-csa-charg

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/north-davis-meadows

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

Total Score 72

North Davis Meadows CSA

B-19

https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/north-davis-meadows
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/north-davis-meadows
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/north-davis-meadows
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/north-davis-meadows/-toggle-all
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/north-davis-meadows/-toggle-all
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa-/north-davis-meadows-csa/north-davis-meadows-csa-charg
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/north-davis-meadows


Audit completed: November 15, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/snowball-csa

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/snowball-csa

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/snowball-csa

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

Suggest noting that there is no 

advisory committee, therefore, no 

meetings

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 n/a

Total 5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest writing that the CSA does 

not have contracts.

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/snowball-csa

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

Total Score 62

Snowball CSA #6

B-20

https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/snowball-csa
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/snowball-csa
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/snowball-csa
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa/snowball-csa


Audit completed: November 15, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings/-toggle-allupcoming

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings/-toggle-all

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings

Total 10

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa-/wild-wings-csa/wild-wings-csa-charges

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

Total Score 75

Wildwings CSA

B-21

https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings/-toggle-allupcoming
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings/-toggle-all
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas-csa-/wild-wings-csa/wild-wings-csa-charges
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/wild-wings


Audit completed: November 16, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/willowbank

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/willowbank

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/willowbank

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/willowbank/-toggle-allpast

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/willowbank/-toggle-allpast

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest writing that the CSA does 

not have contracts.

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/willowbank

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 67

Willowbank CSA

B-22

https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/willowbank
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/willowbank
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/willowbank
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/willowbank/-toggle-allpast
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/willowbank/-toggle-allpast
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/board-of-supervisors
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/publications
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/financial-services/procurement/current-advertised-bids
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-administrator/county-service-areas/willowbank


Audit completed: November 6, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Capay FPD

B-23



Audit completed: November 28, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://clarksburgfire.com/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://clarksburgfire.com/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 1.5 http://clarksburgfire.com/

Generally describes Clarksburg 

area. Suggest adding the LAFCo 

boundary map

Total 8

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://clarksburgfire.com/newsletter-2/

Info should be prominent on the 

website and not just on a 

"Newsletter 2" page. Suggest 

moving this info to "Fire 

Commissioners" page.

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 http://clarksburgfire.com/clarksburg-fire-commissioners/
There is a page but no names, 

contact info, terms, bios, etc.

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest adding link to County 

website to exact page for 

appointment processes.

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://clarksburgfire.com/newsletter-2/

Commissioner do not receive 

compensation. Info should be 

prominent on the website and not 

just on "Newsletter 2" page. 

(Suggest adding to "Fire 

Commissioners" page.

Total 3

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

Just a photo gallery under "Our 

Volunteers" and a count list of 

personnel on "Home" page. 

Suggest adding names, contact 

info, compensation/benefits, etc. 

Suggest adding link to 

publicpay.ca.gov with specific page 

for District.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 16

Clarksburg FPD

B-24

http://clarksburgfire.com/
http://clarksburgfire.com/
http://clarksburgfire.com/
http://clarksburgfire.com/newsletter-2/
http://clarksburgfire.com/clarksburg-fire-commissioners/
http://clarksburgfire.com/newsletter-2/


Audit completed: November 28, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.dunniganfire.com/about.html

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.dunniganfire.com/about.html

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest adding the LAFCo 

boundary map

Total 7

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://www.dunniganfire.com/station---apparatus.html

Suggest putting this info in a 

prominent location. It's hidden 

under About Us, Station & 

Apparatus. 

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 1.25 http://www.dunniganfire.com/station---apparatus.html

Suggest Fire Commission have its 

own page. It's hidden under About 

Us, Station & Apparatus. Names 

only. No contact info, terms, 

compensation, etc. 

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest adding link to County 

website to exact page for 

appointment processes.

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 1

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 2 http://www.dunniganfire.com/personnel.html

Only list names. No emails, 

compensation/benefits, etc. 

General number & address at the 

botton of website. Suggest adding 

link to publicpay.ca.gov with 

specific page for District.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 2

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 15

Dunnigan FPD

B-25

http://www.dunniganfire.com/about.html
http://www.dunniganfire.com/about.html
http://www.dunniganfire.com/station---apparatus.html
http://www.dunniganfire.com/station---apparatus.html
http://www.dunniganfire.com/personnel.html


Audit completed: November 29, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://eastdaviscfpd.wordpress.com/other-info/

Total 3

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://eastdaviscfpd.wordpress.com/

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 https://eastdaviscfpd.wordpress.com/

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 1.25 https://eastdaviscfpd.wordpress.com/

Suggest Fire Commission have its 

own page. No contact info, terms, 

compensation/benefits, etc., just 

names.

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest adding link to County 

website to exact page for 

appointment processes.

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 1

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 https://eastdaviscfpd.wordpress.com/about/Is this current? (2006)

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 5 https://eastdaviscfpd.wordpress.com/about/Reso dated 01/28/53

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

Total Score 25

East Davis FPD

B-26

https://eastdaviscfpd.wordpress.com/other-info/
https://eastdaviscfpd.wordpress.com/
https://eastdaviscfpd.wordpress.com/
https://eastdaviscfpd.wordpress.com/
https://eastdaviscfpd.wordpress.com/about/
https://eastdaviscfpd.wordpress.com/about/


Audit completed: November 29, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Elkhorn FPD

B-27



Audit completed: November 29, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.espartofire.org/
Doesn't mention the word 

"mission" but it's in the content.

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.espartofire.org/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 7

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest adding link to County 

website to exact page for 

appointment processes.

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 1.25 http://www.espartofire.org/page-1678575

No contact info, 

compensation/benefits, etc.No 

Compensation/Benefits. Suggest 

adding link to publicpay.ca.gov 

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 1.25

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 8

Esparto FPD

B-28

http://www.espartofire.org/
http://www.espartofire.org/
http://www.espartofire.org/page-1678575


Audit completed: November 6, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Knights Landing FPD

B-29



Audit completed: November 30, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.madison-fire.com/our-mission

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.madison-fire.com/services

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.madison-fire.com/madison-fire-district-service-area

There's a page but nothing's on it. 

Suggest attaching the LAFCo 

Boundary map. "Did find CSDA 

map on Transparency page. Too 

complex for most people).

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 4 https://www.madison-fire.com/board-meetings
Gives date & place only. Suggest 

adding time.

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 2.5 https://www.madison-fire.com/board-meetings

No Minutes. Suggest ALL 

agendas/minutes be in pdf format 

for integrity of document.

Total 6.5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 1.25 https://www.madison-fire.com/board-members

Only names & terms. No contact 

info, compensation, bios, etc. 

Suggest also adding link to 

publicpay.ca.gov.

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest mentioning on the Board 

Member page that the board 

receives no compensation.

Total 1

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

NO info page on staff. There is a 

link to publicpay.ca.gov. (under 

Transparency). For ease of finding 

the correct district on publicpay, 

suggest finding specific link to 

District and using that.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 5 https://www.madison-fire.com/fire-protection-districts-principle-enabling-act

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

Total Score 23

Madison FPD

B-30

https://www.madison-fire.com/our-mission
https://www.madison-fire.com/services
https://www.madison-fire.com/madison-fire-district-service-area
https://www.madison-fire.com/board-meetings
https://www.madison-fire.com/board-meetings
https://www.madison-fire.com/board-members
https://www.madison-fire.com/fire-protection-districts-principle-enabling-act


Audit completed: November 6, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

No Man's Land FPD

B-31



Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Springlake FPD

B-32



Audit completed: November 30, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 2.75 https://wpfd.net/district-map/
Map is not correct. Suggest adding 

the LAFCo boundary map

Total 3

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 1.25 https://wpfd.net/contact/personnel/

Names only. Suggest adding 

contact info, terms of office, 

compenstion, small bios

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest adding link to County 

website to exact page for 

appointment processes.

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 1

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 1.25 https://wpfd.net/contact/personnel/

Names only. Suggest adding 

contact info, compenstion, & 

benefits. Suggest a link to 

publicpay.ca.gov with specific page 

for District.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 1.25

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 5

West Plainfield FPD

B-33

https://wpfd.net/district-map/
https://wpfd.net/contact/personnel/
https://wpfd.net/contact/personnel/


Audit completed: December 3, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.willowoakfire.com/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.willowoakfire.com/about.html

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest adding the LAFCo 

boundary map

Total 7

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 2.75 http://www.willowoakfire.com/staff.html

No compenstion, terms of office, 

small bios. If the board is 

compensated, suggest a link to 

publicpay.ca.gov. If not, say that.

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest adding link to County 

website to exact page for 

appointment processes.

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 3 http://www.willowoakfire.com/staff.html

No compenstion & benefits. 

Suggest a link to publicpay.ca.gov 

with specific page for District.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 12

Willow Oak FPD

B-34

http://www.willowoakfire.com/
http://www.willowoakfire.com/about.html
http://www.willowoakfire.com/staff.html
http://www.willowoakfire.com/staff.html


Audit completed: December 3, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.wintersfire.org/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.wintersfire.org/chiefs-corner/

Suggest also adding this info to the 

Home page or other specific page 

for services/functions.

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.wintersfire.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/WFDDistrictMap.pdf

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Suggest adding link to County 

website to exact page for 

appointment processes.

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 3 http://www.wintersfire.org/contact-us/

No compenstion & benefits. 

Suggest adding link to 

publicpay.ca.gov with specific page 

of District.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 13

Winters FPD

B-35

http://www.wintersfire.org/
http://www.wintersfire.org/chiefs-corner/
http://www.wintersfire.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/WFDDistrictMap.pdf
http://www.wintersfire.org/contact-us/


Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Yolo FPD

B-36



Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Zamora FPD

B-37



Audit Completed: December 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/business/economic-development-housing/port-of-west-sacramento

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 4 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/commissions-committees/port-commission
Suggest adding the time of 

meetings on this page

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 2.5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/meetings-agendas/port-commission
There are no approved minutes, 

only drafts

Total 6.5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/commissions-committees/port-commission

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 3 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/business/economic-development-housing/port-of-west-sacramento

Name/contact only. No 

compenstion & benefits. Suggest 

adding link to publicpay.ca.gov, 

with specific page of City.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/business/invitation-to-bid/request-for-proposals

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/Home/Components/RFP/RFP/1066/783
Submittal instructions come with 

each invitation to bid?

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/commissions-committees/port-commission

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5 *Suggest consolidating the Port Commission and Port of Sac pages

Total Score 28

Sacramento-Yolo Port District

B-38

https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/business/economic-development-housing/port-of-west-sacramento
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/commissions-committees/port-commission
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/meetings-agendas/port-commission
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/commissions-committees/port-commission
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/business/economic-development-housing/port-of-west-sacramento
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/business/invitation-to-bid/request-for-proposals
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/Home/Components/RFP/RFP/1066/783
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/commissions-committees/port-commission


Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Reclamation District 150

B-39



Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Reclamation District 307

B-40



Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Reclamation District 537

B-41



Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Reclamation District 730

B-42



Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Reclamation District 765

B-43



Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Reclamation District 785

B-44



Audit completed: December 5, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.rd787.org/about-rd-787/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd787.org/district-maps/

Suggest adding the LAFCo 

Boundary Map (nearby water 

district map is incorrect. Yolo-

Zamora WD was dissolved in 2014.

Total 7

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd787.org/board-meetings/

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd787.org/board-meetings/

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 http://www.rd787.org/board-meetings/

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO Same as Board????

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 1.25 http://www.rd787.org/about-rd-787/

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 1.25

Total Score 18

Reclamation District 787

B-45

http://www.rd787.org/about-rd-787/
http://www.rd787.org/district-maps/
http://www.rd787.org/board-meetings/
http://www.rd787.org/board-meetings/
http://www.rd787.org/board-meetings/
http://www.rd787.org/about-rd-787/


Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Reclamation District 827

B-46



Audit completed: December 5, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO Under Construction

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Reclamation District 900

B-47



Audit completed: December 6, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://rd999.org

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 2.5 http://rd999.org/news/

No minutes. For ease of finding the 

agendas/minutes, suggest labeling 

the agendas "Meetings" instead of 

"News".

Total 2.5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 1.25 http://rd999.org/contact/

Names only. No contact, terms, 

bios, compenstion & benefits. If 

the board is compensated, suggest 

adding link to publicpay.ca.gov 

with specific page of District. If not, 

say that.

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 1

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 3 http://rd999.org/contact/

No manager info. No compenstion 

& benefits. Suggest adding link to 

publicpay.ca.gov with specific page 

of District.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0 NO

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 5 http://rd999.org/history/5/

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

Total Score 15

Reclamation District 999

B-48

http://rd999.org/
http://rd999.org/news/
http://rd999.org/contact/
http://rd999.org/contact/
http://rd999.org/history/5/


Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Reclamation District 1600

B-49



Audit completed: November 7, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Reclamation District 2035

B-50



Audit completed: December 12, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/services.htm

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/history.htm

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/bod.htm

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/bod.htm

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/bod.htm

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/bod.htm

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 7

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 2.5 http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/staff.htm

No Compensation/Benefits.  

Suggest adding link to 

publicpay.ca.gov with specific page 

for District.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 2.5

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/
Does not have FY17/18. May be in 

process

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/FYE 2014 through 2017

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 10 http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/

Total 10

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 49

Yolo County Resource Conservation District

B-51

http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/
http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/services.htm
http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/history.htm
http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/bod.htm
http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/bod.htm
http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/bod.htm
http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/bod.htm
http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/staff.htm
http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/
http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/
http://www.yolorcd.org/nodes/about/


Audit completed: December 12, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

There is a map but it doesn't follow 

the LAFco map boundaries, nor 

does it show the SOI

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/dwd-financial/

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

Total 10

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/dwd-meetings/

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 3.5 http://www.rd108.org/dwd-meetings/

Minutes seem to be drafts only, 

have not been approved and 

signed.

Total 8.5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/dwd-financial/

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/dwd-financial/

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/request-for-proposal/No, but there is a page for RFPs

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/request-for-proposal/No, but there is a page for RFPs

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Are there contracts that should be 

posted?

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 10 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

Total 10

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

Total 10

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/

Total 5

Total Score 90

Dunnigan Water District

B-52

http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/
http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/
http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/
http://www.rd108.org/dwd-financial/
http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/
http://www.rd108.org/dwd-meetings/
http://www.rd108.org/dwd-meetings/
http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/
http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/
http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/
http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/
http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/
http://www.rd108.org/dwd-financial/
http://www.rd108.org/dwd-financial/
http://www.rd108.org/request-for-proposal/
http://www.rd108.org/request-for-proposal/
http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/
http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/
http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/
http://www.rd108.org/dunnigan-water-district/


Audit completed: December 13, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/

Total 7

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/klrdd-financial/

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 4 http://www.rd108.org/klrdd-meetings/Same month/day/time twice a yr.? Calendar?

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 3 http://www.rd108.org/klrdd-meetings/

Links for Agendas 

(2010,11,12,15,16)/Minutes 

(2010,11,12,14,15,16) are not 

working (Page not found). Minutes 

for 2014 and 2017 are draft only, 

not approved (signed). When the 

other years get reposted, suggest 

posting approved minutes.

Total 7

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 2.5 http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/

No compensation/benefits info.  

Suggest adding link to 

publicpay.ca.gov with specific page 

for District.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 2.5

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 4 http://www.rd108.org/klrdd-financial/Missing 2017

Total 4

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/request-for-proposal/No, but there is a page for RFPs

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.rd108.org/request-for-proposal/No, but there is a page for RFPs

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 http://www.rd108.org/request-for-proposal/
Are there contracts that should be 

posted?

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 10 http://www.rd108.org/public-records-request/
Suggest putting a link of this page 

on the KLRDD page.

Total 10

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/

Total 5

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 0 NO

Just states that District was formed 

by a special act of State Legislature. 

Which act/authorizing statute?

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 5 http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/

Total 5

Total Score 62

Knights Landing Ridge Drainage District

B-53

http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/
http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/
http://www.rd108.org/klrdd-financial/
http://www.rd108.org/klrdd-meetings/
http://www.rd108.org/klrdd-meetings/
http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/
http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/
http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/
http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/
http://www.rd108.org/klrdd-financial/
http://www.rd108.org/request-for-proposal/
http://www.rd108.org/request-for-proposal/
http://www.rd108.org/request-for-proposal/
http://www.rd108.org/public-records-request/
http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/
http://www.rd108.org/knights-landing-ridge-drainage-district/


Audit completed: December 13, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/district.html

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/servicearea.html

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/DistrictFinancialInformation.htm

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/agendas.html

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 2.5 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/agendas.htmlNo approved minutes

Total 7.5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/board.html#calendar.html

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/board.html#calendar.html

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/board.html#calendar.html

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/staff.html
Suggest link to publicpay.ca.gov be 

the specific page to  District.

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/DistrictFinancialInformation.htm

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/DistrictFinancialInformation.htm

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/DistrictFinancialInformation.htm

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 5 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/DistrictFinancialInformation.htm

Total 10

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 5 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/district.html

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 5 http://www.ycfcwcd.org/board.html#calendar.html

Total 10

Total Score 67

YCFWCD

B-54

http://www.ycfcwcd.org/
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/district.html
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/servicearea.html
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/DistrictFinancialInformation.htm
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/agendas.html
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/agendas.html
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/board.html#calendar.html
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/board.html#calendar.html
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/board.html#calendar.html
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/staff.html
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/DistrictFinancialInformation.htm
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/DistrictFinancialInformation.htm
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/DistrictFinancialInformation.htm
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/DistrictFinancialInformation.htm
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/district.html
http://www.ycfcwcd.org/board.html#calendar.html


Audit completed: November 8, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Conaway Ranch

B-55



Audit completed: January 10, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://cityofdavis.org/about-davis/government

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 3

Davis Public Facilities Financing Authority

B-56

https://cityofdavis.org/about-davis/government


Audit completed: January 10, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/meetings-agendas/river-city-regional-stadium-financing-authority

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 2.5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/meetings-agendas/river-city-regional-stadium-financing-authorityAgendas only

Total 7.5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 8

River City Reg. Stadium Financing Authority

B-57

https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/meetings-agendas/river-city-regional-stadium-financing-authority
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/meetings-agendas/river-city-regional-stadium-financing-authority


Audit completed: January 10, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.riverfrontstreetcar.com/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 1.5 http://www.riverfrontstreetcar.com/route/Streetcar Route

Total 5

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://www.riverfrontstreetcar.com/board/

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 1.25 http://www.riverfrontstreetcar.com/board/
Says they are available for review 

but they are not

Total 6.25

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 1.5 http://www.riverfrontstreetcar.com/board/

No Compensation/Appointment 

date (links to Wsac Board Members 

are broken)

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 NO n/a

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 2 http://www.riverfrontstreetcar.com/board/JPA Clerk: Name/contact info only

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 2

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 18

Riverfront JPA

B-58

http://www.riverfrontstreetcar.com/
http://www.riverfrontstreetcar.com/route/
http://www.riverfrontstreetcar.com/board/
http://www.riverfrontstreetcar.com/board/
http://www.riverfrontstreetcar.com/board/
http://www.riverfrontstreetcar.com/board/


Audit completed: January 9, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 5 https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/

Total 10

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/meetings/

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 2.5 https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/meetings/
Only agendas (minutes are draft, in 

packet, not approved)

Total 7.5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/Advisory Committee

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0

Total 7

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 2.5 https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/staff/No Compensation/Benefits

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0

Total 2.5

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 n/a

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/

Total 10

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 1.25 https://valleycleanenergy.org/rates-billing/not available until early 2019 (has a webpage)

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 1.25

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 10 https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/

Total 10

Total Score 68

Valley Clean Energy Alliance

B-59

https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/meetings/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/meetings/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/about-us/staff/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/rates-billing/
https://valleycleanenergy.org/news-resources/


Audit completed: January 10, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection
W.Sac webpage: CommDev under 

Flood Protection.

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 7

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/meetings/wsafca-board-meetings
No actual schedule, just notes 

day/time

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/meetings/wsafca-board-meetings

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 2.5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/contact-us

Name/Contact only. Suggest 

adding short bios (link to member 

agency website), date appointed, 

compensation. 

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 2.5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/contact-us
Name/Contact only. Suggest 

adding compensation/benefits. 

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 2.5

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 2.5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/resource-libraryNO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 1.5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/resource-libraryUp to FYE 2016

Total 4

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/what-s-new

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/what-s-newincluded with individual RFPs

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO Suggest linking to City's PRA page

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/flood-program-funding

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 37

WSAFCA

B-60

https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/meetings/wsafca-board-meetings
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/meetings/wsafca-board-meetings
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/contact-us
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/contact-us
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/resource-library
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/resource-library
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/what-s-new
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/what-s-new
https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/departments/community-development/flood-protection/flood-program-funding


Audit completed: January 10, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 2.5 https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/meetings-agendas/public-financing-authorityAgendas only

Total 2.5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 3

West Sac. Financing Authority JPA

B-61

https://www.cityofwestsacramento.org/government/meetings-agendas/public-financing-authority


Audit completed: November 8, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Winters Branch Library Financing Authority

B-62



Audit completed: November 8, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Winters Public Finance Authority

B-63



Audit completed: January 9, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.wdcwa.com/project-overview/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.wdcwa.com/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.wdcwa.com/project-overview/

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 1.25 https://www.wdcwa.com/project-history/Only FY 2013/14

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 1.25

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 https://www.wdcwa.com/agendas/

Total 5

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 1.25 https://www.wdcwa.com/board-of-directors/

Names only. Suggest a link to 

members bio on their own agency 

website

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 n/a

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 2 https://www.wdcwa.com/contact/No compensation/benefits

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 2

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 1.25 https://www.wdcwa.com/project-history/Only FYE 2014

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 1.25 https://www.wdcwa.com/project-history/Only FYEs 2009-2014

Total 2.5

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.wdcwa.com/current-operations/

Total 3

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 10 https://www.wdcwa.com/project-history/

Total 10

Total Score 39

Woodland-Davis Clean Water Agency

B-64

https://www.wdcwa.com/project-overview/
https://www.wdcwa.com/
https://www.wdcwa.com/project-overview/
https://www.wdcwa.com/project-history/
https://www.wdcwa.com/agendas/
https://www.wdcwa.com/board-of-directors/
https://www.wdcwa.com/contact/
https://www.wdcwa.com/project-history/
https://www.wdcwa.com/project-history/
https://www.wdcwa.com/current-operations/
https://www.wdcwa.com/project-history/


Audit completed: November 8, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Woodland Finance Authority

B-65



Audit completed: January 10, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-counsel/law-library

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-counsel/law-library

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 n/a serves everyone

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 2.5 https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-counsel/law-libraryName/Contact info only

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 2.5

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 12

Yolo County Law Library

B-66

https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-counsel/law-library
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-counsel/law-library
https://www.yolocounty.org/general-government/general-government-departments/county-counsel/law-library


Audit completed: November 8, 2018 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 0 NO

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 0

Yolo County Public Agencies Finance Authority

B-67



Audit completed: January 9, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.ycparmia.org/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 http://www.ycparmia.org/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 http://www.ycparmia.org/index.htm
No map, buts states they serve 

members within Yolo County

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 http://www.ycparmia.org/agenda.htm

Suggest adding a blurb regarding 

meeting time/day, etc., "…meets at 

9:ooam on the fourth Thursday of 

each month, …"

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 http://www.ycparmia.org/agenda.htm

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 NO n/a

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 3

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 2.5 http://www.ycparmia.org/contact_us.htmNo Compensation/Benefits. 

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 2.5

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

Total Score 26

YCPARMIA

B-68

http://www.ycparmia.org/
http://www.ycparmia.org/
http://www.ycparmia.org/index.htm
http://www.ycparmia.org/agenda.htm
http://www.ycparmia.org/agenda.htm
http://www.ycparmia.org/contact_us.htm


Audit completed: January 9, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolo911.org/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.yolo911.org/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolo911.org/service-area-map

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolo911.org/financials-compensation

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolo911.org/financial-reserve-policy

Total 10

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolo911.org/board-meetings

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolo911.org/board-meetings

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolo911.org/jpa-governing-board-members

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolo911.org/board-overviewn/a

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolo911.org/employee-reimbursement-policy

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolo911.org/staff

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolo911.org/employee-reimbursement-policy

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolo911.org/financials-compensation

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolo911.org/financials-compensation

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolo911.org/yeca-s-bids-and-contractsNone at this time

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolo911.org/yeca-s-bids-and-contractsNone at this time

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolo911.org/yeca-s-bids-and-contractsNone at this time

Total 10

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 10 https://www.yolo911.org/911-public-records-request

Total 10

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 10 https://www.yolo911.org/joint-powers-agreement

Total 10

Total Score 90

Yolo Emergency Communications Agency

B-69

https://www.yolo911.org/
https://www.yolo911.org/
https://www.yolo911.org/service-area-map
https://www.yolo911.org/financials-compensation
https://www.yolo911.org/financial-reserve-policy
https://www.yolo911.org/board-meetings
https://www.yolo911.org/board-meetings
https://www.yolo911.org/jpa-governing-board-members
https://www.yolo911.org/board-overview
https://www.yolo911.org/employee-reimbursement-policy
https://www.yolo911.org/staff
https://www.yolo911.org/employee-reimbursement-policy
https://www.yolo911.org/financials-compensation
https://www.yolo911.org/financials-compensation
https://www.yolo911.org/yeca-s-bids-and-contracts
https://www.yolo911.org/yeca-s-bids-and-contracts
https://www.yolo911.org/yeca-s-bids-and-contracts
https://www.yolo911.org/911-public-records-request
https://www.yolo911.org/joint-powers-agreement


Audit completed: January 9, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-staff-board-committees

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-staff-board-committees

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-staff-board-committees

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1

Total 10

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/meetings

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/meetings

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-staff-board-committees

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-staff-board-committeesn/a

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 2.5 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-staff-board-committeesNo Compensation/benefits

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1

Total 7.5

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1none at this time

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1included in individual RFPs

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 7

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 10 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/request-for-information

Total 10

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 10 https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1

Total 10

Total Score 84

Yolo Habitat Conservancy

B-70

https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-staff-board-committees
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-staff-board-committees
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-staff-board-committees
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/meetings
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/meetings
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-staff-board-committees
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-staff-board-committees
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-staff-board-committees
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/request-for-information
https://www.yolohabitatconservancy.org/copy-of-documents-1


Audit completed: January 10, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://yologroundwater.org/index.php/yolo-subbasin-groundwater-agency/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://yologroundwater.org/index.php/yolo-subbasin-groundwater-agency/

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://sgma.water.ca.gov/portal/gsa/print/217

Total 10

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://yologroundwater.org/

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 https://yologroundwater.org/index.php/ysga-board-meetings/

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 1.25 https://yologroundwater.org/index.php/ysga-board-members-and-affiliated-parties/Only shows agencies name

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 1

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 1.25 https://yologroundwater.org/index.php/ysga-board-members-and-affiliated-parties/Name/Contact only

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 1.25

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 0 NO

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 0

10. Agency Specific Criteria: JPAs (10 points)

a. Joint powers agreement as filed/adopted? (10 pts) 10 https://sgma.water.ca.gov/portal/gsa/print/217

Total 10

Total Score 32

Yolo Subbasin Groundwater Agency

B-71

https://yologroundwater.org/index.php/yolo-subbasin-groundwater-agency/
https://yologroundwater.org/index.php/yolo-subbasin-groundwater-agency/
https://sgma.water.ca.gov/portal/gsa/print/217
https://yologroundwater.org/
https://yologroundwater.org/index.php/ysga-board-meetings/
https://yologroundwater.org/index.php/ysga-board-members-and-affiliated-parties/
https://yologroundwater.org/index.php/ysga-board-members-and-affiliated-parties/
https://sgma.water.ca.gov/portal/gsa/print/217


Audit completed: January 14, 2019 Score: Link: Notes:

1. Overview (10 points)

a. Mission (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yololafco.org/

b. Description of Services/functions (3.33 pts.) 3.33 https://www.yololafco.org/what-we-do

c. Service Boundary (3.33 pts) 0 NO

Total 7

2. Budget  (10 points)

a. Current FY + 3 years prior (5 pts) 5 https://www.yololafco.org/financial-compensation-info

b. Financial Reserve Policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yololafco.org/financial-compensation-info

Total 10

3. Meetings  (10 points)

a. Schedule (5 pts) 5 https://www.yololafco.org/commission-meetings

b. Archive of agendas/mintutes (5 pts) 5 https://www.yololafco.org/commission-meetings

Total 10

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  (10 points)

a. Board member information (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yololafco.org/commissioners

b. Election procedures/deadlines (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-lafco-policies-procedures

c. Reimbursement/Compensation policy (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-lafco-policies-procedures

Total 10

5. Administrative Officials  (10 points)

a. General Manager and Key Staff Information (5 pts) 5 https://www.yololafco.org/staff

b. Reimbursement/compensation policy (5 pts) 5 https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-lafco-policies-procedures

Total 10

6. Audits  (10 points)

a. Current audit? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yololafco.org/financial-compensation-info

b. Last 3 years? (5 pts) 5 https://www.yololafco.org/financial-compensation-info

Total 10

7. Contracts  (10 points)

a. Current RFPs? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yololafco.org/bids-and-contracts

b. Submittal Instructions? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yololafco.org/bids-and-contracts

c. Approved Contracts? (3.33 pts) 3.33 https://www.yololafco.org/bids-and-contracts

Total 10

8. Public Records  (10 points)

a. Request form? (10 pts) 10 https://www.yololafco.org/contact-us

Total 10

9. Revenue Sources  (10 points)

a. Summary of Fees (5 pts) 5 https://www.yololafco.org/application-materials

b. Summary of Revenue Sources (5 pts) 5 https://www.yololafco.org/financial-compensation-infoSee Current Budget

Total 10

10. Agency Specific Criteria: Special Districts  (10 points)

a. Authorizing statute/enabling act (5 pts) 5 https://www.yololafco.org/what-we-do

b. Board ethics training certificates (5 pts) 0 NO

Total 5

Total Score 92

Yolo LAFCo

B-72

https://www.yololafco.org/
https://www.yololafco.org/what-we-do
https://www.yololafco.org/financial-compensation-info
https://www.yololafco.org/financial-compensation-info
https://www.yololafco.org/commission-meetings
https://www.yololafco.org/commission-meetings
https://www.yololafco.org/commissioners
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-lafco-policies-procedures
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-lafco-policies-procedures
https://www.yololafco.org/staff
https://www.yololafco.org/yolo-lafco-policies-procedures
https://www.yololafco.org/financial-compensation-info
https://www.yololafco.org/financial-compensation-info
https://www.yololafco.org/bids-and-contracts
https://www.yololafco.org/bids-and-contracts
https://www.yololafco.org/bids-and-contracts
https://www.yololafco.org/contact-us
https://www.yololafco.org/application-materials
https://www.yololafco.org/financial-compensation-info
https://www.yololafco.org/what-we-do


Adopted by the cities and County on the following dates: Yolo County – November 7, 2017 
City of Davis – October 17, 2017 City of Winters – November 7, 2017 
City of West Sacramento – November 1, 2017 City of Woodland – November 21, 2017 

Yolo Local Government 

Transparency and Accountability Program 

VISION 

Our vision is to promote open government and transparency for government agencies countywide 

(cities, County, special districts, and joint powers authorities), thereby fostering public trust and 

accountability. We will achieve this by: 

 Requesting that LAFCo add selected types of joint powers authorities/agencies to its municipal

service review process already conducted with the cities and special districts.

 Supporting LAFCo to develop a scorecard measuring local agency website transparency,

performed on a regular basis.

 Agreement to a common checklist of information used to measure the level of transparency in

local agency websites.

 Ensuring that city/county websites are a model for other local government agencies to follow.

 Encouraging local special districts and JPAs to create a web presence if they do not already have

one.

GOALS 

The agencies seek to improve: 

 Transparency and accountability.

 Oversight.

 Service delivery and efficiency.

 Coordination among agencies.

 Public understanding of local government.

 Good governance by creating a standard of basic elements for a well-run governmental

organization (annual budget, CIP, audits, etc.).

VALUES 

TRUST AND INTEGRITY which the agencies will demonstrate by following through on their commitments, 

duties, and responsibilities. 

Attachment C



2 
 

OPEN, HONEST, AND CLEAR COMMUNICATION within each organization, between agencies and with the 

public. 

FISCAL ACCOUNTABILITY as demonstrated by making budgets, financial practices, compensation, and 

audits available to the public.  

PROMOTING AWARENESS of local government by promoting a website presence that describes the 

agency’s reason for existing, a description of services it provides, and the area it provides services to.  

ENCOURAGING UNDERSTANDING of where tax dollars go and how to easily contact board members and 

agency management. 

CIVIC RESPONSIBILITY through access to board meeting schedules, agendas and minutes so the public 

can more easily attend board meetings and become involved.  

TRANSPARENCY to respond to the growing movement to make governmental information available and 

searchable online.  

REPRESENTATION to inform the public regarding board members (names, contact information and 

terms of office) and their election/appointment process. 

 

JPA/SHARED PROGRAMS FINANCIAL BEST PRACTICES 

City/County managers will determine assignments to each JPA/Shared Programs for liaison/oversight 

purposes. Shared programs include programs that are funded via city/county cost sharing, e.g. Yolo 

County Animal Services, Office of Emergency Services, West Valley Fire Training Consortium, etc.  

Budget integration between JPAs/Shared programs and “member” agencies that fund them will be 

improved by implementation of the following process performed annually: 

 City/County managers will prepare a consolidated summary-level budget preparation memo for 

the JPAs and other shared programs that require city/County funding. The memo should convey 

the budget stance for the upcoming fiscal year, plus a longer range outlook. The intent is to 

create JPA alignment with the cities/County budget stance and mirror agency cycles of budget 

reductions or growth.  

 City/County managers may schedule budget workshops with the JPAs and shared programs each 

year around the March timeframe or as appropriate.   

 JPAs and other shared programs are requested to provide draft budgets for funding agencies’ 

executive manager review by May and final adopted budgets no later than June 15th of each 

year for integration into each funding agency’s budget.  

Formation of any new JPAs or shared programs should only be considered when the following criteria 
are met.1 The proposed JPA/shared program: 

 Will demonstrate cost reduction. 

 Is more efficient. 

                                                           
1 Governments Working Together, A Citizen’s Guide to Joint Powers Agreements, California State Legislature, 
Senate Local Government Committee, August 2007 



3 
 

 Will reduce or eliminate overlapping services. 

 Will result in the sharing of resources. 

JPA agreements should include common policies supporting JPA funds to be held in the County Treasury 

(as appropriate), open government, and transparency. 

 

PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION – MUNICIPAL SERVICE REVIEWS OF SELECTED TYPES OF JPAs 

The Cities/County request that LAFCo conduct Municipal Service Reviews every five years of selected 

types of JPAs whose service area is mostly within the county and includes: (1) JPAs that provide 

municipal services; (2) JPAs that employ staff; and/or (3) JPAs with boards comprised of agency staff. 

New JPAs may be created in the future and added to this list, but currently those JPAs include: 

1. Valley Clean Energy Alliance 

2. West Sacramento Area Flood Control Agency 

3. Woodland-Davis Clean Water Agency 

4. Yolo County Public Agency Risk Management Insurance Authority 

5. Yolo Emergency Communications Agency 

6. Yolo Habitat Conservancy 

7. Yolo Subbasin Groundwater Agency 

 

LAFCo steps to complete Municipal Service Reviews on a five-year cycle of these JPAs include: 

 Compiling publicly and readily available information. 

 Requesting any additional information from the JPA, minimizing JPA staff time. 

 Developing JPA recommendations regarding each of the seven standard MSR determinations. 

 Completing an administrative draft report for preview by JPA management. 

 Responding to any comments and preparing a draft report available for public review.  

 Publishing a hearing notice for public review and comment of the draft MSR. 

 Adopting the MSR at a public hearing, finalizing the report, and posting it online.  

 Sharing MSR findings with city/county managers, including any cumulative recommendations on 

ways to streamline and improve efficiencies with the governance structures countywide. 

 

PROGRAM IMPLEMENTATION - WEBSITE TRANSPARENCY SCORECARD 

A website transparency scorecard will be prepared by LAFCo on a regular basis involving the following 

steps: 



4 
 

 Creating list of cities, County, JPAs and special districts 

 Encouraging local JPAs and special districts to establish websites and assist them, if desired 

 LAFCo conducts preliminary review of agency websites 

 LAFCo shares preliminary results with each agency to provide an opportunity for improvement 

 LAFCo conducts follow up review 

 The agency scorecard is finalized, adopted by the LAFCo Commission, shared with local agencies, 

and posted online 

 

AGENCY WEB TRANSPARENCY CHECKLIST2 

The scorecard will be based on the following criteria: 

1. Overview 

a. Mission Statement: What is the agency's reason for existing? 

b. Description of services/functions: What actions does the agency undertake and what 

services does the agency provide? 

c. Boundary of service area: What specific area does the agency serve? 

2. Budget 

a. Budget for current fiscal year and three years prior to the current year. 

b. Financial reserves policy: What is the agency's policy for designated reserves and 

reserve funds? (The policy should be in the agency policy manual but also may be 

restated and found in the budget or audit reports).  

3. Meetings 

a. Board meeting schedule: When and where specifically does the agency meet? 

b. Archive of Board meeting agendas & minutes for at least the last 6 months: Both 

approved minutes and past agendas  

4. Elected & Appointed Officials  

a. Board members (names, contact info, terms of office, compensation, and biography): 

Who specifically represents the public on the Board? How can the public contact them? 

When were they elected (or appointed)? How much do they earn in this role (as 

required by Assembly Bill 2040 effective January 1, 2015)? What background about the 

members illustrates their expertise for serving on the Board?  

b. Election procedure and deadlines: If the public wishes to apply to be on the Board, how 

and when can they do so?  

                                                           
2 2015-16 Web Transparency Report Card, Marin County Civil Grand Jury, March 17, 2016 



5 
 

c. Reimbursement and compensation policy: Which (if any) expenses incurred by the 

Board are reimbursed? Do the Board members receive compensation? 

5. Administrative Officials 

a. General manager and key staff (names, contact info, compensation, and benefits): Who 

specifically runs the agency on a day-to-day basis? How can the public contact them? 

How much do they earn in this role (as required by Assembly Bill 2040 effective January 

1, 2015)? What specific benefits are they eligible for (healthcare, retirement plan, 

educational benefits, etc.)? 

6. Audits 

a. Current financial audit 

b. Financial audits for the three years prior to the current year 

c. Most recent annual financial report provided to the State Controller’s Office, or a link to 

this information 

d. Most recent LAFCo Municipal Service Review, if applicable 

7. Contracts 

a. Current request for proposal and bidding opportunities (over $25,000 in value) 

b. Instructions on how to submit a bid or proposal 

c. Approved in force vendor contracts (over $25,000 value) 

8. Public Records 

a. Online/downloadable Public Records Act (or FOIA) request form: What is the best way 

for the public to request public records? 

9. Revenue Sources 

a. Summary of fees received: fees for services, if any 

b. Summary of revenue sources: bonds, taxes, loans and/or grants 

10. Agency Specific Criteria 

a. Municipalities: Total number of lobbyists employed and total spent on lobbying, 

downloadable permit applications, and zoning ordinances 

b. Special Districts: Authorizing statute/enabling act (Principal Act or Special Act), board 

member ethics training certificates, link to the LAFCo website and any state agency 

providing oversight 

c. Joint Powers Authorities: A copy of the joint powers agreement as filed and adopted 

(with any updates) 



   
    Executive Officer Report      11.             

LAFCO
Meeting Date: 01/24/2019  

Information
SUBJECT
A report by the Executive Officer on recent events relevant to the Commission and
an update of Yolo LAFCo staff activity for the month. The Commission or any
individual Commissioner may request that action be taken on any item listed. 

Cancellation of the February 27, 2019, meeting
EO Activity Report - December 2, 2018 through January 18, 2019

Attachments
EO Activity Report Dec3-Jan18

Form Review
Form Started By: Terri Tuck Started On: 01/15/2019 09:52 AM
Final Approval Date: 01/15/2019 



 Executive Officer’s Report 

January 24, 2019 

1 

LAFCo EO Activity Report 
December 3, 2018 through January 18, 2019  

Date Meeting/Milestone Comments 

12/03/2018 Meeting w/Jill Cook (Deputy CAO) MSRs for YECA & YCPARMIA 

12/03/2018 Meeting w/Tom Stallard Briefing on Woodland’s MSR/SOI 

12/04/2018 Emergency Operations Center Training Specific Training – Level 2: Planning & Intel 

12/07/2018 CALAFCO Board Meeting Attended 

12/10/2018 Meeting w/Sheryl Hardy (DFS) RD 900 Boundary (LAFCo Proposal #926) 

12/13/2018 Meeting w/Kenric Jameson, RD 900 Re Proposal to detach Portion of RD#537 & Annex to RD 
900 (LAFCo Proposal #930) 

12/13/2018 DWR County Drought Advisory Group (CDAG) Attended for CALAFCO 

12/14/2018 Meeting w/Mary Ellen Gay (County GIS) Re LAFCo boundary maps for online GIS 

12/18/2018 City of Woodland Council Meeting Attended to Present MSR/SOI 

12/19/2018 Meeting w/Eric May (Counsel), Sheryl Salgado 
(DFS), George Galang (ASSR), Alex Tengolics 
(CAO)  

Clarifying 4 LAFCo RD Applications Re: Assessor-Auditor 
BOS Tax Exchange Process 

12/19/2018 City of Davis BATF Meeting Attended 

12/21/2018 Meeting w/Eric May West Sac RD Reorganization Proposals – Legal Issues 

12/24-01/01/19 Vacation Off the Grid 

01/09/2019 County-Davis 2x2 Attended re Davis Creek Mobile Home Park Annexation 
Item 

01/11/2019 Meeting w/Olin Woods LAFCo Agenda Review 

01/14/2019 Meeting w/Tina Anderson, Ric Reinhardt (MBK 
Engineers), Kenric Jameson (RD 900), Michael 
Wright (CVFPB), Darren Suen (DWR), Jim Day 
(Day, Carter & Murphy) 

Process for RD 900 to take over State Maintenance Area 
#4 

01/14/2019 Meeting w/Jenny Tan (CAO) Transparency Scorecards: new County Webmaster 

01/14/2019 Meeting w/Don Lockhart (Sac LAFCo) Re upcoming Ethics Session for CALAFCO Staff 
Workshop 

01/16/2019 Meeting w/Sarah Worley (City of Davis) Broadband Advisory Task Force next steps 

01/18/2019 Meeting w/Dena Humphrey (YECA) YECA MSR Admin Draft 

 

Item 11 


	Agenda
	Item 5-LAFCo Minutes of December 6, 2018
	ATT-LAFCo Draft Minutes 12.06.18

	Item 6-Woodland CEQA and MSR/SOI Resolutions Cleanup Item
	ATT A-CEQA City of Woodland SOI Reso2018-10
	ATT B-City of Woodland MSR/SOI Reso2018-11
	ATT C-Updated SOI Pages from Final - City of Woodland MSR December 6, 2018

	Item 7-2018/19 2nd Quarter Financial Update
	ATT A-FY18/19 2nd QTR Budget Status Summary
	ATT B-FY18/19 2nd QTR Income Statement
	ATT C-FY18/19 2nd QTR General Ledger

	Item 8-Correspondence
	ATT A-CALAFCO Quarterly-Dec2018
	ATT B-CHW Newsletter-Winter 2019

	Item 9-Esparto CSD Annexation of APN 049-130-042 (LAFCo No. 927)
	ATT A-Reso 2019-01 Approving Esparto CSD Annexation LAFCo 927 01.24.19
	ATT B-BOS Tax Revenue Exchange Item No. 13 - CAO
	ATT C-Property Tax Accounting Letter LAFCO 927
	ATT D-Landowner Application Consent Letter

	Item 10-2018 Website Transparency Scorecard
	ATT-2018 Website Transparency Scorecard

	Item 11-EO Report
	ATT-EO Activity Report Dec3-Jan18


